ISSN 1595-689X

AFRICAN JOURNAL OF CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL MICROBIOLOGY

JANUARY 2023; VOLUME 24; NUMBER 1; PAGE 01-111





AFRICAN JOURNAL OF CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL MICROBIOLOGY (AJCEM)

https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem and https://www.afrjcem.org

Editorial Board

Chairman/Executive Editor

Prof. Rasheed A. Bakare Department of Medical Microbiology, College of Medicine, University of Ibadan, Ibadan, Nigeria

Editor-in-Chief

Prof. Samuel S. Taiwo Department of Medical Microbiology, Ladoke Akintola University of Technology (LAUTECH) Teaching Hospital, Ogbomoso, Nigeria

Editorial Board Members

Prof. Daniel Z. Egah Department of Medical Microbiology, College of Medicine, University of Jos

Prof. Orikomaba K. Obunge Department of Medical Microbiology, College of Health Sciences, University of Port Harcourt, Nigeria

Dr. Kenneth C. Iregbu Department of Medical Microbiology, National Hospital, Abuja, Nigeria Prof. Uchenna C. Ozumba Department of Medical Microbiology, University of Nigeria Teaching Hospital, Enugu, Nigeria

Prof. Adebola T. Olayinka Department of Medical Microbiology, College of Health Sciences, Ahmadu Bello University, Zaria, Nigeria

Prof. Galadima B. Gadzama Department of Medical Microbiology, College of Health Sciences, University of Maiduguri, Maiduguri, Nigeria

Foreign Editorial Advisers

Dr. Tolu Musa-Booth University of Maryland, Baltimore 21206, United States of America

Prof. Adriano Duse Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases unit, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa Dr. Cecilia Bentsi (rtd) Ministry of Health, Accra, Ghana

Prof. Dickson Shey Nsagha Department of Public Health and Hygiene, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Buea, Box 63, Buea, Cameroon

All correspondence to Editor-in-Chief Department of Medical Microbiology, LAUTECH Teaching Hospital, PMB 4007, Ogbomoso, Nigeria Email: <u>afrjcem@gmail.com</u> and <u>ajcem2019@gmail.com</u> Mobile: +234 (0) 8033436344 OR Department of Medical Microbiology, College of Health Sciences, LAUTECH, PMB 4000, Ogbomoso, Nigeria E-mail: <u>sstaiwo@lautech.edu.ng</u>

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology is the official publication of the Association of African Clinical Microbiologists. The findings, conclusions and opinions expressed by authors in this Journal do not necessarily reflect the official position of the Journal or the Association.



AFRICAN JOURNAL OF CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL MICROBIOLOGY (AJCEM) https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem and https://www.afrjcem.org

January 2023; Volume 24: Number 1: Pages 01-111

TABLE OF CONTENTS

REVIEW ARTICLE:

A review of the epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment, vaccines and economic impact of human monkeypox (Mpox) outbreaks T. O. Musa-Booth., N. Medugu., B. Adegboro., M. Babazhitsu01-08
The synergism of hepatitis B and aflatoxicosis in hepatocellular carcinoma development: A mini-review J. O. Alao., M. O. Oni., O. O. Bello., I. O. Bejide., O. J. Alao., O. I. Komolafe
ORIGINAL ARTICLES:
Comparative evaluation of automated KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher Scientific) and manual QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) extraction methods for SARS-CoV-2 A. A. Zouré., T. R. Compaoré., J. A. Beré., T. S. Serge., T. Soubeiga., C. Dabiré., A. R. Nikiema., N. Barro., H. G. Ouedraogo
Prevalence of COVID-19 at the Wahgnion-Gold mining site in Burkina Faso and use of RT-PCR initial cycle threshold to monitor the dynamics of SARS-CoV-2 load A. Cissé., M. Lingani., M. Tao., S. Nana., B. Kaboré., D. A. S. Eric., A. Nassouri., S. Diagbouga., S. Bamba., Z. Tarnagda
Quality of life of people living with HIV and AIDS attending Irrua Specialist Teaching Hospital, Edo State, Nigeria B. T. Adewuyi., G. M. Adewuyi
Polymerase chain reaction detection of haemolysin D gene (<i>hlyD</i>) in uropathogenic <i>Escherichia</i> <i>coli</i> as a novel diagnostic test for urinary tract infection N. H. Abubakar., M. Aliyu., M. Jibril., Y. Mohammed
Resistance profiles of urinary <i>Escherichia coli</i> and <i>Klebsiella pneumoniae</i> isolates to antibiotics commonly prescribed for treatment of urinary tract infections at Monkole Hospital Center, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo G. K. Mukubwa., F. N. Lukusa., O. K. Kavulikirwa., J. I. Liesse., L. M. Tshilolo., P. B. Memvanga
Antimicrobial properties, safety, and probiotic attributes of lactic acid bacteria isolated from Sauerkraut O. S. Fadare., C. H. Anyadike., A. O. Momoh., T. K. Bello
Bacterial contaminants of Date palm fruits (<i>Phoenix dactylifera</i>) sold in Kaduna, Nigeria, and their susceptibility to antibiotics A. F. Obajuluwa., D. S. Yagat., M. T. Durowaiye
Association of intestinal helminthic infection and nutritional status of primary school children in Gombe State, Nigeria H. B. Bakari., R. Aliu., M. M. Manga., S. B. Wasinda., A. S. Usman
Assessment of faecal contamination in selected concrete and earthen ponds stocked with African catfish, <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> A. Olalemi., M. Oluyemi., M. Bayode
SHORT COMMUNICATION
Antimicrobial susceptibility of urinary bacterial isolates of pregnant women attending antenatal clinics of selected hospitals in Ilorin, Nigeria R. T. Baba., M. R. Adedayo., S. Awe., M. I. Bale

LETTER TO THE EDITOR:

African Traditional Medicine (ATM) Day 2022	
B. Adegboro., J. Imran	

Musa-Booth et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 01 - 08

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2236. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.1

Review Article



Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1



Open Access

A review of the epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment, vaccines and economic impact of human monkeypox (Mpox) outbreaks

¹Musa-Booth, T. O., ²Medugu, N., *²Adegboro, B., and ³Babazhitsu, M.

 ¹1928 Woodlawn Drive, Woodlawn, Maryland 21207, United States of America
 ²Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, Nile University of Nigeria, Abuja, Nigeria
 ³Department of Medical Microbiology and Parasitology, Faculty of Basic Clinical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, Usmanu Danfodiyo University, Sokoto, Nigeria

*Correspondence to: <u>boazadegboro@gmail.com</u>; <u>boaz.adegboro@nileuniversity.edu.ng</u>

Abstract:

The current monkeypox outbreak is a public health emergency of international concern and is coming in the wake of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Human monkeypox is a viral zoonotic infection caused by monkeypox virus, an enveloped double-stranded DNA virus of the genus *Orthopoxvirus* and family *Poxviridae* that also contain smallpox, cowpox, Orf, and vaccinia viruses. Online databases including PubMed, Google Scholar and Web of Science were searched to obtain relevant publications on the epidemiology, treatment, vaccines and the economic impacts of the current monkeypox (Mpox) outbreak.

Keywords: monkeypox, epidemiology, vaccines, treatment, economic impact

Received Nov 1, 2022; Revised Dec 16, 2022; Accepted Dec 18, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Un examen de l'épidémiologie, du diagnostic, du traitement, des vaccins et des impact économiques des épidémies de monkeypox (Mpox) humain

¹Musa-Booth, T. O., ²Medugu, N., *²Adegboro, B., et ³Babazhitsu, M.

¹1928 Promenade Woodlawn, Woodlawn, Maryland 21207, États-Unis d'Amérique ²Département de Microbiologie Médicale et d'Immunologie, Université du Nil du Nigéria, Abuja, Nigéria ³Département de Microbiologie Médicale et de Parasitologie, Faculté des Sciences Cliniques Fondamentales, Collège des Sciences de la Santé, Université Usmanu Danfodiyo, Sokoto, Nigéria *Correspondance à: <u>boazadegboro@gmail.com</u>; <u>boaz.adegboro@nileuniversity.edu.ng</u>

Résumé:

L'épidémie actuelle de monkeypox est une urgence de santé publique de portée internationale et survient dans le sillage de la pandémie de SRAS-CoV-2. Le monkeypox humain est une infection zoonotique virale causée par le virus du monkeypox, un virus à ADN double brin enveloppé du genre *Orthopoxvirus* et de la famille des *Poxviridae* qui contient également les virus de la variole, du cowpox, de l'Orf et de la vaccine. Des bases de données en ligne, notamment PubMed, Google Scholar et Web of Science, ont été consultées pour obtenir des publications pertinentes sur l'épidémiologie, le traitement, les vaccins et les impacts économiques de l'épidémie actuelle de monkeypox (Mpox).

Mots clés: monkeypox, épidémiologie, vaccins, traitement, impact économique

Introduction:

Human monkeypox is a viral zoonotic infection caused by monkeypox virus, an env-

eloped double-stranded DNA virus of the genus Orthopoxvirus belonging to the family Poxviridae which contains smallpox, cowpox, Orf, and vaccinia viruses (1,2). The virus is made up of two genetic clades; the Central African (Congo Basin) clade, which is now known as clade 1 and more transmissible and causes more severe disease, and the West African clade (clade 2), which is thought to cause mild disease (1,3).

With the recent increase in monkeypox cases, changes in the geographic location of cases, with majority of infections occurring in regions that have not previously reported cases, and changes in the demography of infected persons, it has become imperative to review the epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment modalities, current vaccines available for prevention and the economic impact of monkeypox outbreak. This will enable researchers to understand the disease trends, shifts in geographical spread and changes in the epidemiological characteristics as a result of evolution of monkeypox virus and adaptation to the human immunity, thereby aiding the development of innovative surveillance systems, diagnostic techniques, treatment modalities and preventive measures including vaccines that will enable prevention and management of future outbreaks. This knowledge will also guide policy makers in making well informed decisions that will positively impact the economy.

The objective of this review is to describe the epidemiology of human monkeypox, diagnosis, available treatment options, current vaccines approved for use, and the economic impacts of the current human monkeypox outbreak.

Methodology and Results:

Online electronic databases including PubMed, Google Scholar and Web of Science were searched for primary source articles including original reports, case series studies, case reports, seroprevalence studies and epidemiological reports on human monkeypox. Secondary search was also conducted using references of the primary articles reviewed. Inclusion criteria for selecting studies for the review were studies that provided information on human monkeypox history, diagnosis, clinical features, treatment, vaccination and economic impacts. Search words used include 'human monkeypox' OR 'monkeypox' AND 'monkeypox origin' OR 'history' AND 'monkeypox epidemiology' AND 'monkeypox treatment' AND/OR 'management' AND 'monkeypox vaccines', AND 'monkeypox economic impact'. Studies on reviews and systematic reviews of monkeypox were excluded.

Using the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) guide, initial search produced 2310 articles on Google Scholar, 1097 articles from PubMed and 2593 from Web of Science. Following de-duplication, 1090 article titles and abstracts were screened, followed by assessment of 207 full text publications to determine eligibility, and 158 publications were further excluded, leaving 49 eligible articles. A further 28 eligible articles were obtained from secondary searches, giving a total of 77 eligible publications for the review (Fig 1).



Fig. 1: Process of selection of publications (PRISMA guide) used for the review

Discussion:

Historical background:

Monkeypox was first identified in 1958 in captive monkeys that developed vesicular disease while being transported from Africa to Copenhagen, Denmark for research (4). Although this discovery earned the disease its name, the largest animal reservoirs of the virus are rodents including squirrels and giant pouched rats (4). The World Health Organization (WHO) recently renamed monkeypox as 'Mpox' following reports from countries and individuals of racist and stigmatized language being used in various settings and communities (5). The natural host reservoir is still unknown but the animal hosts are varied and include squirrels, Gambian pouched rats, dormice and non-human primates (1,6-10).

There is plethora of information on monkeypox that remains unknown, which include its mode of transmission from animal to human host, pathogen-host associations, factors that enable the virus to persist in nature, environmental factors that influence the virus geographical shift are research questions to be answered to help in controlling and preventing monkeypox virus spread. The drivers of transmission to humans are aerosol transmission, documented in animal transmission (11,12) as well as direct and indirect contact with infected live or dead animals (1,13-15). Human-tohuman transmission occurs through close contact with respiratory secretions, skin lesions of infected persons and contaminated objects (1,15), placental transmission and close contact during and after birth (1,16). Sexual transmission has not been confirmed and requires further investigation.

Clinical monkeypox virus infections:

Human monkeypox was first diagnosed in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC) in a 9-month-old boy following the cessation of smallpox vaccination, after smallpox eradication in the late 1970s (1,17). The clinical manifestations of human monkeypox are indistinguishable from those of smallpox, but severity and mortality are much lower with monkeypox. The disease is characterized by fever, headache, myalgia, tiredness and marked lymphadenopathy involving the cervical and inguinal lymph nodes, and differs from smallpox and chickenpox in this respect.

The symptoms of monkeypox are milder because of previous immunization with vaccinia virus vaccine during the smallpox eradication programme, at which time individuals developed cross immunity against monkeypox (18). Monkeypox is endemic in Central and West Africa with more cases being seen in rural tropical rainforest regions, where contact with animal hosts is more frequent, although there has been increasing spread to urban areas with urbanization encroaching into the rural areas (7,19). In addition, political instability and insecurity in some of these endemic areas leads to displacement of large numbers of people who then live close to these animal hosts. The practice of many inhabitants hunting wild animals for food, is also a predisposing factor. Other African countries that have reported cases of human monkeypox include Benin, Cameroon, Central African Rep ublic, Côte d'Ivoire, Gabon, Liberia, Nigeria, the Republic of Congo, Sierra Leone and South Sudan.

Epidemiology of monkeypox

There have been several outbreaks of human monkeypox after it was first identified in 1970. The 1970-79 outbreaks affected individuals in DRC, Sierra Leone, Nigeria, Liberia and Ivory Coast resulting in 47 cases, with the majority (n=38) from Zaire and the DRC (20). Although cases are seen all year round, the outbreak occurred most often in the dry season and clustering was noted within families, localities and countries (20,21). Children under 10 years of age (range of 7 months to 35 years) were most affected. The sex ratio was similar with 26 males and 21 females affected. Among females, adult females were more at risk. Incubation period was about 12 days (approximately 7-14 days) (20,22). The onset of symptoms was within 24 hours to five days while onset of rash was between 9 to 17 days. Symptoms ranged from mild to severe and mostly observed among unvaccinated individuals. Mode of transmission was either directly from contact with animals carrying the virus or secondarily through person-to-person transmission (usually milder and atypical) (20).

The DRC had another outbreak between 1981 to 1986 with 338 cases (67%) confirmed by virus culture), 182 male and age range of 3 months to 69 years (23). Majority of the cases (86%) were children below 10 years of age and 13% of all cases had vaccination scar. Among cases identified, 72.5% had primary infection and 93 patients were considered to be secondary cases. Attack rates (AR) among unvaccinated persons was 7.47% while AR among unvaccinated individuals living in the same household with cases was 9.3% (7 times higher than AR for vaccinated household contacts) (23). Case fatality rate (CFR) was below 10% which was significantly lower than for smallpox. It was also noted that transmission beyond secondary infection was rare and it was established that repeated reintroduction of the virus was necessary to sustain the disease outbreak (24). In 1984, an outbreak was also reported in the Central African Republic. Six cases were identified among unvaccinated individuals in a pygmy community (25).

A third outbreak occurred in the DRC between 1996-1997. In 1996, Katako-Kombe health zone, Kasai Oriental, DRC was considered the epicenter of the outbreak with 71 cases identified and mode of transmission was predominantly person - to - person (7). From February 1996 to February 1997, 88 clinical cases were identified in nine of 12 villages (AR of 22 per 1000), of which 50 were males. The median age of onset was 10 years (range from 1 month to 62 years). In keeping with its occurrence mainly in the dry season, cases increased from February 1996, peaked in August 1996 and subsequently declined. This trend was the same in 1997 when there was a resurgence in February 1997 with AR being similar in males and females and ranging from 0-105 per 1000 in Akungula (7). By age, children less than 15 years of age were mostly affected (AR of 146 per 1000). As of October 1997, 419 cases were identified; 344 in Katako-Kombe health zone (AR of 1.1 per 1000)

and 75 in Lodja health zone (AR of 0.3 per 1000). Five deaths were reported among children 4 to 8 years of age in Katako-Kombe (1.5% case fatality ratio). Majority of the cases were in individuals less than 16 years and 78% of cases were secondary infections. Among the cases, only 6% had previously received vaccinia vaccine putting the secondary AR at 8% (7). With each outbreak, there have been an increasing number of cases. This has been attributed to the waning crossimmunity among those vaccinated with the smallpox virus, increasing number of voung unvaccinated individuals and increasing human contact with small animals that could serve as hosts for monkeypox virus.

In 2003, 11 cases were detected in the Republic of Congo among children below 18 years of age, which resulted in one death and one individual with profound sequelae. It was during this outbreak that sustained person-toperson transmission was initially observed (26). The DRC also experienced an outbreak during this period (2001-2004) with over 2000 suspected cases reported and clinical samples obtained from 136 individuals as a result of the civil unrest which hindered surveillance activities. Fifty-one cases were confirmed from 136 suspected case samples collected, maleto-female ratio was approximately equal and age ranged from 2 months to 54 years with majority of cases occurring in children below 10 years (27). Human monkeypox was also first reported in the United States in 2003 (28). A total of 50 cases were identified in Wisconsin, Illinois, Indiana and New Jersey. Fifty-five percent were females, age ranged between 1 - 59 years (median - 28 years) with most being primary infections from contact with infected prairie dogs. Diagnosis was through culture or DNA amplification of skin lesion samples and antibody neutralization assay. There were no deaths reported during this outbreak (28).

Sudan experienced an outbreak in 2005 with 10 confirmed cases and 9 probable cases (29,30). Surveillance data from the DRC between 2005 to 2007 revealed 760 laboratory-confirmed monkeypox cases with preponderance for people living close to forested areas, males, below 15 years of age and unvaccinated (31). Between 2000 and 2009, the Republic of Congo reported 27 cases while the DRC reported 10,027 suspected cases (32, 33). From 2010 to 2019, 2 cases were reported in Sierra Leone, 6 in Liberia, 3 in Cameroon, 24 in Congo, 61 in Central African Republic, 181 in Nigeria and over 8,700 suspected cases in the DRC (33-46).

The outbreak in Nigeria was as a result of the West African clade in 2017-2018 with 122 confirmed cases across 17 States (45). Male individuals were mostly affected (n=84)and the age range of infected persons was between 2 days to 50 years, with median age being 29 years. Seven deaths were reported with a case fatality rate of 6%. Transmission was through primary zoonosis and secondary person-to-person. All the cases had rash and other common symptoms including lymphadenopathy, fever, itching and headache. By January 2019, there were 311 suspected cases across 26 States, of which 132 cases were confirmed. Most cases were between 21 and 40 years (median age of 31 years). Seven deaths were also reported (46). In 2018, three cases were identified in the United Kingdom, two travelled from Nigeria and one was a health worker (46,48). In October of the same year, another case from Nigeria was identified in Israel. In 2019, a case was imported to Singapore while in 2021, another was detected in the USA (49,50,51). In the UK, cases were subsequently detected in 2019, 2021 and 2022 (52,53). The 2021 outbreak in Nigeria was not widespread and the reported number of cases were 32 with no deaths (54).

In 2022, monkeypox became an infection with global impact as it became the largest monkeypox outbreak observed in many countries where it had not previously been seen and declared a public health emergency of international concern (1,55-61). As of September 23 2022, about 106 countries have reported cases, with over 65000 cases globally and majority of cases (approximately 64,800 in 99 locations) have been reported in countries outside Africa (62). The highest numbers have been seen in North America and Europe. Deaths have been equally split between countries where monkeypox is endemic (10 deaths in 3 locations) and locations that have not previously reported cases (10 deaths in 8 locations) (62). Majority (~99%) of cases have been among males, with men who have sex with men (MSM) being disproportionately affected (60,61,66). This has raised the guestion as to whether it should be termed a sexually transmitted infection (STI) (63-65). Although all age groups are affected, adult males between 26-40 years are worse hit. At the beginning of the outbreak, majority of cases (67%) were seen among Whites but as the outbreak progressed, cases increased among individuals in the minority ethnicity (Hispanics -27% and African Americans-41%) while the number of cases among White reduced (26%) (66). These demographics in the UK were similar (60,61).

While monkeypox is not an STI, it spreads rapidly through sexual and close contact. Person-to-person transmission through close contact with lesions, respiratory droplets, body fluids and contaminated materials are

the major drivers of this outbreak (60,61,66) Other risk factors include eating inadequately cooked infected meat and animal products. Incubation period is from five to 21 days and there are two phases of illness. Invasive (prodrome) phase which is 0-5 days where infected persons experience fever, lymph node enlargement, malaise, headache, itching, chills and myalgia. Lymphadenopathy is a distinguishing sign of monkeypox which differentiates it from other infections with similar signs and symptoms. Skin eruption phase lasts 1-3 days after fever onset and is associated with rash that is predisposed to the face and extremities; 95% of cases have reported facial rash and 75% have experienced rash on the palms of hands and soles of feet (61,62,66). Without treatment, the symptoms usually clear within 2-4 weeks and mortality is between 3-6%, pre dominantly among children and immunocompromised persons.

Diagnosis of monkeypox:

Confirmatory diagnosis of monkeypox has been through polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing of samples taken from skin lesions because of its high sensitivity and accuracy (60,67). Genomic sequencing is also used as a diagnostic tool (3,68). Serological and antigen detection are not recommended due to cross-reactivity between the different ortho poxviruses.

Treatment of monkeypox:

Treatment of human Monkeypox is mainly symptomatic as there are no drugs developed specifically for monkeypox treatment. Due to the cross sensitivity among the orthopoxviruses, an antiviral drug, tecovirimat, developed for management of smallpox is used in a small percentage of cases, specifically in individuals who have or are prone to developing severe form of the disease including immunocompromised persons and individuals with skin conditions such as eczema (69,70). Cidofovir is also used for treatment in some infected persons (60).

Targeting viral protein p37, a highly conserved domain found in all orthopoxviruses, tecovirimat is able to inhibit the formation of the envelopes of monkeypox virus. It is normally given twice daily as oral capsules for fourteen days. The US FDA has recently approved the intravenous form of the drug (on May 19, 2022), which has been found effective in treating primates (71). The 2022 global monkeypox outbreak is different from previous outbreaks in the mode of transmission, at risk groups and geographic spread, which could well be as a result of viral mutations and waning immunity. People engaging in same sex practices have shown higher incidence in Europe and North America (60,61,62)

Vaccines against monkeypox:

Infection by any of the orthopoxviruses can confer immunity against infection from other species in the family. This is beneficial as people who were immunized with the vaccinia virus vaccine during the smallpox eradication are protected from the smallpox, monkeypox and cowpox diseases. With the eradication of smallpox, immunity has waned leading to resurgence of infections by orthopoxviruses especially among unvaccinated individuals.

There are two vaccines currently approved for prevention of monkeypox. The first is Jynneos (Imvamune or Imvanex), a nonreplicating live virus vaccine which is being used to prevent monkeypox and smallpox disease by administration four days before exposure is the primary vaccine approved for use (72). Two doses taken 28 days apart are required to provide optimal immune response. Immunity is conferred 14 days after the second dose. It is approved for use in all ages. Although Jynneos has been shown to be effective in animal and clinical studies, more information is being gathered on its effectiveness, side effects and long-term protective effects. It is also recommended for use in addition to other preventive measures in place. Most common side effects reported include redness, swelling and itching at the injection site, headache, tiredness, muscle aches, chills and nausea (72).

The second vaccine, called ACAM2000 was developed to protect against smallpox but expected to be effective in preventing monkey pox. Therefore, it is approved as an alternative to Jynneos. ACAM2000 is a live vaccinia virus vaccine (73) and a single dose vaccine administered by giving multiple pricks to the upper arm with a special needle. Special care is needed for the lesion. Optimal immune response is expected 28 days after administration. ACAM2000 is contraindicated in persons with weakened immune system including people with HIV, persons on chemotherapy; pregnant and breastfeeding women; individuals with heart conditions and skin conditions such as psoriasis, eczema, dermatitis; infants below 12 months and individuals who will be unable to self-isolate from persons who have these conditions (73). Unlike Jynneos that can be administered with other vaccines, ACAM2000 cannot be administered with other live injectable vaccines and it is recommended that other vaccines be administered 4 weeks after receiving ACAM2000. Side effects are similar to Jynneos but in addition, a rash may develop and swollen glands may be observed. It is also associated with more frequent side effects (73).

Other preventive measures recommended include avoiding close or skin-to-skin contact with people who have a rash that looks like monkeypox, avoid touching surfaces, objects and materials used by infected persons and frequent hand washing (74). For those at high risk of infection, limiting activities that increase chances of exposure, limiting number of sex partners and engaging in safer sexual practices (75). Pet animals can be infected and transmit monkeypox therefore, measures should be taken to prevent infection and spread of the virus (76). Preventive measures should also be taken in congregate settings to prevent spread of the virus and in a situation where a monkeypox case is detected, the staff, residents and local authorities should be notified, isolate infected individual and ensure other preventive measures are adhered to so as to avoid the spread of the virus (77).

Economic impacts of monkeypox outbreaks:

With the monkeypox outbreak being a public health emergency of international concern and coming in the wake of SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, the already stretched thin resources have to be further diversified to conduct robust surveillance, research, develop and deploy new vaccines, diagnostic tools and treatment drugs to prevent further spread of the disease. The vaccinia vaccine has proven to be effective but there are limited supplies and production of more vaccines have to be expedited and equitable distribution implemented.

In addition, although monkeypox is regarded as a public health emergency of international concern, it has not affected trade or travel unlike SARS-CoV-2 infection. With the emergence of monkeypox globally at a time the world is still grappling with SARS-COV-2 and with young individuals, that make up the majority of the workforce, being affected, this will negatively impact GDP of different countries in losses due to sick days taken off work, cost of treatment and strain on health care services and personnel.

Conclusion:

The current global pandemic of monkeypox reminds us that infectious diseases know no borders. Responses should therefore protect everyone, leaving no country behind. It is recommended that there should be equitable contributions from countries, with each country taking responsibility for providing solutions to the outbreaks at the national level. By applying resources responsibly, countries where these diseases are endemic can gradually move away from depending on richer coun tries, and effectively contribute to both national and global efforts to control pandemics.

Contributions of authors:

AB conceived the review idea, designed the outline, reviewed and edited the manuscript. MTO wrote the history, epidemiology, part of the clinical features and treatment, diagnosis, vaccines, economic impact and edited the manuscript. MN wrote part of the clinical features and treatment. BM reviewed and edited the manuscript.

Source of funding:

No funding was received for this study

Conflict of interest:

No conflict of interest is declared

References:

- World Health Organization (WHO). Monkeypox. 2022. <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/monkeypox</u>
- Ladnyj, I. D., Ziegler, P., and Kima, E. A human infection caused by monkeypox virus in Basankusu Territory, Democratic Republic of the Congo. Bull World Health Organ. 1972; 46: 593-597
- Likos, A. M., Sammons, S. A., Olson, V. A., et al. A tale of two clades: Monkeypox viruses. J Gen Virol. 2005; 86 (10): 2661–2672.
- Magnus, P. V., Andersen, E. K., Petersen, K. B., and Birch-Andersen, A. A Pox-like Disease in Cynomolgus Monkeys. Acta Pathologica Microbiologica Scandinavica. 1959; 46 (2): 156–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1699-0463.1959.tb00328.x
- World Health Organization (WHO). WHO recommends new name for monkeypox disease. WHO news release. 2022 https://www.who.int/news/item/28-11-2022who-recommends-new-name-for-monkeypoxdisease#:~:text=Following%20a%20series%20 of%20consultations,%E2%80%9Cmonkeypox% E2%80%9D%20is%20phased%20out.
- Doty, J. B., Malekani, J. M., Kalemba, L. N., et al. Assessing Monkeypox Virus Prevalence in Small Mammals at the Human-Animal Interface in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. Viruses. 2017; 9 (10): 03. doi: 10.3390/v9100283
- Hutin, Y. J., Williams, R. J., Malfait, P., et al. Outbreak of human monkeypox, Democratic Republic of Congo, 1996 to 1997. Emerg Infect Dis. 2001; 7 (3): 434–438. doi: 10.3201/eid0703.010311
- Khodakevich, L., Jezek, Z., and Messinger, D. Monkeypox virus: ecology and public health significance. Bull World Health Organ. 1988; 66 (6): 747–752
- Jezek, Z., Grab, B., Szczeniowski, M., Paluku, K. M., and Mutombo, M. Clinico-epidemiological features of monkeypox patients with an animal or human source of infection. Bull World Health Organ. 1988; 66 (4): 459–464
- Reynolds, M. G., Carroll, D. S., Olson, V. A., et al. A silent enzootic of an orthopoxvirus in Ghana, West Africa: Evidence for multi-species involvement in the absence of widespread human dis-

- Prier, J. E., and Sauer, R. M. A pox disease of monkeys. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1960; 85: 951-959.
- Wenner, H. A., Macasaet, D., Kamitsuka, P. S., et al. Monkeypox I. Clinical, virologic and immunologic studies. Am J Epidemiol, 1968; 87: 551-566
- Durski, K. N., McCollum, A. M., Nakazawa, Y., et al. Emergence of monkeypox—West and Central Africa, 1970-2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018; 67: 306-310
- Sklenovská, N., and Van Ranst, M. Emergence of monkeypox as the most important orthopoxvirus infection in humans. Front Publ Health. 2018; 6: 241
- UK Health Security Agency. Monkeypox: background information. 2018 <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/monkeypox#tran</u> smission)
- Mbala, P. K., Huggins, J. W., Riu-Rovira, T., et al. Maternal and fetal outcomes among pregnant women with human monkeypox infection in the Democratic Republic of Congo. J Infect Dis. 2017; 216: 824-828.
- Marennikova, S. S., Seluhina, E. M., Malceva, N. M., and Ladnyj, I. D. Poxviruses isolated from clinically ill and asymptomatically infected monkeys and a chimpanzee. Bull World Health Organ. 1972; 46 (5): 613–620.
- Nguyen, P. Y., Ajisegiri, W. S., Costantino, V., Chughtai, A. A., and MacIntyre, C. R. Reemergence of Human Monkeypox and Declining Population Immunity in the Context of Urbanization, Nigeria, 2017-2020. Emerg Infect Dis. 2021;27 (4):
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Human monkeypox -- Kasai Oriental, Democratic Republic of Congo, February 1996-October 1997. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1997; 46 (49): 1168-1171.
- Breman, J. G., Kalisa-Ruti, Steniowski, M. V., Zanotto, E., Gromyko, A. I., and Arita. I. Human monkeypox, 1970-79. Bull World Health Organ. 1980; 58 (2): 165-82.
- Jezek, Z., Gromyko, A. I., and Szczeniowski, M. V. Human monkeypox. J Hyg Epidem Microbiol Immunol. 1983; 27 (1): 13-28.
- Arita, I., and Henderson, D. A. Monkeypox and whitepox viruses in West and Central Africa. Bull World Health Organ. 1976; 53 (4): 347-353.
- Jezek, Z., Grab, B., Szczeniowski, M. V., Paluku, K. M., and Mutombo, M. Human monkeypox: secondary attack rates. Bull World Health Organ. 1988; 66 (4): 465-470
- Jezek, Z., Grab, B., Paluku, K. M., and Szczeniowski, M. V. Human monkeypox: disease pattern, incidence and attack rates in a rural area of northern Zaire. Trop Geogr Med. 1988; 40 (2): 73-83.
- Khodakevich, L., Widy-Wirski, R., Arita, I., et al. Monkey pox virus infection in humans in the Central African Republic. Bull Soc Pathol Exot Filiales, 1985; 78: 311-320
- Learned, L. A., Reynolds, M. G., Wassa, D. W., et al. Extended interhuman transmission of monkey pox in a hospital community in the Republic of the Congo, 2003. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2005; 73 428-434
- Rimoin, A. W., Kisalu, N., Kebela-Ilunga, B., et al. Endemic human monkeypox, Democratic Republic of Congo, 2001-2004. Emerg Infect Dis. 2007; 13: 934-937
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Update: multistate outbreak of monkeypox–Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, Missouri, Ohio, and Wisconsin, 2003. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2003; 52 (27) 642-646.
- Formenty, P., Muntasir, M. O., Damon, I., et al. Human monkeypox outbreak caused by novel virus belonging to Congo Basin clade, Sudan,

2005. Emerg Infect Dis. 2010 16 (10): 1539-1545.

- http://dx.doi.org/10.3201/eid1610.100713
 Damon, I. K., Roth, C. E., and Chowdhary, V. Discovery of monkeypox in Sudan. N Engl J Med. 2006; 355: 962–963 doi: 10.1056/NEJMc060792
- Rimoin, A. W., Mulembakani, P. M., Johnston, S. C., et al. Major increase in human monkeypox incidence 30 years after smallpox vaccination campaigns cease in the Democratic Republic of Congo. PNAS. 2010; 107 (37): 16262-16267
- 32. The New Humanitarian. Congo: Monkeypox infects 60 in north [press release]. Reliefweb, 25 September 2007. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/congo/congomonkeypox-infects-60-north</u>
- Hoff, N. A., Doshi, R. H., Colwell, B., et al. Evolution of a disease surveillance system: An increase in reporting of human monkeypox disease in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, 2001–2013. Int J Trop Dis Health. 2017; 25 (2). doi: 10.9734/IJTDH/2017/35885.
- Doshi, R. H., Guagliardo, S. A. J., Doty, J. B., et al. Epidemiologic and ecologic investigations of monkeypox, Likouala Department, Republic of the Congo, 2017. Emerg Infect Dis. 2019; 25 (2): 281–289.
 doi: 10.3201/eid2502.181222. pmid:30666937
- Berthet, N., Nakouné, E., Whist, E., et al. Maculopapular lesions in the Central African Republic. Lancet. 2011; 378 (9799): 1354. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61142-2.
- Besombes, C., Gonofio, E., Konamna, X., et al. Intrafamily transmission of monkeypox virus, Central African Republic, 2018. Emerg Infect Dis. 2019; 25 (8): 1602–1604. doi: 10.3201/eid2508.190112.
- Kalthan, E., Dondo-Fongbia, J. P., Yambele, S., Dieu-Creer, L. R., Zepio, R., and Pamatika, C. M. Twelve cases of monkeypox virus outbreak in Bangassou District (Central African Republic) in December 2015. Bull Soc Pathol Exot. 2016; 109 (5): 358–363. doi: 10.1007/s13149-016-0516-z.
- Kalthan, E., Tenguere, J., Ndjapou, S. G., et al. Investigation of an outbreak of monkeypox in an area occupied by armed groups, Central African Republic. Med Mal Infect. 2018; 48 (4): 263–268. doi: 10.1016/j.medmal.2018.02.010.
 Nakoune, E., Lampaert, E., Ndjapou, S. G., et al.
- Nakoune, E., Lampaert, E., Ndjapou, S. G., et al. A nosocomial outbreak of human monkeypox in the Central African Republic. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2017; 4 (4): ofx168. doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofx168.
- Reynolds, M. G., Emerson, G. L., Pukuta, E., et al. Detection of human monkeypox in the Republic of the Congo following intensive community education. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2013; 88 (5): 982–985. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.12-0758.
- Reynolds, M. G., Wauquier, N., Li, Y., et al. Human monkeypox in Sierra Leone after 44-Year absence of reported cases. Emerg Infect Dis. 2019; 25 (5): 1023–1025. doi: 10.3201/eid2505.180832.
- Ye, F., Song, J., Zhao, L., et al. Molecular evidence of human monkeypox virus infection, Sierra Leone. Emerg Infect Dis. 2019; 25 (6): 1220–1222. doi: 10.3201/eid2506.180296.
- Monkeypox confirmed in Liberia [press release]. April 11, 2018 <u>http://outbreaknewstoday.com/monkeypox-confirmed-liberia-57035/</u>
- World Health Organization. Regional Office for Africa, Health Emergencies Programme. 2018. Weekly Bulletin on Outbreaks and other Emergencies: Week 1: 30 December 2017–5 January 2018
- https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259809
 45. Yinka-Ogunleye, A., Aruna, O., Ogoina, D., et al. Re-emergence of human monkeypox in Nigeria, 2017. Emerg Infect Dis. 2018; 24.

doi: 10.3201/eid2406.180017

- Nigeria Centre for Disease Control. Nigeria monkeypox monthly situation report. December 2019. <u>https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/reso</u>
- urces/5a1a9820f21136842ba43f186b8d09e7.pdf 47. Public Health England. Cases of monkeypox
- confirmed in England https://www.gov.uk/government/news/monkey pox-case-in-england.
- Vaughan, A., Aarons, E., Astbury, J., et al. Two cases of monkeypox imported to the United Kingdom, September 2018. Euro Surveill. 2018; 23 (38). doi: 10.2807/1560-7917
- 49. Ministry of Health, State of Israel. Monkeypox patient diagnosed https://www.health.gov.il/English/News_and_Ev ents/Spokespersons_Messages/Pages/12102018 1.aspx
- Yong, S. E. F., Ng, O. T., Ho, Z. J. M., et al. Imported monkeypox, Singapore. Emerg Infect Dis. 2020; 26 (8): 1826–1830. doi: 10.3201/eid2608.191387.
- Center for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC) Newsroom. CDC and Texas Confirm Monkeypox in U.S. Traveller [press release]. July 16, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2021/s071</u> <u>6-confirm-monkeypox.html</u>
- Public Health England. Monkeypox case confirmed in England 2019 <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/monkey</u> <u>pox-case-confirmed-in-england</u>.
- Monkeypox—United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (Nigeria) [press release]. 11 June 2021 <u>https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseaseoutbreak-news/item/monkeypox---unitedkingdom-of-great-britain-and-northern-irelandex-nigeria</u>
- 54. Nigeria Centre for Disease Control. Monkeypox Situation Report in Nigeria. May 31, 2021. https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/reso urces/An%20Update%20of%20Monkeypox%20 Outbreak%20in%20Nigeria 210521 21.pdf
- Outbreak%20in%20Nigeria 210521 21.pdf 55. Chen, Y., Li, M., and Fan, H. The monkeypox outbreak in 2022: adaptive evolution associated with APOBEC3 may account for. Sig Transduct Target Ther. 2022; 7: 323 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-01181-x
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Risk assessment: monkeypox multicountry outbreak https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publicationsdata/risk-assessment-monkeypox-multicountry-outbreak, 2022.
- 57. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Epidemiological update: monkeypox multi-country outbreak <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/newsevents/epidemiological-update-monkeypoxmulti-country-outbreak, 2022.</u>
- Kraemer, M. U. G., Tegally, H., Pigott, D. M., et al. Tracking the 2022 monkeypox outbreak with epidemiological data in real-time. Lancet Infect Dis. 2022; 22: 941-942
- <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00359-0.</u>
 UK Health Security Agency. Guidance: monkeypox: background information <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/monkeypox,</u>
- 2022. 50. Thornhill, J. P., Barkati, S., Warmsley, S., et al.
- Monkeypox virus infection in humans across 16 countries - April-June 2022. N Engl J Med. 2022; 387: 679-691 https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2207323 (2022).
- 61. Girometti, N., Bryne, R., Bracchi, M., et al. Demographic and clinical characteristics of confirmed

human monkeypox virus cases in individuals attending a sexual health centre in London, UK: an observational analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2022; 22: 1321-1328

https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00411-X (2022)

- 62. Center for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC). Monkeypox: 2022 Global map and case count. 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/poxvirus/monkeypox/resp onse/2022/world-map.html
- Heskin, J., Belfield, A., Milne, C., et al. Transmission of monkeypox virus through sexual contact—a novel route of infection. J Infect. 2022; 85: 334-363

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2022.05.028

- 64. Vivancos, R., Anderson, C., Blomquist, P., et al. Community transmission of monkeypox in the United Kingdom, April to May 2022. Euro Surveill. 2022; 27: 22.
- Perez Duque, M., Ribeiro, S., Martins, J. V., et al. Ongoing monkeypox virus outbreak, Portugal, 29 April to 23 May 2022. Euro Surveill. 2022; 27: 22.
- Center for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC). Monkeypox: Case demographics and symptoms. 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/poxvirus/monkeypox/resp onse/2022/demographics.html
- Antinori, A., Mazzotta, V., Vita, S., et al and the INMI Monkeypox Group. Epidemiological, clinical and virological characteristics of four cases of monkeypox support transmission through sexual contact, Italy, May 2022. Euro Surveill. 2022;27 (22): pii=2200421 https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2022.27.

22.2200421 68. Yinka-Ogunleye, A., Aruna, O., Dalhat, M., et al.

- Outbreak of human monkeypox in Nigeria in 2017-18: a clinical and epidemiological report. Lancet Infect Dis. 2019; 19 (8): 872-879 https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(19)30294-4.
- Grosenbach, D. W., Honeychurch, K., Rose, E. A., et al. Oral tecovirimat for the treatment of smallpox. N Engl J Med. 2018; 379: 44-53.
- Center for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC). Monkeypox: Patient's guide to TPOXX. 2022. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/poxvirus/monkeypox/if-sick/treatment.html</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). Clinical Management and Infection Prevention and Control for Monkeypox. Interim Rapid Response Guide, 10 June 2022.
- Center for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC). Monkeypox vaccines: JYNNEOS. 2022 <u>https://www.cdc.gov/poxvirus/monkeypox/vaccines/jynneos.html</u>
- Center for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC). Monkeypox vaccines: ACAM2000. 2022 <u>https://www.cdc.gov/poxvirus/monkeypox/vaccines/acam2000.html</u>.
- 74. Center for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC). Monkeypox Prevention steps. 2022 <u>https://www.cdc.gov/poxvirus/monkeypox/prev</u> <u>ention/protect-yourself.html</u>
- 75. Center for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC). Monkeypox safer sex and social gatherings. 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/poxvirus/monkeypox/prev
 - ention/sexual-health.html
- 76. Center for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC). Monkeypox: pets and monkeypox. 2022 https://www.cdc.gov/poxvirus/monkeypox/prev ention/pets-in-homes.html
- 77. Center for Disease Prevention and Control (CDC). Monkeypox: congregate settings. 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/poxvirus/monkeypox/com munity/congregate.html.

Alao et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 09 - 15

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2240. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.2

Mini-Review



Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1

Open Access



The synergism of hepatitis B and aflatoxicosis in hepatocellular carcinoma development: A mini-review

¹Alao, J. O., ¹Oni, M. O., ^{*2}Bello, O. O., ³Bejide, I. O., ⁴Alao, O. J., and ³Komolafe O. I.

¹Departmental of Microbiology, Adeleke University, Ede, Nigeria
 ²Department of Biological Sciences, University of Medical Sciences, Ondo, Nigeria
 ³Department of Biological Sciences, Redeemer's University, Ede, Nigeria
 ⁴Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Babcock University Teaching Hospital, Ilisan-Remo, Nigeria
 *Correspondence to: <u>obello@unimed.edu.ng</u>; +2348057892661

Abstract:

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the twelfth most common cancer and the fifth leading cause of worldwide cancerrelated death. Chronic hepatitis B infection, caused by the hepatitis B virus (HBV) and exposure to aflatoxins is fundamental in the formation of HCC in developing countries. This review of scientific publications aims to establish the detrimental effects of aflatoxin-contaminated foods and highlights the correlation between aflatoxin and hepatitis B viral-associated hepatocellular carcinoma. Research has shown a significant increase in the occurrence of HCC in HBV-infected individuals exposed to fungal toxins. HBV demonstrates the ability to integrate and bind to *p53* protein in the host DNA and propagate hepatocyte vulnerability through carcinogenic aflatoxin B₁ (AFB₁) damage. Although there has been clear evidence about the synergistic interaction of exposure to AFB₁ and HBV infection in the induction of HCC, other literature has shown otherwise, mainly because incomplete and vague findings and hypotheses were made in regions where AFB₁ and HBV pose a public health risk. Vaccination against hepatitis B and measures such as robust food safety systems to avoid hepatotoxicity and hepatocellular carcinogenesis induced by AFB₁ is the most effective methods in the prevention of HCC induced by HBV and AFB₁.

Keywords: aflatoxin B₁; hepatitis B; hepatocellular carcinoma; synergy

Received Nov 28, 2022; Revised Dec 31, 2022; Accepted Jan 01, 2023

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

La synergie de l'hépatite B et de l'aflatoxicose dans le développement du carcinome hépatocellulaire: une mini-revue

¹Alao, J. O., ¹Oni, M. O., *²Bello, O. O., ³Bejide, I. O., ⁴Alao, O. J., et ³Komolafe, O. I.

¹Département de Microbiologie, Université Adeleke, Ede, Nigeria ²Département des Sciences Biologiques, Université des Sciences Médicales, Ondo, Nigeria ³Département des sciences biologiques, Université Redeemer, Ede, Nigeria ⁴Département d'Oto-Rhino-Laryngologie, Hôpital Universitaire de Babcock, Ilisan-Remo, Nigéria *Correspondance à: <u>obello@unimed.edu.ng</u>; +2348057892661

Résumé:

Le carcinome hépatocellulaire (CHC) est le douzième cancer le plus fréquent et la cinquième cause de décès par cancer dans le monde. L'infection chronique par l'hépatite B, causée par le virus de l'hépatite B (VHB) et l'exposition aux aflatoxines est fondamentale dans la formation du CHC dans les pays en développement. Cette revue de publications scientifiques vise à établir les effets néfastes des aliments contaminés par l'aflatoxine et met en évidence la corrélation entre l'aflatoxine et le carcinome hépatocellulaire associé au virus de l'hépatite B. La recherche a montré une augmentation significative de la survenue de CHC chez les personnes infectées par le VHB exposées à des toxines fongiques. Le VHB démontre sa capacité à s'intégrer et à se lier à la protéine p53 dans l'ADN de l'hôte et à propager la vulnérabilité des hépatocytes par le biais de dommages cancérigènes à l'aflatoxine B₁ (AFB₁). Bien qu'il existe des preuves claires de l'interaction synergique de l'exposition à l'AFB₁ et à l'infection par le VHB dans l'induction du CHC,

d'autres publications ont montré le contraire, principalement parce que des conclusions et des hypothèses incomplètes et vagues ont été formulées dans des régions où l'AFB₁ et le VHB posent un risque pour la santé publique. La vaccination contre l'hépatite B et des mesures telles que des systèmes de sécurité alimentaire robustes pour éviter l'hépatotoxicité et la carcinogenèse hépatocellulaire induites par l'AFB₁ sont les méthodes les plus efficaces dans la prévention du CHC induit par le VHB et l'AFB₁.

Mots clés: aflatoxine B1; hépatite B; carcinome hépatocellulaire; synergie

Introduction:

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is most frequent type of primary liver cancer in adults. Based on the number of cases reported each year, HCC (Plate 1) is the twelfth most common cancer and the fifth leading cause of all cancerrelated deaths worldwide (1).



Plate 1: Macroscopic morphology of a large HCC from a patient with a co-infection of hepatitis B and aflatoxicosis (20)

HCC is an exigent disease that leads to the mortalities of greater than 600,000 people every year. In a recent study, 841,080 new cases of tumor were reported, accounting for up to 9.2% of all new cancers (3). Although HCC does not have a uniform geographical distribution as shown in Fig 1 (4), its overall incidence in developing countries at 513,000 new cases is five times that of the developed nations at 110,000 new cases (5). These rates have been apparent, especially in sub-Saharan Africa and the Asia Pacific (3). Chronic hepatitis B and C infection and aflatoxin (AFT) exposure are decisive in the manifestation of HCC in developing countries (6). However, excessive alcohol intake is also a major predisposing factor.

Viral hepatitis is the inflammation of the liver, which is caused by a viral infection (7). The infection may be manifested as acute (recent infection, relatively rapid onset) or chronic (persistent). Viral hepatitis may be caused by infection by one of the five currently known viruses,



This figure shows that the highest prevalence of HCC occurred in East Asia, while the highest worldwide was observed in Mongolia. The major aetiological factor in many parts Africa, South America and Asia (excluding Japan) is the Hepatitis B virus (HBV) while Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is the chief aetiological factor in Japan, North America and Western Europe. Alcohol intake is indicted in Central and Eastern Europe. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) is the major aetiological factor of the category tagged 'Other'; it is a fast-rising risk factor that could become the predominant aetiology of HCC. ASR is the age-standardized incidence rate.





Fig 2: The natural history of CHB, demonstrating the interaction of serology, biochemistry and molecular virology (10)

which principally affect the liver; hepatitis A, B, C, D and E viruses (HAV, HBV, HCV, HDV and HEV) (8). Although there are certain similarities in the clinical manifestations caused by them, the hepatitis viruses differ widely in their morphology, genomic organization, taxonomic classification, and replication modes. The epidemiology of viral hepatitis infection is substantial. About 2 billion people exposed and 350 million people with chronic infection are at risk for developing liver disease and are responsible for nearly 1 million deaths annually (9).

Chronic HBV infection (Fig 2) associated with cirrhotic liver was categorized as the essential factor linked with the HCC development (10), which has been reported as one of the principal causes of death among men (11,12). In Africa, more than 65 million people are estimated to be chronic carriers of hepatitis B virus (10), which accounts for up to a quarter of the world's chronic HBV population and may be an understatement because of the lack of surveillance and underreporting in many African countries. Studies outside Africa cannot be extrapolated to Africa because HBV strains circulating in Africa differ from those found outside Africa and have unique characteristics.

Aflatoxins (AFTs) are extremely hazardous secondary metabolites obtained from polyketides associated with fungal species such as *Aspergillus flavus, A. parasiticus,* and *A. nomius* (13). These fungi typically affect cereal crops, including wheat, walnut, corn (Plate 2), cotton, peanuts, and tree nuts, during favorable temperatures and humidity (3). They can cause toxic damage to humans and animals, such as hepatotoxicity, teratogenicity, and immunotoxicity (14). AFTs are classified as group 1 carcinogenic agents to humans by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) (5). Even at minute concentrations, aflatoxins still pose serious health threats to humans. Liver necrosis could occur as a result of the consumption of high concentrations of aflatoxins and this is usually accompanied by rapid death (15).

Aflatoxins exist in four primary forms; B1, B2, G1, and G2. These forms occur in synergy, varying in proportions in foods. Since ambient humidity and plant moisture content are important factors in determining the growth and toxin output of these moulds, seed exposure occurs primarily in tropical and subtropical environments with high humidity and high temperatures. These atmospheric conditions are characteristic in parts of sub-Saharan Africa, the Asia Pacific region, and parts of South America. The probability for exposure is high in subsistence farming communities situated in these regions which experience these conditions, where regulations to control toxin exposure are either nonexistent or impracticable (16). Aflatoxin B₁ (AFB₁) has a similar geographical distribution to chronic HBV infection, colonizing various food products in the same Far Eastern and sub-Saharan African countries. Therefore, synergistic interactions of the hepatocarcinogenic effects of HBV and AFB₁ would possibly explain or elucidate the prevalence of HCC in these regions of the world.



Plate 2. Maize infested with Aspergillus flavus (17)

Probable modes of interaction between AFB₁ and HBV in hepatocarcinogenesis:

Some studies (as shown in Table 1) have been conducted to identify the possible mechanisms of synergism of AFB_1 and hepatitis B in the development of HCC. However, most of the studies were carried out decades ago, and there is currently inadequate information on the mechanisms of interaction between the primary causative factors. Some potential mechanisms have been suggested for the interaction of HBV and AFB₁ in the cause of HCC. A mechanism in which this is achieved is through specific cytochrome P450s that metabolize AFB₁ to AFB₁-8,9-epoxide, which may be caused either by chronic hepatitis by HBV infection or by the presence of the virus itself (Fig 3).

Induction of these phase I enzymes have been described in HBV transgenic mice (18). The hepatocyte damage caused by the virus seemed to result from this effect instead of the virus itself. The discovery that Gambian and Taiwanese children and adolescents chronically infected with HBV have lower AFB₁ adduct concentrations than non-infected people (19) correlate with this mechanism. The aflatoxin-8,9-epoxide generated has been shown to bind to proteins that cause acute toxicity or DNA changes that increase the probability of malignant transformation over time (20).

Table 1: Studies on hepatocarcinogenic synergy of aflatoxicosis and hepatitis B virus

Findings	Location	Reference
$AFB_1 \text{ and } HBV$ coinfection hastens the development of HCC	Swaziland, Africa	(21)
HCC prevalence is 10 times more in HBV-positive individuals with high aflatoxin consumption	Guangxi, China	(22)
HBsAg carriers with detectable aflatoxin-albumin adduct are likely to develop HCC	Taiwan, Asia	(23)
AFB1 and HBV bind and integrate to P53 protein, cause P53 mutations and induce carcinogenesis	Ejura-sekyedumase District, Ghana	(24)
Exposure of AFB_1 can increase the risk of HCC through a dose-response among chronic HBV carriers.	Taiwan. Asia	(25)



Fig 3: Diagrammatic illustration showing the metabolism of AFB1 to AFB1-8,9-epoxide to induce Guanine Base changes (26)

Another suggested hypothesis is that the development of phase II detoxification enzymes [glutathione S transferase (GST) and epoxy hydrolase (EPHX)] contribute to the proliferation of AFB₁ and HBV-induced HCC (23). There was a multiplicative association in the development of HCC in West African and Chinese patients between HBV infection and EPHX mutations (27); patients with chronic HBV infection but with healthy EPHX alleles were 15 times at higher risk, and those with both HBV infection and at least one EPHX mutant were at 77 times higher risk. Subsequent reports on these patients indicated a positive relationship between HBV and AFB₁ and which seemed to rely on the existence of a polymorphism of the genes GST T1, GST M1, and EPHX. These genes are normally responsible for transforming carcinogenic AFB₁-8,9-epoxide into non-reactive metabolites (23).

The carcinogenic association between AFB₁ and HBV may also be mediated through elevated hepatocyte necrosis, and proliferation due to chronic HBV infection, which increases the probability of both AFB1 mutations, like 249^{ser}, and eventual clonal expansion of cells carrying these mutations (28). Chronic necro-inflammatory hepatic conditions, like HBV infection contribute to generation of oxygen and nitrogen reactive species (29).

Prevention of HCC associated with AFB₁ and hepatitis B viral infection:

Genetics account for only 5–10% of all HCC cases, while environmental and lifestyle factors account for 90–95% of cancer cases (30). This suggests that the cancer can be prevented when risk factors that contribute to the development of cancer are avoided or reduced (31,32). A central concern of the public health sectors in developing countries is the HCC correlated with AFB₁. However, it remains a limiting factor in countries with weak public health and agricultural safety and food regulation systems. In countries with low capital, practical methods that have ensured minimal contamination of AFB₁ in industrialized countries cannot be applied realistically (33). Thus, efficient and effective approaches should be developed for developing countries to mitigate the AFB₁ contamination of human and animal foods. A variety of approaches have been tried (Fig 4) in order to reduce patient and population exposure to aflatoxins (34), also referred to as primary methods of prevention, as well as secondary forms of prevention using chemo-preventive agents to treat individuals at high risk of AFB_1 exposure (35).

It is necessary to implement long-term measures such as robust food safety systems to avoid hepatotoxicity and hepatocellular carcinogenesis induced by AFB_1 . Steps should be at the level of individuals and communities. Such efforts must be directed at both market vendors and local farmers to avoid or reduce long-term exposure to aflatoxins, thereby increasing the incidence of HCC (36). Pre-harvesting measures include development of fungal-resistant crops and crops which have been genetically modified to inhibit the biosynthesis of aflatoxins and the application of insecticides and fungicides (35).



Fig 4: Proposed scheme for aflatoxin prevention (34)

To effectively prevent HBV infection, it is essential to understand its transmission route. Infection age and the origin of the disease are significant determinants in HBV infection outcome (37). The most important transmission route in endemic areas is perinatal mother-toinfant transmission; HBV infection occurs primarily during infancy and early childhood. In the absence of prophylaxis, 90% of babies develop chronic condition from highly infectious (HBeAgpositive) hepatitis B carrier mothers. HBV immunization can be categorized into passive and active immunization. Passive immunization with hepatitis B immunoglobulin (HBIG) provides temporary immunity, while effective vaccination provides long-term immunity. Since the primary infection route in endemic areas comes from the maternal transmission and the perinatal transmission results in a very high rate of chronic infection (90%), the best timing for initial HBV immunization should therefore be within 24 hrs of conception, accompanied by subsequent doses of HBV vaccine during infancy (38).

Other preventive measures, such as blood screening, proper sterilization of injection syringes, and avoidance of risky behaviors such as intravenous drug abuse, unprotected sex, skin piercing or tattooing can prevent horizontal transmission of HBV. Additionally, awareness should be provided to avoid high-risk behaviors such as encouraging condoms use during sexual intercourse. Most of the countries with low prevalence of HBV infection normally have adolescent HBV vaccinations to prevent exposure to sexual encounters or other threatening behaviors related to exposure to HBV.

Assessing further synergistic roles of AFB_1 and HBV in the development of HCC:

Although the etiological function of AFB₁ exposure to HCC has been researched for 50 years, there is limited information on the interaction of HBV infection (5). Hepatitis B virus is a significant risk factor in the development of primary liver cancer, and many of the studies are affected by this viral infection. In a study carried out by Lereau et al., (39), which sought to investigate the relationship between short-term exposure to AFB₁ (dose-dependent) and HBV on the P53 gene in HepaRG cells, AFB₁ was evaluated as a natural antiviral agent. However, it was noted that there was no clear correlation between the doses applied to the cells in the study and the concentrations of AFB1 liver after human dietary exposure.

AFB₁ research programs lack adequate resources in developing countries with high levels of aflatoxin food contamination in terms of qualified personnel, capital investment, and ana-

lytical and technical facilities. Besides, funding support for systematic assessments in these regions is essential in following all these factors. The truth is that much of society suffers from food shortages, so contaminated food products are likely consumed. For this reason, hepatitis B vaccine services have been proposed as a more practical and cost-effective plan to decrease the occurrence of liver cancer than to eliminate aflatoxin from the diet (40).

Incomplete and vague findings and hypotheses were made in regions where AFB1 and HBV are widely at risk for public health. For the prospective aspects of the research, a significant number of methodological optimizations and brand-new approaches are required, sustaining an apt opportunity to depict the profound effect of AFB₁. Researchers regarding this subject still face some issues. The primary problem is that most experiments have been redirected to endemic areas, showing high HBV rates, and the codon 249 mutation of the p53 gene has not been tested to demonstrate any relation to the sensitivity to AFB₁. Another issue is that the accuracy of HCC clinical data and the prevalence of HBV are reduced. Also, the determination of AFB1 intake was not scrutinized for each patient and was restricted only to certain types of food (5).

From the findings of this mini-review, it is hoped that necessary action would be taken to monitor the aflatoxin levels and decrease the occurrence of aflatoxins in foods to benign levels. This is expected to increase the efforts by government and non-governmental organizations to support the course that would reduce the incidence of hepatitis B virus and aflatoxinsinduced liver conditions.

Contribution of authors:

JOA, MOO, and OOB conceptualized the research; JOA, MOO, OOB, IOB, OJA, and OIK contributed to the development and writing of the manuscript; and JOA, MOO, and OOB contributed in validating and reviewing the manuscript. All authors approved submitted version.

Source of funding:

Authors received no funding

Conflict of interest:

No conflict of interest is declared

References:

 Howlader, N., Noone, A. M., Krapchon, M., et al (eds). SEER Cancer. Statistics Review, 1975-2018, National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD, USA. https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2018/. (Accessed November 26, 2021)

- Bruix, J., Gores, G. J., and Mazzaferro, V. Hepato-2. cellular carcinoma: clinical frontiers and perspectives. Gut. 2014; 63: 844-855.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer 3. (IARC). GLOBOCAN 2020: New Global Cancer Data. https://www.uicc.org/news/globocan-2020-newglobal-cancer-data. (Accessed December 22, 2021)
- 4. Mittal, S., and El-Serag, H. B. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma: consider the population. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2013; 47: S2-S6.
- Kucukcakan, B., and Hayrulai-Musliu, Z. Challenging 5. Role of Dietary Aflatoxin B1 Exposure and Hepatitis B Infection on Risk of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Maced J Med Sci. 2015; 3: 363-369.
- Llovet, J. M., Kelley, R. K., Villanueva, A. et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 6. 2021; 7: 6
 - https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-020-00240-3
- 7. National Library of Medicine. Hepatitis, Viral. Human Medical Subject Headings. Virus Dis. 2011; C02.440
- 8 NIAID. Hepatitis. https://web.archive.org/web/20161107003115/htt p://www.who.int/features/qa/76/en/. (Accessed 2 November 2016)
- McGlynn, K. A., Petrick, J. L., and El-Serag, H. B. 9. Epidemiology of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Hepatol. 2021; 73: 1-10.
- 10. Croagh, C. M. N., and Lubel, J. S. Natural history of chronic hepatitis B: phases in a complex relationship. World J Gastroenterol. 2014; 20 (30): 10395-404.
- 11. European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL). EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2018; 69 (1):182-236.
- 12. Llovet, J. M., Kelley, R. K., Villanueva, A., et al. Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Nat Rev Dis. 2021; 7: 6.
- National Toxicology Program. Aflatoxins, Report on 13. Carcinogens, 2018 https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/whatwestudy/assessmen ts/cancer/roc/index.html. (Accessed December 23, 2021)
- 14. Roze, L. V., Hong, S. Y., and Linz, J. E. Aflatoxin biosynthesis: Current frontiers. Annu Rev Food Sci Technol. 2013; 4: 293-311.
- Kamala, A., Shirima, C., Jani, B., et al. Outbreak of an acute aflatoxicosis in Tanzania during 2016. 15. World Mycotoxin J. 2018; 11: 311-320.
- 16. Kew, M. C. Hepatocellular carcinoma in developing countries: Prevention, diagnosis and treatment. World J Gastroenterol. 2012; 4 (3): 99-104.
- 17. Dooso, O. R., Okoth, S., Wachira, P., et al. Genetic Profiling of Aspergillus Isolates with Varying Aflatoxin Production Potential from Different Maize-Growing Regions of Kenya. Toxins (Basel). 2019; 11 (8): 467.
- 18. Gemechu-Hatewu, M., Platt, K., Oesch, F., Hacker, H., Bannasch, P., and Steinberg, P. Metabolic activation of aflatoxin B1 to aflatoxin B1-8, 9-epoxide in woodchucks undergoing chronic active hepatitis. Int. J Cancer Res. 1998; 73 (4): 1097-0215.
- 19. Chen, S., Chen, C., Chou, S., et al. Association of aflatoxin B1-albuminadduct levels with hepatitis B surface antigen status among adolescents in Taiwan. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2001; 10: 1223-1226.
- 20. Groopman, J. D., Wang, B. J., and Scholl, P. Molecular biomarkers of aflatoxins: from adducts to gene mutations to human liver cancer. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 1996; 74: 203-209.
- 21. Peers, F. G., Gilman, G. A., and Linsell, C. A. Dietary aflatoxins and human liver cancer. A study in Swaziland. Int J Cancer. 1976; 17: 167-176.

- 22. Yeh, F. S., Yu, M. C., Mo, C. C., Luo, S., Tong, M. J., and Henderson, B. E. Hepatitis B virus, aflatoxins, and hepatocellular carcinoma in southern Guangxi, China. Cancer Res 1989; 49: 2506-2509.
- 23. Sun, C. A., Wang, L. Y., Chen, C. J., et al. Genetic polymorphisms of glutathione-S-transferases M1 and T1 associated with susceptibility to aflatoxinrelated carcinogenesis among chronic hepatitis B carriers: a nested case-control study in Taiwan. Carcinogenesis. 2001; 22: 1289-1294.
- 24. Link, T., and Iwakuma, T. Roles of p53 in extrinsic factor-induced liver carcinogenesis. Hepatoma Res. 2017; 3: 95-104.
- 25. Chu, Y., Yang, H., Wu, H., et al. Aflatoxin B1 exposure increases the risk of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic hepatitis B virus carriers. Int J Cancer. 2017; 141 (4): 711-720.
- 26. Farombi, E. O. Aflatoxin contamination of foods in developing countries: Implications for hepatocellular carcinoma and chemopreventive strategies. Afr J Biotechnol. 2006; 5 (1): 001-014.
- 27. McGlynn, K. A., Rosvold, E. A., Lustbader, E. D., et al. Susceptibility to hepatocellular carcinoma is associated with genetic variation in the enzymatic detoxification of aflatoxin B1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1995; 92 (6): 2384-2387.
- 28. Chisari, F. V., Klopchin, K., Moriyama, T., et al. Molecular pathogenesis of hepatocellular carcinoma in hepatitis B transgenic mice. Cell. 1989; 59: 1145-1156.
- 29. Ishima, H., and Bartsch, H. Chronic infection and inflammatory process as cancer risk factors: possible role for nitric oxide in carcinogenesis. Mutat Res. 1994; 305: 253-264.
- 30. Anand, P., Kunnumakkara, A. B., Sundaram, C., et al. Cancer is a preventable disease that requires major lifestyle changes. Pharm Res. 2008; 25: 2097-2116.
- 31. Sutandyo, N. Nutritional carcinogenesis. Acta Med Indonesia. 2010; 42: 36-42.
- 32. Obuseh, F. A., Jolly, P. E., Kulczycki, A., et al. Aflatoxin levels, plasma vitamins A and E concentrations, and their association with HIV and hepatitis B virus infections in Ghanaians: a cross-sectional study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2011; 14: 53.
- 33. Williams, J. H., Phillips, T. D., Jolly, P. E., Stiles, J. K., Jolly, C. M., and Aggarwal, D. Human aflatoxicosis in developing countries: a review of toxicology, exposure, potential health consequences and interventions. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004; 80: 1106-1122.
- 34. Hamid, A. S., Tesfamariam, I. G., Zhang, Y., and Zhang, Z. G. Aflatoxin B1-induced hepatocellular carcinoma in developing countries: Geographical distribution, mechanism of action and prevention (Review). Oncol Lett. 2013; 5 (4): 1087-1092.
- Kumar, P., Mahato, D. K., Kamle, M., Mohanta, T. 35. K., and Kang, S. G. Aflatoxins: A Global Concern for Food Safety, Human Health and Their Management. Front Microbiol 2017; 7: 2170.
- 36. Lewis, L., Onsongo, M., Njapau, H., et al. Kenya Aflatoxicosis Investigation Group Aflatoxin contamination of commercial maize products during an outbreak of acute aflatoxicosis in eastern and central Kenya. Env Health Perspect. 2005; 113: 1763-1767.
- 37. Beasley, R. P. Rocks along the road to the control of HBV and HCC. Ann Epidemiol. 2009; 19: 231-234.
- Chang, M. H. Hepatitis B virus infection. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2007; 12 (3): 160–167. Lereau, M., Gouas, D., Villar, S., et al. Interactions between hepatitis B virus and aflatoxin B1: effects on *p53* induction 38.
- 39. in HepaRG cells. J Gen Virol. 2012; 93: 640-650.
- Mangussen, A., and Parsi, M. Aflatoxins, hepatocellular carcinoma and public health. World J Gastroenterol. 2013; 40. 19 (10): 1508-1512.

Zouré et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 16 - 23

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2230. <u>https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem</u>

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.3

Original Article

https://www.afrjcem.org

Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1



Open Access

Comparative evaluation of automated KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher Scientific) and manual QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) extraction methods for SARS-CoV-2

*¹Zouré, A. A., ¹Compaoré, T. R., ²Beré, J. A., ¹Sagna, T., ¹Soubeiga, S. T., ¹Dabiré, C., ¹Nikiema, A. R., ³Barro, N., and ¹Ouedraogo, H. G.

¹Department of Biomedical and Public Health, Institute of Health Sciences Research (IRSS/CNRST), 03 BP 7047 Ouagadougou 03, Burkina Faso

²Unité de Formation et de Recherche en Science et Technique (UFR/ST), Université Catholique de l'Afrique de l'Ouest Unité Universitaire à Bobo Dioulasso (UCAO/UUB)

³Laboratoire de Biologie Moléculaire, d'Epidémiologie et de Surveillance des Agents, Transmissibles par les Aliments (LaBESTA), Centre de Recherche en Sciences Biologiques Alimentaires et Nutritionnelles (CRSBAN), Université Joseph KI-ZERBO, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

*Correspondence to: abdouazaque@gmail.com; +22625363215; ORCiD: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9423-024X

Abstract:

Background: The extraction step of the viral material of the severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) influences the quality of reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) results in diagnosis of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). The purpose of this cross-sectional study was to evaluate the diagnostic performance of the automated extraction system "KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher)" compared to the manual method with the "QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen)".

Methodology: From October to December 2020, comparative diagnostic evaluation of two methods of SARS-CoV-2 RNA extraction methods was conducted on 159 fresh and 120 frozen nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal specimens collected from travellers and suspected cases or contacts of COVID-19 patients in Burkina Faso. The FastPlexTM Triplex 1-Step COVID 19 Detection Kit (RT-PCR, RNA extraction free) (Precigenome LLC) was used to amplify on the same PCR plate, RNA extracts from manual QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit and automated KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher) using the QuantStudio5 thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems). Analysis of the diagnostic performance of the SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR assay following RNA extraction by the two methods was done using an online OpenEpi software.

Results: For fresh samples, the study found a slightly higher RT-PCR positivity rate following manual extraction (12.6%) than automated extraction (9.4%). For frozen samples, the positivity rate was far higher for manual (38.33%) than automated extraction method (20.83%). The results show that the performance of the automated extraction was inferior when compared to the manual extraction for both fresh samples (sensitivity 35%, specificity 94.2%) and frozen samples (sensitivity 43.5%, specificity 93.2%). However, using McNemar Chi-square with Yates correction, there was no significant difference in positivity rate of RT-PCR (x^2 =0.76, p=0.38) between the two extraction methods for the fresh samples, but there was a significant difference (x^2 =12.9, p= 0.0003) in the extraction of the frozen samples.

Conclusion: The results of this study showed that KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher) automatic extraction method was less sensitive and specific than QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) manual extraction method. This information can serve as guide to laboratories in the choice of RNA extraction methods to use for RT-PCR detection of SARS-CoV-2.

Keywords: SARS-CoV-2; RNA extraction; Diagnostic; Performance; RT-PCR

Received Oct 11, 2022; Revised Dec 23, 2022; Accepted Dec 24, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Évaluation comparative des méthodes d'extraction automatisée KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher Scientific) et manuelle QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) pour le SRAS-CoV-2

*¹Zouré, A. A., ¹Compaoré, T. R., ²Beré, J. A., ¹Sagna, T., ¹Soubeiga, S. T., ¹Dabiré, C., ¹Nikiema, A. R., ³Barro, N., et ¹Ouedraogo, H. G.

¹Département de Santé Biomédicale et Publique, Institut de Recherche en Sciences de la Santé (IRSS/CNRST), 03 BP 7047 Ouagadougou 03, Burkina Faso ²Unité de Formation et de Recherche en Science et Technique (UFR/ST), Université Catholique de l'Afrique de l'Ouest Unité Universitaire à Bobo Dioulasso (UCAO/UUB)

³Laboratoire de Biologie Moléculaire, d'Epidémiologie et de Surveillance des Agents, Transmissibles par les Aliments (LaBESTA), Centre de Recherche en Sciences Biologiques Alimentaires et Nutritionnelles (CRSBAN), Université Joseph KI-ZERBO, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

*Correspondance à: abdouazaque@gmail.com; +22625363215; ORCiD: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9423-024X

Résumé:

Contexte: L'étape d'extraction du matériel viral du syndrome respiratoire aigu sévère-coronavirus-2 (SRAS-CoV-2) influence la qualité des résultats de la réaction en chaîne de la transcriptase inverse-polymérase (RT-PCR) dans le diagnostic de la maladie à coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19). Le but de cette étude transversale était d'évaluer les performances diagnostiques du système d'extraction automatisé "KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (Thermo- Fisher)" par rapport à la méthode manuelle avec le "QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen)"

Méthodologie: D'octobre à décembre 2020, une évaluation diagnostique comparative de deux méthodes d'extraction de l'ARN du SRAS-CoV-2 a été menée sur 159 échantillons nasopharyngés et oropharyngés frais et 120 échantillons congelés nasopharyngés et oropharyngés prélevés sur des voyageurs et des cas suspects ou des contacts de patients COVID-19 au Burkina Faso. Le kit de détection FastPlexTM Triplex COVID 19 (RT-PCR, sans extraction d'ARN) (Precigenome LLC) a été utilisé pour amplifier sur la même plaque PCR, des extraits d'ARN du kit manuel QIAamp Viral RNA Mini et du système automatisé KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher) à l'aide du thermocycleur QuantStudio5 (Applied Biosystems). L'analyse des performances diagnostiques du test SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR après extraction de l'ARN par les deux méthodes a été effectuée à l'aide d'un logiciel OpenEpi en ligne.

Résultats: Pour les échantillons frais, l'étude a révélé un taux de positivité RT-PCR légèrement plus élevé après extraction manuelle (12,6%) qu'après extraction automatisée (9,4%). Pour les échantillons congelés, le taux de positivité était beaucoup plus élevé pour la méthode d'extraction manuelle (38,3%) que pour la méthode d'extraction automatisée (20,8%). Les résultats montrent que les performances de l'extraction automatisée étaient inférieures à celles de l'extraction manuelle pour les échantillons frais (sensibilité 35.0%, spécificité 94,2%) et les échantillons congelés (sensibilité 43,5%, spécificité 93,2%). Cependant, en utilisant McNemar Chicarré avec correction de Yates, il n'y avait pas de différence significative dans le taux de positivité de la RT-PCR (x^2 =0,76, p=0,38) entre les deux méthodes d'extraction pour les échantillons frais, mais il y avait une différence significative (x^2 =12,9, p=0,0003) dans l'extraction des échantillons congelés.

Conclusion: Les résultats de cette étude ont montré que la méthode d'extraction automatique KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher) était moins sensible et spécifique que la méthode d'extraction manuelle QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen). Ces informations peuvent servir de guide aux laboratoires dans le choix des méthodes d'extraction d'ARN à utiliser pour la détection par RT-PCR du SRAS-CoV-2.

Mots-clés: SRAS-CoV-2; extraction d'ARN; diagnostique; performance; RT-PCR

Introduction:

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) was declared a pandemic on March 11 2020 by the World Health Organization. The causative pathogen is the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) (1,2). The molecular tests for detecting SARS-CoV-2 include reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT - PCR), transcription - mediated amplification (TMA), nicking enzyme-assisted reaction (NEAR), loop - mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP), recombinase polymerase amplification (RPA), and systems using clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat (CRISPR-Cas) and next-generation sequencing (3). Also, antigen detection and serological tests are used for epidemiological study (3). RT-PCR is the 'gold standard' for COVID-19 diagnosis because it detects nucleic acid associated with genes such as spike (S), envelope (E), membrane (M), and nucleocapsid (N), open reading frame polyprotein (ORF1ab), and non-structural proteins such as NSP12 which encodes RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) (4,5).

The quality of nucleic acid extraction and purification influences the sensitivity, reproducibility and accuracy of the RT-PCR test (6). In the last 10 years, several new manual, semi-automated and automated commercial nucleic acid extraction systems using magnetic beads or silica particles have been developed for DNA, RNA or total nucleic acid extraction (7). Thus, the magnetic separation extraction method uses a magnetic field to separate micrometer-sized paramagnetic particles from a suspension. The method is simple and reliable to purify several types of biomolecules, such as DNA, plasmids, RNA and proteins but requires more handling time (8,9). Furthermore, the extraction method with centrifugation columns uses purification materials such as glass fibre, silica and filter paper. The advantages of this method are ease of use, flexibility and automation capability (10,11). Manual nucleic acid extraction methods have limitations of contamination and inhibition. Contamination, in particular, is very possible in samples with high viral load in the early stages of SARS-CoV-2 infection (12,13)

Studies have compared some of these new extraction methods and reported that they differ in their ability to recover viral RNA, indicating that no single RNA extraction method is optimal for all viruses (14,15). Comparative studies of manual and automated nucleic acid extraction methods have been carried on viruses such as rotavirus (16) and New Castle disease virus (17). A comparison study of six automated nucleic acid extraction systems (KingFisher ML, Biorobot EZ1, easyMAG, KingFisher Flex MagNA Pure Compact, Biorobot MDX) and one manual kit (Allprep DNA/RNA Mini Kit) for respiratory pathogens reported that the systems differed in nucleic acid recovery, reproducibility, and linearity in a pathogen-specific manner (18).

In Burkina Faso, several extraction methods are used for SARS-CoV-2 RNA extraction but have not been formally compared to determine which is the most efficient. From the beginning of the pandemic in March 2020 in Burkina Faso, the "QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen)" was the first kit used by most laboratories involved in COVID-19 diagnosis. Then other manual kits such as MGIEasy Nucleic Acid Extraction Kit (MGI Tech Co., Ltd), MagMAX[™] Viral/Pathogen Nucleic Acid Isolation Kit (Applied Biosystems[™]), NUCLISENS® MINIMAG® (BioMérieux), Abbott Sample Preparation and automated kits such as MagNA PURE 96 and 24 (Roche), NucliSENS®easy MAG® 24 (BioMerieux), KingFisher Flex Purification System 24 and 96 (ThermoFisher), Arrow 12 (NorDiag/ DiaSorin), Abbott m2000 sp instrument 96 (Abbott) and abGenix[™] 32 Nucleic acid extractor (AIT Biotech) (19). The QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) produced more detectable RNA than the aforementioned kits (20).

After the acquisition of the automatic extractor (KingFisher) im our laboratory, we wanted to compare its performance to those of "QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen)", which prompted its choice as a reference. The main objective of this study therefore was to evaluate the performance of the automated extraction system "KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher)" in comparison to the manual method with the "QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) in the perspective of its routine use.

Materials and method:

Study setting and design:

The study is a comparative evaluation of two RNA extraction methods for the *in vitro* detection of SARS-CoV-2, conducted between April and August 2021 in the Biomedical Research Laboratory (LaReBio) at the Institute for Research in Health Sciences (IRSS/CNRST), Ouagadougou. This is one of the laboratories involved in the COVID 19 diagnosis in Burkina Faso.

Ethics approval:

The Ministry of Health/Burkina Faso approved the evaluation of COVID-19 tests with the letter number N°2020/00004382/MS/ SG/DGAP/DLBM/sc dated 28 December 2020. It was carried at LaReBio, as recommended by the quality management system to any new method. This technical validation study is a contribution to the improvement of COVID-19 diagnosis in the laboratory. All the samples used under anonymous and confidential.

Nature and origin of the samples:

Nasopharyngeal and/or oropharyngeal specimens, including 159 fresh specimens [collected into viral transport medium (VTM) less than 24 hours and stored at 4-8°C] and 120 frozen specimens (collected into VTM from October to December 2020, stored at -80°C). All the samples were from the travellers' sites (airport, CMA Kossodo and IRSS) and suspected cases or contacts of COVID-19 patients.

Sample analysis methods:

All samples were extracted in duplicate using the two extraction methods; manual "QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germany) and automated "KingFisher Flex" (ThermoFisher Scientific, USA). The amplification of both RNA extracts was done on the same PCR plate as shown in the flow chart (Fig 1).



Fig 1: Flowchart of the analysis steps for fresh (a) and frozen (b) samples

The manual method "QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit" uses centrifugation columns on which a silica matrix is fixed. The principle is to lyse the cells to isolate the nucleic acid, attach it to a silica matrix, remove all contaminants by washing and elute the purified nucleic acid in a buffer. The KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher) is an automated extraction instrument. It provides consistent high-throughput extraction and purification of DNA, RNA, proteins and cells. It uses the MagMAX[™] Viral/Pathogen Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, USA) based on magnetic bead technology, designed to isolate and purify viral RNA and DNA.

RNA RT-PCR assay:

The FastPlexTM Triplex 1-Step COVID-19 Detection Kit (RT-PCR, RNA extraction free) (Precigenome LLC) was used to amplify on the same PCR plate the RNA extracts from the QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit and the KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher) using the QuantStudio5 thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems). The targets by the amplification kits are; ORF1ab (FAM fluorochrome) and N (HEX fluorochrome) and the internal control (CY5 fluorochrome) (Table 1).

Table 1: Interpretation of RT-PCR results

ORF1ab (FAM)	N (HEX)	IC (CY5)	Results
+	+	Not	
+	-	considered	SARS-CoV-2 positive
-	+		
-	-	+	SARS-CoV-2 Negative
-	-	-	Invalid

Negative result: Ct value > 39; Positive result: Ct value \leq 39; Invalid: Ct >39 or no Ct detected for internal control (all samples' internal control)

Statistical analysis:

Data were entered into Excel 2016 and analyzed on R software. The mean Ct values of SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR following manual and automated extraction methods were compared using the student's 't' test and the significance level was set at p<0.05. The sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive and negative predictive values of RT-PCR following automated KingFisher Flex extraction was calculated using the QIAamp manual method as the 'gold standard' with Open Epi.

(<u>http://www.openepi.com/Menu/OE_Menu.htm</u>).

Results:

Characteristics of patients with fresh samples:

The mean age of the patients was 40.26 ± 12.89 years (age range 5 - 74 years).

The age group 30-40 years was in the majority (32.07%), followed by age group 40-50 years with 25.79%. Most patients (66.67%) were male with gender ratio of 2.95. The most frequent reason for sample collection was travel at 50.94%, followed by contact cases of SARS-CoV-2 infected patients at 19.49%. The majority (95.60%) of the patients resided in Ouagadougou and the rest were undefined.

Characteristics of patients with frozen samples

The mean age of patients was 34.87 ± 14.51 years (age range 11-78 years). The age group 20-30 years was the most represented (26.67%), followed by age group 30-40 years with 22.5%. Most of the patients were male (60%). The most frequent reason for testing was "contact" of SARS-CoV-2 cases (49.16%), followed by travelers (45%) and others (suspected cases and controls). Almost all (96.7%) of the patients resided in Ouagadougou and the samples were collected from the Ouagadougou sampling sites.

Evaluation of the automated and manual extraction methods for fresh samples:

The study found a slightly higher RT-PCR positivity rate of fresh samples following manual extraction (12.6%, 20/159) than automated extraction (9.4%, 15/159). Seven (4.4%) samples were positive following both manual and automated extraction while 131 (82.4%) were negative. Compared to manual extraction, automated extraction had a specificity of 94.2%, sensitivity of 35.0%, PPV of 46.7% and NPV of 90.9% for fresh samples but using McNemar Chi-square with Yates correction, there was no significant difference between both methods of extraction (x^2 =0.76, p=0.38) with the fresh samples (Table 2a).

Evaluation of the automatic and manual extraction method for frozen samples:

For the frozen samples, there was a significant difference in the RT-PCR positivity rate following manual extraction (38.33%, 46/120) and automated extraction (20.83%, 25/120) (x^2 =12.9, p=0.0003). Twenty (16.7%) samples were positive following both manual and automated extraction and 69 (57.5%) samples were negative following both extraction methods. Compared to manual extraction, automated extraction had a specificity of 93.24%, sensitivity of 43.48%, PPV of 80.0% and NPV of 72.63% (Table 2b).

i methods
extraction
RNA
SARS-COV-2
manual .
and
automated
of
Evaluation

,					,	
RNA extraction results/samples		Nasophary	rngeal samples	Oropharynge	al samples	Total
		Positive	Negative	Positive	Negative	
Results of the automatic extraction	Positive	7	7	0	1	15
	Negative	13	128	0	3	144
	Total	20	135	0	4	159
	Sensitivity (95% CI)		35.00	% (18.12 - 56.71)		
	Specificity (95% CI)		94.24	% (89.05 - 97.06)		
	PPV (95% CI)		46.67	% (24.81 - 69.88)		
	NPV (95% CI)		20.97	% (85.17 - 94.65)		
	Kappa de Cohen coefficient (95% CI)		0.3	3 (0.17 - 0.48)		
	McNemar with Yeates correction		x ² =	= 0.76, <i>p</i> =0.38		

Table 2a: Comparative evaluation of RT-PCR results following automatic and manual extraction methods from fresh samples

PPV: Positive predictive value, NPV: negative predictive value, 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

Table 2b: Comparative evaluation of RT-PCR results following automatic and manual extraction methods from frozen samples

RNA extraction results/ samples		Nasopharyngea	il samples	Oropharynge	al samples	Total
		Positive	Negative	Positive	Negative	
Results of the automatic extraction	Positive	13	4	7	1	25
	Negative	19	54	7	15	95
	Total	32	58	14	16	120
	Sensitivity (95%CI)		43.48%	(30.21 - 57.75)		
	Specificity(95%CI)		93.24%	(85.14 - 97.08)		
	PPV (95% CI)		80.0% (60.87 - 91.14)		
	NPV (95% CI)		72.63%	(62.92 - 80.59)		
	Kappa de Cohen Coefficient (95%CI)		0.40 (0.23 - 0.56)		
	McNemar with Yeates correction		$x^2 = 12$.	90, <i>p</i> =0.0003		
PPV: Positive predictive value, NPV: negative predictive v.	alue, 95% CI: 95% confidence interval					

		For the second sec		
		Fresh samples		
Targets	QIAamp Ct (mean± SD)	KingFisher Flex Ct (mean \pm SD)	Ct difference (Ct Kingfisher - Ct QIAamp)	p value
ORF1ab	31.32 ± 3.41	$\textbf{33.68} \pm \textbf{2.76}$	+2.36	<0.0001*
N	$\textbf{33.74} \pm \textbf{4.69}$	34.55 ± 4.87	+ 0.81	0.1319
IC	26.88 ± 3.69	$\textbf{26.6} \pm \textbf{3.60}$	-0.28	0.4939
Frozen samples				
Targets	QIAamp Ct (mean± SD)	KingFisher Flex Ct (mean \pm SD)	Ct difference (Ct Kingfisher - Ct QIAamp)	p value
ORF1ab	$30.74{\pm}~5.98$	30.73± 4.65	-0.01	0.9885
N	$33.04{\pm}~4.36$	32.04± 3.80	-1	0.0594
IC	$\textbf{27.18}{\pm}\textbf{ 4.00}$	27.96± 3.39	+0.78	0.1045

Table 3: Mean cycle threshold (Ct) values in RT-PCR of SARS-COV-2 genes following RNA extractions from fresh and frozen samples

ORF1ab: Open reading frame1ab, N: nucleocapsid protein, IC: internal control; *: statistically significant difference

Comparison of mean C_t values of different SARS-CoV-2 genes following manual and automated extraction of fresh samples:

There was a gain of 2.36 and 0.81 cycles of amplification for the ORF1ab and N gene respectively for KingFisher Flex automated over the QIAamp extraction method from the fresh samples with a statistically significant difference between the mean Ct values for the ORF1ab gene (p < 0.0001), but there was no significant difference between the mean Ct values for the N gene (p=0.1319) between the manual and automated extraction methods. Also, there was no significant difference between the mean Ct values of the internal control between the manual and automated extraction (p=0.4939), although there was a loss of threshold cycle (C_t) of -0.28 cycles for the internal control (Cy5) with the KingFisher Flex automated method compared to QIAamp manual extraction method (Table 3).

Comparison of mean C_t values of different SARS-CoV-2 genes following manual and automated extraction of frozen samples:

There was no statistically significant difference in the mean C_t value of the ORF1ab gene between the manual and automated extraction methods (p=0.9885) although there was a loss of -0.01 amplification cycle by the automated method. Similarly, there was no significant difference between the mean C_t values of the N gene between the manual and automated extraction (p=0.0594) although there was a loss of one amplification cycle (-1 cycle) by the automated extraction method. Also, there was no significant difference between the mean C_t of the internal control following manual and automated extraction (p=

0.1045) although there was a gain of +0.78 cycles by the automated KingFisher Flex over manual QIAamp extraction method (Table 3).

Discussion:

This study compared an automated extraction method for SARS-CoV-2 RNA with a manual method, used as reference. It shows that compared to the "QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen)", the "KingFisher Flex Purification System 96 (ThermoFisher)" automated extraction method loses some performance. Indeed, the study found a slightly higher SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR positivity rate for fresh samples for manual extraction (12.6%) than for automatic extraction (9.4%). For frozen samples, there was also difference in the positivity rate following manual extraction (38.3%) than automatic extraction (20.8%). A previous study (21) showed that there was no statistically significant difference (p=0.629) in the RT-PCR positivity rate (92.5% vs 90%) between manual and automated methods. This may be explained by the fact that the methods used are different. In this previous study, automated liquid-based high-throughput RNA extraction platform (PHASIFY[™]) was compared with the widely used magnetic bead-based total nucleic acid extraction (MBTE) platform (NucliSENS ® easyMAG ®).

Our study shows that automatic extraction on fresh and frozen samples was more specific (94.24%, 93.24%) but less sensitive (35%, 43.48%) in detecting SARS-CoV-2 on RT-PCR. Using the 2x2 contingency table analysis, manual extraction was more sensitive than automated extraction, and although this was not statistically significant for fresh samples on McNemar Chi-square with Yates correction (x^2 =0.76, p=0.38), it was statistically significant for frozen samples (x^2 =12.9, p= 0.0003). Contrariwise, researchers in Brazil (22) found that automated extraction (Loccus, Extracta Kit FAST) was the most sensitive (100%) compared to manual extraction (Bio-Gene Kit, Bioclin, Quibasa) and rapid extraction methods (Lucigen, Quick DNA Extract Kit). This discordant finding could be explained by the different extraction techniques used in these studies.

The mean cycle threshold (C_t) value of the RT-PCR for SARS-CoV-2 ORF1ab gene for fresh samples was significantly higher with the KingFisher Flex extraction (p<0.0001) than manual QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit extracts, indicating that manual extraction was more sensitive in detecting the ORF1ab gene from fresh samples, but there was no significant difference in the C_t for the N gene (p=0.1319) between the two methods. For the frozen samples, the mean C_t values of SARS-CoV-2 ORF1 ab (p=0.9885) and N genes (p=0.0594) were not significantly different for both manual QIAamp Viral RNA Kit and automated KingFisher Flex extraction methods.

The results obtained for the fresh samples in our study agrees with those of Esona et al., (16) who in comparing two automated methods found that the mean C_t values for the KingFisher Flex extracts were significantly higher (p=0.001) than those of the other methods (MagNA Pure Compact or RNaid kit). However, our results of the frozen samples contrast those of Ransom et al., (23) who in their study found that the mean Ct values of RT-PCR with the KingFisher Flex were significantly lower (p=0.05) than those of the EZ1 and easyMAG, and although there was a loss of 0.01 and 1 cycle for ORF1ab and N genes respectively with the KingFisher Flex extraction method for the frozen samples, which may indicate higher sensitivity of SARS-CoV-2 detection, these losses did not reach statistical significance (p>0.05). Nevertheless, our results showed that manual QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit, compared to KingFisher Flex Purification System 96, was more sensitive for the extraction of ORF1ab RNA from fresh samples than from frozen samples.

Furthermore, it has been extrapolated in a study (24) that each 3.3 increase in C_t value corresponds to approximately 1 log (i. e. 10-fold) less target in the primary clinical specimen subjected to PCR reaction. Similarly, some researchers have attempted to correlate C_t values with SARS-CoV-2 detection (25), thus gains (e. g. gain of 2.36 cycles from the manual over automatic for the ORF1ab gene in the fresh samples in our study) or losses (e.g. loss of -0.01 cycles from manual to automatic for the ORF1ab gene in the frozen samples) of C_t can influence "positivity" or "negativity" of RT-PCR test. It appears that automated extraction may be better suited for frozen than fresh samples, as the target genes are detected earlier. But our findings remain preliminary and requires to be validated in a more comprehensive study comparing the two methods.

Our study is limited by the non-repeatability of the extraction and RT-PCR assays on the tested samples, lack of information and data on the symptoms of the tested subjects and possible contamination with manual extractions. Nonetheless, the results of our study showed that automated RNA extraction with KingFisher Flex was less sensitive for RT-PCR detection of SARS-CoV-2 from fresh samples than manual extraction with QIAamp kit. This finding could serve as guide for laboratories in selecting extraction methods based on periods of COVID-19 sampling and target individuals to be diagnosed.

Acknowledgments:

The authors acknowledge the SARS-CoV-2 routine laboratory technicians for their assistance in the generation of the data, and the DLBM/Ministry of Health for their inputs and provision of equipment for the study.

Contributions of authors:

AAZ conceptualized the study and was involved in data curation, formal analysis, software, and writing original manuscript draft; HGO was involved in study conceptualization, laboratory analysis, supervision, review and manuscript editing; TRC was involved in data curation, review and manuscript editing; JAB was involved in data curation, review and manuscript editing; TS was involved in laboratory analysis, validation, review and manuscript ed iting; STS was involved in laboratory analysis, review and manuscript editing; CD was involved in data curation; ARN was involved in data curation; and NB was involved in supervision and data validation.

Source of funding:

This study was supported by Biomedical Research Laboratory (LaReBio/IRSS/CNR ST) and the Ministry of Health of Burkina Faso.

Conflicts of interest:

No conflict of interest is declared.

References:

- Li, Q., Guan, X., Wu, P., et al. Early Transmission Dynamics in Wuhan, China, of Novel Coronavirus Infected Pneumonia. NEJM. 2020; 382(13):1199-1207 https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001316.
- Zhu, N., Zhang, D., Wang, W., et al. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. NEJM. 2020; 382 (8): 727–733. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001017.
- Safiabadi Tali, S. H., LeBlanc, J. J., Sadiq, Z., et al. Tools and Techniques for Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)/COVID-19 Detection. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2021; 34 (3): e00228-20 https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00228-20.
- Alanagreh, L., Alzoughool, F., and Atoum, M. The Human Coronavirus Disease COVID-19: Its Origin, Characteristics, and Insights into Potential Drugs and Its Mechanisms. Pathogens 361 (Basel, Switzerland). 2020; 9 (5): E331 https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens9050331.
- Naqvi, A. A. T., Fatima, K., Mohammad, T., et al. Insights into SARS-CoV-2 genome, structure, evolution, pathogenesis and therapies: Structural genomics approach. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. Molecular Basis of Disease. 365 2020; 1866 (10): 165878 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2020.165878.
- Lim, D. V., Simpson, J. M., Kearns, E. A., and Kramer, M. F. Current and Developing Technologies for Monitoring Agents of Bioterrorism and Biowarfare. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2005; 18 (4): 583–607
- https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.18.4.583-607. 2005.
- Tang, Y. W., Sefers, S. E., Li, H., Kohn, D. J., and Procop, G. W. Comparative evaluation of three commercial systems for nucleic acid extraction from urine specimens. J Clin Microbiol. 2005;43(9): 4830–4833 https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.43.9.4830-3724833.2005.
- He, H., Li, R., Chen, Y., et al. Integrated DNA and RNA extraction using magnetic beads from viral pathogens causing acute respiratory infections. Sci Rep. 2017;7: 45199 https://doi.org/10.1038/srep45199.
- Klein, S., Müller, T. G., Khalid, D., et al. SARS-CoV-2 RNA Extraction Using Magnetic Beads for Rapid Large-Scale Testing by RT-qPCR and 378 RT-LAMP. Viruses. 2020; 12 (8): 863 https://doi.org/10.3390/v12080863.
- Biswal, J. K., Ranjan, R., Dahiya, S. S., Mallick, S., and Mohapatra, J. K. Regenerated silica-based RNA purification columns to address the short supply of RNA purification kits for COVID-19 diagnosis. Mol Biol Rep. 2021; 1-7 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-021-06688-0.
- 11. Shi, R., Lewis, R. S., and Panthee, D. R. Filter paper-based spin column method for costefficient DNA or RNA purification. PLoS One. 2018; 13 (12): e0203011
- https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203011.
 Dimke, H., Larsen, S. L., Skov, M. N., Larsen, H., Hartmeyer, G. N., and Moeller, J. B. Phenolchloroform-based RNA purification for detection of SARS-CoV-2 by RT-qPCR: Comparison with automated systems. PLoS One. 2021; 16 (2): e0247524.
- https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0247524.
 Toni, L. S., Garcia, A. M., Jeffrey, D. A., et al. Optimization of phenol-chloroform RNA extrac-

tion. MethodsX. 2018; 5: 599-608

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2018.05.011.
 Baert, L., Uyttendaele, M., and Debevere, J. Evaluation of two viral extraction methods for the detection of human noroviruses in shellfish with conventional and real-time reverse transcriptase PCR. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2007; 44 (1):106-111. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2006.02047.x.
- Petrich, A., Mahony, J., Chong, S., et al. Multicenter comparison of nucleic acid extraction methods for detection of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus RNA in stool specimens. J Clin Microbiol. 2006;44 (8): 2681–2688 https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02460-05.
- Esona, M. D., McDonald, S., Kamili, S., Kerin, T., Gautam, R., and Bowen, M. D. Comparative evaluation of commercially available manual and automated nucleic acid extraction methods for rotavirus RNA detection in stools. J Virol Methods. 2013; 194 (1): 242–249 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.08.023.
- Dimitrov, K., Clavijo, A., and Sneed, L. RNA extraction for molecular detection of Newcastle disease virus - Comparative study of three methods. Revue de Médecine Vétérinaire. 2014; 165: 172–175.
- Yang, G., Erdman, D. E., Kodani, M., Kools, J., Bowen, M. D., and Fields, B. S. Comparison of commercial systems for extraction of nucleic acids from DNA/RNA respiratory pathogens. J Virol Methods. 2011; 171 (1): 195–199 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2010.10.024.
- Zoure, A. A., Ouedraogo, H. G., Sagna, T., et al. Molecular diagnosis of COVID-19 in Burkina Faso: successful challenge. Int J Biol Chem Sci. 2022: 440–463.
- Natarajan, A., Han, A., Zlitni, S., et al. Standardized preservation, extraction and quantification techniques for detection of faecal SARS-CoV-2 RNA. Nat Comm. 2021:12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-25576-6.
- Chu, A. W. H., Yip, C. C. Y., Chan, W. M., et al. Evaluation of an Automated High-Throughput Liquid-Based RNA Extraction Platform on Pooled Nasopharyngeal or Saliva Specimens for SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR. Viruses. 2021; 13 (4): 615. https://doi.org/10.3390/v13040615.
- Campos, K. R., Sacchi, C. T., Gonçalves, C. R., et al. COVID-19 laboratory diagnosis: comparative analysis of different RNA extraction methods for SARS-CoV-2 detection by two amplification protocols. Revista Do Instituto De Medicina Tropical De Sao Paulo. 2021; 63: e52. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1678-9946202163052..
- Ransom, E. M., Potter, R. F., Wallace, M. A., et al. Comparison of Extraction Methods and Thermocyclers for SARS-CoV-2 Molecular Detection Using Clinical Specimens. J Clin Microbiol. 2020; 58 (10):
 - https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01622-20.
- Buchan, B. W., Hoff, J. S., Gmehlin, C. G., et al. Distribution of SARS-CoV-2 PCR Cycle Threshold Values Provide Practical Insight Into Overall and Target-Specific Sensitivity Among Symptomatic Patients. Am J Clin Pathol. 2020; aqaa133. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcp/aqaa133.
- Public Health Ontario. The Ontario COVID-19 Testing Technical Working Group. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion. Focus on an overview of cycle threshold values and their role in SARS-CoV-2 real-time PCR test interpretation. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2020

Lingani et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 24 - 31

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2211. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.4

Original Article



Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1



Open Access

Prevalence of COVID-19 at the Wahgnion-Gold mining site in Burkina Faso and use of RT-PCR initial cycle threshold to monitor the dynamics of SARS-CoV-2 load

⁺¹Cissé, A., ^{+*1,2}Lingani, M., ¹Tao, M., ¹Nana, S., ¹Kaboré, B., ³Eric D. A. S., ⁴Nassouri, A., ¹Diagbouga, S., ⁵Bamba, S., and ¹Tarnagda, Z.

¹National Influenza Reference Laboratory, Unité des Maladies à Potentiel Epidémique, Maladies Émergentes et Zoonoses, Institut de Recherche en Sciences de la Santé, Burkina Faso

²Unité de Recherche Clinique de Nanoro, Institut de Recherche en Sciences de la Santé, Nanoro, Burkina Faso

³Teranga Gold Corporation, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

⁴Wahgnion Gold Operation, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

⁵Institut Supérieur des Sciences de la Santé, Université Nazi BONI, Bobo-Dioulasso, Burkina Faso *Correspondence to: <u>lingani10@vahoo.fr</u>; +joint first authors

Abstract:

Background: To control the spread of coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19) caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2), it is necessary to adequately identify and isolate infectious patients particularly at the work place. Real time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) assay is the recommended confirmatory method for the diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection. The aim of this study was to determine the prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 infection in Burkina Faso and to use the initial cycle threshold (Ct) values of RT-PCR as a tool to monitor the dynamics of the viral load.

Methodology: Between September 2021 and February 2022, oropharyngeal and/or nasopharyngeal swab samples of consecutively selected COVID-19 symptomatic and apparently healthy workers from the Wahgnion mining site in the South-western Burkina Faso who consented to the study were collected according to the two weeks shift program and tested for SARS-CoV-2 using RT-PCR assay. Patients positive for the virus were followed-up weekly until tests were negative. Association of the initial RT-PCR Ct values with disease duration was assessed by adjusted linear regression approach. Two-sided p value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results: A total of 1506 (92.9% males) participants were recruited into the study, with mean age and age range of 37.1±8.7 and 18-68 years respectively. The overall prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 infection was 14.3% (216/1506). Of the 82 patients included in the follow-up study, the longest duration of positive RT-PCR test, from the first positive to the first of the two negative RT-PCR tests, was 33 days (mean 11.6 days, median 10 days, interquartile range 8-14 days). The initial Ct values significantly correlated with the duration of RT-PCR positivity (with β =-0.54, standard error=0.09 for N gene, and β =-0.44, standard error=0.09 for ORF1ab gene, *p*<0.001). Participants with higher Ct values corresponding to lower viral loads had shorter viral clearance time than those of lower Ct values or higher viral loads.

Conclusion: Approximately 1 out of 7 tested miners had SARS-CoV-2 infection and the duration of their RT-PCR tests positivity independently correlated with the initial viral load measured by initial Ct values. As participants with lower initial Ct values tended to have longer disease duration, initial RT-PCR Ct values could be used to guide COVID-19 patient quarantine duration particularly at the work place.

Keywords: SARS-CoV-2, COVID-19, RT-PCR, cycle threshold, prevalence, Burkina Faso

Received Aug 2, 2022; Revised Oct 5, 2022; Accepted Oct 9, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Prévalence du COVID-19 sur le site minier de Wahgnion-Gold au Burkina Faso et utilisation du seuil de cycle initial de RT-PCR pour surveiller la dynamique de charge du SARS-CoV-2

⁺¹Cissé, A., ^{+*1,2}Lingani, M., ¹Tao, M., ¹Nana, S., ¹Kaboré, B., ³Eric D. A. S., ⁴Nassouri, A., ¹Diagbouga, S., ⁵Bamba, S., et ¹Tarnagda, Z.

¹Laboratoire National de Référence Influenza, Unité des Maladies à Potentiel Epidémique, Maladies Émergentes et Zoonoses, Institut de Recherche en Sciences de la Santé, Burkina Faso

²Unité de Recherche Clinique de Nanoro, Institut de Recherche en Sciences de la Santé, Nanoro, Burkina Faso ³Teranga Gold Corporation, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

⁴Wahgnion Gold Operation, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

⁵Institut Supérieur des Sciences de la Santé, Université Nazi BONI, Bobo-Dioulasso, Burkina Faso

*Correspondance à: <u>lingani10@yahoo.fr;</u> +co-premiers auteurs

Résumé:

Contexte: Pour contrôler la propagation de la maladie à coronavirus 19 (COVID-19) causée par le syndrome respiratoire aigu sévère coronavirus-2 (SRAS-CoV-2), il est nécessaire d'identifier et d'isoler de manière adéquate les patients infectieux, en particulier sur le lieu de travail. Le test de réaction en chaîne par polymérase en temps réel (RT-PCR) est la méthode de confirmation recommandée pour le diagnostic de l'infection par le SRAS-CoV-2. Le but de cette étude était de déterminer la prévalence de l'infection par le SRAS-CoV-2 au Burkina Faso et d'utiliser les valeurs du seuil initial du cycle (Ct) de la RT-PCR comme outil de suivi de la dynamique de la charge virale. **Méthodologie:** Entre septembre 2021 et février 2022, des écouvillonnages oropharyngés et/ou nasopharyngés de travailleurs symptomatiques COVID-19 et apparemment en bonne santé sélectionnés consécutivement du site minier de Wahgnion dans le sud-ouest du Burkina Faso qui ont consenti à l'étude ont été prélevés selon les deux programme de quart de semaines et testé pour le SRAS-CoV-2 à l'aide d'un test RT-PCR. Les patients positifs pour le virus ont été suivis chaque semaine jusqu'à ce que les tests soient négatifs. L'association des valeurs Ct initiales de la RT-PCR avec la durée de la maladie a été évaluée par une approche de régression linéaire ajustée. Une valeur p bilatérale < 0,05 a été considérée comme statistiquement significative.

Résultats: Un total de 1506 participants (92,9% d'hommes) ont été recrutés dans l'étude, avec un âge moyen et une tranche d'âge de 37,1 à 8,7 ans et de 18 à 68 ans, respectivement. La prévalence globale de l'infection par le SRAS-CoV-2 était de 14,3% (216/1506). Sur les 82 patients inclus dans l'étude de suivi, la plus longue durée de test RT-PCR positif, du premier test positif au premier des deux tests RT-PCR négatifs, était de 33 jours (moyenne 11,6 jours, médiane 10 jours, intervalle interquartile 8-14 jours). Les valeurs Ct initiales étaient significativement corrélées à la durée de positivité de la RT-PCR (avec β =-0,54, erreur standard=0,09 pour le gène N et β =-0,44, erreur standard=0,09 pour le gène ORF1ab, *p*<0,001). Les participants avec des valeurs de Ct plus élevées correspondant à des charges virales plus faibles avaient un temps de clairance virale plus court que ceux avec des valeurs de Ct plus basses ou des charges virales plus élevées.

Conclusion: Environ 1 mineur testé sur 7 était infecté par le SRAS-CoV-2 et la durée de la positivité de ses tests RT-PCR était indépendamment corrélée à la charge virale initiale mesurée par les valeurs Ct initiales. Comme les participants avec des valeurs Ct initiales inférieures avaient tendance à avoir une durée de maladie plus longue, les valeurs Ct initiales de la RT-PCR pourraient être utilisées pour guider la durée de la quarantaine des patients COVID-19, en particulier sur le lieu de travail.

Mots clés: SRAS-CoV-2, COVID-19, RT-PCR, seuil de cycle, prévalence, Burkina Faso

Introduction:

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), the virus causing the 2019 coronavirus disease pandemic (COVID-19) was first identified in December 2019 in Wuhan, China (1,2). The outbreak subsequently spread worldwide, affecting over 522 million persons globally with approximately 6.25 million deaths as of May 22, 2022 (3,4). The first case in Burkina Faso was identified on March 9, 2020, and as of 20 June 2022, 21,044 cases and 387 deaths were reported according to the country's health authority records (5).

To counter the spread of the disease and limit its public health implications, the World Health Organization (WHO) cautioned the public to take responsive care and the public care strategies have included handwashing, wearing of face masks, physical distancing, avoiding mass gathering and assemblies, and total lockdowns, which have flattened the transmission curve allowing the reopening of public services (3). Testing has been crucial to track the spread of the disease during the pandemic, and to swiftly implement the needed public health interventions such as isolation, quarantine, and appropriate clinical management of cases.

Real-time reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) test, which is a nucleic acid amplification test (NAAT) to detect viral nucleic acid, has routinely been used to detect SARS-CoV-2 in oropharyngeal or nasopharyngeal swabs of individuals suspected of COVID-19, and currently represents the 'gold standard' diagnostic methods for COVID-19 (6). Different viral target gene structures, including the nucleocapsid (N) and the open reading frame (ORF) 1 (O) gene, have been used for the diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection (7). During the amplification process in RT-PCR assay, cycle threshold (Ct) values are used to assess the viral nucleic acid amplification for the target gene structure, and values that cross the threshold are used to discriminate positive from negative samples (8).

Although case diagnosis and optimal quarantine strategies have been an important component for the public health strategies of SARS-CoV-2 transmission prevention (9), the procedure consists of several steps, and needs laboratory equipment that makes the process tedious and difficult to be conducted outside the laboratory setting particularly in resource constraint settings (10). Thus, finding ways to reduce the burden of samples to be tested would substantially reduce the work load, and thus allow a more efficient use of resources in sub-Saharan African countries.

Exploring the relationship between the initial PCR Ct values could tentatively indicate the duration of the PCR test positivity, and thus help eliminate unnecessary testing. However, research studies assessing the association of the initial PCR Ct values and the duration of the PCR test positivity are uncommon and included very limited sample size which make the estimates less precise (11). The aim of this study is to determine the prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 infection at a mining site in Burkina Faso, and assess the initial PCR Ct values as an indirect measure of the dynamics of the viral load in COVID-19 patients.

Materials and method:

Study area and design

This was a prospective surveillance study integrated to the work shift of mine workers at the Wahgnion-Gold mining site in southwestern Burkina Faso. Miners were required a negative PCR test before returning to their work place. All apparently healthy or COVID-19 symptomatic miners who consented to participate and adhere to the study procedures were systematically included in a consecutive and sequential manner as they visited the COVID-19 testing center located on the mining site over the study period between August, 2021 and January, 2022.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

This was a pandemic response/surveillance data and the study protocol ethical clearance was obtained from the national ethics committee of health research of Burkina Faso (clearance certificate number CERS-2020-7-126). In addition, data were fully anonymized to protect participants' identities and personal data. Usage was done in accordance ethical regulations.

Sample and data collection

For each participant, oropharyngeal (OP) or nasopharyngeal (NP) swabs were collected, and participants socio-demographic and medical characteristics were collected using intervieweradministered data collection form. All patients tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 were included in the follow-up study if they agreed to participate and had their follow-up swabs assessed by RT-PCR. Follow up swabs were collected each 3-7 days interval according to the patient availability until two consecutive negative RT-PCR test results were obtained.

Sample management and RNA extraction

Samples were stored in universal transport medium (Copan Diagnostics) and transferred to the National Influenza Reference Laboratory (NIRL) for analysis. Viral RNA was manually extracted from 200 μ L of virus transport medium containing NP and OP swabs by using QIAamp viral RNA mini kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany), and eluted into 60 μ L elution buffer according to the manufacturer's instruction. The eluted RNAs (templates for RT-PCR) were stored immediately at minus 80°C until use.

SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR assays

Two different real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (rRT-PCR) assays; the Viasure SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR detection kit (Certest Biotec SL., Spain) and the detection kit for 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) RNA (PCR-fluorescence probing) manufactured by Da An Gene Co., Ltd. of Sun Yat-sen University, were used to detect N and ORF 1ab genes using the Applied Biosystems 7500 RT-PCR instrument (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The Da An Gene co kit was used for initial detection of COVID-19 positive subjects. Positive samples were further retested with the Viasure kit to establish the baseline cycle threshold (Ct) values and patients were followed up until the time of the first negative test.

The detection kit for 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) RNA of Da An Gene Co., Ltd has the 2019-nCoV primer and probe sets designed to detect N and ORF1ab gene sequences. Further, human housekeeping gene RNP (Ribonuclease P) was developed as the target gene for the internal control for monitoring the specimen collection, nucleic acid extraction and PCR amplification processes, to reduce occurrence of false negative results. Each 25µL of reaction mix contained 17µL of NC (ORF1ab/N) PCR reaction solution A, 3µL of NC (ORF1ab/N) PCR reaction solution B, and 5µL of RNA. Thermal cycling was performed at 50°C for 15min and 95°C for 15 min followed by 45 cycles of 94°C for 15 seconds and 55°C for 45 seconds. Each run included NC (ORF1ab/N) negative control and NC (ORF1ab/N) positive control. Specimens with a cycle threshold (Ct) value \leq 40 for SARS-CoV-2 ORF1ab and N gene targets were considered positive.

The Viasure SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR detection kit contains in each well of the PCR plate all the components necessary for RT-PCR assay (specific primers/probes, dNTPs, buffer, polymerase and retro-transcriptase) in a stabilized format, as well as an internal control to monitor PCR inhibition. Briefly, each 20µL of reaction mix contained 15µL mix of enzymes, primers, probes, buffer, dNTPs, stabilizers and internal control in stabilized format which is reconstituted of the rehydration Buffer and 5µL of RNA. Thermal cycling was performed at 45°C for 15min and 95°C for 02 m, followed by 45 cycles of 95°C for 10 seconds and 60°C for 50 seconds. Each run included reconstituted SARS-CoV-2 positive control and negative control.

A sample is considered positive if the Ct value obtained is less than 38 for SARS-CoV-2 ORF1ab and N genes or ORF1ab SARS-CoV-2 gene only and the internal control shows or not an amplification signal. If N target only was positive, the interpretation was SARS-CoV-2 presumptive positive and additional confirmatory testing was conducted by the reference laboratory.

Statistical analysis

Data were entered onto an Excel database and transferred onto R statistical software (R Development Core Team, 2021) for statistical analysis. We carried out a patient-level analysis by first describing the distribution of their sociodemographic and medical characteristics. To assess the association of patients COVID-19 initial RT-PCR Ct values with duration of the illness, we calculated the duration as the difference between the initial diagnosis date and the date of the first of two negative test results. Next, we modeled the association using adjusted general linear regression models to calculate effect estimates and 95% confidence interval (CI) per Ct value. Means were compared by the *t*-test and medians were compared by Wilcoxon exact test. Statistical significance was determined at twosided p value < 0.05.

Results:

Characteristics of study participants

A total of 1506 participants were tested,

with a male predominance (ratio of 13:1), mean age of 37.1 ± 8.7 years and age range of 18-68 years. The city of Bobo-Dioulasso was the most represented residency area (58.2%) with the others, representing 19.5%, 10.6%, 7.5%, and 2.5% for Niankorodougou, Sindou, Banfora, and Ouagadougou respectively. Majority of the study participants (82.7%) were nationals from Burkina Faso with others (17.3%) being expatriate workers.

The oropharyngeal and nasopharyngeal swabs represented 60.2% and 39.6% respectively of the total samples and two participants had mix (nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal) swabs (Table 1).

Prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 infections

The overall prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 infection was 14.3% (216/1506). Participants from the cities of Sindou, Bobo-Dioulasso, and Niankorodougou, were the most infected with 22.6%, 15.3% and 13.3% of their respective total participants. The prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 infections was not significantly different according to participants gender (13.1% for female and 14.4% for male, p=0.9) or the type of swab samples collected (18.4% vs 11.7%, p=0.32).

Cycle threshold values and duration of disease

Of the 82 participants positive for SARS-CoV-2 and who had RT-PCR follow-up data available, the median duration from initial positive PCR test results to the first results of the two consecutive negative PCR results was 10 days, with range of 3-33 days. Half of the participants had their duration between 8 and 14 days (first and third quartiles). The association of initial Ct values with the duration of the illness is shown in Fig 1 for the N-gene and Fig 2 for the ORF 1ab gene.

The duration of positive RT-PCR test was negatively correlated with the initial Ct value. The longest duration of positive RT-PCR was 33 days from the first positive RT-PCR test results. The mean duration was 11.6 days from initial positive RT-PCR test to the first of the two consecutive negative RT-PCR tests, and for each additional Ct value, the average illness duration significantly decreased by 0.54 day for the Ngene and 0.44 day for the ORF1ab gene (p< 0.001) when adjusted with the patient age, gender, and type of samples (nasopharyngeal or oropharyngeal).

Characteristics	Measured statistic
Age (years) Mean age (mean ± SD) Age range	37.1± 8.7 18-68
Gender Male, n (%) Female, n (%)	1399 (92.9) 107 (7.1)
Origin country National n, (%) Expatriate n, (%)	1245 (82.7) 261 (17.3)
Residency Bobo Dioulasso, n (%) Sindou, n (%) Banfora, n (%) Niankorodougou, n (%) Ouagadougou, n (%) Others, n (%)	877 (58.2) 159 (10.6) 113 (7.5) 293 (19.5) 37 (2.5) 27 (1.8)
Type of swabs Oropharyngeal, n (%) Nasopharyngeal, n (%) Mix (oropharyngeal and nasopharyngeal), n (%)	907 (60.2) 597 (39.6) 2 (0.1)
Cycle threshold at first PCR test N-gene, (median, range) ORF1ab gene, (median, range)	26.57 (11.68 -38.24) 25.43 (13.79-40)

Table 1: Characteristics of study participants at the Wahgnion-Gold mining site in Burkina Faso

SD = standard deviation; PCR = polymerase chain reaction; Ct = cycle threshold; n= total count, % = percentage



Fig 1: Duration of positive SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR test according to initial cycle threshold (Ct) value for N-gene



Fig 2: Duration of positive SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR test according to initial cycle threshold (Ct) value for ORF1ab gene

Discussion:

Nearly one out of seven participants had a RT-PCR detected SARS-CoV-2 infection at the testing site of the Wahgnion mine in Burkina Faso. This suggest that miners could represent an important reservoir of SARS-CoV-2 transmission into the general population. Indeed, miners regularly travel to their original residency when they are not on duty and adequately identifying and isolating positive patients would be crucial to break the chain of transmission either in the general population or in the mine, which could help lower the impact of the disease on the miners productivity (12).

The prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 infection in this study was higher than that reported in the overall population (with prevalence of < 1%) and could accentuate the gradient of SARS-CoV-2 transmission from the mine to the general population (13). Much higher figures were reported in the country among high risk population including person with recent travel history from high risk countries, contact cases of COVID-19, clinically suspected cases and healthcare workers (5). Therefore, continuous surveillance is needed to timely identify transmission reservoirs, areas and persons most at risk for targeted preventive interventions. In this study, most of positive cases were from the nearby cities of the mining site, particularly among the local populations and suggest that population close to

mining sites are more at risk, and need continuous surveillance and adequate preventive interventions.

Higher prevalence of SARS-COV-2 infection (although not statistically significant) was detected using the nasopharyngeal swabs compared to oropharyngeal swabs in our study. Many studies have reported that nasopharyngeal swabs may be more suitable than oropharyngeal swabs for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 infection (14–18). This suggest that routine surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 infection could primarily use nasopharyngeal swabs to increase the odds of detection. The RT-PCR assay is considered the 'gold standard' for the gualitative and quantitative molecular detection of SARS-CoV-2 nucleic acids (6). The technique has the advantage of test sensitivity of 95% (19), with a detection limit below 10 copies/reaction which allows early detection of low viral titers (20).

Initial cycle threshold (Ct) values are used to discriminate positive from negative samples, and we hypothesized that the initial Ct values could well correlate with the duration of the disease and thus, guide the frequency of the control testing and the return to daily activities (8). We also anticipate that adequately interpreting the initial Ct values could potentially help to predict the duration of the viral RNA shedding, and thus the possible duration of infectivity of COVID-19 patients. In this study, we found a significant correlation between initial viral load,

estimated by the initial RT-PCR test Ct values, and the duration of positive RT-PCR test results for both SARS-CoV-2 N and ORF1ab genes. Indeed, initial Ct values negatively correlated with the duration of the illness, indicating that individuals with an increased initial Ct value or lower viral load rapidly cleared their SARS-CoV-2 infection as compared to those with lower Ct values or higher viral load. For example, 42 (89.4%) of the 47 participants with Ct value over 25 could clear the infection within 14 days, while only 14 (40%) of the 35 participants with Ct value below 25 could clear the viral RNA within the same period. In the meantime, a total of 22% participants could not clear the viral RNA within the same period irrespective of the initial Ct values. Several studies have reported that RT-PCR Ct values strongly correlated with cultivable virus and the probability of culturing virus declines to 8% in samples with Ct >35 and 6% 10 days after onset of the disease irrespective of the presence of symptoms (21,22). Therefore, Ct values, could be used as criteria to approximate the duration of guarantine, given virus shedding is not associated with the presence of clinical symptoms (22).

Indeed, using the presence of clinical symptoms as a surrogate for decision making for daily activity return could lead to a higher risk of contamination at the work place, as their presence do not correlate with the infectivity period (22), and thus Ct values would play an important role for decision making. A study already reported a significant correlation between initial RT-PCR Ct values and the duration of the disease, however, their estimates could not be more precise due to their small sample size (11). Indeed, in this cited study, the average reduction time was 1.3 days per additional cycle (β = -1.29 ± 0.26) using a sample of 25 patients, with larger standard errors. Our current study provided more accurate estimates, as higher sample size was used for the modeling, and this finding supports the use of Ct value to predict the duration of the illness, and thus allows a more efficient use of resource in low-income settings particularly the sub-Saharan Africa where infrastructure and qualified personnel are limited.

The knowledge of the relationship between Ct values and the duration of the disease can be used for targeted measure to reduce risk of transmission. In a recent study, longitudinal assessment of RT- PCR test results in individuals requiring 15–30 days to clear SARS-CoV-2 RNA showed that groups with initial high viral load (Ct values ≤ 25) and intermediate viral load (Ct values 26–30) exhibited a significant reduction of viral load between 8 and 14 days, and thus concluded that in patient with longer duration of

disease, they may be of reduced infectivity after 14 days of isolation, however, the study could not confirm the absence of transmission beyond that period. Although we hypothesize from our study that the infectivity would be lower or even absent in high Ct values patients, we recommend that minimum prevention measures should be adopted by patients even after their return to daily activities.

Conclusion:

Our finding indicates that SARS-CoV-2 load estimates by Ct values on RT-PCR assay can be used to predict the duration of COVID-19 and infer the period of virus transmission. As participants with lower initial Ct values tended to have longer disease duration, initial RT-PCR Ct value could be used as a criterion to guide the return to work and daily activities.

Acknowledgements:

The authors acknowledge with thanks the participants and their parents for participation in the study. The contribution of staff of NIRL in Bobo-Dioulasso and Ouagadougou is well appreciated.

Contributions of authors:

The study was conceived by ZT. Data were collected by ZT, and AC. Data analysis was done by ML. The manuscript was drafted by ML. AC and ZT made important contributions to the final manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Source of funding:

The laboratory work was supported by Burkina Faso National Influenza Reference Laboratory.

Conflicts of interest:

Authors declare no conflict of interest.

References:

- Zhou, P., Yang, X. L., Wang, X. G., et al. A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. Nature. 2020; 579: 270–273.
- Wu, F., Zhao, S., Yu, B., et al. A new coronavirus associated with human respiratory disease in China. Nature. 2020; 579: 265–269.
- WHO-Weekly epidemiological update on COVID-19 25 May 2022 (2022). https://www.who.int/ publications/m/item/weekly-epidemiologicalupdate-on-covid-19---25-may-2022. Accessed 20

Jun 2022.

- WHO-Novel Coronavirus (2019-ncov) situation report-1(2020). https://www.who.int/docs/defaultsource/coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200121sitrep-1-2019-ncov.pdf. Accessed 19 Jun 2020.
- Tarnagda, Z., Cissé, A., Ilboudo, A. K., et al. COVID-19 Outbreak in Burkina Faso: Epidemiological Surveillance among High Risk Population. EC Microbiol. 2021; 8: e17.
- D'Cruz, R. J., Currier, A.W., and Sampson, V. B. Laboratory Testing Methods for Novel Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2). Front Cell Dev Biol. 2020; 8: 1–11.
- Rangaiah, A., Shankar, S. M., Basawarajappa, S. G., et al. Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in Clinical Samples: Target-specific Analysis of Qualitative Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) Diagnostic Kits. IJID Reg; 2021; 1: 163– 169.
- Tom, M. R., and Mina, M. J. To Interpret the SARS-CoV-2 Test, Consider the Cycle Threshold Value Michael. Clin Infect Dis. 2020; 71: 2252–2254.
 Wells, C. R., Townsend, J. P., Pandey, A., et al.
- Wells, C. R., Townsend, J. P., Pandey, A., et al. Optimal COVID-19 quarantine and testing strategies. Nat Commun. 2021; 12: 1–9.
- Teymouri, M., Mollazadeh, S., Mortazavi, H., et al. Recent advances and challenges of RT-PCR tests for the diagnosis of COVID-19. Pathol Res Pract. 2020; 221: e153443.
- 11. Caplan, A., Bates, K. W., Brioni, C., et al. Clinical characteristics and viral load dynamics of COVID-19 in a mildly or moderately symptomatic outpatient sample. PLoS One. 2021; 16: 1–9.
- Naidoo, R. N., and Jeebhay, M. F. COVID-19: A new burden of respiratory disease among South African miners? Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2021; 27: 79–87.
- CORUS Burkina Faso: Evolution des cas de covid au Burkina Faso (2022). http://www.corus.gov.bf/ statistiques. Accessed 21 Jul 2022.
- 14. Tsang, N. N. Y., So, H. C., Ng, K. Y., Cowling, B. J., Leung, G. M., and Ip, D. K. M. Diagnostic perform-

ance of different sampling approaches for SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR testing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2021; 21: 1233–1245.

- Lee, R. A., Herigon, J. C., Benedetti, A., Pollock, N. R., Denkinger, C. M., and Scholar, G. Performance of Saliva, Oropharyngeal Swabs, and Nasal Swabs. J Clin Microbiol. 2021; 59: e02881-20.
- Patel, M. R., Carroll, D., Ussery, E., et al. Performance of Oropharyngeal Swab Testing Compared with Nasopharyngeal Swab Testing for Diagnosis of Coronavirus Disease 2019 - United States, January 2020-February 2020. Clin Infect Dis. 2021; 72: 482–485.
- Wang, H., Liu, Q., Hu, J., et al. Nasopharyngeal Swabs Are More Sensitive Than Oropharyngeal Swabs for COVID-19 Diagnosis and Monitoring the SARS-CoV-2 Load. Front Med. 2020; 7: 1–8.
- Wang, X., Tan, L., Wang, X., et al. Comparison of nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal swabs for SARS-CoV-2 detection in 353 patients received tests with both specimens simultaneously. Int J Infect Dis. 2020; 94: 107–109.
- Corman, V., Landt, O., Kaiser, M., et al. Detection of 2019 -nCoV by RT-PCR. Euro Surveill. 2020; 25: 1–8.
- Chu, D. K. W., Pan, Y., Cheng, S. M. S., et al. Molecular Diagnosis of a Novel Coronavirus (2019nCoV) Causing an Outbreak of Pneumonia. Clin Chem. 2020; 66: 549–555.
- Al Bayat, S., Mundodan, J., Hasnain, S., et al. Can the cycle threshold (Ct) value of RT-PCR test for SARS CoV2 predict infectivity among close contacts? J Infect Publ Health 2021; 14: 1201– 1205.
- Singanayagam, A., Patel, M., Charlett, A., et al. Duration of infectiousness and correlation with RT-PCR cycle threshold values in cases of COVID-19, England, January to May 2020. Euro Surveill. 2020; 25: 1–5.

Adewuyi & Adewuyi. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 32 - 44

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2205. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.5

Original Article



Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1



Open Access

Quality of life of people living with HIV and AIDS attending Irrua Specialist Teaching Hospital, Edo State, Nigeria

¹Adewuyi, B. T., and *^{2,3}Adewuyi, G. M.

¹Department of Family Medicine, Irrua Specialist Teaching Hospital, Edo State, Nigeria ²Department of Medical Microbiology & Parasitology, Irrua Specialist Teaching Hospital, Edo State, Nigeria ³Department of Medical Microbiology & Parasitology, Ambrose Alli University, Ekpoma, Edo State, Nigeria *Correspondence to: <u>gbolawuyi@yahoo.com</u>

Abstract:

Background: With the use of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART), life expectancy of HIV-infected persons had increased and the disease is now managed as a chronic one, but the quality of life (QOL) of the patients is now a concern. Social support enhances QOL of patients with chronic illnesses. However, no study has been done to determine the QOL of people living with HIV and AIDS (PLWHA) in our environment. This study therefore assessed the QOL of PLWHA attending antiretroviral therapy (ART) clinic of Irrua Specialist Teaching Hospital (ISTH), Edo State of Nigeria

Methodology: A descriptive cross-sectional study design was used. Two hundred and thirty PLWHA attending the ART clinic of ISTH, Irrua, Edo State, Nigeria, were systematically selected for the study. A structured questionnaire was interviewer-administered to collect data on sociodemographic and clinical profiles of selected participants, and the WHOQOL-HIV BREF questionnaire was used to collect data the QOL of each participant. Data were analyzed with IBM SPSS version 20.0.

Results: The overall mean QOL score for the participants was 89.13 ± 1.18 (95% CI=87.95-90.31). The scores in three of the six life domains in the WHOQOL-HIV BREF instrument were similar and high; spirituality/ religion/personal beliefs (16.33 ± 0.36), physical health (15.83 ± 0.28) and psychological health (15.07 ± 0.24). Lower mean QOL scores were observed in the social relationships (13.49 ± 0.28) and environment (13.45 ± 0.20) domains. Clinical HIV stage, marital status, educational status and gender were significantly associated with mean QOL scores in bivariate analysis while only HIV stage 1 and 2 were significantly associated with good QOL in multivariate logistic regression analysis.

Conclusion: It is pertinent that PLWHA are kept in early stages of HIV disease through combination of efforts such as prompt enrolment, commencement and monitoring compliance of HAART, and treatment of opportunistic infections, as well as public health measures including education, de-stigmatization, early diagnosis by extensive accessible screening/testing of at-risk population, social supports and economic empowerment, psychotherapy and social integration of affected individuals especially in a functional home.

Keywords: PLWHA, Quality of Life; HIV, HAART

Received Jul 14, 2022; Revised Oct 9, 2022; Accepted Oct 10, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Qualité de vie des personnes vivant avec le VIH et le SIDA fréquentant Hôpital Universitaire Spécialisé d'Irrua, État d'Edo, Nigeria

¹Adewuyi, B. T., et *^{2,3}Adewuyi, G. M.

¹Département de Médecine Familiale, Hôpital Universitaire Spécialisé d'Irrua, État d'Edo, Nigéria ²Département de Microbiologie Médicale & Parasitologie, Hôpital Universitaire Spécialisé d'Irrua, État d'Edo, Nigéria ³Département de Microbiologie Médicale & Parasitologie, Université Ambrose Alli, Ekpoma, État d'Edo, Nigéria *Correspondance à: <u>gbolawuyi@yahoo.com</u>

Résumé:

Contexte: Avec l'utilisation de la thérapie antirétrovirale hautement active (HAART), l'espérance de vie des personnes infectées par le VIH a augmenté et la maladie est désormais gérée comme une maladie chronique, mais la qualité de vie (QOL) des patients est désormais une préoccupation. Le soutien social améliore la qualité de vie des patients atteints de maladies chroniques. Cependant, aucune étude n'a été réalisée pour déterminer la qualité de vie des personnes vivant avec le VIH et le SIDA (PVVIH) dans notre environnement. Cette étude a donc évalué la qualité de vie des PVVIH fréquentant la clinique de thérapie antirétrovirale (ART) de l'hôpital d'enseignement spécialisé d'Irrua (ISTH), État d'Edo au Nigeria.

Méthodologie: Une conception d'étude transversale descriptive a été utilisée. Deux cent trente PVVIH fréquentant la clinique ART de l'ISTH, Irrua, État d'Edo, Nigeria, ont été systématiquement sélectionnées pour l'étude. Un questionnaire structuré a été administré par un intervieweur pour collecter des données sur les profils sociodémographiques et cliniques des participants sélectionnés, et le questionnaire WHOQOL-HIV BREF a été utilisé pour collecter des données sur la qualité de vie de chaque participant. Les données ont été analysées avec IBM SPSS version 20.0.

Résultats: Le score moyen global de qualité de vie des participants était de $89,13\pm1,18$ (IC à 95%=87,95-90,31). Les scores dans trois des six domaines de la vie de l'instrument WHOQOL-HIV BREF étaient similaires et élevés ; spiritualité/religion/croyances personnelles ($16,33\pm0,36$), santé physique ($15,83\pm0,28$) et santé psychologique ($15,07\pm0,24$). Des scores moyens de qualité de vie inférieurs ont été observés dans les domaines des relations sociales ($13,49\pm0,28$) et de l'environnement ($13,45\pm0,20$). Le stade clinique du VIH, l'état matrimonial, le statut éducatif et le sexe étaient significativement associés aux scores moyens de qualité de vie dans l'analyse bivariée, tandis que seuls les stades 1 et 2 du VIH étaient significativement associés à une bonne qualité de vie dans l'analyse de régression logistique multivariée.

Conclusion: Il est pertinent que les PVVIH soient maintenues aux premiers stades de la maladie à VIH grâce à une combinaison d'efforts tels que l'inscription rapide, le début et le suivi de l'observance du HAART et le traitement des infections opportunistes, ainsi que des mesures de santé publique telles que l'éducation, la déstigmatisation, un diagnostic précoce par un dépistage/test accessible étendu de la population à risque, des soutiens sociaux et l'autonomisation économique, la psychothérapie et l'intégration sociale des personnes touchées, en particulier dans un foyer fonctionnel.

Mots clés: PVVIH, Qualité de Vie ; VIH, HAART

Introduction:

The development of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) has shifted the perception of HIV/AIDS from an acute, fatal disease to a chronic and potentially manageable one (1). Antiretroviral therapy (ART) is capable of improving survival, reducing the occurrence of HIV-related opportunistic infections, improving patients clinical state and social capacity (1,2). Although HAART does not cure HIV disease, it significantly reduces the viral load and slows the progression of the disease, thereby increasing life expectancy of infected persons (2). Therefore, management of chronic debilitating diseases like HIV should aim not only at terminating disease progression and preventing death, but also at restoring or enhancing good quality of life (QOL) of affected individuals.

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), QOL is defined as "*individuals' perceptions of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, standards, expectations and concerns*" (3). There are a lot of advances in the medical management of HIV but the holistic support systems and QOL of these patients are often overlooked (4). The unwillingness to disclose HIV-serostatus due to associated social stigma and discrimination which in turn reduce health-seeking behaviour and adherent to clinic attendance are still major problems compounding the QOL of PLWHA (5). Also, the side effects of HAART, if present can also affect the QOL of an individual, with the knowledge that the drugs must be taken throughout the lifetime of the individual (1). Therefore, assessment of QOL aiming to provide a comprehensive evaluation of the individual well-being, including an appraisal of their functional role within the family, community integration and personal adjustment to life circumstances is very paramount (6).

Quality of life is considered synonymous with health status, functional and psychological well-being, happiness with life, satisfaction of needs, and assessment of one's own life (3,7). There are six life domains identified in the assessment of QOL. These are physical health, psychological health, level of independence, social relationship, environment, and spiritual/religion/personal domains (3). When QOL is related only to physical well-being or to lack of diseases or symptoms, the other areas of an individual life such as work, family, social relationships or psychological wellbeing are not included (7).

From the early focus on only physical (medical) functioning, QOL has shifted towards a more holistic approach to including all aspects of individual life and wellbeing. Quality, rather than quantity of life, is of paramount
importance for the continuous integration of PLWHA into the society and maintenance of their roles and functions (8). Quality of life in PLWHA is influenced by satisfaction with social support and coping styles, and in chronic diseases like HIV, assessing QOL has become an integral part of follow-up as it provides valuable feedback about therapeutic interventions and are indispensable in cost effective analysis (9).

HIV/AIDS has such serious repercusssions on psychological, social and physical wellbeing, that the assessment of QOL of PLWHA will help to measure the extent of re-integration into the society after the crises they face at initial diagnosis, thus enabling them to meet their daily responsibilities (10). Information such as this is important in the evaluation of the impact of the disease on health outcomes, the effect of intervention already on ground, as well as the planning of other interventions that will help to meet other unidentified needs of PLWHA and improve the QOL of Nigerians living with HIV and AIDS.

While there is abundance of information on QOL of PLWHA, the few studies done in Nigeria were conducted in urban settings. This is the first time that OOL of PLWHA at the ART clinic of the Irrua Specialist Teaching Hospital (ISTH) will be assessed, as no study on QOL has been conducted in the hospital since inception till date. As a result, this study will provide baseline information on the perceived QOL of PLWHA in this rural setting, which has among other effects, social implications on everyone, because a person's perception of wellbeing will determine the acquisition of habits related to tasks, employment and care of others. The aim of this study therefore is to assess the QOL of PLWHA who access care from the ART clinic of ISTH, and to identify factors affecting their QOL.

Materials and method:

Study setting and design

This study is a descriptive cross-sectional design conducted at the ART clinic of ISTH Irrua, Edo State, south-south geopolitical region of Nigeria which has the highest prevalence of HIV/AIDS (3.1%) in Nigeria (11).

Study population and participants:

The study population were PLWHA attending the ART clinic of ISTH Irrua for treatment. Two hundred and thirty participants who have been on HAART for at least 12 months were recruited from the study population by systematic random sampling method. The criteria for exclusion were pregnancy and presence of co-morbidities such as diabetes mellitus, depression, HIV-encephalopathy, obesity, seizure disorders and hypertension.

Sample size and sampling technique:

The minimum sample size for the study was determined using the formula for proportion; $n=z^2pq/d^2$ (12), where 'n' is the desired sample size, 'z' is the normal standard deviation for the required level of confidence (1.96), 'p' is the estimated prevalence of 83% or 0.83 from a previous study (13), 'q' is 1-p and 'd' is the tolerable margin of error (set at 5% or 0.05). This gave a calculated sample size of 216, which was adjusted (based on 5% attrition rate) to 228, and rounded up to 230 HIVinfected adults as sample size for the study.

Eligible participants were consecutively recruited by systematic random sampling till the sample size was obtained. To calculate the k-value (i. e. sampling interval), the total number of adult PLWHA seen during the period of the study was divided by the sample size. The average number seen per month is 480, therefore, for a study that spanned over 3 months, the k-value was calculated as (480x3)/230 or 6.26. This made every 6th adult participant who meets the eligibility criteria to be recruited for the study. The first participant was selected using a simple random sampling with ballot of numbers one to six. The second participant was randomly selected and subsequent participants were selected at interval of six. No participant was selected twice.

Ethical consideration:

Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethical Review Committee of ISTH, Irrua and informed consent was obtained from each participant.

Data collection:

Data collection was done using a twosectioned structured-questionnaire, administerred on consenting PLWHA who met the inclusion criteria for the study. The section A consisted of information regarding socio-demographic and clinical characteristics such as age, sex (gender), marital status, occupation, education level, place of residence, date of first enrolment, CD4 cell count, HIV status of partner, status disclosure and WHO clinical stage of participants. Section B contained a structured questionnaire for assessing QOL using the WHOQOL-HIV BREF instrument (14). WHOQOL-HIV BREF is a shorter version of WHOQOL-HIV instrument, which explores six domains of the QOL and a total of 31 questions for respondents to rate themselves on their QOL during the two weeks preceding the interview. Answers 1 to 5 were presented on a Likert scale, where 1 indicated low or negative perception and 5 indicated high or positive perceptions.

The six life domains identified in the WHOQOL-BREF instrument are; (i) physical health domain, which measures pain and discomfort, energy and fatigue, sleep and rest, with 4 questions (Q3,Q4,Q14,Q21); (ii) psychological health domain, which measures positive feelings, thinking, learning, memory and concentration, self-esteem, bodily image and appearances, and negative feelings, with 5 questions (Q6,Q11,Q15,Q24, Q31); (iii) level of independence domain which measures mobility and daily life activities, dependence on medications or treatments, and work capacity, with 4 questions (Q5,Q20,Q22,Q23); (iv) social relationship domain including personal relationships, social support and sexual activity, with 4 questions (Q17,Q25,Q26,Q27); (v) environment domain, which measures physical safety and security, home environment, financial resources, health and social care, accessibility and quality, opportunities for acquiring new information and skills, participation in and opportunities for recreation and leisure activities, and physical environment, with 8 questions (Q12, 013,016,018,019,028,029,030); and (vi) spiritual/religion/personal beliefs domain, which measures forgiveness and blame, concerns about the future, and death and dying, with 4 questions (Q7,Q8,Q9,Q10). There was a general question on QOL, and another question on health in general, giving a total of 31 guestions.

The score of the domains was obtained by multiplying the average score of the questions in the domain by 4, resulting in scores ranging from 4-20. The overall QOL score was obtained by the summation of the transformed scores from the six domains, resulting in scores ranging from 24-120. The higher the scores obtained, the better the QOL. Based on the Likert's scale, the QOL for each domain and the overall was categorized into five groups as shown in Table 1.

Statistical analysis of data:

After appropriate verification, the data were transferred into a master sheet and analyzed using IBM SPSS 20.0 software. Data collected from the study questionnaire were entered using numerical codes. Frequency distribution tables of variables were generated. Statistical comparison of variables was done using the Chi-squared test for categorical variables, and Students' 't' test (comparison of two means) and analysis of variance (comparison of more than 2 means) for continuous variables. A *p*-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results:

Sociodemographic characteristics of study participants:

The sociodemographic characteristics of the participants are as shown in Table 2 below. The ages range of the participants was 20 to 68 years, and the mean age is 41.13 ± 9.96 years.

S/N	Category	Domain transformed score	Overall transformed score
1	Very poor	4.00	24.00
2	Poor	4.01 - 8.00	24.01 - 48.00
3	Neither poor nor good	8.01 - 12.00	48.01 - 72.00
4	Good	12.01 - 16.00	72.01 - 96.00
5	Very good	16.01 - 20.00	96.01 - 120.00

Table 1: Quality of life categories based on transformed scores

Table 2: Sociodemographic characteristics of PLWHA in Irrua Specialist Teaching Hospital, Edo State, Nigeria

Variables	Frequency	Percent
Age group (in years)		
20-29	25	10.9
30-39	83	36.1
40-49	69	30.0
50-59	45	19.6
60-69	8	3.4
Age range (years)	20-68	
Mean age (±SD)	41.13 ± 9.96	
Age group (in years)		
15-45 (reproductive age group)	159	69.1
46-64 (middle age group)	69	30.0
65 (elderly)	2	0.9
Marital status		
Married	138	60.0
Widow/widower	47	20.4
Single	26	11.3
Separated	14	6.1
Cohabiter	3	1.3
Divorced	2	0.9
Gender		
Male	62	27.0
Female	168	73.0
Highest educational level		
No formal education	13	5.7
Primary	75	32.6
Secondary	79	34.3
Tertiary	63	27.4
Occupation		
Artisan	23	9.9
Civil servants	28	12.2
Driving	4	1.7
Farming	29	12.6
Students	10	4.3
Tailoring	7	2.2
Teaching	5	3.0
Trading	97	42.4
*Others	12	5.2
Unemployed	15	6.5
Peligion		
Christianity	218	94 7
Islam	17	5 3
Traditional/others	0	0.5
	0	U

*Others=Banker 1, Caterer 1, Clergy 1, Engineering 2, Industrialist 1, Journalist 1, Nurse 1, Policeman 2, Retired 2

Clinical profiles of the participants:

The clinical profiles of the participants are as shown in Table 3. Using the WHO clinical staging of the participants, 174 (69.6%) participants were in stage 1, 32 (13.9%) in stage 2, 14 (6.1%) in stage 3, and 10 (4.3%) in stage 4. The CD4 cell count of 160 (69.6%) participants was \leq 500 cells/mm³ while count for the remaining 70 (30.4%) was >500 cells/mm³. As regards duration on HAART, 171 (74.4%) participants had been on the ART drugs for 1-5 years,

58 (25.2%) for 6-10 years, while only 1 (0.4%) had been on the drug for up to 11 years.

The body mass index (BMI) was normal for 135 (58.7%) participants (18.5-24.9 kg/m²), 82 (35.6%) participants were overweight (BMI 25.0-29.9 kg/m²), while 13 (5.7%) were underweight (BMI < 18.5 kg/m²). Two hundred and twenty-four participants (97.39%) had good adherence to antiretrovirals, while only 6 (2.61%) had poor adherence to medications (Table 3).

Table 3: Clinical profile of people living with HIV/AIDS in Irrua Specialist Teaching Hospital, Edo State, Nigeria

Variables	Frequency	Percent
CD4 count (in mm ³)		
≤500	160	69.6
>500	70	30.4
WHO HIV staging		
Stage 1	174	75.7
Stage 2	32	13.9
Stage 3	14	6.1
Stage 4	10	4.3
Duration on HAART		
1-5 years	171	74.4
6-10 years	58	25.2
≥11 years	1	0.4
вмі		
Underweight <18.5kg/m ²	13	5.7
Normal (18.5 to 24.9 kg/m ²)	135	58.7
Overweight (25.0 to 29.9kg/m ²	82	35.6
Adherence to HAART		
Good	224	97.39
Poor	6	2.61

BMI=Body mass index; HAART=Highly active ant-retroviral therapy; HIV= Human immunodeficiency virus; AIDS=Acquired immune deficiency syndrome; CD=Cluster of differentiation; WHO=World Health Organization

	Table 4: Mean quality of life scor	s of PLWHA in Irrua Specialist	Teaching Hospital, Edo State	, Nigeria
--	------------------------------------	--------------------------------	------------------------------	-----------

Variables	Mean (\pm SE) quality of life scores	95% CI
Physical Health Domain	15.83±0.14	15.55 - 16.11
Psychological Health Domain	15.07±0.12	14.93 - 15.29
Level of Independence Domain	14.95±0.13	14.69 - 15.21
Social Relationship Domain	13.49±0.14	13.21 - 13.76
Environment Domain	13.45±0.10	13.25 - 13.65
Spiritual/Religion/Personal Beliefs Domain	16.33±0.18	15.97 - 16.69
Overall	89.13±0.59	87.95 - 90.31

SE=standard error; CI = Confidence interval

Mean quality of life scores of participants:

Table 4 shows the mean QOL scores of participants for each domain and the overall QOL score. The mean QOL score for; (i) physical domain at 95% confidence interval (CI) was 15.83 ± 0.28 ; (ii) psychological domain 15.07 ± 0.24 ; (iii) level of independence domain 14.95 ± 0.26 ; (iv) social relationship domain 13.49 ± 0.28 ; (v) environment domain 13.45 ± 0.20 ; and (vi) spiritual/religion/personal beliefs domain 16.33 ± 0.36 . The overall QOL score was 89.13 ± 1.18 .

Association of socio-demographic factors with quality of life among participants:

The difference in the mean QOL scores with respect to the age of participants was statistically significant only in the social domain, with participants in the reproductive age group (15-45 years) having the highest mean QOL score of 13.71 ± 2.29 (p=0.04) (Table 5). Male participants had higher overall QOL scores and mean QOL scores in all the domains than their female counterparts. The overall mean QOL score of 91.75±8.39 for males was significantly higher than 88.16±8.90 for females (t=7.496; p=0.007). The mean QOL score was significantly higher for males (p<0.05) in 4 of the 6 domains (psychological, level of independence, social and environment).

Concerning marital status of the participants, co-habiters, married participants and divorcees had significantly higher overall mean QOL scores (91.93 \pm 9.41, 90.87 \pm 8.90 and 90.30 \pm 7.64 respectively), than the mean QOL scores of separated, single and widowed participants (84.75 ± 8.31 , 84.75 ± 8.32 , and 88.12 ± 8.93 respectively) (F=4.033, p=0.002) (Table 5). However, there was no statistically significant difference in the overall mean QOL scores of employed (89.14 ± 8.86) and unemployed participants (88.95 ± 10.20) (t=0.01; p=0.937), and no significant difference in any of the six domains (p>0.05).

With respect to education, participants with no formal education had the highest overall QOL (96.42 ± 4.65), followed by those without secondary education (89.87 ± 8.67) and the least was those with primary school education

(85.74±9.55). Those with tertiary education had the highest QOL scores in all the domains except in the social relationship and spirituality/religion/belief domains, where those with secondary and no formal education had the highest scores respectively (Table 5). Although, the participants who practice Islamic religion had a higher overall mean QOL scores (91.7± 10.17) than those who practice Christianity (88.93±8.86), the difference was not statistically significant (t=1.05, p=0.307), and there was also no significant difference in the QOL scores for the participants in all the domains with respect to religion (p>0.05).

Table 5: Association of sociode	emographic factors w	th quality of life of PL	LWHA in ISTH Irrua,	Edo State, Nigeria
---------------------------------	----------------------	--------------------------	---------------------	--------------------

Variables	Q0	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	QG
Age group (years)							
15-45							
46-64	89.52±8.55	15.15±2.15	14.98±1.98	14.58±1.22	13.71±2.29	13.47±1.25	16.01±1.77
≥65	88.96±9.68	15.75±2.32	14.86±1.99	14.86±1.68	13.09±2.09	13.38±1.84	16.90±2.24
	84.96±16.33	15.00±3.53	15.02±1.03	13.50 ± 3.53	11.50 ± 2.12	14.25±0.35	15.00 ± 5.66
F	0.44	0.90	0.108	229	3.262	4.000	0.671
Р	0.0643	0.103	0.898	0.796	0.040*	0.671	0.092
Gender							
Male	91.75±8.39	16.22±1.87	15.56±1.83	15.50 ± 1.64	14.01±2.51	13.76±1.47	16.73±2.50
Female	88.16±8.90	15.70 ± 2.30	14.72±1.99	14.92±1.88	13.29 ± 2.01	13.34±1.42	16.19±2.71
t	7,49	2.42	8.40	4.57	5.10	4.037	1.84
p	0.007*	0.12	0.004*	0.034*	0.025*	0.046*	0.176
Marital status							
Cohabiting	91 93±9 41	16.00 ± 3.61	16 27±2 31	16 33±2 08	13 33±1 15	14.00 ± 0.50	16.00 ± 2.54
Divorced	90.30 ± 7.64	17.50 ± 3.54	16.80 ± 3.39	15.60 ± 0.00	9.00 ± 2.83	15.50 ± 4.24	15.50 ± 2.12
Married	90.87±8.90	16.26 ± 2.05	15.22 ± 2.03	15.82 ± 1.83	14.02 ± 2.02	13.53 ± 1.46	16.50 ± 2.73
Separated	85.20±8.15	15.43±1.95	14.23 ± 1.64	14.64 ± 1.59	11.57 ± 2.06	12.75±1.29	17.07±1.86
Single	84.75±8.31	15.76±1.88	15.38±1.40	15.61 ± 1.47	13.08±2.43	13.86±0.96	15.50±3.24
Widow/Widower	88.12±8.93	14.68±2.39	13.95±1.79	14.04±1.92	12.91±1.87	13.07 ± 1.41	16.33±2.66
F	4.033	4.22	4.43	0.14	7.24	2.82	0.93
p	0.002*	0.001*	0.001*	0.984	0.0001*	0.017*	0.465
Employment status							
Employed	89.14±8.86	15.86±2.19	14.98±1.95	14.95±2.23	13.47±2.17	13.42±1.46	16.36±2.63
Unemployed	88.95±10.20	15.47±2.42	14.54±2.35	15.46±2.24	13.73±2.31	13.90 ± 1.18	15.93±3.12
t	0.01	0.46	1.01	0.07	0.21	1.54	0.36
p	0.937	0.499	0.317	0.795	0.651	0.216	0.547
Educational status							
None	96.42±4.65	16.31 ± 1.75	15.20 ± 1.03	15.23 ± 1.54	13.15 ± 1.63	13.15 ± 1.55	17.38 ± 1.76
Primary	85.73±9.55	15.18 ± 2.53	14.40 ± 2.25	14.46 ± 2.07	12.72 ± 2.17	13.06 ± 1.68	15.86 ± 2.93
Secondary	89.87±8.67	16.00 ± 1.99	15.14 ± 1.81	15.15 ± 1.66	14.01±2.12	13.47 ± 1.40	16.10 ± 2.75
Tertiary	89.13±8.92	16.31±1.96	15.31±1.88	15.65 ± 1.61	13.48±2.18	13.96±1.07	16.96±2.20
F	6.49	3.64	3.02	4.91	5.5	4.83	2.91
p	0.001*	0.013*	0.031*	0.003*	0.001*	0.035*	0.0001*
Religion							
Christianity	88.93±8.86	15.82±2.19	14.91±1.96	14.58 ± 2.11	13.47±2.17	13.45±1.44	16.28±2.67
Islam	91.70±10.17	16.16±2.44	15.53±1.92	15.33±1.92	13.83±2.41	13.50 ± 1.58	17.33±2.38
t	1.05	0.28	1.11	0.05	0.32	0.01	1.79
р	0.307	0.598	0.294	0.817	0.572	0.908	0.182

QO=Mean (±SD) Quality of Life Overall Scores; Q1=Mean (±SD) of Physical Health Domain Score; Q2=Mean (±SD) of Psychological Health Domain Score; Q3=Mean (±SD) Level of Independence Domain Score; Q4=Mean (±SD) of Social Relationship Domain Score; Q5=Mean (±SD) of Environment Domain Score; Q6=Mean (±SD) of Spiritual/Religion/Personal Beliefs Domain Score; F=ANOVA; t=Student t test; p=likelihood/probability; *=statistically significant

Association of HIV management care with quality of life of the participants:

The overall mean QOL scores of those who disclosed their HIV status to their partners (89.84±9.65) and those who concealed it from their partners (89.61±8.37), were not significantly different (t=1.05, p=0.308), and also across all the domains. The overall mean QOL scores of concordant partners, discordant partners and undefined group were not significantly different (F=0.16, p=0.850), and across all the domains. Irrespective of the CD4 counts, all the participants had similar QOL scores in all the domains, therefore CD4 counts had no sig-

nificant impact on the QOL of the participants.

The overall QOL scores of participants decreases as the WHO clinical stage increases. Participants in WHO stage 1 had the highest QOL scores (90.36 \pm 7.61), followed by those in WHO stage 2 (88.34 \pm 8.53), while those in stage 4 had the least QOL score (76.73 \pm 5.71) (F=9.94, *p*=0.0001). The pattern is similar in all the 6 domains (*p*<0.05). Irrespective of the duration on HAART, QOL scores of all the participants were similar across the domains. There was no statistically significant impact of length of time for HAART on the QOL among the participants (*p*>0.05) (Table 6).

Table 6: Association of HIV management care with quality of life of PLWHA in ISTH Irrua, Edo State, Nigeria

Variables	Q0	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6
disclosure							
Yes	89.84±9.65	15.94±2.88	15.01±2.29	15.17±2.01	13.46±1.46	13.44±1.45	16.51±2.75
No	89.61±8.37	15.77±2.11	14.90 ± 1.73	15.79±2.14	13.43±1.45	13.47±1.44	16.21±2.66
t	1.05	0.32	0.19	0.71	3.04	0.02	0.72
Р	0.308	0.568	0.660	0.400	0.083	0.876	0.398
HIV status of							
partner	89.40±9.95	15.88±2.36	14.85±2.41	15.09±2.07	13.71±2.07	13.35±1.42	16.51±2.80
Positive	89.27±8.61	15.79±2.12	15.15 ± 2.07	14.98±2.07	13.43±2.41	13.55±1.57	16.03±2.93
Unknown	88.58±8.03	15.85±2.13	14.78±1.70	14.91±1.87	13.27±1.98	13.31±1.28	16.40±2.02
F	0.16	0.04	076	84	0.74	1.31	0.88
p	0.850	0.966	0.469	0.433	0.477	0.273	0.561
CD4 count (mm ³)							
≤500	88 46+9 70	15 71+2 34	14 86+2 20	15 05+1 22	13 33+2 28	13 39+1 56	16 18+2 83
>500	90.66±6.67	16.21 ± 1.83	15.15 ± 1.35	15.25 ± 1.53	13.84 ± 1.88	13.58 ± 1.14	16.68 ± 2.19
t	2.97	1.74	1.09	0.43	2.71	0.85	1.76
Ρ	0.086	0.188	0.298	0.513	0.101	1.756	0.786
HIV stage							
Stage 1	90.36 ± 7.61	16.10±1.94	12.48±2.88	14.77±1.47	13.72 ± 2.10	13.52 ± 1.34	16.60 ± 2.48
Stage 2	88.34±8.53	15.62 ± 2.25	13.88 ± 2.44	15.09 ± 1.69	13.00 ± 2.28	13.56 ± 1.44	15.94 ± 2.82
Stage 3	84.44±11.17	14.64±3.03	15.13 ± 2.14	14.21±2.29	13.07±1.07	13.79±1.37	14.86±3.01
Stage 4	76.73±5.71	13.60 ± 3.27	15.14±1.73	12.60 ± 3.02	11.50 ± 2.51	11.45±1.91	15.10 ± 3.73
F	9,94	6.15	7.83	0.11	4.35	7.41	3.04
p	0.0001*	0.0001*	0.0001*	0.0001*	0.005*	0.0001*	0.030*
Duration on							
HAART (years)							
<1	86.37±10.56	15.29 ± 1.99	15.00 ± 2.35	14.58 ± 2.09	12.58 ± 2.92	13.55 ± 1.62	15.35 ± 3.06
1-5	89.32±8.75	15.93±2.13	15.07±1.87	15.03±3.12	13.53±2.19	13.42±1.46	16.23±2.73
6-10	89.35±8.98	15.75±2.45	14.60±2.14	15.03±1.96	13.63±1.87	13.48±1.36	16.84±2.27
∠11	89.12±8.39	15.84±2.02	14.94±1.98	13.00 ± 0.08	13.00 ± 0.07	15.00 ± 0.17	19.00 ± 0.14
F	0.643	0.753	0.077	0.165	1.099	0.433	3.04
p	0.588	0.522	0.508	0.920	0.350	0.729	0.030*

QO=Mean (±SD) Quality of Life Overall Scores; Q1=Mean (±SD) of Physical Health Domain Score; Q2=Mean (±SD) of Psychological Health Domain Score; Q3=Mean (±SD) Level of Independence Domain Score; Q4=Mean (±SD) of Social Relationship Domain Score; Q5=Mean (±SD) of Environment Domain Score; Q6=Mean (±SD) of Spiritual/Religion/Personal Beliefs Domain Score; HAART=Highly active ant-retroviral therapy; HIV=Human immunodeficiency virus; AIDS=Acquired immune deficiency syndrome; CD=Cluster of differentiation; F=ANOVA; *t*=Student t test; p=likelihood/probability; *=statistically significant Table 7: Multivariate logistic regression analysis of participants characteristics with quality of life

β value	Odds ratio (95% CI)	<i>p</i> value
2.64	14.070 (0.440 - 447.800)	0.134
Reference group		
-15.01	0.000 (0.000-)	0.999
-17.10	0.000 (0.000-)	1.000
-0.74	0.480 (0.055-4.142)	0.503
-0.79	2.210 (0.057-85.36)	0.670
-0.20	1.230 (0.086-17.43)	0.880
Reference group		
-18.01	0.00 (0.00-)	0.999
-0.85	2.33 (0.15-36.02)	0.554
1.66	5.25 (0.33-81.73)	0.236
Reference group		
-4.99	0.007 (0.001-0.075)	0.0001*
-3.79	0.023 (0.001-0.402)	0.01*
-2.26	0.105 (0.007-1.484)	0.095
	β Value Reference group 2.64 Reference group -15.01 -17.10 -0.74 -0.79 -0.20 Reference group -18.01 -0.85 1.66 Reference group -4.99 -3.79 -2.26 -2.26	β value Odds ratio (95% CI) Reference group 2.64 14.070 (0.440 - 447.800) Reference group -15.01 0.000 (0.000-) -17.10 0.000 (0.000-) -0.74 0.480 (0.055-4.142) -0.79 2.210 (0.057-85.36) -0.20 1.230 (0.086-17.43) Reference group -18.01 0.00 (0.00-) -0.85 2.33 (0.15-36.02) 1.66 5.25 (0.33-81.73) Reference group -4.99 0.007 (0.001-0.075) -3.79 0.023 (0.001-0.402) -2.26 -2.26 0.105 (0.07-1.484) -0.931:

Cox Snell R²=11.7%; Negelkerke R²=41.5%; Chi-squared=3.048; df=3; p=0.931; CI=confidence interval; *=statistically significant

Multivariate logistic regression analysis of participant characteristics on quality of life:

The characteristics of the participants significantly associated with QOL scores on ANOVA and the Students' 't' tests i. e. gender, marital status, educational status and WHO staging were entered into multivariate logistic regression analysis model. Only WHO stage 1 and stage 2 were significantly associated with QOL on this model. The β value, represents the slope of the regression line, the variables bearing negative values, indicate that the higher the value of these variables, the higher the likelihood of having poor QOL (Table 7).

Discussion:

The introduction of HAART has led to increased live expectancy of PLWHA such that HIV infection is now being managed as a chronic disease and the QOL of the patients is now a significant consideration. Evidences are in support of improved QOL of patients with chronic illnesses including HIV/AIDS patients when there is adequate comprehensive healthcare addressing physical, social and psychological needs of affected individuals (8,15). This study investigated the QOL of PLWHA attending ART clinic in ISTH with focus on factors affecting QOL among these patients in a rural setting.

Of the 230 participants who met the inclusion criteria and were recruited into our study, 168 (73.0%) were females while 62 (27.0%) were males. This gender distribution is a reflection of the population of the clinic

southern senatorial district of Cross River State, and Azuka (17) in Benin-City, Edo State, Nigeria (17). This may be attributed to that fact that females have better health-seeking behaviour than males or have more time to attend clinics, while men are struggling to meet economic needs of the family (18,19,20). The age range of the participants was 20-68 years, with a mean age of 41.13±9.96 years. Sixty-nine-point one percent (69.1%) of the participants wore within the reproductive

attendees, similar to the gender distribution in

other studies reported by Fatiregun et al., (7)

in Kogi State, Samson-Akpan et al., (16) in the

the participants were within the reproductive age group which has been confirmed in the literatures to be the age group with highest prevalence of HIV/AIDS (21,22). Only 2 (0.9%) were elderly, probably because of the reduced life expectancy of HIV patients relative to the general population as a result of weaker immu nity with age, higher susceptibility to opportunistic infection and social and psychological challenges of the disease (22,23,24).

Only 13 (5.7%) of the participants had no formal education. Majority of them had either primary or secondary education while 63 (27.4%) had tertiary education training. This is similar to educational distribution reported by Fatiregun et al., (7) although, there were more illiterate participants in their study, and also similar to findings of the studies of Azuka (16) and Samson-Akpan et al., (16). Most of the participants in our study were Christians (94.7%) probably because the study site is located in a Christian dominated Esan land of Edo State, Nigeria. The few Muslims (5.3%) were from the Etsako area of the State, dominated by Islamic religion. Despite the skewed statistics, there was no statistically significant difference between the two groups; and religion has no impact on QOL of participants in this study.

All the participants had been on HAART for at least 12 months prior to recruitment for this study, in order to exclude the initial shock or depression associated with early period of being HIV-diagnosed and to allow for beneficial effects of HAART. Choosing this category of participants also eliminates the initial challenges associated with initiating patients on HAART (adverse drug reactions) before the patients psychologically and physically adjusted. Most of the participants were in WHO stage 1 and 2 of HIV classification. This may partly be due to the exclusion of those with co-morbidities, as the 3rd and 4th stages are associated with many HIV/AIDS associated comorbidities; and partly due to good comprehensive HIV treatment, care and support services being provided at the study site.

In this study, PLWHA had good overall mean QOL score (89.13±0.59). This is similar to the findings of other researchers within and outside Nigeria, (1,3,7,16,17) where PLWHA had good QOL. The good QOL score in this study can be attributed to the use of ART and good adherence in all the patients studied for at least 12 months as reported. Oquntibeju (1) in a review article and Sophie et al., (9) in a Cochrane study observed that, several studies reported a strong positive association between ART and improved quality of life in different domains among PLWHA in both developed and developing countries (1). In addition, the good QOL of participants in this study may be partly due to sufficient time for recovery from the initial shock, denial and depression associated with being diagnosed HIV seropositive. Regular clinic attendance for 12 months and above, also provides opportunities for listening to health talks and meeting other HIV positives clients, these experiences can foster hope and ultimately improve the QOL of these patients as was reported by Sushil Yadav in PLWHA in Nepal (25). In addition, similarity in the QOL of participants in the study and those studies done in urban center of Nigeria, revealed that, use HAART irrespective of location of the PLWHA is important in QOL improvement of the affected individuals.

The highest mean QOL score was seen in the spiritual/religion/personal beliefs domain, followed by the physical health domain and the psychological health domain. This is similar to the findings of other researchers, especially Fatiregun et al., (7), Folasire et al., (4) and Samson-Akpan et al., (16). The high mean QOL score in the spiritual/religion/personal beliefs domain may be due to increase Godseeking behaviour and piety associated with encounters which are irreversible like HIV/AIDS and ultimately can lead to death. Boppana and Gross (25) and Villani et al., (26) observed that significant number of their patients reported an increase in spirituality/religiosity post-HIV diagnosis, aside of Nigeria being a highly religious country (27). Religiosity can impact on psychic and physical well-being of patients.

The high mean QOL score in the physical domain can also be attributed to ART capability to improving survival, reducing the occurrence of HIV-related opportunistic infections, and improving patients' clinical state and thus physical wellbeing (25,26). The environment domain had the lowest mean QOL score followed by social relationship domain. This may be because PLWHA face various social and environmental problems, such as stigmatization, discrimination, poverty, and cultural beliefs, which can affect their QOL socially, leading to problems that affect important activities and interests of the persons (1) These findings are in consonance with those of Fatiregun et al., (7) study, which also highlighted low mean scores in environment domain. Similar results were also reported in Sao Paulo, Brazil (28), where the mean scores for social relationship and environment domains fell in the intermediate level.

Environment domain measures financial resources, freedom, physical safety and security, health and social care; accessibility and quality, home environment, opportunity for acquiring new information and skills, participation in and opportunities for recreation/leisure activities, physical environment (pollution/ noise/traffic/climate) and transport (13). The results indicating low scores for environment in this study may imply lack of money and poor living conditions since most of the respondents were of primary and secondary school level, living in rural communities of Edo State, whose earnings may not be adequate for personal and social needs. Being employed provides some level of financial independence and thus reduces some of the stresses on them. Good clinical stage in most of these participants may make their HIV status obscured except they disclosed it. This in turn reduces chances of stigmatization, discrimination and other psychosocial negative effects of HIV on their relationship with other family members.

In the bivariate analysis in this study,

only four factors had impact on the participants' QOL. These are gender, marital status, level of education and the WHO HIV clinical stage. These factors were among those identified by other researchers to influence QOL of HIV patients (1,7,9). Men had better QOL in all the domains and overall, except in the spiritual /religion/belief domain. The odds of a male having good QOL life is 14.07 times higher than a female having good QOL. This may not be unconnected to the superior socio-psychoological position and stronger economic strength of men in the society relative to their female counterparts (29). Our study is at variance with the findings of Fatiregun et al., (7), who reported that women had higher QOL score compared to men in virtually all domains, and significantly higher level on the independent domain. The men had better QOL in our study, probably because they have equal access to all health-promoting factors such as HAART, care, and support, like the women, and extra advantage of being more empowered by tradition, and being less exposed to intimate partner violence and rejection than women. The findings on gender in our study also differs from the report of Samson-Akpan et al., (16) in southern senatorial district of Cross River State, where gender difference was reported to be insignificant. The disparities in the studies may due to some sociodemographic differences and methodology of the studies. For instance, the selection of participants in the Samson-Akpan et al., (16) study was based on purposive sampling on the basis of regular participation at group meetings, which may have biased participants selection. The higher QOL of women reported in their study is not surprising as women are known to be more religious and resort to faith, than men.

With regards to marital status of the participants as significant factor impacting on QOL in this study, cohabiters, married and divorcees had higher mean QOL scores than widows and singles in almost all the domains. The regression analysis showed very bad QOL prognosis for widow/widower and the singles. The β value representing the slope of the regression line for the variables bearing negative values, indicate that the higher the value of these variables the higher the likelihood of having poor quality of life. A stable relationship conceivably contributes to a good QOL. This was shown convincingly in almost all domains in this study and other studies (30,31). Conflicting results were found with respect to changes in OOL over time. In women, being single was associated with an improvement in QOL after four months, whereas being married was associated with a decline (9). Being chronically ill possibly causes more health distress and anxiety in married women, since the illness can interfere with their role as a spouse. However, a stable partner was also found to be positively associated with mental health after one year (31).

Among socioeconomic variables, having no formal education or having any level of education appeared to have effect on QOL in all domains. However, regression analysis revealed that level of education has no significant associated with QOL of PLWHA. Good education is expected to enhance acquisition of health promoting information on internets and other resource materials (31) and adherence to HAART (13,30) as well as other health promoting activities. It also often implies higher income and thus better living conditions and health (3). However, this study is at variance to other studies cited. This may be due to high level of awareness in the study area (32), as only 5.7% of the participants have no formal education. In Edo state, even an illiterate can communicate well in 'pigin-english', hence they can comprehend health education and clinical instructions very well.

The strongest factor determining good QOL is WHO clinical stage 1 or 2, which was the only variable with strong association on logistic regression model. An objective of HAART is to enhance the clinical stage and delay progression into late stages of the disease. A result other than this is tantamount to treatment failure if adherence is not compromised, since clinical failure lags behind virologic and immunologic failures. This findings is similar to reports of review and cochrane studies on QOL of PLWHA (1,9).

Conclusion:

Quality of life in PLWHA is influenced ultimately by just one factor; the WHO Clinical stage of the PLWHA. Good QOL is obtained and maintained by being in early WHO clinical stage i. e. stage 1 and 2. It is therefore very pertinent that PLWHA are kept in the early stages of the disease. This is achievable by combination of efforts and actions such as intense public awareness and public health education on HIV/ AIDS, de-stigmatization of the disease and elimination of discrimination against PLWHA; early diagnosis by extensive accessible screening/testing of at risk population; prompt enrolment of HIV-seropositive persons into care; quick commencement of HAART with strong emphasis on adherence counseling; monitoring

adherence; managing side effects promptly and switching drugs when necessary; continuous regular clinical, immunologic and virologic monitoring and reevaluation of patients; as well as prompt diagnosis and treatment of opportunistic conditions associated with the disease. Furthermore, social supports, economic empowerment, psychotherapy and social integration of affected individuals, especially in a functional home will go a long way in enhancing the QOL.

Contributions of authors:

ABT conceived the idea and conceptualized the study, AGM coordinates and heads the HIV/AIDS program of the institution directly managing the patients. The two authors were involved in literature search, development of research proposal, data collection and analysis, and writing of manuscript for publication.

Source of funding:

There was no external source of fund.

Conflicts of interest:

There is no conflict of interest.

References:

- Oguntibeju, O. O. Quality of Life of People Living with HIV and AIDS and Antiretroviral Therapy. HIV/AIDS – Research and Palliative Care. 2012; 4: 117-124. doi: 10.2147/HIV.S32321
- UNAIDS. How AIDS changed everything. MDG 6: 15 years Lessons of hope from the AIDS Response. UNAIDS Fact Sheet. 2014: 1-8
- Mofolorunsho, C. K., Fatiregun, A. A., and Osagbemi, K. G. Socioeconomic Factors influencing the Quality of life of people living with HIV/AIDs in Kogi State, Nigeria. Int J Trop Med. 2013; 8 (1): 6-10.
- Folasire, O. F., Irabor, A. E., and Folasire, A. M. Quality of life of People living with HIV and AIDS attending the Antiretroviral Clinic, University College Hospital, Nigeria. Afr J Prm Health Care Fam Med. 2012; 4 (1): Art. #294. http://dx.doi.org/10.4102/phcfm.v4i1.294
- Subulade, A. A., Salami, T. A., and Adewuyi, G. M. Factors that promote HIV disclosure among women attending Prevention of Mother-to Child Transmission in a state in South Nigeria. HIV AIDS Rev. 2018; 17 (4): 283-287. doi: https://doi.org/10.5114/hivar.2018.80261
- Brown, R. T., Schalock, R. L., and Brown, I. Quality of life: It's application to persons with intellectual disabilities and their families-introduction and overview. J Policy Pract Intellectual Disabilities. 2009; 6: 2-6.
- Fatiregun, A. A., Mofolorunsho K. C., and Osagbemi, K. G. Quality of Life of People living with HIV/AIDS in Kogi State, Nigeria. Benin J Postgrad Med. 2009; 11 (1):21-27. doi: 10.4314/bjpm.v11i1.48823

- Middleton-Lee, S., and Murau, F. Quality of Life for People Living with HIV is as important as ever. Frontline AIDS. Nov 2018 https://Frontlineaids.org/quality-of-life-for-peopleliving-with-hiv-is-as-important-as-ever/ 2022-06-24
- Sophie, D., Dirk, V., and Dominique, M. V. What determines health-quality of life among people living with HIV: an updated review of the literature. Arch Publ Health. 2014; 72: 40 http://www.archpublichealth.com/content/72/1/40
- NIH HIVinfo. HIV and Mental Health <u>https://hivinfo.nih.gov>fact-sheets</u> (Accessed: 22-06-24)
- 11. Adebowale, A. How Nigeria's 36 states fare in HIV prevalence. Premium Times. March 19, 2019 https://www.premiumtimesng.com/health/healthnews/321036-how-nigerias-36-states-fare-in-hivprevalence.html Accessed: 2022-06-24
- 12. Cochran, W. G. Sampling Techniques, 2nd Ed., New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc. 1963
- Motilewa, O. O., Ekanem, U. S., Onayade, A., and Sule, S. S. A comparative study of Health-related Quality of Life among HIV patients on pre-HAART and HAART in Uyo, South-south, Nigeria. J. Antiretrovir. 2015: 7; 60-68. doi: 10.4172/JAA.1000120
- WHO. WHOQOL-BREF: Measuring Quality of Life. WHO Tools and Toolkits <u>https://www.who.int/tools/whoqol</u> Accessed 2022-06-24
- WHO. Quality of care. WHO Health topics <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/quality-of-care#tab=tab_1</u> Accessed: 24th June, 2022
- Samson-Akpan, P. E., Ojong, I. N., Ella, R., and Edet, O. B. Quality of life of people living with HIV/AIDs in Cross River, Nigeria. Int J Med Biomed Res. 2013; 2 (3): 207-212.
- Azuka, C. O., Jeffrey, S. S., Herbert, I. A., and Ifeanyi, E. C. Patient-Reported Quality of Life During Antiretroviral Therapy in a Nigerian Hospital. Value in Health Regional Issues. 2013; 2: 254-258. doi: 10.1016/j.vhri.2013.07.004
- Barasa, V., and Virhia, J. Using Intersectionality to Identify gendered Barriers to health-seeking for Febrile Illness in Agro-pastoralist settings in Tanzania. Front Glob Women Health. 2022; 2: 746402. doi: <u>10.3389/fgwh.2021.746402</u>.
- Das, M., Angeli, F., Krumeich, A.J.S.M., and van Schayck, O. C. P. The gender experience with respect to health-seeking behaviour in an urban slum of Kolkata, India. Int J Equity Health. 2018; 17: 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-018-0738-8
- Thompson, A. E., Anisimowics, Y., Miedema, B., Hogg, W., Wodchis, W. P., and Aubrey-Bassler, K. A. The influence of gender and other patient characteristics on health care-seeking behaviour: a QUALICOPC STUDY. BMC Fam Pract. 2016; 17: 38. doi: <u>10.1186/S12875-016-0440-0</u>
 CDC. Estimated HIV Incidence and prevalence in
- CDC. Estimated HIV Incidence and prevalence in the United States, 2015-2019. HIV Surveillance supplemental Report 2021; 26 (No. 1). http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/reports/hivsurveillance.html. Published May 2021. Accessed 2022-06-24
- UNAIDS. Press release. New survey results indicate that Nigeria has an HIV prevalence of 1.4%. <u>https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/</u> pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2019/ march/20190314_nigeria_Accessed: 2022-06-24
- Mozes, A. and Consumer news. People with HIV still have shorter, sicker lives. Health Day News, June 18, 2020. WEBMD Archives <u>https://www.webmd.com>....>News</u>
- 24. Mohammad-Moein, H. R., Maracy, M. R., and Tayari, K.

Life expectancy after HIV diagnosis based on data from counselling center for behavioural diseases. J Res Med Sci. 2013; 18 (12): 1040-1055

- Boppana, S., and Gross, A. M. The impact of religiosity on the psychological well-being of LGBT Christians. Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health. 2019; 23 (4): 412-426. doi: 10.1080/19359705.2019.1645072
- Villani, D., Sorgente, A., Lannelo, P., and Antonietti, A. The Role of Spirituality and Religiosity in Subjective Well-being of Individuals with Different Religious Status. Front Psychol: 2019. 01525 doi: 10.3389/fpsy.2019.01525
- 27. Olaoye. W. Nigeria: So religious, Yet so poor (2). Premium Times; April 18, 2021. https://www.premiumtimesng.com/45412-soreligious-yet-so-poor-by-wole-olaoye.html Accessed: 2022-06-24
- Sudhir, G., Ashok, N. C., Murali-Dhai, Deepa-Krishna. Quality of life in HIV/AIDS patients in relation to CD4 count: A cross-sectional study in

Mysore district. Int J Health Allied Sci. 2012; 1 (4): 263-267. doi: <u>10.4103/2278-344X.107892</u>

- Stangor, C., Jhangiani, R., and Tarry, H. Principles of Social Psychology, 1st International H5P Edition, BC campus Open-Education; British-Columbia. Sept 2018: Chapter 4: 234-243
- Bello, S. I., and Bello, I. K. Quality of life of HIV/AIDS patients in a secondary health care facility, Ilorin, Nigeria. Proc Bayl Univt Med Cent. 2013; 26 (2): 116–119.
- Afolabi, B. A., Afolabi, M. O., Afolabi A. A., Odewale M. A., and Olowookere, S. A. Roles of family dynamics on adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy among people living with HIV/AIDS at a tertiary hospital in Osogbo, Southwest Nigeria. Afr Health Sci. 2013; 13 (4): 920-926. doi: 10.4314/ahs.v13i4.9
- Alika, I. H. HIV/AIDS awareness level of urban and rural adolescents in Edo State, Nigeria: Implication for counselling. Int J Develop Sustainability. 2013; 2: 1224-1233

Abubakar et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 45 - 50

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2208. <u>https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem</u>

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.6

Original Article

https://www.africem.org

Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1



Open Access

Polymerase chain reaction detection of haemolysin D gene (hlyD) in uropathogenic Escherichia coli as a novel diagnostic test for urinary tract infection

¹Abubakar, N. H., ²Aliyu, M., ^{*3}Jibril, M., and ²Mohammed, Y.

¹Kano State Secondary Schools Management Board, Kano, Nigeria

²Department of Medical Microbiology and Parasitology, Faculty of Clinical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, Bayero University, Kano, Nigeria

³Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Natural and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Bayero University, Kano, Nigeria

*Correspondence to: <u>murtalamj@yahoo.com;</u> +2348034453990; ORCID: 0000-0003-2554-5552

Abstract:

Background: Urinary tract infection (UTI) is a common and sometime serious infectious disease diagnosed using conventional urine culture as the 'gold standard' for identifying *Escherichia coli*, the most common causative agent. However, due to the slow turn-around-time and other challenges of urine culture, this study explores the use of a novel biomolecular polymerase chain reaction (PCR) approach to detect the presence of haemolysin D gene (*hlyD*) that encodes a unique virulence factor of uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) for its rapid identification in UTI.

Methodology: Primers from UPEC CFT073 and non-pathogenic *E. coli* K-12 MG1655 strains provided by Nottingham Trent University, England, UK were used to investigate the presence of haemolysin D gene (*hlyD*) in UPEC. The *hlyD* primers were developed from *hlyD* with locus number C_RS01660 on UPEC CFT073 strain using the NCBI, virulence finder, and Island viewer, and used in a PCR assay to target the *hlyD* in UPEC. Three sets of PCR templates were designed (UPEC, *E. coli*, and "No template"), each with internal and external controls amplified in a multiplex PCR assay, and agarose gel electrophoresis was used to separate the amplicons, and determine the specificity of *hlyD* for UPEC.

Results: The UPEC genome PCR assays were positive for *hlyD* and UPEC positive control, and similarly, PCR was positive for *E. coli* genome positive control, but negative for *hlyD*. Moreover, the "No template" PCR assay was clean with no amplification product, confirming the absence of PCR contaminations.

Conclusion: The hlyD is a unique virulence gene specific for UPEC. PCR assay of this gene is a promising specific and rapid biomolecular diagnostic test that can overcome the limitations of the traditional approaches for detection of UPEC in UTI.

Keywords: UTI, uropathogenic Escherichia coli, virulence factors, PCR, diagnosis

Received Jul 15, 2022; Revised Dec 04, 2022; Accepted Dec 05, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Détection par réaction en chaîne de la polymérase du gène de l'hémolysine D (*hlyD*) dans *Escherichia coli* uropathogène comme nouveau test de diagnostic pour l'infection des voies urinaires

¹Abubakar, N. H., ²Aliyu, M., *³Jibril, M., et ²Mohammed, Y.

¹Conseil de Gestion des Ecoles Secondaires de l'État de Kano, Kano, Nigéria ²Département de Microbiologie Médicale et de Parasitologie, Faculté des Sciences cliniques, Collège des Sciences de la Santé, Université Bayero, Kano, Nigéria

³Département de Pharmacologie et de Thérapeutique, Faculté des Sciences Pharmaceutiques, Collège des Sciences Naturelles et Pharmaceutiques, Université Bayero, Kano, Nigéria

*Correspondance à: murtalamj@yahoo.com; +2348034453990; ORCID: 0000-0003-2554-5552

Résumé:

Contexte: L'infection des voies urinaires (UTI) est une maladie infectieuse courante et parfois grave diagnostiquée à l'aide d'une culture d'urine conventionnelle comme «étalon-or» pour identifier *Escherichia coli*, l'agent causal le plus courant. Cependant, en raison du délai d'exécution lent et d'autres défis de la culture d'urine, cette étude explore l'utilisation d'une nouvelle approche biomoléculaire de réaction en chaîne par polymérase (PCR) pour détecter la présence du gène de l'hémolysine D (*hlyD*) qui code pour une virulence unique facteur d'*E. coli* uropathogène (UPEC) pour son identification rapide dans les infections urinaires.

Méthodologie: Des amorces provenant des souches UPEC CFT073 et non pathogènes d'*E. coli* K-12 MG1655 fournies par l'Université de Nottingham Trent, Angleterre, Royaume-Uni, ont été utilisées pour étudier la présence du gène de l'hémolysine D (*hlyD*) dans l'UPEC. Les amorces *hlyD* ont été développées à partir de *hlyD* avec le numéro de locus C_RS01660 sur la souche UPEC CFT073 à l'aide du NCBI, du détecteur de virulence et de la visionneuse d'île, et utilisées dans un test PCR pour cibler le *hlyD* dans UPEC. Trois ensembles de modèles de PCR ont été conçus (UPEC, *E. coli* et «aucun modèle»), chacun avec des contrôles internes et externes amplifiés dans un test de PCR multiplex, et une électrophorèse sur gel d'agarose a été utilisée pour séparer les amplicons et déterminer la spécificité de *hlyD* pour l'UPEC.

Résultats: Les tests PCR du génome UPEC étaient positifs pour *hlyD* et le contrôle positif UPEC, et de même, la PCR était positive pour le contrôle positif du génome *E. coli*, mais négative pour *hlyD*. De plus, le test PCR "sans matrice" était propre sans produit d'amplification, confirmant l'absence de contaminations par PCR.

Conclusion: Le *hlyD* est un gène de virulence unique spécifique de l'UPEC. Le test PCR de ce gène est un test de diagnostic biomoléculaire spécifique et rapide prometteur qui peut surmonter les limites des approches traditionnelles de détection de l'UPEC dans les infections urinaires.

Mots clés: IVU, Escherichia coli uropathogène, facteurs de virulence, PCR, diagnostic

Introduction:

Urinary tract infection (UTI) is a crucial health issue, affecting almost 175 million people globally (1). Particularly in women, UTI is the most frequent infectious disease often associated with severe outcomes (2). A spectrum of UTI infection spans from asymptomatic to symptomatic bacteriuria, and acute UTI to chronic forms that can lead to serious conditions such as pyelonephritis and cystitis (1). Severe UTI is usually recurrent, difficult-totreat, and may be fatal (3). Approximately \$3 billion is spent each year on UTI management in the United States healthcare system (1).

Uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (UPEC) remains the main etiologic agent of uncomplicated UTI accounting for at least 80% incidence (2,4). A similar statistic was reported in the US regarding community-acquired UTI, and UPEC usually coexist with *Staphylococcus saprophyticus*, a Gram-positive agent of UTI with a prevalence of 10-15%, and often have a similar presentation among humans, with associated bacteriuria (1). Rapid identification of UPEC is crucial for patient management and quick epidemiological investigations.

Escherichia coli, a member of the family *Enterobacteriaceae*, is a gastrointestinal tract symbiont, but many pathogenic *E. coli* strains with varying virulence genes can cause severe infections (5,6). UPEC is a common extraintestinal pathogenic *E. coli* (ExPEC) that causes community-acquired UTI associated with morbidity and mortality globally due to the large range of associated virulence genes (5,7). The ExPEC is also known for its carriage of many virulence genes in pathogenicity islands (5) such as toxins (*hlyA, cnf*, and auto-transporter), iron acquisition and transport systems, adhesins, invasins, lipopolysaccharides, proteins, and siderophores. These factors equipped the pathogen with the ability to colonize and invade the urinary tract through the blood stream, and also empower ExPEC with antibiotic resistance (3,8). The UPEC virulence factors are two-fold; secreted toxins and factors found on the bacterial cell surface (5). Secreted *E. coli* toxins facilitate illness through inflammation activation (5).

Haemolysin D (*hlyD*) is an essential constituent of typical alpha-haemolysin (*hlyA*) along with *hlyB* and *tolC*, forming a transporter complex through which *hlyA* can be directly moved to the extracellular medium (5). Furthermore, haemolysin production confers *E. coli* with higher pathogenicity and persistence in the host, leading to recurrence of extra-intestinal infections (9,10). Exploring the relevant virulence/pathogenic genes versus the strain type is of great importance for diagnosis, therapy, and vaccine development for pathogenic *E. coli* (11).

Laboratory approaches for the diagnosis UTI include urine dipstick, culture, and microscopic urinalysis (12). At present, the standard urine culture is the 'gold standard' test, being highly reliable (95% sensitivity and 85% specificity), and although it is able to differentiate E. coli from other uropathogens, the turnaround time is prolonged, making it unsuitable for prompt therapy of uncomplicated UTI. Other setbacks of urine cultures include failure to grow atypical microbes and false-positive culture results from contamination (13). Rapid UTI kits have a high falsepositive rate, inaccuracies, and low specificity, even though more promising modalities are being investigated (14). Contrastingly, the flow-cytometer-based urine analyzer can scrThe limitations encountered in the traditional biochemical testing methods of *E. coli* give way to molecular diagnostic techniques such as the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay (2). PCR assay is now the most successfully recognized technique for the detection of nucleic acids (2), targeting different genes of specific uropathogens (1). It is used for rapid identification of specific bacterial pathogens through the use of primers for several targeted genes in one reaction tube cutting down on turnaround time and costs (13). This study aims to determine the specificity of the *hlyD* virulence gene in UPEC as a diagnostic target in PCR assay.

Materials and method:

Study setting:

The study was conducted in 2017 as part of the Master of Science (MSc) course works of the corresponding author in Biomedical Science at the Microbiology Laboratory of Nottingham Trent University, England, United Kingdom

Bacteria strains and primer designs:

UPEC CFT073 and K-12 MG1655 strains (provided by Nottingham Trent University) were used in this study as PCR genome templates for UPEC (positive and internal controls) and *E. coli* primers respectively (Table 1). The extraction, purification and PCR assay of the bacterial DNA to obtain these PCR templates were done using GeneXpert system (Cepheid, USA), and made available to the main author by the module tutor (Dr Jonathan Thomas). These were used to investigate the presence of *hlyD* as a virulence gene in UPEC.

The unique *hlyD* virulence gene was first identified in UPEC as a diagnostic target using PCR assay, bioinformatic and comparative genome analyses. The *hlyD* with locus number (C_RS01660) on UPEC CFT073 and gene sequence (Table 1) was chosen and provided as a (UPEC primer) unique virulence gene, which was selected using the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI), virulence finder, and Island viewer, in order to examine its presence in UPEC and *E. coli* by PCR assay in this study.

UPEC PCRs set up:

Master-mix was prepared in an Eppendorf tube to contain 35μ l Mango Mix, 26μ l water, and 3μ l of UPEC CFT073 gDNA; 17μ l of this master-mix was pipetted into each of the three labelled PCR tubes (UPEC pTest, UPEC pUPEC, and UPEC pEc) and then 1.5μ l of each 10μ M primer (left and right primers, control UPEC-F and control UPEC-R, and control Ec-F and control Ec-R) were also added respectively.

Non-pathogenic E. coli PCRs set up:

Master-mix was prepared in an Eppendorf tube to contain 35µl Mango Mix, 26 µl of water, and 3µl of non-pathogenic *E. coli* MG 1655 gDNA; 17µl of this master mix was pipetted into each of the three labeled PCR tubes (Ec pTest, Ec pUPEC, and Ec pEc), and then 1.5µl of each 10µM primer (left and right primers, control UPEC-F and control UPEC-R, and control Ec-F and control Ec-R) were also added respectively.

No template control PCRs set up:

"No template" control PCR master mix was prepared in an Eppendorf tube to contain 35μ l Mango Mix and 26μ l water; 17μ l of this master-mix was pipetted into each of the three labeled PCR tubes (NTC pTest, NTC pUPEC, and NTC pEc), and then 1.5μ l of each 10μ M primer (left and right primers, control UPEC-F and control UPEC-R, and control Ec-F and control Ec-R) were also added respectively.

PCR amplification:

The amplification of the virulence gene was done in a PCR machine (Eppendorf Master Cycler). The nine labeled PCR reaction tubes (3 from each UPEC, non-pathogenic *E. coli*, and "No template" control) were placed in the PCR machine and ran under the following conditions; 1 cycle of 95°C for 90 secs, 35 cycles of 95°C for 30 secs, 52°C for 60 secs, 72°C for 90 secs, and 1 cycle of 72°C for 5 min.

Agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR amplicons:

Electrophoresis of the PCR products was done by pipetting 10µl of each of the nine prepared PCR reactions into the corresponding labelled wells of the agarose gel alongside 5µl of 1kb DNA ladder used as a molecular size marker. The agarose gel was placed in an electrophoretic machine and ran for 45 minutes under an electrical current at 120v (16,17). The DNA amplicons were visualized in the gel under ultraviolet transilluminator as bands following ethidium bromide staining (18).

Results:

Fig 1 shows gel electrophoresis picture of the PCR amplicons of *hlyD* primers in UPEC CFT-073 and *E. coli* K-12MG1655 strains. For UPEC genomic PCR, the result is *hlyD* positive as the test result in lane 1 is positive with a size amplicon of \geq 300 base pairs (bp). Also, *E. coli* control (K-12 MG1655) PCR in lane 2 is positive with a big size amplicon of almost more than 700 bp, and UPEC control (CFT073) PCR in lane 3 was very weak with primerdimer of less than 300 bp (weakly positive).

For *E. coli* genomic PCR, the result is *hlyD* negative as the test result in lane 4 appears with no DNA band, and the UPEC control (CFT073) PCR in lane 6 is also negative with no products, only the *E. coli* control (K-12 MG

1655) PCR in lane 5 showed positive DNA band of almost more than 700 bp. For the "No template" PCR, the lanes were clean with no products, indicating that the PCR preparations were good with no contamination.

Genome/gene	Forward sequence/Reverse sequence (F/R)	Length	T _m (°C)	GC%
UPEC (CFT073)	F- 5'-GTGGCAGTATGAGTAATGACCGTTA-3'	25	56	44.0
	R- 5'-ATATCCTTTCTGCAGGGATGCAATA-3'	25	54	40.0
<i>E. coli</i> (K-12 MG1655)	F- 5'-ATGGAAAGTAAAGTAGTTGTTCCGGCACA-3'	29	59	41.4
	R- 5'-GGACGCAGCAGGATCTGTT-3'	19	53	57.9
Haemolysin D (hly D)	F 5'-GGTTCAGCGAGTTCCTGTTG-3'	20	54	55.0
	R 5'-TACCGAGTTTGTTCCAGCCT-3'	20	52	50.0

Table 1: DNA sequences of primers designed for the study

T_m = annealing temperature; GC = Guanine-cytosine content; UPEC = uropathogenic Escherichia coli



Fig 1: Gel electrophoresis of the PCR products observed through ultraviolet transillumination

The first column is a molecular ladder lane, the second column are UPEC genomic amplicons, the third column are *E. coli* genomic amplicons, and the fourth are "No template" amplicons. Lane 1 is UPEC test (*hlyD*) positive amplicon, lane 2 is *E. coli* control amplicon, lane 3 is UPEC weak positive control amplicon (with primer-dimer), lane 4 is *E. coli* test (*hlyD*) negative amplicon, lane 5 is *E. coli* control amplicon, lane 6 is UPEC negative control amplicon, and lanes 7, 8, and 9, are "No template" negative amplicons.

Discussion:

Simple urinary tract infection is a common condition, almost 50% of women globally will have an incidence of at least an episode of UTI in their lifetime. As a frequent health challenge, it can result in reduced productivity, poor ill health, and enormous economic costs each year (4). The haemolysin D virulence factor is of particular importance in UPEC colonization of the urinary tract and induction of major inflammatory pathways such as NF- $\kappa\beta$ through TLR-4 signaling (5). Rapid identification of UPEC in UTI is therefore crucial for patient management and quick epidemiological investigations.

In this study, the designed hlyD primers detected only UPEC and not E. coli genomes, which implies that primers for hlyD are specific only for UPEC. In addition, for a valid result, the UPEC positive control primers should only detect UPEC and not E. coli genomes. In this study, UPEC positive control primers detected only UPEC genomes though with a very weak expected amplicon size of nearly 300 bp, but negative in the case of E. coli with no detectable amplicon product. This validated that the PCR conditions were optimal (primers, UPEC genomic DNA, and deoxynucleotide triphosphates). However, in the case of E. coli control primers, the primers can detect any type of E. coli genomes. Therefore, in this study, the E. coli control primers detected both the UPEC genome (lane 2) and the E. coli genome (lane 5) all with greater than or equal to 700bp amplicon size. There was no amplicon in the template control PCRs in this study, indicating the absence of contamination in both the PCR preparations and reactions (19).

The notable finding of this study is the fact that PCR could differentiate UPEC from non-pathogenic *E. coli* by detecting the specific *hlyD* virulence gene. Vysakh and colleagues (20) reported similar findings in their multiplex PCR assays using *hlyD*, *papC*, and *sfa* genes to target biofilm-forming rapidly growing UPEC (strain BRL-17) in a urine sample of patients with severe UTI.

Conclusion:

Diagnostic PCR technique performed in this study was simple and specific for the detection of *hlyD* in UPEC strain. Accordingly, this approach can serve as alternative to the traditional urine culture for the detection UPEC in UTI. However, there is the need for further investigations of this assay directly on urine samples to confirm this result.

Contributions of authors:

ANH conceptualize the study and performed the laboratory analysis; ANH, AM, and JM perform literature search and wrote the initial draft; ANH, MY, JM, and AM wrote the final draft; AM, JM and MY performed critical revision of the manuscript; and ANH and AM revised the manuscript. All authors agreed to the final manuscript submitted.

Source of funding:

The research was carried out as part of the first author's MSc scholarship from the Petroleum Technology Development Fund (PT DF), Nigeria.

Conflict of interest:

No conflict of interest is declared

References:

- Enderle, J. L., Miller, A. L., and Pyles, R. B. Quantification of bacterial uropathogens in preclinical samples using real-time PCR Assays. Curr Microbiol. 2013; 68: (2): 220-226. doi: 10.1007/s00284-013-0465-8
- Padmavathy, B., Vinoth Kumar, R., Patel, A., et al. rapid and sensitive detection of major uropathogens in a single-pot multiplex PCR Assay. Curr Microbiol. 2012; 65: (1): 44-53. doi: 10.1007/s00284-012-0126-3
- Kudinha, T., Kong, F., Johnson, J. R., et al. Multiplex PCR-based reverse line blot assay for simultaneous detection of 22 virulence genes in uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2012; 78: (4): 1198-1202. doi: 10.1128/AEM.06921-11
- Brumbaugh, A. R., and Mobley, H. L. T. Preventing urinary tract infection: progress toward an effective *Escherichia coli* vaccine. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2012; 11: (6): 663-676. doi: 10.1586/erv.12.36
- Bien, J., Sokolova, O., and Bozko, P. Role of Uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* Virulence Factors in Development of Urinary Tract Infection and Kidney Damage. Int J Nephrol. 2012; 2012: 681473 doi: 10.1155/2012/681473
- Jahandeh, N., Ranjbar, R., Behzadi, P., and Behzadi, E. Uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* virulence genes: invaluable approaches for designing DNA microarray probes. Cent Euro J Urol. 2015; 68: (4): 452-458. doi: 10.5173/ceju.2015.625
- 7. Pitout, J. D. Enterobacteriaceae that produce extended-spectrum β -lactamases and AmpC β -lactamases in the community: the tip of the iceberg? Curr Pharm Des. 2013; 19: (2): 257-263. doi: 10.2174/138161213804070348
- Sarowska, J., Futoma-Koloch, B., Jama-Kmiecik, A., et al. Virulence factors, prevalence and potential transmission of extraintestinal pathogenic *Escherichia coli* isolated from different sources: recent reports. Gut Pathogens. 2019; 11: (1): 1-16. doi: 10.1186/s13099-019-0290-0
- Justice, S. S., and Hunstad, D. A. UPEC haemolysin: more than just for making holes. Cell Host Microbe. 2012; 11: (1): 4-5. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.01.001

- Su, L., Chen, S., Yi, L., et al. Extracellular overexpression of recombinant *Thermobifida fusca* cutinase by alpha-haemolysin secretion system in *E. coli* BL21(DE3). Microb Cell Fact. 2012; 11: 8-8. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-11-8
- Ciesielczuk, H., Betts, J., Phee, L., et al. Comparative virulence of urinary and bloodstream isolates of extra-intestinal pathogenic *Escherichia coli* in a *Galleria mellonella* model. Virulence. 2015; 6: (2): 145-151. doi: 10.4161/21505594.2014.988095
- Matulay, J. T., Mlynarczyk, C. M., and Cooper, K. L. Urinary tract infections in women: pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. Curr Bladder Dysfunct Rep. 2016; 11: (1): 53-60. doi: 10.1007/s11884-016-0351-x
- Xu, R., Deebel, N., Casals, R., et al. A new gold rush: a review of current and developing diagnostic tools for urinary tract infections. Diagnostics. 2021; 11: (3): 479. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics11030479
- Hasandka, A., Singh, A. R., Prabhu, A., et al. Paper and thread as media for the frugal detection of urinary tract infections (UTIs). Anal Bioanal Chem. 2021; 414: 847–865. doi: 10.1007/s00216-021-03671-3
- 15. Jolkkonen, S., Paattiniemi, E. L., Kärpänoja, P., and Sarkkinen, H. Screening of urine samples by flow-

cytometry reduces the need for culture. J Clin Microbiol. 2010; 48: (9): 3117-3121. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00617-10

- Yılmaz, M., Ozic, C., and Gok İ. Principles of nucleic acid separation by agarose gel electrophoresis. Gel Electrophoresis–Principles and Basics. 2012; 4 (4): 33.
- 17 Mohanty, A. K., Yadav, M. L., and Choudhary, S. Gel electrophoresis of proteins and nucleic acids. In Protocols in semen biology (comparing assays). Springer, Singapore. 2017: 233-246
- Phillips, T. 5 Common Dyes for Visualizing and Staining DNA. Science, Tech, Math. 2020 <u>https://www.thoughtco.com/visualizing-dna-</u> 375499. (Date accessed: December 2017)
- Yamamoto, Y. PCR in diagnosis of infection: detection of bacteria in cerebrospinal fluids. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol. 2002; 9: (3): 508-514. doi: 10.1128/CDLI.9.3.508-514.2002
- Vysakh, A., Midhun, S. J., Jayesh, K., et al. Studies on biofilm formation and virulence factors associated with uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* isolated from patient with acute pyelonephritis. Pathophysiology. 2018; 25: (4): 381-387. doi: 10.1016/j.pathophys.2018.07.004

Mukubwa et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 51 - 60

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2228. <u>https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem</u>

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.7

Original Article



Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1



Open Access

Resistance profiles of urinary *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolates to antibiotics commonly prescribed for treatment of urinary tract infections at Monkole Hospital Center, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

^{1,2}Mukubwa, G. K., ^{2,3}Lukusa, F. N., ⁴Kavulikirwa, O. K., ^{5,6}Liesse, J. I., ^{*2,7}Tshilolo, L. M., and ^{*1,8,9}Memvanga, P. B.

¹Laboratory of Pharmaceutics and Phytopharmaceutical Drug Development, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Kinshasa, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

²Laboratory Service, Monkole Hospital Center, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

³Laboratory of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Kinshasa, Kinshasa,

Democratic Republic of the Congo

⁴Department of Veterinary Public Health, Faculty of Veterinary medicine Catholic University of Graben, Butembo, Democratic Republic of the Congo

⁵Laboratory of Experimental and Pharmaceutical Microbiology, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Kinshasa, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

⁶Centre Universitaire de Référence de Surveillance de la Résistance aux Antimicrobiens, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Kinshasa, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

⁷Health Training and Support Center, CEFA-Monkole, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

⁸Department of Pharmaceutics and Pharmaceutical Microbiology, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Catholic University of Graben, Butembo, Democratic Republic of the Congo

⁹Pôle interuniversitaire d'Innovation pour la mise en place d'une approche verte de lutte contre la Résistance aux Antimicrobiens (PI-RAM), University of Kinshasa, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo *Correspondence to: patrick.memvanga@unikin.ac.cd and leon.tshilolo2012@gmail.com

Abstract:

Background: The occurrence of urinary tract infection (UTI) caused by multi-drug resistant bacteria is increasing worldwide and has become a major public health concern that requires global attention. To promote better treatment outcome of UTI and raise awareness of antibiotic resistance in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), we investigated the antimicrobial resistance profile of bacterial pathogens frequently isolated from urine samples of inpatients and outpatients with symptoms of UTI at the Monkole Hospital Center (MHC), Kinshasa from June 2017 to May 2018.

Methodology: This was a retrospective review of results of uro-cultures of urine samples of both inpatients and outpatients who had clinical symptoms of UTI, over a period of one year at the MHC, Kinshasa, DRC. During this period, aerobic uro-cultures of urine were done on MacConkey agar (MAC) or Cystine-Lactose-Electrolyte-Deficient (CLED) agar media at 37°C incubation for 24 hours. Identification of bacterial isolates on the culture media and antimicrobial susceptibility to sixteen selected antibiotics were done using the integral system enterobacteria and the Vitek® 2 automated system according to the manufacturer's instructions. The R-studio software was used for statistical analysis.

Results: Of the 2765 uro-cultures performed during the period of study, 809 (29.3%) were positive for bacteria with *Escherichia coli* being the most frequently isolated bacteria pathogens. There was no significant difference (p>0.05) in the resistance rates of both *E. coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* to most of the antibiotics such as amoxicillin-clavulanic acid, piperacillin-tazobactam, amikacin, levofloxacin, norfloxacin, cefuroxime, cefotaxime, cefixime and cephalexin but resistance rates of *E. coli* compared to *K. pneumoniae* was significantly higher to cotrimoxazole (OR=2.06, p=0.0016), ofloxacin (OR=3.43, p=0.0019), ciprofloxacin (OR=1.624, p=0.044) and significantly lower to imipenem (OR=0.037, p=0.0046), nitrofurantoin (OR=0.292, p=0.0004) and fosfomycin (OR=0.311, p=0.0003). Both pathogens showed resistance rates of more than 50.0% to doxycycline, cefuroxime, cefixime and cephalexin but resistance rates of *K. pneumoniae* to ofloxacin and cotrimoxazole was less than 50.0%. The isolates were least resistant to imipenem, piperacillin-tazobactam and amikacin, with less than 13.0% resistance rate.

Conclusion: The findings of this study showed that *E. coli* is the most isolated bacterial uro-pathogen amongst patients with UTI at MHC Kinshasa, DRC, but both *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* were resistant to most commonly prescribed antibiotics used for treatment of UTI. Amikacin, piperacillin-tazobactam and imipenem demonstrated high *invitro* activity and should be prioritized for antimicrobial stewardship to prevent or delay emergence of resistance to them. To guarantee optimal treatment of UTI, regular pathogen surveillance and local antibiogram

reporting are required. Further studies are needed in DRC to assess the burden and factors driving antimicrobial resistance nationwide.

Keywords: urinary tract infection, bacteria; susceptibility; resistance; profile

Received Oct 6, 2022; Revised Dec 19, 2022; Accepted Dec 22, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Profils de résistance des isolats urinaires d'*Escherichia coli* et de *Klebsiella pneumoniae* aux antibiotiques couramment prescrits pour le traitement des infections des voies urinaires au Centre Hospitalier Monkole, Kinshasa, République Démocratique du Congo

^{1,2}Mukubwa, G. K., ^{2,3}Lukusa, F. N., ⁴Kavulikirwa, O. K., ^{5,6}Liesse, J. I., *^{2,7}Tshilolo, L. M., et *^{1,8,9}Memvanga, P. B.

¹Laboratoire de Développement de Pharmaceutique et de Médicaments Phytopharmaceutiques, Faculté des Sciences Pharmaceutiques, Université de Kinshasa, Kinshasa, République Démocratique du Congo ²Service de Laboratoire, Centre Hospitalier Monkole, Kinshasa, République Démocratique du Congo ³Laboratoire de Microbiologie, Faculté de Médecine, Université de Kinshasa, Kinshasa,

République Démocratique du Congo

⁴Département de Santé Publique Vétérinaire, Faculté de Médecine Vétérinaire Université Catholique du Graben, Butembo, République Démocratique du Congo

⁵Laboratoire de Microbiologie Expérimentale et Pharmaceutique, Faculté des Sciences Pharmaceutiques, Université de Kinshasa, Kinshasa, République Démocratique du Congo

⁶Centre Universitaire de Référence de Surveillance de la Résistance aux Antimicrobiens, Faculté des Sciences Pharmaceutiques, Université de Kinshasa, Kinshasa, République Démocratique du Congo

⁷Centre de Formation et d'Appui à la Santé, CEFA-Monkole, Kinshasa, République Démocratique du Congo ⁸Département de Pharmacie et de Microbiologie Pharmaceutique, Faculté des Sciences Pharmaceutiques,

Université Catholique du Graben, Butembo, République Démocratique du Congo ⁹Pôle interuniversitaire d'Innovation pour la mise en place d'une approche verte de lutte contre la Résistance

aux Antimicrobiens (PI-RAM), Université de Kinshasa, Kinshasa, République Démocratique du Congo *Correspondance à: <u>patrick.memvanga@unikin.ac.cd</u> et <u>leon.tshilolo2012@gmail.com</u>

Résumé:

Contexte: La survenue d'infections des voies urinaires (IVU) causées par des bactéries multirésistantes est en augmentation dans le monde et est devenue un problème majeur de santé publique qui nécessite une attention mondiale. Pour promouvoir de meilleurs résultats de traitement des infections urinaires et sensibiliser à la résistance aux antibiotiques en République démocratique du Congo (RDC), nous avons étudié le profil de résistance aux antimicrobiens des agents pathogènes bactériens fréquemment isolés à partir d'échantillons d'urine de patients hospitalisés et ambulatoires présentant des symptômes d'infection urinaire à l'hôpital de Monkole. (MHC), Kinshasa de juin 2017 à mai 2018.

Méthodologie: Il s'agissait d'une revue rétrospective des résultats d'urocultures d'échantillons d'urine de patients hospitalisés et ambulatoires qui présentaient des symptômes cliniques d'IU, sur une période d'un an au MHC, Kinshasa, RDC. Au cours de cette période, des urocultures aérobies d'urine ont été réalisées sur de la gélose MacConkey (MAC) ou de la gélose Cystine-Lactose-Electrolyte-Deficient (CLED) à 37°C d'incubation pendant 24 heures. L'identification des isolats bactériens sur les milieux de culture et la sensibilité antimicrobienne à seize antibiotiques sélectionnés ont été effectuées à l'aide du système intégral d'entérobactéries et du système automatisé Vitek® 2 conformément aux instructions du fabricant. Le logiciel R-studio a été utilisé pour l'analyse statistique.

Résultats: Sur les 2765 urocultures réalisées au cours de la période d'étude, 809 (29,3%) étaient positives pour les bactéries, Escherichia coli étant la bactérie pathogène la plus fréquemment isolée. Il n'y avait pas de différence significative (p>0,05) dans les taux de résistance d'E. coli et de Klebsiella pneumoniae à la plupart des antibiotiques tels que l'amoxicilline-acide clavulanique, la pipéracilline-tazobactam, l'amikacine, la lévofloxacine, la norfloxacine, la céfuroxime, la céfotaxime, la céfixime et céphalexine, mais les taux de résistance d'E. coli par rapport à K. pneumoniae étaient significativement plus élevés pour le cotrimoxazole (OR=2,06, p=0,0016), l'ofloxacine (OR=3,43, p=0,0019), la ciprofloxacine (OR=1,624, p=0,044) et significativement inférieur à l'imipénem (OR=0,037, p=0,0046), à la nitrofurantoïne (OR=0,292, p=0,0004) et à la fosfomycine (OR=0,311, p=0,0003). Les deux agents pathogènes ont montré des taux de résistance de plus de 50,0% à la doxycycline, au céfuroxime, au céfixime et à la céphalexine, mais les taux de résistance de K. pneumoniae à l'ofloxacine et au cotrimoxazole étaient inférieurs à 50,0%. Les isolats étaient les moins résistants à l'imipénème, à la pipéracilline-tazobactam et à l'amikacine, avec un taux de résistance inférieur à 13,0%. Conclusion: Les résultats de cette étude ont montré qu'E. coli est l'uropathogène bactérien le plus isolé parmi les patients atteints d'infection urinaire au CMH de Kinshasa, en RDC, mais E. coli et K. pneumoniae étaient résistants aux antibiotiques les plus couramment prescrits utilisés pour le traitement des UTI. L'amikacine, la pipéracilline-tazobactam et l'imipénem ont démontré une activité in vitro élevée et devraient être prioritaires pour la gestion des antimicrobiens afin de prévenir ou de retarder l'émergence d'une résistance à ces derniers.

Pour garantir un traitement optimal des infections urinaires, une surveillance régulière des agents pathogènes et des rapports d'antibiogrammes locaux sont nécessaires. D'autres études sont nécessaires en RDC pour évaluer le fardeau et les facteurs à l'origine de la résistance aux antimicrobiens à l'échelle nationale.

Mots clés: infection urinaire; bactérie; susceptibilité; résistance; le profil

Introduction:

Urinary tract infections (UTIs) are one of the most common infectious diseases affecting approximately 150-250 million people worldwide every year (1). UTI refer to any type of urothelial inflammatory response that results from periurethral infection by one or several uropathogens usually residing in the gut (2). The periurethral infection can become invasive upon colonization of the urethra and pathogen migration to the bladder. The uropathogenic bacteria that invade the bladder can subsequently ascend to the kidneys and spread to the bloodstream to cause bacteraemia. Certain uropathogens such as Escherichia coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa can also form biofilms leading to recurrent UTIs. Other serious complications include pyelonephritis with sepsis that can lead to renal damage and death (3).

Urinary tract infection profoundly affects the quality of life of affected individuals, who are predominantly females of all ages, infant boys, older men, and people with diabetes mellitus (3). It is estimated that 50% of females experience at least one UTI in their lifetime due to their short urethra that allows bacteria to easily reach the bladder from the anal region to cause ascending infection. This also applies to female children whose anus are usually wiped towards the genital area by most parents during body hygiene, which increase the risk of UTI in young girls (1). The urinary retention caused by uterine atony during pregnancy and at menopause may also contribute to bacterial proliferation in the urine (4). UTI result in considerable public health burdens, healthcare cost and societal costs such as time missed from work (3,5).

Antibiotics are currently the most recommended therapeutics for patients with UTI (5). These antimicrobials mostly belong to the classes of aminoglycoside, carbapenem, cephalosporin, penicillin and quinolone (6-8). However, antibiotic treatment of UTI is now challenged by the emergence and spread of multi-drug resistant (MDR) pathogens due to worldwide misuse of antibiotics (6-8). Limited access to quality, safe, efficacious, and affordable medical products also contribute to the emergence of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC).

The mechanisms of resistance to antibiotics include inactivation of drug by microbial enzymes, enhanced drug efflux, limited uptake of drug, and alterations of the drug target (9). The presence of acquired plasmids encoding extended-spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs) in some uropathogens such as *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* may also explain the rapid transmission of AMR pathogens in humans (3,10). Additionally, the emergence of class C β -lactamases (AmpC enzymes) and mobile-colistin-resistance (*mcr*) gene in certain bacterial strains is also associated with spread of multi-drug resistance (3,11).

These situations make the provision of appropriate antimicrobial therapies more challenging and the treatment of UTI more perplexing. This underlines the need for efficient strategies to promote better management of UTI, rational use of antibiotics and prevention of the emergence of MDR bacteria in our communities. Among these strategies, the determination of antibiotic sensitivity and resistance profiles of bacterial uropathogens is an affordable and easy way to constantly update the healthcare professionals about the status of antimicrobial susceptibility of urinary pathogens. The aim of this study therefore is to identify the most frequently encountered bacteria pathogens in urine samples of patients with clinical diagnosis of UTI at the Monkole Hospital Center, Kinshasa, DRC. In line with the World Health Organization (WHO) Global Action Plan (GAP) on AMR, the study also aimed to determine the resistance profile of these uropathogens to commonly used antibiotics as evidence for future guidance in UTI care in DRC.

Materials and method:

Study setting and population:

This study was conducted from June 1 2017 to May 31 2018 at the Monkole Hospital Center (MHC), a teaching hospital located in Mont-Ngafula, a township in Kinshasa Province in the western DRC. This healthcare facility is one of the health reference centers in Kinshasa, a city of more than 12 million inhabitants. The MHC provides medical care to approximately 100,000 people for both inpatient and outpatient annually. This study population consisted of both inpatients and outpatients with clinical suspicion of UTI.

Study design:

This study was a retrospective observational review of uro-cultures of patients with clinical symptoms and signs suggestive of UTI at MHC from June 2017 to May 2018. Data were retrieved from the hospital registers on all patients with UTI irrespective of gender and age within the study period.

Ethical consideration:

The study was approved by the Medical and Directory Board of Monkole Health Center, Kinshasa, DRC. Data were carefully handled to avoid any link with the patient's identity to safeguard anonymity.

Specimen culture and bacteria identification:

During the period of study reviewed, urinary samples were aseptically collected in disposable sterile containers from both inpatients and outpatients including voided and catheter urine specimens. All the specimens were cultured within 30 minutes of collection in the biomedical laboratory of MHC on either MacConkey agar (MAC) or Cystine-Lactose-Electrolyte-Deficient (CLED) agar media (Becton Dickinson, Heidelberg, Germany). Urine samples were inoculated with calibrated platinum loop (0.01 ml) on the culture plates, and incubated aerobically at 37°C for 24 hours. Urine cultures with colonies count of $\geq 10^5$ CFU/ml were considered indicative of UTI and were subjected to further analysis for bacterial pathogen identification.

For bacterial identification, colonies growing on culture plates were identified to species level using the integral system enterobacteria (Liofilchem, Roseto DA, Italy) and Vitek[®] 2 automated system (BioMérieux, Craponne, France) in line with manufacturer's instructions.

Antibiotic susceptibility test:

The antimicrobial susceptibility test was performed on each isolate using the integral system enterobacteria (Liofilchem, Roseto DA, Italy) and Vitek[®] 2 automated system

(BioMérieux, Craponne, France) in line with the manufacturer's instructions. Sixteen antibiotics were used; imipenem, piperacillin-tazo bactam, amikacin, nitrofurantoin, fosfomycin, levofloxacin, amoxicillin-clavulanic acid, ciprofloxacin, cefotaxime, norfloxacin, ofloxacin, doxycycline, cotrimoxazole, cefuroxime, cefixime and cephalexin.

Statistical analysis:

Statistical analysis of data was done using R studio. Data visualization was done with boxplot, interaction plot and ggline. Levene's test was used to assess homogeneity of variance and Shapiro-Wilk test to assess how close the data fit to a normal distribution. Two-way analysis of variance was used to test for significance of more than two means of continuous variables, and Pearson's Chi-squared test was used to compare the frequency of *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* and their antimicrobial resistance profiles in the analyzed samples. The significance level was p<0.05.

Results:

Results of data assessment:

The data assessment for linearity using Shapiro-Wilk test showed normally distributed population (p>0.05), and this was confirmed by the trend observed in the normal probability plot (Fig 1), in which almost all observations lie approximately on the straight line. The Levene's test for equality of variance of all observations confirmed that the variance is equal (p>0.05), hence the assumption check for the two-way ANOVA was met and the two-way ANOVA result is summarized in Table 1.



Fig 1: Normal probability plot

Table 1: Two-way analysis of variance

	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	p value
Antibiotic	1	13,970	13,970	188.633	5.79 e ⁻¹⁴
Pathogen	1	1	1	0.017	0.896
Antibiotic: Pathogen	1	45	45	0.602	0.444
Residuals	28	2,074	74		

Frequency of bacterial pathogens in UTI:

During the 12-month study period, 2765 uro-cultures were reviewed and 809 (29.3%) were positive for significant bacterial pathogens with *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* the most prevalent (Table 2 and Fig 2). *Escherichia coli* was the single most frequently isolated bacterial pathogen (57.2%, n=463) followed by *K. pneumoniae* (14.8%, n=120) and other uropathogens (28.0%, n=226).

Of the total 809 isolates, 806 (99.6%) are Gram-negative bacteria belonging to 5

orders, 10 families, 18 genera and 35 species of bacteria (8 of which could not be identified to the exact species level) while 3 (0.4%) are Gram-positive belonging to 2 orders, 2 families, 2 genera and 3 species of bacteria (Table 2). The most frequently isolated species other than *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* are *Klebsiella oxytoca, Enterobacter cloacae, Citrobacter freundii, Serratia fonticola, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Proteus mirabilis* and others, constituting 28% (n=226) of the uropathogens (Table 2).

Table 2: Frequency distribution of order, family, genera and species of bacterial uropathogens isolated from patients with urinary tract infection in Monkole Hospital Center, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

Order	Family	Genus	Species	Frequency
Gram negative	-		·	
Enterobacterales	Enterobacteriaceae	Escherichia	Escherichia coli	463 (57.2)
		Klebsiella	Klebsiella pneumoniae	120 (14.8)
			Klebsiella oxytoca	24 (3.0)
		Enterobacter	Enterobacter cloacae	43 (5.3)
			Enterobacter aerogenes	12 (1.5)
			Enterobacter hafnia	11 (1.4)
		Citrobacter	Citrobacter spp	39 (4.8)
			Citrobacter freundii	4 (0.5)
			Citrobacter koseri	1 (0.1)
		Arizona	Arizona spp	30 (3.7)
		Salmonella	Salmonella spp	1 (0.1)
		Raoultella	Raoultnella ornithinolytica	3 (0.4)
	Yersinaceae	Serratia	Serratia fonticola	4 (0.5)
			Serratia liquefaciens	4 (0.5)
			Serratia spp	9 (1.1)
			Serratia odorifera	1 (0.1)
			Serratia rubidaea	1 (0.1)
	Morganellaceae	Morganella	Morganella morganii	1(0.1)
	5	Proteus	Proteus mirabilis	6 (0.7)
			Proteus vulgaris	2 (0.3)
		Providencia	Providencia rettgeri	2 (0.2)
			Providencia stuartii	1 (0.1)
	Hafniaceae	Edwardsiella	<i>Edwardsiella</i> spp	2 (0.3)
	Erwiniaceae	Pantoea	Pantoea spp	1(0.1)
Pseudomonadales	Pseudomonadaceae	Pseudomonas	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	5 (0.6)
			Pseudomonas spp	3 (0.4)
			Pseudomonas oryzihabitans	2 (0.2)
			Pseudomonas paucimobilis	2 (0.2)
			Pseudomonas luteola	1 (0.1)
			Pseudomonas putida	1 (0.1)
	Moraxellaceae	Acinetobacter	Acinetobacter baumannii	3 (0.4)
			Acinetobacter Iwoffii	1 (0.1)
Sphingomonadales	Sphinomonadaceae	Sphingomonas	Sphingomonas paucimobilis	2 (0.3)
Aeromonadales	Aeromonadaceae	Aeromonas	Aeromonas spp	1 (0.1)
Neisseriales	Neisseriaceae	Chromobacterium	Chromobacterium violaceum	1 (0.1)
Gram positive				
Bacillales	Staphylococcaceae	Staphylococcus	Staphylococcus cohnii	1 (0.1)
			Staphylococcus saprophyticus	1 (0.1)
Actinomycetales	Micrococcaceae	Kocuria	Kocuria kristinae	1 (0.1)
Total				809 (100)



Fig 2: Frequency of isolation of bacterial pathogens from urine of patients with suspected urinary tract infection in Monkole Health Center, Kinshasa, DRC.

Resistance profiles of *E. coli* and *K. pneumo-niae* isolates:

The resistance profile showed that both pathogens exhibited highest resistance to cephalexin while *E. coli* exhibited least resistance to imipenem (0%) and *K. pneumoniae* to piperacillin-tazobactam (5.1%) as shown Fig 3a, Fig 3b, Fig 4 and Table 3. Both *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* had similar trend in resistance rates (p>0.05) to most of the antibiotics; piperacillin-tazobactam, amikacin, levofloxacin, norfloxacin, amoxicillin-clavulanic acid, cefotaxime, cefuroxime, cefixime, cephalexin and doxycycline (Fig 3b, Table 3).

By bivariate analysis however, the resistance rates of *E. coli* compared to *K. pneumoniae* were significantly higher to cotrimoxazole (OR=2.060, p=0.002), ofloxacin (OR=3.427, p=0.0019), ciprofloxacin (OR=1.624, p=0.0442), and significantly lower to imipenem (OR=0.03704, p=0.0049), nitrofurantoin (OR=0.2930, p=0.0004) and fosfomycin (OR=0.3112, p=0.0003) (Table 3).



Fig 3. Interaction plot (a) and line plot (b) for resistance rate by antibiotic and pathogen. Antibiotics are codified from 1 to 16 as shown in Table 2.



Fig 4: Boxplot distribution of resistance rate of E. coli and K. pneumoniae to antibiotics

Table 3: Comparative frequency of resistance of urinary *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolates to sixteen selected antibiotics routinely used in Monkole Hospital Center, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

S/N	Antibiotic name	Percentage (number)	Percentage (number)	x ²	COR	P value
		Resistance to Escherichia coli	Resistance to Klebsiella pneumoniae		(95% CI)	
1	Imipenem	0 (0/172)	6.6 (4/61)	7.918	0.03704	0.0049*
					(0.00196-0699)	
2	Piperacillin-Tazobactam	6.5 (26/402)	5.1 (5/99)	0.849	0.787	0.7707
					(0.345-1.795)	
3	Amikacin	13 (55/422)	8.1 (8/99)	1.414	1.705	0.2345
					(0.7842-3.706	
4	Nitrofurantoin	13.6 (25/184)	34.9 (22/63)	12.51	0.2930	0.0004*
					(0.1502-0.5715	
5	Fosfomycin	17.6 (49/278)	40.7 (22/54)	13.02	0.3112	0.0003*
					(0.1667-0.5812)	
6	Levofloxacin	24.2 (79/327)	18.7 (14/75)	0.749	1.389	0.3868
					(0.7364-2.616)	
7	Amoxicillin-Clavulanic acid	38.8 (59/152)	27.5 (14/51)	1.677	1.677	0.1954
					(0.8357-3.364)	
8	Ciprofloxacin	38.4 (168/437)	27.8 (30/108)	3.811	1.624	0.0442*
					(1.022-2.580)	
9	Cefotaxime	42.7 (194/454)	46.4 (52/112)	0.361	0.8609	0.5482
					(0.5683-1.304)	
10	Norfloxacin	38.6 (17/44)	60 (12/20)	1.744	0.4198	0.1867
					(0.1424-1.238)	
11	Ofloxacin	58.6 (78/133)	29.3 (12/41)	9.688	3.427	0.0019*
					(1.609-7.301)	
12	Doxycycline	60.5 (23/38)	50 (6/12)	0.095	1.533	0.7576
					(0.4156-5.658)	
13	Cotrimoxazole	63.3 (2/4/433)	45.5 (46/101)	10.00	2.060	0.0016*
					(0.1330-3.192)	
14	Cefuroxime	60.4 (32/53)	70.6 (12/17)	0.221	0.6349	0.6385
					(0.1951-2.066)	
15	Cefixime	63 (34/54)	68.4 (13/19)	0.022	0.7846	0.881/
10	Combalantin	71.0 (20 (20)	77 0 (14(10)	0 225	(0.25/5-2.391)	0.0702
16	Cephalexin	/1.8 (28/39)	//.8 (14/18)	0.235	0./2/3	0.8782
					(0.1958-2./01)	

Numbers in brackets indicate the proportion of resistant isolates to total number of isolates tested per antibiotic; x^2 =Chi square, COR=Crude Odd Ratio; CI=Confidence Interval; S/N = serial number of antibiotics; * = statistically significant at p<0.05

Discussion:

This study reports *E. coli* prevalence of 57.3% among bacterial pathogens isolated from patients with clinical UTI during the one-year period of study (June 2017 and May 2018) at Monkole Health Center in Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo. *Escherichia coli* is a commensal bacterium of the human intestinal microbiota, which is highly frequent in faecal samples, as reported recently in a study conducted among Congolese students (12). Due to the anatomic proximity of the anal zone to the genito-urinary area in humans, poor hygiene may justify the high incidence of *E. coli* in UTI as this bacterium can easily colonize the urinary tract and predispose to UTI (13).

The prevalence of *E. coli* in our study is comparable to the 58.5% reported in North Kivu province in the eastern part of DRC, and to the prevalence reported in previous studies from different countries worldwide (10, 14-19). However, a few studies have repor-

ted different rates where E. coli accounted for less than 20% of UTI cases (20,21). These differences suggest the existence of remarkable variability in the prevalence of uropathogens from one place to another. On the other hand, the prevalence of 14.8% reported for *K. pneumoniae* is within the range of 13-18% reported from studies conducted in the province of Kivu, DRC as well as from other countries such as Algeria, Bangladesh, Equatorial Guinea and Morocco (14,16,22,23), but higher than 2-9% rate reported from studies conducted in Honduras, Nigeria, China and Oman (10,15,17,24,25). Also, the prevalence of rare uropathogens in our study (~28%) agrees with the findings of a study conducted in Central Europe between 2011 and 2019 (14).

The urinary E. coli and K. pneumoniae isolates in our study showed high resistance to most of the first and second line oral and parenteral antibiotics such as cotrimoxazole, ofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, levofloxacin, amoxicillin-clavulanate and cefuroxime commonly used in Kinshasa, confirming the existence and challenges of AMR in bacterial uropathogens in DRC. Levofloxacin and nitrofurantoin remain the drug of choice among oral antibiotics, and have been advocated as first-line treatment of UTI in Kinshasa in line with international guidelines, yet the average resistance rate of E. coli and K. pneumoniae to both antibiotics in our study is over 20%, which is a warning sign of emerging resistance to them (26,27). Although norfloxacin and ofloxacin are recognized in several countries as effective fluoroquinolones against bacterial uropathogens, resistance rates in the present study varies from 30 to 60% for both E. coli and K. pneumoniae, which indicates that these antibiotics may not be effective in treatment of UTI in DRC.

The high resistance profile to antibiotics observed in this study can be accounted for by the overuse of these antibiotics leading to long-term exposure of both E. coli and K. pneumoniae to these antibiotics in Kinshasa. Indeed, most healthcare practitioners often prescribe one of these drugs for treatment of UTI, and sometimes without laboratory evidence of antibiotic susceptibility testing on these isolates. In addition to this, self-medication is a driving factor as this practice is associated with inappropriate use of antibiotics. Therefore, there is a need to reinforce control measures for antibiotic use and protect available antimicrobials from misuse in order prevent or delay emergence of resistance to them. This is the case for antibiotics such as imipenem, piperacillin-tazobactam and amikacin which can be proposed as second-line antibiotics for treatment of UTIs in Kinshasa, in line with the World Health Organization AWaRe categorization of antimicrobials (28). The observed low resistance rate of both pathogens to these antibiotics may be explained by the fact that they are not commonly prescribed in Kinshasa owing to their limited availability in open market.

Our findings should provide reliable information to assist practitioners who usually treat UTI empirically. Nevertheless, it should be noted that empirical antibiotic therapy based on epidemiological data does not always consider variations in susceptibility that may occur temporally and locally (or even regionally). This situation may lead to the emergence of MDR bacteria. Consequently, it will be important to emphasize antimicrobial therapy based on susceptibility patterns of pathogens. In this way, it will be possible to streamline the use of antibiotics and guarantee that they are as effective as possible in treatment of UTIs by using only molecules that demonstrate good results in susceptibility tests, thereby reducing the over exposure of bacteria to other antibiotics. Our findings should also set the stage for the establishment of a public health database for antimicrobial resistance surveillance as well as for the implementation of local policies for the rational use of antibiotics in DRC. Indeed, it is of great importance for hospitals and institutional care to know and update their local resistance profiles to antibiotics since empirical antibiotic therapy is based on epidemiological data. This strategy may reduce the medical costs as well as the morbidity and mortality rates caused by UTI. On the other hand, epidemiological databases may serve as a referential tool ensuring effective implementation of the policy adopted for UTIs management. They also make possible the identification of new points of intervention for controlling antimicrobial resistance.

In line with the above and considering the temporal and geographic variations in antimicrobial susceptibility, further investigations are needed nationwide to tackle the emergence and spread of antimicrobial resistance in DRC. In this context, public and professional education coupled with general awareness programs on the importance of good personal hygiene and environmental sanitation are of interest. Moreover, the promotion and evaluation of medical and veterinary practice guidelines constitute critical issues to tackle antimicrobial resistance. Excessive use of antibiotics in animal health and production has been identified among the driving forces of antimicrobial resistance (29,30). Therefore, in the context of "One Health", good antimicrobial stewardship at the hospital, in the animal sector as well as at the community level is crucial to slow down the emergence of antibiotic resistance.

In addition, curbing the spread of antibioticresistant pathogens in Kinshasa will also entail dealing with the promotion of affordable healthcare as well as fighting against substandard and counterfeit drugs.

We acknowledged some limitations of this study. For instance, the antimicrobial susceptibility testing of the uropathogens was simultaneously performed on both inpatients and outpatients, which makes it impossible to determine the susceptibility rates of bacteria to antibiotics in each group of patients. Moreover, the lack of distinction between community and hospital-acquired infections did not allow further investigations of the risk factors that may influence drug management and preventive measures. Being a retrospective review, there is the limitation of data accessibility and completeness, which did not allow us to include data beyond 2018 in the analysis. Therefore, future studies should focus on addressing these limitations and conducting cross-sectional or prospective cohort studies that can generate complete data.

Conclusion:

Our study showed that *E. coli* is the most frequent bacterial uropathogen isolated from patients with clinically suspected UTI at MHC, Kinshasa, DRC. We also observed that both *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* exhibited high resistance rates to the first and second-line antibiotics such as cotrimoxazole, levo-floxacin, ofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, cefuroxime and cefotaxime used in DRC. Amikacin, pip-eracillin-tazobactam and imipenem were the most effective antibiotics with the pathogen demonstrating least resistance to them .

To guarantee optimal therapy of UTI, regular surveillance of AMR pathogens and generation of periodic antibiogram are required to guide empirical therapy. Further studies are needed to determine the national prevalence of nosocomial and communityacquired UTI and the antimicrobial resistance profiles of uropathogens. There is a dire need to develop the DRC national action plan to tackle AMR, which should be implemented following the "One Health' approach.

Acknowledgements:

Authors are grateful to the NGO Förderverein Uni Kinshasa e.V.-BEBUC/Else-Kroener-Fresenius Stiftung & Holger-Poehlmann foundation for their advice and support. The authors appreciate the Directing Board of the Monkole Hospital Center for this research collaboration.

Contributions of authors:

GKM was involved in study conceptualization, investigation, methodology, data collection, data analysis, resource provision, validation, visualization, writing the first manuscript draft, review and editing; FNL was involved in formal analysis, investigation, methodology, resource provision, validation, review and editing; OKK was involved in investigation, methodology, review and editing; JMIL was involved in investigation, methodology, review and editing; LMT was involved study conceptualization, formal analysis, methodology, project administration, validation, review and editing; PBM was involved in study conceptualization, formal analysis, resource provision, supervision, validation, review and editing, and fund acquisition.

Source of funding:

This study was partially supported by the Institut de la Francophonie pour le Développement Durable (IFDD/Canada)/Projet de Déploiement des Technologies et Innovations Environnementales (PDTIE) funded by the Organisation internationale de la Francophonie (OIF), the Organisation of African, Caribbean and Pacific States (OACPS) and the European Union (EU) (FED/220/421-370).

Conflict of interest:

Authors declare no conflict of interest

References:

- 1. Tullus, K., and Shaikh, N. Urinary Tract Infections in Children. Lancet. 2020; 395: 1659 – 1668.
- Lacerda Mariano, L., and Ingersoll, M. A. The Immune Response to Infection in the Bladder. Nat Rev Urol. 2020; 17: 439-458
- Flores-Mireles, A. L., Walker, J. N., Caparon, M., and Hultgren, S. J. Urinary Tract Infections: Epidemiology, Mechanisms of Infection and Treatment Options. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2015; 13: 269-284
- Klein, R. D., and Hultgren, S. J. Urinary Tract Infections: Microbial Pathogenesis, Host-Pathogen Interactions and New Treatment Strategies Nat Rev Microbiol. 2020; 18: 211-216
- Foxman, B. Epidemiology of Urinary Tract Infections: Incidence, Morbidity and Economic Costs. Disease-a-Month. 2003: 49: 53-70
- Gupta, K., Scholes, D., and Stamm, W. E. Increasing Prevalence of Antimicrobial Resistance among Uropathogens Causing Acute Uncomplicated Cystitis in Women. JAMA. 1999; 281: 736-738. doi:10.1001/jama.281.8.736.
- Garoy, E. Y., Gebreab, Y. B., Achila, O. O., et al. Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA): Prevalence and Antimicrobial Sensitivity Pattern among Patients - A Multicenter Study in

Asmara, Eritrea. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2019; 2019: 8321834. doi:10.1155/2019/8321834.

- Mattoo, T. K., and Asmar, B. I. Annotations on Emerging Concerns about Antibiotic-Resistant Urinary Tract Infection. Paediatr. 2020; 145 (2): e20193512.
- Christaki, E., Marcou, M., and Tofarides, A. Antimicrobial Resistance in Bacteria: Mechanism Evolution and Persistence. J Mol Evol. 2020; 88:
- Irenge, L. M., Kabego, L., Vandenberg, O., Chirimwami, R. B., and Gala, J. L. Antimicrobial Resistance in Urinary Isolates from Inpatients and Outpatients at a Tertiary Care Hospital in South-Kivu Province (Democratic Republic of the Congo). BMC Res Notes. 2014; 7: 374. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-7-374.
- Hemeg, H. A. Molecular Characterization of Antibiotic Resistant *Escherichia coli* Isolates Recovered from Food Samples and Outpatient Clinics, KSA. Saudi J Biol Sci. 2018; 25: 928-931. doi:10.1016/j.sjbs.2018.01.016.
- Parveen, R., Saha, S., Shamshuzzaman, S., Rashid, A., Chowdhury, A., and Muazzam, N. Detection of Uropathogens by Using Chromogenic Media (Hicrome UTI Agar), CLED Agar and Other Conventional Media. Faridpur Medical College Journal. 1970; 6: 46-50 doi:10.3329/fmcj.v6i1.7411.
- Kudinha, T. The Pathogenesis of *Escherichia coli* Urinary Tract Infection. In *Escherichia coli* -Recent Advances on Physiology, Pathogenesis and Biotechnological Applications. InTech. 2017. doi:105772/intechopen.69030
 Akter, T., Mia, Z., and Shahriar, M. Antibiotic
- Akter, T., Mia, Z., and Shahriar, M. Antibiotic Sensitivity of Pathogens Causing Urinary Tract Infection. Bangladesh Pharm J. 2013: 16: 53-58. doi:10.3329/bpj.v16i1.14491.
- Zúniga-Moya, J. C., Bejarano-Cáceres, S., Valenzuela-Cervantes, H., et al. Antibiotic Sensitivity Profile of Bacteria in Urinary Tract Infections. Acta Médica Costarricense. 2016; 58 (4): 146-154
- el Bouamri, M. C., Arsalane, L., el Kamouni, Y., and Zouhair, S. Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Urinary *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and the Emergence of Carbapenem-Resistant Strains: A Retro spective Study from a University Hospital in Morocco, North Africa. Afr J Urol. 2015; 21: doi:10.1016/j.afju.2014.10.004.
- Sule, H. The Prevalence of Klebsiella Species Causing Urinary Tract Infections in Murtala Muhammad Specialist Hospital, Kano, Nigeria. Am J Biomed Life Sci. 2016; 4: 11-15 doi:10.11648/j.ajbls.20160402.11.
- Cunha, M. A., Assunção, G. L. M., Medeiros, I. M., and Freitas, M. R. Antibiotic Resistance Patterns of Urinary Tract Infections in a Northeastern Brazilian Capital. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo. 2016; 58: 2 doi:10.1590/51678-9946201658002.
- Folliero, V., Caputo, P., Rocca Della, M. T., et al. Prevalence and Antimicrobial Susceptibility Patterns of Bacterial Pathogens in Urinary Tract Infections in University Hospital of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli" between 2017 and 2018.

Antibiotics. 2020; 9: 5 doi:10.3390/antibiotics9050215.

- Agbawo, O., and Ifeanacho Emeka, J. The Prevalence of UTI Pathogens in Urine Specimen Obtained from a Hospital in Rivers State Nigeria. J Microbiol Res (Rosemead, Calif). 2015: 5: 143-148.
- Odongo, I., Ssemambo, R., and Kungu, J. M. Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* and Its Antimicrobial Susceptibility Profiles among Patients with UTI at Mulago Hospital, Kampala, Uganda. Interdiscipl Perspect Infect Dis. 2020; 2020: doi:10.1155/2020/8042540.
- Shatalov, A. Prevalence and Antibiotic Resistance Pattern of *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in Urine Tract Infections at the La Paz Medical Center, Malabo, Equatorial Guinea. Open J Med Microbiol. 2015: 05: doi:10.4236/oimm.2015.54022.
- 23. Khelfaoui, M. S., Zeroug, R., Yousfi, M., and Satha, B. Prevalence and Antimicrobial Susceptibility Pattern of Gram-Negative Uropathogens Isolated in Public Hospital Establishment «Saad Guermech Saoudi Amar Hmaida» Skikda-Algeria. J Pharm Res Int. 2020
 doi:10.9734/jpri/2020/v32i3430960.
- Hassali, M. A., Alrawhi, Y., and Nouri, A. Antibiotic Sensitivity Pattern in Urinary Tract Infections at a Secondary Care Hospital in Oman. Acta Sci Med Sci. 2018; 2:
- Wong, C. K. M., Kung, K., Au-Doung, P. L. W., et al. Antibiotic Resistance Rates and Physician Antibiotic Prescription Patterns of Uncomplicated Urinary Tract Infections in Southern Chinese Primary Care. PLoS One. 2017: 12: 5 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0177266.
- Gupta, K., Hooton, T. M., Naber, K. G., et al. International Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Acute Uncomplicated Cystitis and Pyelonephritis in Women: A 2010 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America and the European Society for Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. Clin Infect Dis. 2011; 52: 561-564. doi:10.1093/cid/cig257.
- Amawi, H. A., U'wais, H. T., Nusair, M. B., et al. Management of Urinary Tract Infections and Antibiotic Susceptibility Patterns of Bacterial Isolates. Int J Clin Pract. 2021; 75 doi:10.1111/ijcp.14475.
- World Health Organization. WHO AWaRe a new WHO tool to help countries improve antibiotic treatment, increase access and reduce resistance. World Health Organization, Geneva. WHO/MVP/EMP/IAU/2019.04
- 29. van den Bogaard, A. E., and Stobberingh, E. E. Epidemiology of Resistance to Antibiotics: Links between Animals and Humans. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2000; 14: 327-335 doi:10.1016/S0924-8579(00)00145-X.
- Sreejith, S., Shajahan, S., Prathiush, P. R., et al. Healthy Broilers Disseminate Antibiotic Resistance in Response to Tetracycline Input in Feed Concentrates. Microb Pathog 2020; 149: 104562. doi:10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104562.

Fadare et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 61 - 72

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2234. <u>https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem</u>

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.8

Original Article



Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1



Open Access

Antimicrobial properties, safety, and probiotic attributes of lactic acid bacteria isolated from Sauerkraut

*Fadare, O. S., Anyadike, C. H., Momoh, A. O., and Bello, T. K.

Department of Biological Sciences (Microbiology Unit), Faculty of Basic and Applied Sciences, Elizade University, Wuraola Ade Ojo Avenue, P. M. B. 002, Ilara-Mokin, Ondo State, Nigeria

*Correspondence to olalekan.fadare@elizadeuniversity.edu.ng; +2348169001041; ORCiD: 0000-0002-1749-2238

Abstract:

Background: According to the World Health Organization, probiotics have been defined as live microorganisms that when administered in the right amount provide health benefits to the host. This study aims to isolate lactic acid bacteria (LAB) from Sauerkraut and determine their anti-pathogenic potential and suitability as probiotics. Methodology: Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) were isolated from fermented cabbage obtained from an open market in Akure, Ondo State, Nigeria by inoculating the prepared cabbage suspension on triplet plates of Rogosa agar (Lactobacillus selecting agar) and incubating in an anaerobic jar with gaspaks at 37°C for 72 hours. The LAB isolates were presumptively identified phenotypically by colony morphology, Gram stain reaction, and catalase test. The antibacterial activity of the LAB isolates was then carried out using agar overlay and agar-well diffusion methods. The most efficient LAB isolate was selected based on its strong antibacterial activity, confirmed by 16S rRNA sequencing and further evaluated for probiotic activities including bile salt resistance, survival in low pH, hydrophobicity of the cell surface, auto-aggregation, and co-aggregation. The putative probiotic LAB isolate was also evaluated for its safety using in vitro tests (antibiotic susceptibility testing, haemolysis, and DNase tests) and in vivo assays (sub-acute oral toxicity tests in male albino rats). **Results:** A total of 5 LAB isolates were preliminarily identified from the cabbage. The LAB isolate that showed strong antibacterial activity was confirmed as Levilactobacillus brevis. The isolate showed 83.3% survival rate in low pH of 3 and 85.9% in 0.3% bile concentration indicating potential tolerance to gastrointestinal conditions. The cell surface hydrophobicity assay showed 51% and auto-aggregation of 60% which represents the adhesion properties of the isolate. The sub-acute oral toxicity evaluation of the putative probiotic strain in Wister albino rats showed no altered health condition.

Conclusion: The findings in this study suggest that *Levilactobacillus brevis* isolated from Sauerkraut is suitable as probiotics and could be applied in the pharmaceutical and food industry.

Keywords: probiotics; safety assessment; Levilactobacillus brevis; sauerkraut; cabbage

Received Oct 13, 2022; Revised Dec 09, 2022; Accepted Dec 10, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Propriétés antimicrobiennes, innocuité et attributs probiotiques des bactéries lactiques isolées de la choucroute

*Fadare, O.S., Anyadike, C. H., Momoh, A. O., et Bello, T. K.

Département des Sciences Biologiques (unité de Microbiologie), Faculté des Sciences Fondamentales et Appliquées, Université Elizade, Avenue Wuraola Ade Ojo, P. M. B. 002, Ilara-Mokin, État d'Ondo, Nigéria *Correspondance à <u>olalekan.fadare@elizadeuniversity.edu.ng</u>; +2348169001041; ORCiD: 0000-0002-1749-2238

Résumé:

Contexte: Selon l'Organisation mondiale de la santé, les probiotiques ont été définis comme des microorganismes vivants qui, lorsqu'ils sont administrés en quantité appropriée, procurent des avantages pour la santé de l'hôte. Cette étude vise à isoler les bactéries lactiques (LAB) de la choucroute et à déterminer leur potentiel anti-pathogène et leur aptitude en tant que probiotiques.

Méthodologie: Des bactéries lactiques (LAB) ont été isolées à partir de chou fermenté obtenu sur un marché libre à Akure, dans l'État d'Ondo, au Nigeria, en inoculant la suspension de chou préparée sur des plaques triplet de gélose Rogosa (*Lactobacillus* sélectionnant de la gélose) et en incubant dans un bocal anaérobie avec gaspaks à 37°C pendant 72 heures. Les isolats de LAB ont été présumément identifiés phénotypiquement par la

morphologie des colonies, la réaction de coloration de Gram et le test de catalase. L'activité antibactérienne des isolats de LAB a ensuite été réalisée en utilisant des méthodes de superposition d'agar et de diffusion en puits d'agar. L'isolat de LAB le plus efficace a été sélectionné en fonction de sa forte activité antibactérienne, confirmée par le séquençage de l'ARNr 16S et évaluée plus avant pour les activités probiotiques, notamment la résistance aux sels biliaires, la survie à un pH bas, l'hydrophobicité de la surface cellulaire, l'auto-agrégation et la co-agrégation. L'isolat putatif de LAB probiotique a également été évalué pour sa sécurité à l'aide de tests in vitro (tests de sensibilité aux antibiotiques, hémolyse et tests de DNase) et in vivo (tests de toxicité orale subaiguë chez des rats albinos mâles).

Résultats: Un total de 5 isolats de LAB ont été préalablement identifiés à partir du chou. L'isolat LAB qui a montré une forte activité antibactérienne a été confirmé comme étant *Levilactobacillus brevis*. L'isolat a montré un taux de survie de 83,3% à un pH faible de 3 et de 85,9% à une concentration de bile de 0,3% indiquant une tolérance potentielle aux conditions gastro-intestinales. Le test d'hydrophobicité de la surface cellulaire a montré 51% et une auto-agrégation de 60%, ce qui représente les propriétés d'adhérence de l'isolat. L'évaluation de la toxicité orale subaiguë de la souche probiotique putative chez les rats albinos Wister n'a montré aucun état de santé altéré.

Conclusion: Les résultats de cette étude suggèrent que le *Levilactobacillus brevis* isolé de la choucroute convient comme probiotique et pourrait être appliqué dans l'industrie pharmaceutique et alimentaire.

Mots-clés: probiotiques; évaluation de la sécurité; Levilactobacillus brevis; choucroute; chou

Introduction:

Microorganisms have historically been an integral part of the human diet, absorbed through naturally fermented foods such as fruits and vegetables and their juices. Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are common microorganisms that may be found in any environment that is high in carbohydrates, such as plants and other fermented foods (1). The use of preserved and fermented vegetables in human nourishment has been around since ancient times, with sauerkraut being one the most widely consumed vegetable fermented products (2). Sauerkraut, which is a fermented cabbage food with origin in Central Europe, has traditionally been seen as an underutilized natural source of probiotic bacteria that might be used as a starting culture in other fermentation procedures (3).

The health promoting qualities of Sauerkraut have been attributed to its high contents of bioactive components produced as a result of indigenous microbial metabolic activities (4). *Leuconostoc mesenteroides, Lactiplantibacillus plantarum, Levilactobacillus brevis, Pediococcus,* and *Enterococcus* are among the known beneficial bacteria that contribute to sauerkraut formation. Most of the beneficial bacteria with a proven history of safe use are probiotic bacteria.

The human gastrointestinal tract (GIT) and fermented dairy products are the two main sources of probiotic bacteria. The strains derived from other sources, such as plant-based meals, however, provide significant options since they might be more helpful and viable for use in comparable non-dairy-based probiotic products (5). Genetically, plant-derived LAB strains are comparable to milk-derived bacteria and have been shown to exhibit extra advantageous traits such as greater tolerance to stress conditions and the ability to ferment a wider range of carbohy-drate sources (6,7).

Probiotics are gaining popularity due to their proven safety and positive benefits on human health (8). The majority of probiotics are members of the LAB group, which includes many species such as Lactobacillus, Leuconostoc, Streptococcus, and Enterococcus. Recent growth in the worldwide market for probiotics has been fuelled by increased consumer demand for healthy diets and wellbeing, prompting food researchers and manufacturers to produce novel probiotic-containing products. However, there has been growing concern regarding the safety of probiotic bacteria which include the potential to cause diseases such as bacteraemia or endocarditis, production or release of toxic metabolites on the gastrointestinal tract, and the presence of transferable antibiotic resistance genes (9).

Conversely, pieces of evidence that probiotic bacteria are causal agents in cases of the diseases highlighted are limited and unclear, and infection caused by probiotics has never been observed in healthy persons (10). The ability to adhere to human mucosal or epithelial cells and cell lines, exert an antimicrobial effect against pathogenic bacteria or fungi, reduce pathogen adhesion to surfaces, stimulate bile salt hydrolase activity, and increase probiotic viability are among the most crucial characteristics of probiotics (11). This study aimed to isolate possibly probiotic LAB from fermented cabbage (Sauerkraut) and assess the possibility of safe use.

Materials and method:

Preparation of Sauerkraut:

The cabbage used in this study was purchased from Shasha market, Akure, Ondo State, Nigeria. The cabbage was washed in sterile distilled water, and shredded into bits before being placed into a clean glass jar, and 2% salt was added to make 200 ml volume. The shredded cabbage was completely submerged in distilled water and sealed to ensure anaerobic conditions. The setup was kept at room temperature (ambient temperature of 18-22°C) to ferment for 7 days.

Isolation of and characterization of LAB:

The isolation of probiotic strains from fermented cabbage was carried out according to the method previously described by Jagannath et al., (12). The fermented cabbage was crushed into a slurry in a warring blender. One millimeter was aseptically collected and diluted serially in saline solution. Thereafter, 100µL of each of the diluted suspension (10⁻¹ to 10⁻⁶) was separately inoculated on triplet plates of Rogosa agar media (De Man Rogosa and Sharpe Lactobacillus Selecting Agar, pH 5.4 \pm 0.2, Oxoid, CM0627) and spread using a sterile spreader. The inoculated plates were incubated under anaerobic conditions using an anaerobic gas jar containing gaspaks (AnaeroGen[™] 3.5L, Thermo-Scientific, AM0035, UK) at 37°C for 72 hours. The LAB isolates were presumptively identified phenotypically by colony morphology, Gram staining, and catalase test.

Antibacterial & antagonistic activities of LAB

Agar overlay assay:

The indicator bacteria (Salmonella Typhi, Escherichia coli and Staphylococcus aureus) were grown on nutrient agar at 37°C for 24-hour. The inhibitory activity of the selected LAB isolates against the indicator organisms was done using the agar overlay technique described by Hockett and Baltrus (13). The LAB isolates were spot-plated on MRS agar and incubated for 24 hat 37°C under anaerobic conditions using a gas generating system (AnaeroGen[™] 3.5L, Oxoid, AM0035, UK). Cultures of the pathogens were grown on NA agar for 18 hours, and about 3-5 colonies were picked and suspended in sterile saline solution and the turbidity was adjusted to 0.5 McFarland standard equivalent of 1x10⁸ CFU/ ml. One hundred microliters of the adjusted suspension of indicator strains were seeded in semi-solid Mueller Hinton agar. The MRS agar containing pre-spotted LAB isolate was overlaid with 10 ml soft MH agar containing 100µL seeded indicator organism and incubated aerobically at 37°C for 24 hours. Clear zones of inhibition of more than 1 mm extending laterally from the border of the LAB colonies after 24 hours incubation was considered positive antagonistic (antibacterial) activity.

Agar-well diffusion test:

Agar-well diffusion assay was carried out to determine the zone of inhibition of the antibacterial agent in the cell-free culture supernatant (CFCS) of LAB isolates against the indicator organisms. Lactobacilli that showed a zone of inhibition in the agar overlay assay were selected and cultured overnight in MRS broth at 37°C for 18 hr. After incubation, the culture was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C and further filtered through a 0.22 μ m sterile syringe filter (PES, AXIVA) to obtain a CFSC. Overnight cultures of the indicator bacteria were inoculated in BHI broth and incubated for 3 h at 37°C. Thereafter, 0.5 Mc-Farland standard suspensions of the culture were prepared.

One hundred microliters of the prepared suspension were mixed with 10ml of melted and cooled semi-solid BHI agar and poured into the respective Petri dishes. The semi-solid BHI agar was allowed to set and wells of 6mm diameter were aseptically made using a sterile cork-borer. Bases of the wells were sealed with 30µl melted semi-solid BHI agar. Wells were filled with 100µl of CFCS and then kept in the refrigerator for 3-4 hours to ensure the diffusion of antimicrobial compounds within the media. The plates were hereafter incubated for 18 hours at 37°C. The diameters of the zone of inhibition that extends radially from the edge of the wells were taken and recorded. Unspent MRS broth was used as a negative control.

Molecular identification of the efficient LAB

Based on its potential probiotic attributes, the efficient LAB isolate was identified by 16S rRNA sequencing. Extraction (isolation) of DNA and PCR (polymerase chain reaction) amplification was carried out using the universal primers 27F-5'AGA GTT TGA TCC TGG CTC AG-3' and 1492R-5'GGT TAC CTT GTT ACG ACT TT-3'. The reaction was carried out in 25 µL of the reaction mixture, which contained forward and reverse primers (10 pmol), 0.5 μ L of DNA template (50–100 ng), dNTP (0.2mM), and polymerase (0.5U). Optimum conditions for the PCR involved an initial denaturation step for 5 min at 95°C followed by 35 cycles of denaturation for 1 min at 95°C, annealing for 1 min at 55°C, extension for 5 min at 72°C, and final extension for 7 mins at 72°C. The PCR products were confirmed on 1% agarose gel electrophoresis. The PCR products were further sequenced and the obtained sequences were compared using BLAST (basic local alignment search tool).

Evaluation of probiotic attributes of LAB

Cell surface hydrophobicity:

The *in vitro* bacterial cell surface hydrophobicity of LAB isolate-3 (cbak3) was evaluated by measuring the microbial cell adhesion to hydrocarbons (xylene) according to the method described by Rokana et al., (14). The young cultures in MRS broth were centrifuged at 6,000 rpm for 10 min, washed twice with PBS, and re-suspended in PBS buffer. A cell suspension of about 3ml was blended with 2 ml of xylene and incubated at 37 °C for 3 h without shaking the separation of the aqueous and organic phases. One millimeter of the aqueous phase was removed carefully and the absorbance (A_1) was measured at 600 nm. The cell hydrophobicity assay was measured (in percentage) using the formula; cell surface hydrophobicity % = $[1-A_t/A_0] \times$ 100, where A_0 and A_t are the absorbance before and after extraction with organic solvents, respectively.

Acid and bile tolerance assay:

The tolerance of the LAB isolates to both acidic pH and bile salts was carried out using the methodology described previously by Fadare et al., (5) with little modification (pH adjusted to 3.0). Young cultures of the strains were inoculated in 50 ml of MRS broth with an adjusted pH value of 3.0 using 1 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{M}}$ HCl, and 50 ml MRS with 0.3% (w/v) bile salt (Himedia, India), respectively. The inoculum size was adjusted by comparing the turbidity with 0.5 McFarland standards equivalent to ~1.5 x 10⁸ CFU/ml. The samples were incubated at 37°C. At time intervals of 0, 1, 2, and 3 h, a 100 µL aliquot was taken to determine the total viable cells by the standard plate count method. The survival rate was determined using the formula; survival rate (%) = Biomass at time (Bt)/Biomass at initial time $(B_{o}) \times 100.$

Auto-aggregation assay:

The ability of the LAB isolate to autoaggregate was tested using the method previously described by Zommiti et al., (16). The overnight culture was harvested by centrifugation (at 6000 rpm for 10 min) and washed with PBS twice and re-suspended in PBS buffer. The sample was allowed to stand while incubating anaerobically at 37°C. Afterward, the upper suspension was checked for absorbance at 600 nm at time intervals of 0, 1h, 2h, and 3h. The auto aggregation was measured in percentage using the formula; auto aggregation $\% = [1-A_t/A_0] \times 100$, where where A_t represents the absorbance at time t = 3 h and A_0 the absorbance at t = 0.

Co-aggregation assay:

The ability of the LAB isolates and pathogenic indicator organisms (*Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus*) to co-aggregate was determined using the method described by del Re et al., (17). The overnight culture was harvested by centrifugation at 6000 rpm for 10 min and washed with PBS twice and re-suspended in PBS buffer. An equal volume of the LAB isolates and pathogenic indicator suspension was prepared with the turbidity equivalent to 0.5 MacFarland standard and allowed to stand for a while. The upper suspension was checked for absorbance at 600 nm at time intervals of 0, 1, 2, and 3 h. Percent co-aggregation was calculated using the equation of Nagaoka et al., (18); co-aggregation $\% = [1 - A_t/A_0] \times 100$, where A_t represents the absorbance at time t = 1, 2 or 3 h, and A_0 is the absorbance at t = 0.

Evaluation of the safety of the LAB isolate:

Antimicrobial susceptibility test of LAB:

The AST of the suspected *Lactobacillus* spp. was performed using the Kirby-Bauer disc diffusion technique. The procedure for the experiment was carried out as specified in the Clinical and Laboratory Standard Institute (19) guideline. Mueller–Hinton agar and Brain heart infusion agar (i. e. MHA and BHI in 1:1) were used as previously described (20). The following antibiotic discs were tested; ampicillin (10µg), chloramphenicol (30µg), tetracycline (30µg), gentamicin (10µg), cefuroxime (30µg), erythromycin (15µg), ciprofloxacin (5µg) and vancomycin (30µg).

Suspensions of overnight cultures of the test organisms were prepared with turbidity equivalent to 0.5 McFarland standards in sterile normal saline. The bacterial suspensions were aseptically inoculated on the prepared medium using a sterile swab stick, incubated anaerobically at 37°C for 24 h and then 72 h. The diameter of the zone of inhibition was measured and recorded to the nearest millimeter using a ruler. The susceptibility status was determined using the zone size interpretative chart as provided by CLSI (19).

Haemolysis

The method described by Yadav et al., (21) was used to assess the LAB isolates' haemolytic activity. The isolates tested were streaked onto blood agar plates containing 5% (w/v) human blood and incubated at 37°C for 24 h. The plates were examined for a-, β -, and non-haemolytic activity after incubation.

DNase activity:

The DNase activity of the LAB isolates was determined using the method as previously described by Shuhadha et al., (22). Briefly, the LAB isolates were streaked onto DNase agar medium (Himedia, India) to test for the production of the DNase enzyme. The plates were then incubated at 37°C for 24 h and observed for clear zones showing DNase activity.

In vivo sub-acute oral toxicity assay in laboratory animals

The procedures involving animals in this study were carried out following the guidelines of the Ondo State health research ethics committee. Eight male Wistar rats of the subspecies *Rattus norvegicus* aged 6-7 weeks old, and weighing 68-76 g were obtained from the animal house of Elizade University. The rats were randomly grouped into two (A & B), comprising four rats per group, and allowed to acclimatize for 14 days before beginning the toxicological assay.

The sub-acute oral toxicity assay was a 28-day repeated-dose oral toxicity assay carried out according to the OECD guidelines. The L. brevis was revived and prepared for administration using the method previously described by Pradhan et al., (10) with few modifications. Briefly, the bacterial isolates were sub-cultured and finally harvested by centrifugation at 4500 rpm for 15 min after 16 h of incubation at 37°C. The centrifuged culture was thereafter washed thrice in sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The pellet obtained was then re-suspended in sterile saline and the turbidity was adjusted to 0.5 McFarland standard equivalent to $\sim 1.5 \times 10^8$ CFU/ml). Rats in group A were administered oro-gastrically with 500 µL of the bacterial suspension daily for 28 days, while the control group (B) was fed with sterile saline. During the treatment period, daily observations for any changes in the animal's activity were made, and body weight increase was assessed weekly. All rats were sacrificed on the 29th day.

Following the period of toxicity test, blood samples were collected on the 29th day into appropriate vials for haematological analysis. The haematology tests, which include packed cell volume (PCV), haemoglobin concentration (HB), red blood cell count (RBC), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), and white blood cell (WBC) counts were carried out according to the standard procedure. After the physical evaluation, the rats were sacrificed, the abdominal cavities were opened, the intestines removed and preserved in 10% formalin for histopathological analysis. The tissue sections were prepared on a slide and stained with haematoxylin and eosin. The integrity of the sectioned intestines was examined using a microscope. The intestines of the control group were compared with the treated group.

Statistical analysis

All tests were conducted in triplicates and data were presented as mean and standard deviation, and analysed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 21.0. To determine significant differences between means, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used, with a significant difference of p < 0.05.

Results:

In this study, five LAB isolates were recovered from fermented cabbage (Sauer-kraut). The pH of the fermented cabbage after 7 days of fermentation was observed to drop from the initial mean value of 6.8 ± 0.23 to a mean value of 3.9 ± 0.15 , at temperature of 25° C.

Antibacterial activity of LAB isolates

The five isolates showed antimicrobial activity against the test pathogens in an agar-overlay method, but only the isolates designated as cbak2 and cbak3 showed a zone of inhibition when the cell-free culture supernatant was tested in an agar diffusion method (Table 1). On the other hand, the pH-neutralized cell-free culture supernatants of the two probiotic LAB showed no inhibitory activity against the test pathogens.

16s rRNA sequencing identification

The sequence analysis of cbak3 isolate using the Basic local alignment search tool (BLAST) program detected 97.64% sequence identity with known species (*Levilactobacillus brevis*). The strain has been deposited into the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database with accession number OM262042.

Table 1: Antibacterial activity of cell-free supernatants of the 5 LAB isolates against pathogens

Indicator organisms	ator organisms Mean zone diameter of inhibition (mm)				
	Cbak1	Cbak2	Cbak3	Cbak4	Cbak5
Salmonella Typhi	0 ± 0.00	1.2 ± 0.21	14 ± 0.02	0.00	0.00
Staphylococcus aureus	0 ± 0.00	3.1 ± 0.04	16 ± 0.32	0.00	0.00
Escherichia coli	0 ± 0.00	0.8 ± 0.32	14 ± 0.05	0.00	0.00

Values are the mean $(\pm SD)$ of triplicate samples (n=3); cbak= cabbage sample

Table 2: Mean viable count of the lactic acid bacterial isolates

Strain	Bile (0.3%) tolerance			Acid tolerance (pH=3)			
	0 hour	3-hour	Survival rate (%)	0 hour	3-hour	Survival rate (%)	
L. brevis	8.28 ± 0.04	7.11 ± 0.16	85.9	8.54 ± 0.02	7.11 ± 0.21	83.3	
Values are th	e mean (+ SD) of t	riplicato camples (n-	-3)				

Values are the mean (± SD) of triplicate samples (n=3)

Table 3: Cell surface hydrophobicity, auto-aggregation and co-aggregation of LAB isolate

Bacteria	CSH (%)	Auto-aggregation (%)	Co-aggregagtion (%)		%)
			<i>S.</i> Typhi	S. aureus	E. coli
L. brevis	53.3 ±1.73	60.0 ± 2.99	48.3 ±1.73	65.3 ± 2.85	51.7 ±1.73

Values are the mean (\pm SD) of triplicate assay; CSH = cell surface hydrophobicity

Probiotic attributes of LAB isolate

The LAB cbak3 isolate that showed strong antibacterial activity was further evaluated for its probiotic and safety status. The L. brevis isolate showed appreciable levels of tolerance to 0.3% bile salt and acidic pH 2.0 after 3 exposures to both conditions (Table 2). L. brevis showed 85.9% and 83.3% survival rates in 0.3% bile salt and low pH of 2.0 respectively.

The L. brevis had a median value (33% < 66%) for both the cell surface hydrophobicity and auto-aggregation assays (Table 3). As indicated, L. brevis showed a higher coaggregation rate with S. aureus (65.3±2.85%) compared to the percentage values obtained for E. coli (51.7±1.73%) and Salmonella Typhi (48.3±1.73%).

Safety evaluation results

As shown in Table 4, L. brevis showed resistance to ciprofloxacin, cefuroxime, and vancomycin, but sensitive to erythromycin, gentamicin, ampicillin, tetracycline, and chloramphenicol.

Levilactobacillus brevis showed no haemolytic and DNase activities. With respect to the in vivo toxicity test, no death in the rats (both the experimental and control group) was reported. No sign of ill- ness was observed as the experimental rats remained active and healthy throughout the experiment. Compared to the control, a significant increase in the average weight (82.2g to 101.96g) of the rats administered with L. brevis was observed, showing a weight gain of 19.3% (Table 5).

The values obtained for the WBC and RBC in group A were significantly different compared to the control group. However, the values for each parameter assayed did not exceed the normal range (Table 6). As shown in Table 7, the white blood cell differential counts for the experimental rats were significantly lower (p < 0.05) for monocytes and higher for lymphocytes compared to that of the control group. However, the values did not exceed the normal range.

Test Bacteria	Diameter of zone of inhibition (mm)							
	CIP (5µg)	E (15µg)	СХМ (30µg)	GEN (10µg)	ТЕТ (30µg)	АМР (10µg)	С (30µg)	V (30µg)
L. brevis	R	S	R	S	S	S	S	R

Table 4: Antibiotic-resistant profile of *Levilactobacillus brevis*

CIP – Ciprofloxacin, E – Erythromycin, CXM – Cefuroxime, GEN – Gentamicin, TET – Tetracycline, AMP – Ampicillin, C – Chloramphenicol. V – Vancomycin; R – Resistant; S – Susceptible; I - Intermediate

Table 5: Effect of putative probiotic bacteria (L. brevis) on the weight of Wister albino rats

Group	Weight gain/week (g)					*WG (%)
-	0	1	2	3	4	
A (L. brevis)	82.20±1.05ª	86.11±3.19ª	92.25±2.05°	97.04±1.16 ^d	101.96±2.18 ^d	19.3
C (Control)	84.30±1.10 ^c	87.49±3.14 ^d	91.66±2.24 ^b	94.22±1.52 ^b	96.68±2.12 ^b	12.8

Values were expressed as mean \pm SD of 4 determinations; Values with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (p < 0.05); WG = Percentage weight gain after treatment

	Table 6: Effect of L.	brevis on the	haematological	parameters of	[•] Wister albino rats
--	-----------------------	---------------	----------------	---------------	---------------------------------

Group	Blood Parameter						
	WBC (×10 ⁹ /mm ³)	PCV (%)	HB (%)	RBC (/mm³)	PLT (×10³/mm³)		
A (L. brevis)	9.53±0.11 ^d	42.67±0.58ª	14.20±0.20 ª	39.97±0.19ª	11.50±0.17ª		
B (Control)	7.73±0.07 ^b	46.00±0.00 ^b	15.17±0.33 ^b	35.03±0.17 ^b	11.73±0.24ª		
*Normal range	4.4 - 14.8	36 - 54	10.4 - 16.5	38 - 66.8	6.38 - 11.8		

Values were expressed as mean \pm SD of 4 determinations in each group; Values with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (p < 0.05); WBC= White blood cell; HB = Haemoglobin; PCV = Park cell volume; RBC = Red blood cell; *Delwatta et al., (23)

Table 7: Effect of /	brevic or	WBC differential	counts of rate
Table 7. Lifect of L.	DIEVIS OI	i wbc unrerentiar	

Group					
	Lymphocytes (%)	Neutrophils (%)	Monocytes (%)	Eosinophils (%)	Basophils (%)
A (L. brevis)	75.6 ± 0.58°	21.0 ± 1.00^{a}	2.0 ± 0.00^{a}	1.0 ± 0.00^{a}	0.0 ± 0.00^{a}
B (Control)	73.6 ± 0.58^{b}	$20.7 \pm 0.58^{\circ}$	$4.6 \pm 0.58^{\circ}$	1.0 ± 1.00^{a}	0.0 ± 0.00^{a}
*Normal range	65 - 85	13 - 36	0 - 5	0 - 6	0 - 1

Values with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (p < 0.05). *Delwatta et al., (23)

The histopathology of the intestine of the experimental rats compared with the control group shows no negative pathology architecture. Mucosal epithelia are intact with adequate thickness. The villi are prominent and the integrity is preserved. There was no necrosis, haemorrhage, or kariolysis of the intestinal villi. The intestinal villi projections are well-formed with adequate arterial and venous supply in both the experimental group (a) and the control (b) with adequate projections (Fig. 1a and b).



Fig. 1. Photomicrograph of the small intestines of the experimental rats and the control group. **a.** Experimental group administered with 500 μ L aliquot of *L. brevis* isolate once daily, **b.** Control group administered with sterile saline solution. **Key: IMAE** – Intact mucosal absorptive enterocytes, **VLG** – Villi lining goblets, **C** – Crypt, **M** – Mucosal

Discussion:

Overall, five LAB isolates were successfully recovered from the fermented cabbage, however, only one LAB isolate that showed strong antibacterial activity was selected and identified as Levilactobacillus brevis. The putative probiotics in this study were prescreened using antibacterial activity as the primary criterion. As evident in this study, the occurrence of L. brevis among other LAB in fermented cabbage (sauerkraut) has been documented (24). L. brevis was discovered to have a substantial antagonistic effect on the test foodborne pathogens in this study. In a recent study by Utama et al., (25) L. brevis isolated from fermented cabbage was reported to show strong inhibition of E. coli and Salmonella pullorum. Other studies have also reported strong antimicrobial activity of L. brevis isolated from non-vegetable fermented sources against foodborne pathogens (26).

Initially, all five isolates showed high levels of inhibitory activity when tested using the agar-overlay method, but when tested using the agar well diffusion method, L. brevis displayed visible and high inhibitory activities against the indicator organisms. This is in tandem with the study conducted by Polak-Berecka et al., (27), where the agar spot test method showed the largest and most distinct inhibitory zones compared to the agar diffusion technique. However, the result obtained in this study using the two methods (agar overlay and agar diffusion) was at variance with the report published by Halder et al., (28), in which the values of results obtained using both methods were in close range. The variation observed in the antibacterial activities between the two methods and as reported by different authors have been attributed to cell density and growth kinetics of the LAB used in the agar

overlay methods (29). On the other hand, the volume of cell-free supernatant culture used for the diffusion test has also been considered a potential factor (28). According to Polak-Berecka et al., (27), when live *Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus* cells were employed instead of cell-free supernatant, the strongest antibacterial activity was seen.

The presence of antimicrobial compounds such as organic acids (lactic, citric, acetic, fumaric, and malic acid), hydrogen peroxide, CO₂, diacetyl, ethanol, reuterin, acetaldehyde, acetoin, ammonia, bacteriocins, bacteriocin-like inhibitory substances (BLIS), and other important metabolites have been attributed to the antibacterial activity of Lactobacillus spp (30,31). To guarantee colonization, survival, and metabolic activity within the gut, probiotic isolates must be able to survive bile salts and low pH, otherwise, they will not be able to benefit the host's health and well-being. Tolerance to acidic environments and bile salts have been regarded as two characteristics for a prospective probiotic strain to survive the GIT (32). The pH value of 3.0 and concentration of 0.3% bile salt have been considered standard for such investigation of probiotic strains (33). In the current study, L. brevis showed a higher survival rate within the 80% range in both 0.3% bile and acid (pH 3.0) tolerance tests. Lactobacillus has been reported to survive and proliferate lavishly in MRS broth enriched with 0.3% bile salt (34), which is similar to our observation. According to Shokryazdan et al., (35), Lactobacillus isolates were acidtolerant for 3 h at pH 3.0. Ehrmann et al., (36) discovered that the acid tolerance level differed across Lactobacillus isolates tested under identical conditions, suggesting that tolerance capability may be strain-specific. It is crucial to note, however, that in vitro studies involving pH and bile salt tolerance cannot predict patterns of behavior in the human body. The stomach pH which is usually within the range of 1.2 - 2.0 has been reported to fluctuate depending on the meal consumed. The stomach pH has been shown to rise dramatically close to 5.0 after ingesting yogurt and fermented milk (37).

Cell surface hydrophobicity is another attribute that has been associated with probiotic strain adhesion capacity (5). A correlation between surface hydrophobicity and bacteria capacity to adhere to the intestinal mucosa has been reported (5). In the current study, the hydrophobic character of the surfaces of L. brevis was evaluated based on its adhesion to the hydrocarbon phase in a xylene solution. Lactobacillus brevis showed a higher hydrophobicity percentage (51%), similar to the result obtained by Kariyawasam et al., (38) who used xylene in their study. Meanwhile, the hydrophobicity of L. brevis G1 and L. brevis KU15006 in another study ranged from 47% to 48% (39).

It has been demonstrated that pathogens frequently have a high affinity for proteins including collagen, fibrinogen, and mucus because they provide them access to host tissues (40). Auto-aggregation refers to a bacterial strain capacity to interact with itself in a generic manner, which is thought to be a precondition for pathogen colonization and infection of the gastrointestinal tract via adhesive ability. The percentage value of auto-aggregation obtained in the current study was high for *L. brevis*, although the isolate showed values found within the acceptable range (17). Strains of Lactobacillus in general have been shown to have a low to moderate auto-aggregation capability (41). As per the co-aggregation test, L. brevis showed a higher aggregation percentage with S. aureus compared to E. coli and S. Typhi. A similar pattern of activity has been documented, with the highest levels of co-aggregation reported between the Lactobacillaceae and E. faecalis strains and the lowest levels with S. Typhimurium and E. coli (42). Generally, most LAB which are Gram-positive have been shown to exert low co-aggregating capabilities against Gram-negative bacteria (5,43). It is not clear why this is so, but the structural differences between the cell wall of Gramnegative and Gram-positive bacteria may be a determining factor. Variations by species in the physiology and surface features of cells such as polysaccharide content and adhesin expression have been documented (44). Probiotic bacteria have been shown in several studies to inhibit harmful bacteria from adhering to the intestinal mucosa by creating a physical barrier via auto-aggregation or coaggregation with the pathogens (45,46).

The lack of acquired antibiotic resistance genes in bacterial strains authorized for use in human and animal feed is a requirement of the European Food Safety Authority (47). The fundamental worry with antibiotic resistance features is their tendency to spread to other potentially harmful bacteria, possibly causing difficulties and reducing the efficacy of antibiotic therapy. In the current study, L. brevis was sensitive to clinically relevant antibiotics including ampicillin, tetracycline, chloramphenicol, gentamicin, and erythromycin which are following the EFSA quidelines (47). Our isolate in line with previous studies showed resistance to ciprofloxacin and vancomycin (48,49). Vancomycin resistance in L. brevis isolates has been demonstrated to be typically high, and the resistance is thought to be an inherent trait of the strains (48,50). Additionally, the fact that our strains are of plant origin suggests that they have not come into contact with antibiotics, which might account for the resistance as an inherent trait, in contrast to isolates from humans and animals.

Our study showed that L. brevis has non-hemolytic and non-DNAse activities, which comply with the suggested safety features in probiotic selection (51). The pathogenic nature of some groups of bacteria has been attributed to DNase and haemolytic activities (52), and many studies have demonstrated the non-haemolytic and non-DNAse activities of Lactobacillus spp. isolated from different sources including humans, animals, and plants (53,54). With regards to the in vivo toxicity test, the outcomes of repeated oral administration of L. brevis to a group of four albino rats further support the non-pathogenic attribute of the test isolate. To ascertain the safety of a bacterial strain, oral toxicity studies have been considered a standard (9,55). Based on the results of a repeateddose sub-acute oral toxicity study by Shokryazdan et al., (35), none of the tested Lactobacillus strains caused any sign of toxicity when fed to rats at a concentration as high as 1×10¹⁰ CFU/kg BW/day. The significant weight gain of the albino rat test group observed in this study may be attributable to increase nutrient absorption which may have been aided by the enzyme activity of L. brevis. This finding appears to be consistent with a recent work by Oladejo et al., (56), in which hydrolyzed African yam beans with partially purified protease produced by L. brevis increased vitamin bioavailability, which accounted for the albino rats' bodyweight gain. However, weight loss caused by some strains of L. brevis and other species of Lacto bacillus has been reported (57,58), which suggest species and strain specificity (59).
Haematological analysis is vital for assessing toxicological consequences such as inflammation and infection caused by induced treatments (60). In this study, the levels of haemoglobin, packed cell volume, platelet and red blood cells were within the normal range, which could suggest a reduced risk of anaemia. Moreover, WBC count, an indicator for blood infection, was equally within the normal range despite being higher than in the control group. In the treated group, no such abnormality in the differential counts of lymphocytes, neutrophils, monocytes, eosinophils, and basophils was observed. There is a sparse report in the literature showing any abnormality in the blood profiles of healthy albino rats administered with Lactobacillus species.

The integrity of the gut was further verified by histology of the intestine. The microscopic observations of the stained tissue of the intestine did not reveal any signs of inflammation, degeneration, or necrosis of the intestinal mucosa, and there was no remarkable difference in the arrangement of epithelial cells between the test and control groups. Although, the histology of the intestine showed that the formation of intestinal finger-like villi differs in maturity, no structural changes in the crypt depth or distortion in the villus structure were observed. Probiotics have been intensively studied for their involvement in maintaining the intestinal barrier, which is thought to be the first line of defense against pathogens entering the digestive system (61,62). Reinforcement of gut barrier function can lead to decreased intestinal inflammation, and several investigations have shown that probiotic strains can restrict inflammatory responses by strengthening gut barrier permeability (63,64).

Conclusion:

Based on the findings of this study, it can be stated that the *L. brevis* isolated from Sauerkraut is potentially safe and useful due to its appealing probiotic features and promising antibacterial activity. This lends credence to the idea that as a probiotic strain, it might be useful in a variety of applications, particularly in the food industry. However, whole strain genomic profiling as well as clinical trials are further required to affirm the suitability of the putative probiotic isolate before it can be applied in human or animal nutrition.

Contribution of authors:

OSF, CHA, AOM and TKB conceptualized and designed the study. Material prepa-

ration, data collection, and analysis were carried out by OSF, CHA and AOM. The first and second draft of the manuscript were written by CHA and OSF respectively. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript draft for submission.

Source of funding:

No funding was received for the study

Conflict of interest:

No conflict of interest is declared

Reference:

- Aureli, P., Capurso, L., Castellazzi, A. M., et al. Probiotics and health: an evidence-based review. Pharmacol Res. 2011; 63 (5): 366 – 376.
- Peñas, E., Frias, J., Sidro, B., and Vidal-Valverde, C. Chemical evaluation and sensory quality of sauerkrauts obtained by natural and induced fermentations at different NaCl levels from *Brassica oleracea* var. *capital* Cv. Bronco grew in eastern Spain. Effect of storage. J Agric Food Chem. 2010; 58: 3549 – 3557
- Zabat, M. A., Sano, W. H., Wurster, J. I., Cabral, D. J., and Belenky, P. Microbial Community Analysis of Sauerkraut Fermentation Reveals a Stable and Rapidly Established Community. Foods (Basel, Switzerland) 2018; 7 (5): 77. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods7050077
- Peñas, E., Martínez-Villaluenga, C., Pihlava, J. M., and Frias, J. Evaluation of refrigerated storage in nitrogenenriched atmospheres on the microbial quality, content of bioactive compounds and antioxidant activity of sauerkrauts. LWT Food Sci Technol. 2015; 61: 463 – 470.
- Peres, C. M., Alves, M., Hernandez-Mendoza, A., et al. Novel isolates of lactobacilli from fermented Portuguese olive as potential probiotics. LWT Food Sci Technol. 2014; 59: 234 – 246. doi: 10.1016/j.lwt.2014.03.003
- Ulrich, A., and Mu¨ller, T. Heterogeneity of plantassociated streptococci as characterized by phenotypic features and restriction analysis of PCR-amplified 16S rRNA. J Appl Microbiol. 1999; 84: 293 – 303
- Nomura, M., Kobayashi, M., Narita, T., Kimoto-Nira, H., and Okamoto, T. Phenotypic and molecular characterization of *Lactococcus lactis* from milk and plants. J Appl Microbiol. 2006; 101: 396 – 405.
- Ricci, A., Allende, A., Bolton, D., et al. Update of the list of QPS-recommended biological agents intentionally added to food or feed as notified to EFSA 5: suitability of taxonomic units notified to EFSA until September 2016. EFSA J. 2017; 15 (3): 4663 doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4663
- Sanders, M. E., Akkermans, L. M., Haller, D., et al. Safety assessment of probiotics for human use. Gut Microbes. 2010; 1 (3): 164 – 185 <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.1.3.12127</u>
- Pradhan, D., Singh, R., Tyagi, A., Batish, V. K., and Grover, S. Assessing safety of *Lactobacillus plantarum* MTCC 5690 and *Lactobacillus fermentum* MTCC 5689 using *in vitro* approaches and an in vivo murine model. Reg Toxicol Pharmacol RTP. 2019; 101: 1 – 11.
- Fijan, S. Microorganisms with claimed probiotic properties: an overview of recent literature. Int J Environ Res Publ Hlth, 2014; 11 (5): 4745 – 4767. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110504745</u>
- Jagannath, A., Raju, P., and Bawa, A. A two-step controlled lactic fermentation of cabbage for improved chemical and microbiological qualities. J Food Quality. 2012; 35: 13 – 20. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1745-4557.2011.00427.X

- 13. Hockett, K. L., and Baltrus, D. A. Use of the Soft-agar Overlay Technique to Screen for Bacterially Produced Inhibitory Compounds, J Visualized Exper JoVE, 2017: (119): 55064. <u>https://doi.org/10.3791/55064</u>
- Rokana, N., Singh, B. P., Thakur, N., Sharma, C., Gulhane, R. D., and Panwar, H. Screening of cell surface properties of potential probiotic lactobacilli isolated from human milk. J Dairy Res. 2018; 85 (3): 14 347 - 354.
- 15 Fadare, O. S., Singh, V., Enabulele, O. I., Shittu, O. H., and Pradhan, D. In vitro evaluation of the synbiotic effect of probiotic Lactobacillus strains and garlic extract against Salmonella species. J LWT, 2022; 153: 112439
- Zommiti, M., Cambronel, M., Maillot, O., et al. 16. Evaluation of Probiotic Properties and Safety of Enterococcus faecium Isolated from Artisanal Tunisian Meat "Dried Ossban". Front Microbiol. 2018; 9: 1685 https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01685
- del Re, B., Busetto, G., Vignola, G., Sgorbati, B., and 17. Palenzona, D. Auto-aggregation and adhesion ability in Bifidobacterium suis strain. Lett Appl Microbiol. 1998; 27: 307 - 310.
- Nagaoka, S., Hojo, K., Murata, S., Mori, T., Ohshima, 18. T., and Maeda, N. Interactions between salivary Bifidobacterium adolescentis and other oral bacteria: in vitro coaggregation and co-adhesion assays. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2008; 281 (2): 183 - 189
- 19. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing; Twenty-Fourth Informational Supplement. CLSI Document M100-S24, Wayne, 2014. 20. Abdel-Daim, A., Hassouna, N., Hafez, M., Ashor, M. S.
- A., and Aboulwafa, M. M. Antagonistic activity of Lacto bacillus Isolates against Salmonella Typhi In vitro. BioMed Res Int. 2013: Article ID 680605
- 21. Yadav, R., Puniya, A. K., and Shukla, P. Probiotic Properties of *Lactobacillus plantarum* RYPR1 from an Indigenous Fermented Beverage Raabadi. Front Microbiol. 2016; 7: 1683 https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01683
- Shuhadha, M. F. F., Panagoda, G. J., Madhujith, T., and Jayawardana, N. W. I. A. Evaluation of probiotic 22 attributes of Lactobacillus sp. isolated from cow and buffalo curd samples collected from Kandy. Ceylon Med J.2017; 62 (3): 159 - 166. doi: http://doi.org/10.4038/cmj.v62i3.8519
- 23 Delwatta, S. L., Gunatilake, M., Baumans, V., et al. Reference values for selected hematological, biochemical, and physiological parameters of Sprague-Dawley rats at the Animal House, Faculty of Medicine, University of Colombo, Sri Lanka. Animal Models Exper Med. 2018; 1(4): 250 - 254 https://doi.org/10.1002/ame2.12041
- Bell, V., Ferrão, J., and Fernandes, T. Nutritional Guidelines and Fermented Food Frameworks. Foods. 24. 2017: 6: 65.
- Utama, C. S., Zuprizal, C., and Wihandoyo, H. Pro-25. biotic Testing of Lactobacillus brevis and Lactobacillus plantarum from Fermented Cabbage Waste Juice. , Pakistan J Nutr. 2018; 17: 323-328.
- 26. Rushdy, A. A., and Gomaa, E. Z. Antimicrobial compounds produced by probiotic Lactobacillus brevis isolated from dairy products. Ann Microbiol. 2013; 63: 81 - 90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13213-012-0447-2
- Polak-Berecka, M., Waśko, A., Kordowska-Wiater, M., Podleśny, M., Targoński, Z., and Kubik-Komar, A. Optimization of medium composition for enhancing 27. growth of Lactobacillus rhamnosus PEN using response surface methodology. Polish J Microbiol. 2010; 59 (2): 113 - 118.
- 28. Halder, D., Mandal, M., Chatterjee, S. S., Pal, N. K., and Mandal, S. Indigenous Probiotic Lactobacillus Isolates Presenting Antibiotic like Activity against Human Pathogenic Bacteria. Biomed. 2017; 5(2): 31. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines5020031
- Delgado, S., O'Sullivan, E., Fitzgerald, G., and Mayo, 29. B. Subtractive screening for probiotic properties of *Lactobacillus* species from the human gastrointestinal tract in the search for new probiotics. J Food

Sci. 2007; 72: 310 - 315. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00479.x

- Zehra, S. A., Javed, S., Nadeem, S. G., and Hakim, S. T. Lactic acid bacteria from fresh fruits and vegetables as biocontrol agent of foodborne bacterial pathogens.
- RADS J Biol Res Appl Sci, 2014; 5: 36 45.
 31. Bartkiene, E., Lele, V., Ruzauskas, M., et al. Lactic acid bacteria isolation from spontaneous sourdough and their characterization including antimicrobial and antifungal properties evaluation. Microorganisms. 2020; 8: 64
- 32. Nami, Y., Vaseghi Bakhshayesh, R., Mohammadzadeh Jalaly, H., Lotfi, H., Eslami, S., and Hejazi, M. A. Probiotic properties of *Enterococcus* isolated from artisanal dairy products. Front Microbiol. 10:300. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00300
- Sahadeva, R. P. K., Leong, S. F., Chua, K. H., et al. 33. Survival of commercial probiotic strains to pH and bile. Int Food Res J. 2011; 18(4): 1515 - 1522
- Jose, N. M., Bunt, C. R., and Hussain, M. A. Comparison of microbiological and probiotic characteristics of lactobacilli isolates from dairy food products and animal rumen contents. Microorganisms. 2015; 3: 198 - 212.
- Shokryazdan, P., Faseleh Jahromi, M., Liang, J. B., Kalavathy, R., Sieo, C. C., and Ho, Y. W. Safety Assessment of Two New Lactobacillus Strains as Probiotic for Human Using a Rat Model. PLoS One. 2016; 11 (7): e0159851 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159851

36. Ehrmann, M., Kurzak, P., Bauer, J., and Vogel, R. Characterization of lactobacilli towards their use as

- probiotic adjuncts in poultry. J Appl Microbiol. 2002; 92: 966-975.
- <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.13652672.2002.01608.x</u>
 Cheng, G., Feng, A. N., Mei-Juan, Z., Xiu-Hua Hao, S. J., and Yun-Xia, H. E. Time- and pH-dependent colonspecific drug delivery for orally administered diclofenac sodium and 5-aminosalicylic acid. World J Gastroenterol. 2004; 10: 1769 – 1774. Kariyawasam, K., Yang, S. J., Lee, N. K., and Paik, H.
- 38. D. Probiotic Properties of Lactobacillus brevis KU 200 019 and Synergistic Activity with Fructo-oligosaccharides in Antagonistic Activity against Foodborne Pathogens. Food Sci Animal Res. 2020; 40 (2): 297 - 310 https://doi.org/10.5851/kosfa.2020.e15
- 39. Son, S. H., Jeon, H. L., Jeon, E. B., et al. Potential probiotic Lactobacillus plantarum Ln4 from kimchi: Evaluation of β-galactosidase and antioxidant activities. LWT-Food Sci Technol. 2017; 85: 181-186.
- 40. Patti, J. M., Allen, B. L., McGavin, M. J., and Hook, M. MSCRAMM-mediated adherence of microorganisms to host tissues. Annu Rev Microbiol. 1994; 48: 585-617.
- 41. Bouchard, D. S., Seridan, B., Saraoui, T., et al. Lactic Acid Bacteria Isolated from Bovine Mammary Microbiota: Potential Allies against Bovine Mastitis. PLoS One. 2015; 10 (12): e0144831 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0144831
- Zawistowska-Rojek, A., Kośmider, A., Stępień K., and 42. Tyski, S. Adhesion and aggregation properties of Lactobacillaceae strains as protection ways against enteropathogenic bacteria. Arch Microbiol. 2022; 204: 285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-022-02889-8
- Collado, M. C., Meriluoto., J and Salminen, S. Adhesion and Aggregation Properties of Probiotic and 43. Pathogen Strains. Euro Food Res Technol. 2008; 226: 1065 - 1073.
- <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00217-007-0632-x</u>
 Stevens, M. R. E., Luo. T. L., Vornhagen, J., et al. Coaggregation occurs between microorganisms isolated from different environments. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2015; 91: 11, 123
- 45. Tuo, Y., Yu, H., Ai, L., Wu, Z., Guo, B., and Chen, W. Aggregation and adhesion properties of 22 Lacto-bacillus strains. J Dairy Sci. 2013; 96 (7): 4252 – 4257. doi:10.3168/jds.2013-6547
- Pessoa, W., Melgaço, A., de Almeida, M. E., Ramos, L. P., Rezende, R. P., and Romano, C. C. *In vitro* Activity 46. of Lactobacilli with Probiotic Potential Isolated from

Cocoa Fermentation against *Gardnerella vaginalis*. BioMed Res Int. 2017; 3264194 https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/3264194

- EFSA. EFSA panel on additives and products or substances used in animal feed (FEEDAP). Guidance on the assessment of bacterial susceptibility to antimicrobials of human and veterinary importance. EFSA J. 2012; 10: 2740 – 2749. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2740
- Fukao, M., Tomita, H., Yakabe, T., Nomura, T., Ike, Y., and Yajima, N. Assessment of antibiotic resistance in probiotic strain *Lactobacillus brevis* KB290. J Food Protection. 2009; 72 (9): 1923 – 1929 <u>https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028x-72.9.1923</u>
- Campedelli, I., Mathur, H., Salvetti, E., et al. Genus-Wide Assessment of Antibiotic Resistance in *Lactobacillus* spp. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2018; 85 (1): e01738-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01738-18</u>
- Goldstein, E., Tyrrell, K. L., and Citron, D. M. *Lacto-bacillus* species: taxonomic complexity and controversial susceptibilities. Clin Infect Dis. 2015; 60: 98 107. doi: 10.1093/cid/civ072.
- Abe, F., Muto, M., Yaeshima, T., et al. Safety evaluation of probiotic bifidobacteria by analysis of mucin degradation activity and translocation ability. Anaerobe. 2010; 16(2): 131 – 136 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2009.07.006
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2009. 07.006
 52. Shekh, S. L., Dave, J. M., and Vyas, B. R. M. Characterization of *Lactobacillus plantarum* strains for functionality, safety and γ-amino butyric acid production. LWT-Food Sci Technol. 2016; 74: 234 241.
- Wang, H., Lai, S., Tsai, C., and Liao, C. The Effect of Multi-Strain Probiotics Formula on Blood Pressure and Health Maintenance in Healthy Humans. J Nutr Diet. 2018; 1:104.
- Touret, T., Oliveira, M., and Semedo-Lemsaddek, T. Putative probiotic lactic acid bacteria isolated from sauerkraut fermentations. PLoS One. 2018; 13 (9): e0203501.
 - https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0203501
- 55. Vankerckhoven, V., Huys, G., Vancanneyt, M., et al. Biosafety assessment of probiotics used for human consumption: recommendations from the EU-PROSAFE

project. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2008; 19(2):102 - 114

56. Oladejo, T. C., Olaniyi, O. O., Ayodeji, A. O., and Akinyele, B. J. Protease produced by *Lactobacillus brevis* enhanced nutritional values of African yam beans and demonstrated improvement in the growth and blood indices of albino rats. Heliyon. 2020; 6(10): e05123.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05123

- Million, M., Angelakis, E., Paul, M., Armougom, F., Leibovici, L., and Raoult, D. Comparative metaanalysis of the effect of *Lactobacillus* species on weight gain in humans and animals. Microb Pathog. 2012; 53 (2): 100 – 108.
- Park, J. E., Oh, S-H., and Cha, Y-S. *Lactobacillus Brevis* OPK-3 from Kimchi Prevents Obesity and Modulates the Expression of Adipogenic and Pro-Inflammatory Genes in Adipose Tissue of Diet-Induced Obese Mice. Nutrients. 2020; 12(3): 604
- Million, M., and Raoult, D. Species and strain specificity of *Lactobacillus* probiotics effect on weight regulation. Microb Pathog. 2013; 55: 52 - 4. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2012.09.013.
- Petterino, C., and Argentino-Storino, A. Clinical chemistry and haematology historical data in control Sprague-Dawley rats from pre-clinical toxicity studies. Exp Toxicol Pathol. 2006; 57 (3): 213 – 219.
- Gratz, S. W., Mykkanen, H., and El-Nezami, H. S. Probiotics and gut health: a special focus on liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol. 2010; 16 (4): 403-410. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i4.403.
- Raheem, A., Liang, L., Zhang, G., and Cui, S. Modulatory Effects of Probiotics During Pathogenic Infections with Emphasis on Immune Regulation. Front Immunol. 2021; 12: 616 – 713.
- Immunol. 2021; 12: 616 713.
 Gionchetti, P., Lammers, K. M., Rizzello, F., and Campieri, M. Probiotics and barrier function in colitis. Gut. 2005; 54 (7): 898 – 900
 https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2004.060640
- https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2004.060640
- Hiippala, K., Jouhten, H., Ronkainen, A., et al. The Potential of Gut Commensals in Reinforcing Intestinal Barrier Function and Alleviating Inflammation. Nutrients. 2018; 10 (8): 988.

Obajuluwa et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 73 - 79

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2206. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem

Copyright AJCEM 2023: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.9</u>

Original Article



Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1



Open Access

Bacterial contaminants of Date palm fruits (*Phoenix dactylifera*) sold in Kaduna, Nigeria, and their susceptibility to antibiotics

*¹Obajuluwa, A. F., ¹Yagat, D. S., and ²Durowaiye, M. T.

¹Department of Pharmaceutical Microbiology and Biotechnology, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Kaduna State University, Kaduna, Nigeria

²Department of Pharmaceutical Microbiology, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Ibadan, Ibadan, Nigeria

*Correspondence to: afobajuluwa@gmail.com; +234 8036207703; ORCID ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1679-6616

Abstract:

Background: Antibiotic resistance is a major challenge of antimicrobial therapy of infections today. Food-borne bacteria can serve as reservoir for transmission of antibiotic resistant strain. This study was aimed at determining the bacterial contaminants on dates palm fruits sold in Kaduna metropolis and to determine the antibiotic resistance pattern of the bacteria isolated.

Methodology: A total of 60 samples of Date palm fruits (*Phoenix dactylifera* L.) were collected randomly from five major markets in Kaduna metropolis. Total bacterial and total coliform counts were determined using pour plate method. Gram, staining, microscopy and biochemical tests were carried out to isolate the bacterial contaminants. Antibiotic susceptibility test for commonly prescribed antibiotics was also carried out through agar diffusion method and the percentage antibiotic resistance determined. Data were analysed using descriptive statistics on Microsoft Excel.

Results: The results showed that the mean total bacterial count range was 4×10^5 -2.7×10⁶. The mean coliform count range was 8×10^3 -1.2×10⁶. The following bacteria were isolated; *Staphylococcus aureus* (35.7%), *Streptococcus* spp (21.4%), *Escherichia coli* (12.5%), *Bacillus subtilis* (8.9%), *Enterobacter* spp (8.9%), *Proteus mirabilis* (7.1%) and *Salmonella* Typhi (5.4%). Gentamicin (43.2%) and cotrimoxazole (47.4%) were the most active against Grampositive and Gram-negative isolates respectively. The bacterial isolates showed high level of antibiotic resistance with 57.1% being multidrug resistant, 10.7% extensively resistant and 5.4% were resistant to all the antibiotics tested. **Conclusion:** The high level of contamination and antibiotic resistance observed in this study is alarming and of public health concern, as Date fruit is highly consumed in this part of the country. Thorough washing of Date fruits with clean water before eating is recommended.

Keywords: Date palm fruits, Resistance, Antibiotics, Bacteria

Received Jul 14, 2022; Revised Nov 7, 2022; Accepted Nov 8, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Contaminants bactériens des fruits du palmier dattier (*Phoenix dactylifera*) vendus à Kaduna, Nigeria, et leur sensibilité aux antibiotiques

*¹Obajuluwa, A. F., ¹Yagat, D. S., et ²Durowaiye, M. T.

¹Département de Microbiologie Pharmaceutique et de Biotechnologie, Faculté des Sciences Pharmaceutiques, Université d'État de Kaduna, Kaduna, Nigéria

²Département de Microbiologie Pharmaceutique, Faculté de Pharmacie, Université d'Ibadan, Ibadan, Nigéria

*Correspondance à: afobajuluwa@gmail.com; +234 8036207703; ID ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1679-6616

Résumé:

Contexte: La résistance aux antibiotiques est aujourd'hui un défi majeur de la thérapie antimicrobienne des infections. Les bactéries d'origine alimentaire peuvent servir de réservoir pour la transmission de souches résistantes aux antibiotiques. Cette étude visait à déterminer les contaminants bactériens sur les fruits du palmier dattier vendus dans la métropole de Kaduna et à déterminer le schéma de résistance aux antibiotiques des bactéries isolées. **Méthodologie:** Au total, 60 échantillons de fruits de palmier dattier (*Phoenix dactylifera* L.) ont été prélevés au hasard dans cinq grands marchés de la métropole de Kaduna. Le nombre total de bactéries et de coliformes totaux a été déterminé à l'aide de la méthode de la plaque de coulée. Des tests Gram, coloration, microscopie et biochimiques ont été effectués pour isoler les contaminants bactériens. Un test de sensibilité aux antibiotiques pour les antibiotiques couramment prescrits a également été effectué par la méthode de diffusion sur gélose et le pourcentage de résistance aux antibiotiques a été déterminé. Les données ont été analysées à l'aide de statistiques descriptives sur Microsoft Excel.

Résultats: Les résultats ont montré que la plage de numération bactérienne totale moyenne était de 4×10^5 à 2,7×10⁶. La plage de numération moyenne des coliformes était de 8×10^3 -1,2×10⁶. Les bactéries suivantes ont été isolées; *Staphylococcus aureus* (35,7%), *Streptococcus* spp (21,4%), *Escherichia coli* (12,5%), *Bacillus subtilis* (8,9%), *Enterobacter* spp (8,9%), *Proteus mirabilis* (7,1%) et *Salmonella* Typhi (5,4%). La gentamicine (43,2%) et le cotrimoxazole (47,4%) étaient les plus actifs contre les isolats Gram-positifs et Gram-négatifs, respectivement. Les isolats bactériens ont montré un haut niveau de résistance aux antibiotiques avec 57,1% de multirésistance, 10,7% de résistance extensive et 5,4% de résistance à tous les antibiotiques testés.

Conclusion: Le niveau élevé de contamination et de résistance aux antibiotiques observé dans cette étude est alarmant et préoccupant pour la santé publique, car les dattes sont très consommées dans cette partie du pays. Il est recommandé de laver soigneusement les dattes à l'eau claire avant de les manger.

Mots clés: Fruits du palmier dattier, Résistance, Antibiotiques, Bactéries

Introduction:

Date fruits are one-seeded fruits of date palm tree (*Phoenix dactylifera*), which belong to the family of Palmae (Arecaceae) plant. The common English names include dried dates and date palm. Date fruits are usually oblong, with varying sizes, shapes, colors, consistencies and quality. Date fruit is regarded to as a pivotal crop that is extensively farmed in the Middle East and Africa (1), and these regions are responsible for the exportation of date products worldwide (2). Date fruits are one of the most common fruits consumed by Nigerians. It is known as *Dabino* or *Dabinu* in Hausa language, and is mostly grown and cultivated in the northern part of the country.

Date fruits can be consumed fresh after harvest or can be semi-dried or totally dried for consumption. It is an important component of the diet in most of the hot arid and semi-arid regions of the world, and is known to contain carbohydrates, mostly in form of fructose and glucose (total sugars content is 35-88%), fats (0.2-0.4%), proteins (2.3-5.6%), fibers (6.4-11.5%), and minerals and vitamins (3,4). Other studies have shown that Date fruits contain many bioactive compounds such as anthocyanins, carotenoids, phenolics, sterols, procyanidins and flavonoids, which are thought to have beneficial effects on human health (5-8). They are also rich in polyphenols and functional dietary fiber that help to maintain the functions of the digestive tracts (9,10). The antimutagenic, antioxidant, anticarcinogenic and anti-inflammatory bioactivities of Date fruits have been attributed to the contribution of polyphenols (11).

Microbial contaminants have been isolated from Date fruits, including yeasts, molds, lactic acid bacteria and some potential pathogens such as Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli, and Aspergillus flavus/parasiticus (12, 13). Bacteria growth can be facilitated by high moisture content of the Date flesh, but on the other hand, growth of molds become prominent when the Dates are dried and stored (14). The increasing rate of bacteria developing resistance to antibiotics globally is alarming, and antibiotic resistant bacterial strains have been isolated from ready-to-eat fruits and vegetables (15). This study therefore aimed to assess the bacteria contaminants in Dates fruits sold in Kaduna metropolis and to determine the antibiotic susceptibility of the isolates.

Materials and method:

Study setting and Date fruit samples collection:

A total of 60 samples of Dates fruits (*Phoenix dactylifera* L.) each wrapped in polythene bags (as was being sold) were purchased randomly from five major locations in Kaduna metropolis, Kaduna State, Nigeria. The locations were Gonin gora, Central market, Sabo tasha, Ungwa Rimi and Kawo markets.

Preparation of Date palm fruits for analysis:

The samples of the Date fruits were cleaned and pitted. About 5g of the fruits were aseptically weighed into sterile stomacher bags and 45ml normal saline was added. Samples were homogenized for 15 minutes and aliquots were used for microbiological analysis. One milli-liter of the aliquot from each sample was added into a tube containing 9ml of sterile normal saline, thoroughly shaken, and serially diluted up to 10^{-5} .

Determination of bacteria and coliform counts:

A 0.1ml each of the serially diluted sample $(10^{-3} \text{ and } 10^{-4})$ were spread over the surface of the nutrient agar plates (for viable bacteria count), and on MacConkey agar plates (for coliform count), with the aid of sterile glass spreader. This was done in duplicates for each dilution. The plates were incubated at 37° C for 24 hours, following which viable bacteria and coliform colonies were counted to determine the total bacterial and coliform counts, expressed as colony forming unit per millimeter (CFU/ml). Pure colonies from the total bacteria counts were isolated by sub-culturing on fresh nutrient agar plates. The pure cultures were preserved on nutrient agar slants for further studies.

Identification of bacterial isolates:

The culture plates were examined for colony morphology, and bacteria identified following Gram staining reaction, conventional biochemical tests and growth on selective media. The biochemical identification tests performed included catalase, coagulase, methyl red, Voges Proskauer, indole, triple sugar iron, oxidase and citrate utilization tests (16).

Antibiotic susceptibility test:

The agar disc diffusion method was used for antibiotic susceptibility test according to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (17) guideline. A sub-culture of the bacterial isolate from nutrient agar slant was prepared on nutrient agar plate and incubated aerobically overnight. Colonies from the plate were emulsified aseptically in sterile saline to produce inoculum equivalent to 0.5 McFarland turbidity standard (~1.5 × 10⁸ CFU/ml). A sterile swab was dipped into the standardized inoculum and squeezed gently against the inside of the tube to remove excess fluids. The swab was streaked on sterile Mueller Hinton agar plate and allowed to dry for 5 minutes. Antibiotic discs were then placed on the surface of the agar using sterile forceps, and the plates were inverted carefully and incubated for 24 hours at 37° C. The diameter of zone of inhibition for each antibiotic was measured with a metric ruler and interpreted as sensitive, intermediate or resistant according to the interpretative chart of CLSI (17). The following antibiotic discs (Bio-Rad[®], Ca, USA) were used; tetracycline (30µg), gentamicin (10µg), cefoxitin (30 µg), erythromycin (15µg), ceftriaxone (30µg), chloramphenicol (30µg), ciprofloxacin (5µg), amoxicillin-clavulanate (30µg) and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (1.25/23.75µg).

Determination of multiple antibiotic resistance:

The bacterial isolates resistant to at least one agent in three or more antimicrobial categories were classified as multidrug resistant (MDR) while extensively drug resistant (XDR) isolates were defined as those that were nonsusceptible to all the antibiotic categories used except one or two. Pandrug resistance (PDR) was defined as non-susceptibility to all agents in all antimicrobial categories used (18).

Statistical analysis:

The data was analysed using descriptive analysis through Microsoft excel.

Results:

The total bacteria viable count from the samples of Date fruits from different sites in Kaduna metropolis varies from 4×10^5 to 2.7×10^6 CFU/ml while coliform count varies from 8×10^3 to 1.2×10^6 CFU/ml (Table 1). Samples collected from Ungwan rimi had the highest total bacteria count (2.7×10^6 CFU/ml) and coliform counts (1.2×10^6) while Gonin gora had the least bacteria count (4×10^5 CFU/ml).

A total number of 56 bacterial isolates; 19 (33.9%) Gram-positives and 37 (66.1%) Gram-negatives, were recovered on cultures, with *S. aureus* 20 (35.7%) being the most frequent bacteria isolates. Other isolated bacteria were *Streptococcus* spp, *E. coli, Bacillus subtilis, Proteus mirabilis, Enterobacter* spp and *Salmonella* Typhi. Sample collected from Ungwan Rimi market had the highest frequency of bacteria isolates (Table 2).

S/N	Market sample location	Total viable bacteria count (CFU/ml)	Total coliform count (CFU/ml)
1	Ungwa Rimi (U)	2.7 × 10 ⁶	1.2×10^{6}
2	Gonin gora (G)	4×10^{5}	5×10^4
3	Central (C)	5×10^{5}	6×10^{4}
4	Kawo (K)	7×10^{5}	1×10^{5}
5	Sabon tasha (S)	2.3 × 10 ⁶	8×10^{3}

Table 1: Total viable bacteria and coliform counts of Date fruits from selected markets, Kaduna, Nigeria

CFU/ml = Colony forming unit per milliliter

Table 2: Frequency of bacterial isolates of Date fruits from different market sample sites in Kaduna, Nigeria

Bacteria isolates	Central	Ungwa Rimi	Sabo tasha	Gonin gora	Kawo	Total (%)
Proteus mirabilis	1	0	3	0	0	4 (7.1)
Staphylococcus aureus	5	3	3	5	4	20 (35.7)
Streptococcus spp	2	5	1	2	2	12 (21.4)
Bacillus subtilis	1	1	1	1	1	5 (8.9)
Escherichia coli	1	1	2	1	2	7 (12.5)
Enterobacter spp	1	1	1	1	1	5 (8.9)
Salmonella Typhi	0	1	0	1	1	3 (5.4)
Total	11	12	11	11	11	56 (100)

Table 3: Antibiotic susceptibility of Gram positive and Gram-negative bacterial isolates of Date fruits in Kaduna, Nigeria

Antibiotic	Gram positive	isolates (n =	37)	Gram negative	e isolates (n = 1	19)
	S	I	R	s	I	R
Tetracycline (30µg)	3 (8.1)	10 (27.0)	24 (64.8)	7 (36.8)	2 (10.5)	10 (52.6)
Ceftriaxone (30µg)	14 (37.8)	9 (24.3)	14 (37.8)	9 (47.4)	4 (21.1)	6 (31.6)
Ciprofloxacin (5µg)	8 (21.6)	8 (21.6)	21 (56.7)	4 (21.1)	12 (63.2)	3 (15.8)
Erythromycin (15µg)	15 (40.5)	11 (29.7)	11 (29.7)	5 (26.3)	3 (15.8)	11 (57.9)
Chloramphenicol (30µg)	11 (29.7)	13 (35.1)	13 (35.1)	7 (36.8)	4 (21.1)	8 (42.1)
Amoxicillin-Clavulanate (30µg)	10 (27.0)	4 (11.8)	23 (62.1)	4 (21.1)	3 (15.8)	12 (63.2)
Gentamicin (10µg)	16 (43.2)	2 (5.4)	19 (51.4)	8 (42.1)	3 (15.8)	8 (42.1)
Co-trimoxazole (1.25/23.75µg)	15 (40.5)	7 (18.9)	15 (40.5)	9 (47.4)	7 (36.8)	3 (15.8)
Cefoxitin (30µg)	11 (29.7)	0	26 (70.3)			

S = Sensitive; I = Intermediate; R = Resistance

Comparing the antibiotic susceptibility of the Gram-positive and Gram-negative isolates, highest susceptibility was observed to gentamicin (43.2%) and cotrimoxazole (47.4%) by Gram-positive and Gram-negative isolates respectively (Table 3), although *E. coli* was highly susceptible to gentamicin (71.4%) (Table 4). Out of the 20 *S. aureus* isolates, 12 (60%) were phenotypically methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA). The result of the antibiotic susceptibility of the MRSA isolates showed that 1 (8.3%) was resistant to all the antibiotics tested (pandrug resistant). The MRSA isolates were highly resistant to all the beta lactam antibiotics tested

(Table 5). The resistant pattern of the Gramnegative isolates showed that 11 (57.9%) were multidrug resistant, 3 (15.8%) were extensively resistant while 1 (5.3%) was resistant to all the antibiotics tested.

Discussion:

Bacterial contamination of fruits and vegetables is a potential source of foodborne infection which is of public health concern. In this study all the Date fruits sampled were highly contaminated. The results of the total bacteria viable count show the level of contamination in the sampled fruits to be higher than the allowed limit of not greater than 10^4 CFU/g (19). The observed bacterial contamination may be from handling, packaging and the environment. The vendors usually use bare hands to pack the fruits into polythene bags before selling. In some places, the fruits are measured directly for sale using milk tins, all of which can contribute to the high total bacteria viable count.

The total bacteria viable count reported in our study agrees with reports of previous studies. Raimi (4) reported similar bacterial load of 4×10^5 to 2×10^6 CFU/ml from Date fruits

purchased in Owode market Offa, Kwara State, Nigeria, but lower bacterial load was reported by Umar et al., (20) and Aleid et al., (3) from Date fruits sold in Katsina metropolis Nigeria and in Saudi respectively. High coliform count may be an indication of faecal contamination. The values are higher than 10² (CFU/g) coliform limit specified by the Public Health Laboratory Services of Saudi Arabia (19,21). Some of the fruits for sale are kept openly in bowls and wheelbarrows in the open market where they are exposed to possible contamination by houseflies. Housefly can, through its vomits or excrements, transmit *E. coli* that causes diarrhoea or other pathogens that cause shigellosis, typhoid fever and cholera (22). Consuming such contaminated fruits constitute a potential health hazard to the society.

In comparison with other studies on microbiological assessment of Date fruits, lower coliform counts were reported (20,23) and the absence of coliform bacteria and *E. coli* was observed in fresh Dates samples in Dhaka city (24). The highest bacteria and coliform count observed from the samples from Ungwa Rimi market might be an indication of the poor state of hygiene of the vendors in that market compared with other markets.

	Proteus mirabilis (n=4)		Escherichia coli (n=7)			Enterobacter spp (n=5)			
Antibiotics	% S	% I	% R	% S	% I	% R	% S	% I	% R
Tetracycline (30µg)	50	0	50	28.6	14.3	57.1	60	20	20
Ceftriaxone (30µg)	50	0	50	57.1	0	42.9	20	40	40
Ciprofloxacin (5µg)	25	25	50	14.3	85.7	0	0	80	20
Chloramphenicol (30µg)	25	25	50	28.6	14.3	57.1	80	0	20
Amoxicillin-Clavulanate (30µg)	25	25	50	28.6	0	71.4	20	40	40
Gentamicin (30µg)	25	0	75	71.4	0	28.6	20	20	60
Co-trimoxazole (1.25/23.75µg)	50	25	25	57.1	42.9	0	60	20	20

S = Sensitive; I = Intermediate; R = Resistance

Table 5: Antibiotic resistance of MRSA isolates from Date fruits in Kaduna, Nigeria

Antibiotics	Resistant n (%)	Sensitive n (%)
Tetracycline (30µg)	11 (91.7)	1 (8.3)
Ceftriaxone (30µg)	8 (66.7)	4 (33.3)
Ciprofloxacin (5µg)	11 (91.7)	1 (8.3)
Erythromycin (15µg)	9 (75.0)	3 (25.0)
Chloramphenicol (10µg)	8 (66.7)	4 (33.3)
Amoxicillin-Clavulanate (30µg)	11 (91.7)	1 (8.3)
Gentamicin (30µg)	6 (50.0)	6 (50.0)
Cotrimoxazole (1.25/23.75µg)	7 (58.3)	5 (41.7)

The pathogenic organisms isolated from the Date fruits in this study included S. aureus, E. coli, Bacillus subtilis, Streptococcus spp, Enterobacter spp, S. Typhi and P. mirabilis. S. aureus was the most frequent isolate, which is usually carried transiently in the anterior nares of about 30% healthy individuals and about 20% individuals have it on their skin. Through direct tissue invasion, S. aureus can cause skin infections, pneumonia, endocarditis, osteomyelitis and infectious arthritis. In a related study (4), similar microorganisms were isolated from Date fruits purchased from Owode market in Offa, Nigeria while S. aureus, Klebsiella and Bacillus spp were isolated from Date fruits in Ado Ekiti and Akure, Nigeria (25). Each of these isolated organisms are potentially hazardous to human health. Although E. coli may be a harmless commensal flora of the gastrointestinal tract, it can cause relatively mild diarrhoea but some E. coli pathotypes can cause severe stomach cramps, bloody diarrhoea and vomiting, and extra-intestinal infections such as urinary tract infection, blood stream infections and neonatal meningitis. Salmonella Typhi is the causative organism of typhoid fever, which is usually acquired from contaminated food and water (26). Bacteremia, endocarditis, pneumonia and septicemia have also been attributed to B. subtilis.

The samples of the Date fruits used in this study were obtained from open market, implying the possibility of cross-transmission of multi-drug resistant bacterial pathogens, with gentamicin and co-trimoxazole being the only tested antibiotics, demonstrating some *in vitro* anti-microbial activity. The issue of antimicrobial resistance has become a great concern globally. Self-medication, purchase of antibiotics over the counter without prescription, proliferation of un -registered patent medicine stores and unrestricted sales of drugs including antibiotics in the open market are all possible factors responsible for increased rate of antimicrobial resistance.

Conclusion:

The Date palm fruits sampled in this study were all contaminated by bacteria pathogens above the official level considered fit for human consumption. High level of antibiotic resistance was also observed among the bacterial isolates, with gentamicin and co-trimoxazole being the only antibiotics demonstrating *in vitro* anti-bacterial actions against the pathogens. It is recommended that there should be increased awareness among the fruit vendors on good personal hygiene, the dangers of consuming contaminated fruits among the general public. Also, increased advocacies about the implications of antibacterial resistance and the methods of prevention in the society are highly recommended.

Contributions of authors:

AFO conceived the idea, designed the study, and wrote the initial manuscript; DSY was involved in sample collection, and MTD was involved in data analysis. All the authors approved the final manuscript.

Source of funding:

No funding was received for the study.

Conflict of interest:

Authors declared no conflict of interest.

References:

- Terral, J. F., Newton, C., Ivorra, S, et al. Insights into the historical biogeography of the Date palm (*Phoenix dactylifera* L.) using geometric morphometry of modern and ancient seeds. J Biogeogr. 2012; 39: 929-941.
- Assirey, E. A. Nutritional composition of fruit of 10 date palm (*Phoenix dactylifera* L.) cultivars grown in Saudi Arabia. J Taibah Univ Sci. 2015; 9: 75-79
- Aleid, S. M., Hassan, B. H., Almaiman, S. A., Al-Kahtani, S. H., and Ismail, S. M. Microbial loads and physicochemical characteristics of fruits from four Saudi date palm tree cultivars: conformity with applicable date standards. Food Nutr Sci. 2014; 5 (04): 316.
- Raimi, R. O. Microbiological assessment of date fruits purchased from Owode market, in Offa, Kwara State Nigeria. IOSR J Environ Sci Toxicol Food Technol. 2013; 4 (3): 23–26.
- Al Fooladi, M. H., and Tafti, A. G. A study on the physico-chemical properties of Iranian shamsaei date at different stages of maturity. World J Dairy Food Sci., 2006; 1 (1): 28-32
- Allaith, A. A. Antioxidant activity of Bahraini date palm (*Phoenix dactylifera L.*) fruit of various cultivars. Int J Food Sci Technol. 2007; 43 (6): 1033–1040
- Benamara, S., Gougam, H., Amellal, H., Djouab, A., Benahmed, A., and Noui, Y. Some Technologic Proprieties of Common Date (*Phoenix dactylifera L*.). Fruits. Am J Food Technol. 2008; 3 (2):79-88.
- Benamara, S., Khireddine, H., Amellal, H., and Djouab, A. Drying and browning of date pulp during hot air and microwave drying. Afr J Food Agric Nutr Dev. 2009; 5 (9), 1161-1173.
- Al-Farsi, M., Álasalvar C., Morris A., et al. Comparison of antioxidant activity, anthocyanins, carotenoids, and phenolics of three native fresh and sun-dried date (*Phoenix dactylifera* L.) varieties grown in Oman. J Agric Food Chem. 2005; 53: 7592-7599.
- Habib, H. M, Platat, C., Meudec, E., et al. Polyphenolic compounds in Date fruit seed (*Phoenix dactylifera*): characterization and quantification by using UPLC-DAD-ESI-MS. J Sci Food Agric. 2014; 94: 1084-1089.
- 11. Maqsood, S., Adiamo, O., Ahmad, M., et al. Bioactive compounds from date fruit and seed as

potential nutraceutical and functional food ingredients. Food Chem. 2020; 308: 125522. doi: <u>10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.12552</u>

- 12. Kader, A. A. Recommendations for maintaining postharvest quality. Department of Plant Science, University of California, Davis. 2007. http://postharvest.ucdavis.edu/ProduceFacts/Fruit/Dates.shtml.
- Hamad, S. H. Microbial spoilage of date Rutab collected from the markets of Al-Hofuf City in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. J Food Protect. 2008; 71 (7): 1406-1411.
- 14. Rygg, G. L. Effect of Temperature and Moisture Content on the Rate of Deterioration in Deglet Noor Dates, 1956.
- Obajuluwa, A. F., Kefas, A., and Parom, S. K. Antibiotics susceptibility pattern of bacteria isolated from ready-to-eat vegetables sold in Mohammadu Gumi market, Kaduna, Nigeria. Nig J Pharm Res. 2020; S1: 131-137
 - http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/njpr.v16i2.15S
- Cheesbrough, M. District Laboratory Practice in Tropical Countries, Part 2. Cambridge University Press, 2002: 135-142, 158-159.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing approved standard M100, M02, M07, and M11. 28th Edition. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA. 2018
- Magiorakos, A.P., Srinivasan, A., Carey, R.B., et al. Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant, and pandrug-resistant bacteria: an international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. Clin Microbiol and Infect. 2012; 18 (3): 268-281.
- 19. Public Health Laboratory Services (PHLS). Micro-

biological Guidelines for some ready-to-eat foods sampled at the point of sale: An expert opinion from the PHLS. PHLS Microbiol Digest. 1996; 13: 41-43.

- Umar, Z.D., Bilkisu, A., and Bashir, A. Bacteriological analysis of Date palm fruits sold in Katsina metropolis. Int J Environ. 2014; 3(2):83-87.
- 21. Public Health Laboratory Services (PHLS). Provisional Microbiological Guidelines for some ready-toeat foods sampled at point of sale, Notes for PHLS Food Examiners. PHLS Microbiol Digest. 1992; 9: 98-99.
- Issa, R. *Musca domestica* acts as transport vector hosts. Bulletin of National Resource Centre. 2019; 43: 73.
- Abekhti, A., Zarour K., Boulal A., Benmechernene Z., and Kihal M., Evaluation of Microbiological Quality of the Date Fruit Product "Btana" Produced in Adrar South Algeria, J Microbiol Res. 2013; 3 (5): 163-170.

doi: 10.5923/j.microbiology.20130305.01.

- Zamir, R., Nazmul Islam, A. B. M., Anisur, R., Sunzid, A., and Faruque, M. O. Microbiological Quality Assessment of Popular Fresh Date Samples Available in Local Outlets of Dhaka City, Bangladesh. Int J of Food Sci. 2018; Article ID 7840296, 4 https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7840296
- Akomolafe, O. M., and Awe, T. V. Microbial contamination and polyethylene packaging of some fruits and vegetables retailed at Akure and Ado Ekiti, South Western Nigeria. J Stored Products Postharvest Res. 2017; 8 (6): 65-72. doi: 10.5897/JSPPR2017.0236
- Parry, C. M., Hien, T. T., Dougan, G., White, N. J., and Farrar, J. Typhoid fever. N Engl J Med. 2002; 347 (22): 1770-1782.

Bakari et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 80 - 87

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2220. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.10

Original Article

https://www.afrjcem.org

Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1



Open Access

Association of intestinal helminthic infection and nutritional status of primary school children in Gombe State, Nigeria

Bakari, H. B., *Aliu, R., Manga, M. M., Wasinda, S. B., and Usman, A. S.

Federal Teaching Hospital, Gombe, Nigeria *Correspondence to: <u>aliu.abdurrazaq11@qmail.com</u>; +2348066536823

Abstract:

Background: Intestinal helminthic infections are among the commonest infections worldwide. It often affects the poorest communities and has similar geographic distribution with malnutrition. Intestinal helminthic infection contributes to undernutrition through subtle reduction in digestion and absorption of food, chronic inflammation and loss of nutrients. The objective of this study is to determine the prevalence of intestinal helminthic infection and its relationship with nutritional status of primary school children in Gombe, Gombe State, Nigeria.

Methodology: This was a cross sectional study of 350 pupils selected through multistage random sampling technique from 24 primary schools in Gombe, Gombe State, Nigeria from July 2018 to January 2019. Demographic information including age, gender, height, and weight were collected from each participant with a designed collection form. The data were analysed using SPSS version 24.0, and presented as frequency distribution and mean \pm SD. The Chi-square test (with Odds ratio and 95% confidence interval) was used to test for association between prevalence of helminthiasis and factors such as gender, age group and school type. A *p* value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant at 95% confidence interval.

Results: The prevalence of intestinal helminthic infection was 23.7% (83/350). Eighty (96.4%) of the 83 infected pupils were in public schools while only 3 (3.6%) were in private schools (p<0.001). The prevalence of helminthiasis was significantly higher in underweight pupils (34%, OR=2.113, p=0.0065)) and significantly lower (5.4%, OR=0.1637, p=0.0037) in overweight pupils while the prevalence was not significantly associated with normal weight (p=0.5482) or obesity (p=1.000).

Conclusions: Intestinal helminthic infection is a public health problem in children with adverse significant relationship with nutritional status. Provision of toilet facilities in schools and periodic de-worming of pupils aimed at reducing loss of nutrients from intestinal helminthiasis are recommended.

Keywords: Intestinal helminths, school, pupils, nutritional status.

Received Sept 9, 2022; Revised Oct 25, 2022; Accepted Nov 1, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Association de l'infection helminthique intestinale et de l'état nutritionnel des enfants de l'école primaire dans l'État de Gombe, au Nigeria

Bakari, H. B., *Aliu, R., Manga, M. M., Wasinda, S. B., et Usman, A. S.

Hôpital Universitaire Fédéral, Gombe, Nigéria *Correspondance à: <u>aliu.abdurrazag11@gmail.com;</u> +2348066536823

Résumé:

Contexte: Les infections intestinales helminthiques sont parmi les infections les plus courantes dans le monde. Elle affecte souvent les communautés les plus pauvres et a une répartition géographique similaire à la malnutrition. L'infection helminthique intestinale contribue à la dénutrition par une réduction subtile de la digestion et de l'absorption des aliments, une inflammation chronique et une perte de nutriments. L'objectif de cette étude est de déterminer la prévalence de l'infection helminthique intestinale et sa relation avec l'état nutritionnel des enfants de l'école primaire à Gombe, dans l'État de Gombe, au Nigeria.

Méthodologie: Il s'agissait d'une étude transversale de 350 élèves sélectionnés par une technique d'échantillonnage aléatoire à plusieurs étapes dans 24 écoles primaires de Gombe, dans l'État de Gombe, au Nigéria, de juillet 2018 à janvier 2019. Des informations démographiques, notamment l'âge, le sexe, la taille et le poids, ont été recueillies auprès de chaque participant avec un formulaire de collecte conçu. Les données ont été analysées à l'aide de SPSS version 24.0, et présentées sous forme de distribution de fréquence et de moyenne \pm ET. Le test du chi carré (avec rapport de cotes et intervalle de confiance à 95%) a été utilisé pour tester l'association entre la prévalence des helminthiases et des facteurs tels que le sexe, le groupe d'âge et le type d'école. Une valeur de p<0,05 a été considérée comme statistiquement significative à un intervalle de confiance de 95%.

Résultats: La prévalence des helminthiases intestinales était de 23,7% (83/350). Quatre-vingts (96,4%) des 83 élèves infectés étaient dans des écoles publiques alors que seulement 3 (3,6%) étaient dans des écoles privées (p<0,001). La prévalence des helminthiases était significativement plus élevée chez les élèves en insuffisance pondérale (34%, OR=2,113, p=0,0065)) et significativement plus faible (5,4%, OR=0,1637, p=0,0037) chez les élèves en surpoids, alors que la prévalence n'était pas significativement associée à un poids normal poids (p=0,5482) ou obésité (p=1,000).

Conclusion: L'infection intestinale helminthique est un problème de santé publique chez l'enfant ayant une relation défavorable significative avec l'état nutritionnel. La mise à disposition de toilettes dans les écoles et le déparasitage périodique des élèves visant à réduire la perte de nutriments due aux helminthiases intestinales sont recommandés.

Mots-clés: helminthes intestinaux, école, élèves, état nutritionnel.

Introduction:

Intestinal helminthiases are among the most common infections worldwide. It affects the poorest and most deprived communities (1, 2). The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that over 1.5 billion people are infected with helminths worldwide (1). Over 270 million preschool-age children and over 600 million schoolaged children live in areas where these helminths are intensively transmitted. The public health burden and prevalence of intestinal helminths in Nigeria are increasing, with 45% of school-age children infected annually (3,5,6). Globally, about 100 million children experience stunting or wasting because of worm infestation (7). Undernutrition remains the world most serious health challenge and the single biggest contributor to child mortality (7).

Intestinal helminthic infections contribute to child undernutrition through subtle reduction in digestion and absorption of food, chronic inflammation and loss of nutrient, thus resulting in decreased immunity and increased susceptibility to infections (2,8). In addition, intestinal helminths secrete toxic bioactive compounds within the small intestine of the host, which deplete nutrients and impair absorption, thereby playing an important role in childhood malnutrition (9,10).

The 2018 National Nutrition and Health Survey (NNHS) showed that Nigeria accounts for 36% of malnourished children worldwide. However, the prevalence of malnutrition in Gombe State, Nigeria was 44% (11). This burden is likely to be increasing due to the activities of the terrorist organization "*Boko Haram*" which has led to displacement of people from Borno and Yobe to other north-eastern States especially Gombe State, thereby increasing the population of Gombe, leading to water scarcity and increased rate of infections, especially helminthic infections. This might further worsen the nutritional status of children in Gombe. There is therefore the need to improve the nutritional status of children in this State which has prompted the conduct of this study.

Information on the prevalence of helminthiasis will be necessary to provide appropriate authorities on the need to implement periodic deworming of primary school pupils in Gombe, as this may improve the nutritional status of pupils, to enable them attain their full potentials as adults. The objective of this study therefore is to determine the prevalence of intestinal helminthiasis among primary school pupils in Gombe LGA of Gombe State in Nigeria and to establish its association with nutritional status of the pupils.

Materials and method:

Study area:

The study was conducted in Gombe local government area (LGA), Gombe, the capital of Gombe State, located in the north-east geopolitical zone of Nigeria. Gombe LGA has 11 wards with a projected population of 280,000. There are 150 registered primary schools, of which 33 are government-aided and 117 are privately owned. Gombe has two distinct weather conditions; dry season (November to March) and the rainy season (April to October) with an average rainfall of 850mm (12). The indigenous people are mainly traders, farmers, artisans and civil servants, and the staple food in the State includes rice, maize and guinea corn.

Study design and subject participants:

This was a descriptive cross-sectional study of primary school children in Gombe LGA.

All primary school children whose parents/guardians gave informed consent, and children 7 years and above who gave informed assent in addition to consent were eligible and recruited for the study. Children with history suggestive of chronic illnesses such as HIV, diabetes mellitus and sickle cell anaemia were excluded.

Sample size estimation and sampling procedure:

The sample size of 375 was determined using the Fischer formula (13). A multi-stage random sampling technique was used to select the pupils. In the first stage, from the list of the 11 wards in Gombe LGA, 6 wards were selected by simple random sampling with balloting without replacement. The schools in the selected ward were stratified based on ownership into public and private. Three private and 1 public school were selected in the second stage from each selected ward using simple random sampling by balloting, which gave a total of 24 schools from the 6 selected wards.

In the third stage, the number recruited from each school and class was determined by the proportionate sampling method. After determining the number to be recruited from each class, the class register was used as a sampling frame and the pupils were selected by using systematic sampling technique. The sampling interval was determined by dividing the total number of pupils in each class by the number of pupils selected from the class. Pupils who did not fulfil the inclusion criteria were omitted and the next pupil on the list was selected. Thereafter, the sampling interval was used for selection of subsequent study participants.

Ethical consideration

Ethical approval was obtained from the Federal Teaching Hospital Gombe Research and Ethical Committee (NHREC/25/10/2013). A written permission was sought from the Education Secretary, Gombe State Universal Basic Education Board (SUBEB) and the management of the selected schools. Informed consent was obtained from the parents/guardians and pupils 7 years and above gave assent. The study was at no cost to the participants and all participants received albendazole 400mg stat.

Data and sample collection:

The study was conducted over a period of 7 months (July 2018-January 2019). A pilot study was carried out using 10% of the targeted sample size (38 participants) in a school that was not involved in the main study. This allowed the researcher to pre-test the research tools. No major changes were however made to the research materials following the pre-test study. The questionnaires were filled by the study subjects and their parents/guardians, and each subject was then examined for presence/absence of pallor and oedema. The weight and height of each pupil were subsequently measured.

Measurement of weight, height and calculation of body mass index:

The weight of each pupil was measured using a calibrated standardized digital weighing scale (OMRON BF400), with the accuracy of the scale set to the nearest 0.5 kg, with average of two readings taken. The height was measured using a wooden stadiometer placed on a flat surface to the nearest 0.1 cm at the eye level of the examiner. The BMI was calculated using the formula; BMI (Kg/m²)=weight (Kg)/height (m²), and the WHO growth chart was used to interpret the BMI results; with BMI below the 5th percentile classified as underweight, 5th to less than 85th percentile as normal, 85th to less than 95th percentile as overweight, and 95th and above as obesity (14).

Stool sample collection:

Stool samples were collected into clean polythene bag using a spatula (in a well-formed stool) or a spoon (in diarrheal stool) from where a small piece of stool was transferred into a welllabelled universal container containing information on subject age, gender and code number. The samples were transported within one hour of collection to the Research/Teaching Microbiology Laboratory, Gombe State University in a cold box and examined within one hour of collection.

Direct wet mount microscopy:

Direct wet mount was used to examine diarrheal stools. Using an applicator stick, a pinhead size of stool sample was applied to a small area on a clean glass slide and gross fibres and particles were removed immediately. Two drops of saline were added with a pipette and mixed with the tip of the applicator stick specimen was then covered with a cover slip. The cover-slip(s) was sealed using paraffin oil to prevent the preparation from drying out.

The slide was examined under a lowpower microscope objective (10x). When a parasite-like object came into view, it was then examined and identified under high power (40x) objective of the microscope for ova or larvae of parasite (13). A total of 10 fields were examined in each slide for 10 minutes before a slide was declared to be negative. The medical microbiologist and the lead author examined the slides and where there was a discordance, a laboratory scientist served as the tie-breaker.

Formol-ether concentration method:

About 3g of faeces were suspended in 10 ml of 10% formol-saline (formalin in saline) solution and mixed with a glass rod. The suspension was sieved (0.5mm mesh sieve) into a centrifuge tube. Then 3ml of ether was added and the mixture was shaken vigorously before centrifuging for 5 minutes at 3,000 rpm, after which the supernatant was discarded leaving the sediment. A drop of the sediment was placed on a glass slide and covered with a cover slip. A drop of iodine added to the side of the cover slip then the deposit examined using 10x and 40x objectives of the microscope for ova or larvae. In each slide, 10 fields were examined for 10 to 15 minutes (15).

Stoll method for counting ova of parasites:

Ova of parasites was counted using the method of Stoll and Hausheer (16). Forty-two millilitres of water were measured into a dish, then a tongue depressor was used to push 3g of faeces through a sieve into the water, then the sieve was lifted above the dish to allow remaining water from the faeces to drip while stirring the water-faeces mixture. The suspension of 0.15ml spread over two slides; each slide was then covered with a long cover slip. Both slides were examined for worm eggs, the total number of eggs counted X 100 represents the number of eggs per gram of faeces. Since 0.15 ml is 1/300 of 45ml (42ml water and 3g faeces), the number of eggs in 0.15ml x 100 is equal to 1/3 of the total number of eggs in the original 3g and thus equal to eggs per gram (EPG).

Data analysis

All data generated were processed and analysed using the IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences (IBM SPSS) software version 24.0. The means and standard deviations of quantitative variables were calculated while Chisquare test (with Odds ratio and 95% confidence interval) was used to determine association of nutritional status of participants with prevalence of helminthiasis. A p<0.05 was considered statistically significant

Results:

Three hundred and seventy-five pupils aged 5-14 years from 24 primary schools were

recruited for the study but data of only 350 pupils were used for analysis due to missing and incomplete data. The mean age of the pupils was 9.51 ± 2.20 years, and the male to female ratio was 1 to 1.2. One hundred and forty-seven (42%) are from low socio-economic status, and most of the pupils (233, 66.6%) were from public schools while 117 (33.4%) were from private schools (Table 1).

Prevalence and types of intestinal helminths isolated among the pupils:

Out of the 350 pupils, 83 were infected with helminths, giving a prevalence of 23.7%. Pupils in public schools accounted for 96.4% of the infections. Out of the 83 helminths identified, the most frequent was *Ascaris lumbricoides* (22, 26.5%) while the least frequent was *Trichuris trichuria* (2, 0.6%). Multiple helminths were identified in 15 (18.1%) subjects (Fig 1).

Nutritional status of the participants in Gombe using BMI:

The mean weight of the subjects was 25.6 ± 7.32 kg and mean height of 130 ± 11.56 cm. Two hundred and six (58.9%) pupils had normal weight, 100 (28.6%) were underweight, 37 (10.6%) overweight and 7 (2.0%) were obese (Fig 2).

BMI in relation to sociodemographic characteristics of the study subjects

Table 2 shows bivariate analysis of the association between sociodemographic characteristics and body mass index (BMI) of the pupils. There was no significant association of underweight, normal weight, overweight and obesity with age groups, gender, and socio-economic status of the pupils (p>0.05), except for pupil in the high socio-economic class who had significantly higher prevalence of overweight (17.1%) than pupils in the middle (12.4%) and low socio-economic class (5.4%) (p=0.0167). The was statistically significant association between school types and underweight (OR=0.3943, p=0.0012), and school type and overweight (OR = 4.367, p<0.0001) (Table 2).

Characteristics	Frequency (n = 350)	Percentages (%)
School ownership		
Public	233	66.5
Private	117	33.4
Age group (years)		
5 - 9	156	44.6
10 -14	194	55.4
Gender		
Male	164	46.9
Female	186	53.1
Ethnicity/tribe		
Fulani	143	40.9
Hausa	82	23.4
Tera	30	8.6
Others	95	27.1
Socio economic class		
High	82	23.8
Middle	121	34.6
Low	147	42.0
Family type		
Monogamous	189	54
Polygamous	161	46
Number in household		
< 6	99	28.3
> 6	251	71 7

Table 1:	Sociodemographic	characteristics	of the	study	participants
	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e	0.101.0000	0. 00	ocaa,	parciparico



Fig 1: Pie chart showing prevalence and types of intestinal helminths isolated in the subjects



Fig 2: Bar chart showing BMI of the study subjects in percentages

Variable	Underweight	Normal weight	Over weight	Obese
Age group (years)				
5-9 years (n=156)	48 (30.8)	89 (57.1)	17 (10.9)	2 (1.3)
10-14 years (n=194)	52 (26.8)	117 (60.3)	20 (10.3)	5 (2.6)
<i>x</i> ²	0.4860	0.2564	8.987E ⁻⁰⁶	0.2268
OR (95% CI)	1.214 (0.76-1.93)	0.8742 (0.57-1.34)	1.064 (0.54-2.11)	0.4909 (0.09-26)
P	0.4857	0.6126	0.9976	0.6339
Gender				
Male (n=164)	47 (28.7)	102 (62.2)	13 (7.9)	2 (1.2)
Female (n=186)	53 (28.5)	104 (55.9)	24 12.9)	5 (2.7)
X ²	0.001147	1.172	1.787	0.3562
OR (95% CI)	1.008 (0.63-1.61)	1.297 (0.85-1.99)	0.5811 (0.29-1.18)	0.4469 (0.09-0.23)
P	0.9730	0.2789	0.1813	0.5506
Socioeconomic class				
High (n=82)	18 (21.9)	47 (57.3)	14 (17.1)	3 (3.7)
Middle (n=121)	34 (28.1)	71 (58.7)	15 (12.4)	1 (0.8)
Low (n=147)	48 (32.7)	88 (59.9)	8 (5.4)	3 (2.0)
x ²	2.974	0.1435	8.184	2.002
р	0.2260	0.9308	0.0167*	0.3675
School type				
Private (n=117)	20 (17.1)	70 (59.8)	24 (20.5)	3 (2.6)
Public (n=233)	80 (34.3)	136 (58.4)	13 (5.6)	4 (1.7)
x ²	10.515	0.02152	16.827	0.01677
OR (95% CI)	0.3943 (0.23-0.69)	1.062 (0.68-1.67)	4.367 (2.13-8.95)	1.507 (0.33-0.69)
Р	0.0012*	0.8834	<0.0001*	0.8790

 Table 2: Bivariable analysis of sociodemographic characteristics in relation to body mass index of pupils in Gombe local government area, Gombe, Nigeria

*=statistically significant; OR-Odds ratio; CI-Confidence interval

BMI and adequacy of subject's diet:

Overweight was the only BMI category significantly associated with adequacy of 24-hour dietary intake, with inadequate dietary intake occurring significantly less frequently (24. 3%) among overweight pupils (OR=0.2959, p=0.0025) while there was no significant association of dietary intake with other BMI categories (Table 3).

Association of intestinal helminthic infection and nutritional status of pupils:

The prevalence of helminthiasis was significantly higher (OR=2.113, p=0.0065) among underweight pupils (34%) and significantly lower (OR=0.1637, p=0.0037) among overweight pupils (5.4%) while the prevalence was not significantly associated with normal weight (p= 0.5482) or obesity (p=1.000) (Table 4).

 Table 3: Bivariate analysis of the relationship of BMI with adequacy of typical 24-hour diet of pupils in Gombe local government area, Gombe, Nigeria

Variable	Inadequate diet n (%)	Adequate diet n (%)	<i>x</i> ²	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> value
Underweight	55 (55.0)	45 (45.0)	1.608	1.389 (0.8719-2.214)	0.2048
Normal weight	105 (51.0)	101 (49.0)	0.5035	1.195 (0.7799-1.830)	0.4780
Overweight	9 (24.3)	28 (75.7)	9.117	0.2958 (0.13-0.65)	0.0025*
Obese	3 (49.4)	4 (57.1)	0.1129	0.7722 (0.17-3.50)	0.7368
Total	172 (49.1)	178 (50.9)			

*=statistically significant; OR=Odds ratio; CI=confidence interval; x²=Chi-square

 Table 4: Bivariate analysis of the relationship between intestinal helminths and nutritional status of primary school pupils in Gombe

 local government area, Gombe, Nigeria

Variable	Infected n (%)	Uninfected n (%)	x ²	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> value
Underweight	34 (34.0)	66 (66.0)	7.411	2.113 (1.26-3.55)	0.0065*
Normal weight	46 (22.3)	160 (45.7)	0.3606	0.8314 (0.51-1.37)	0.5482
Over weight	2 (5.4)	35 (94.6)	6.577	0.1637 (0.04-0.69)	0.0037*
Obese	1 (14.3)	6 (85.7)	0.02063	0.5305 (0.06-4.47)	1.000
Total	83 (23.7)	267 (76.3)			

* Significant P value; OR=Odds ratio; CI=confidence interval; x²=Chi-square

Discussion:

The prevalence of 23.7% for intestinal helminthic infections in primary school children in this study is high and similar to the reports by some researchers (17,18). Body mass index was used for nutritional assessment and underweight was used as a composite indicator to reflect both acute and chronic undernutrition in this study. Pupils with helminthiasis had lower BMI compared to those without helminthiasis, with 34.0% of the underweight pupils being infected while only 5.4% of overweight pupils had infection. This is similar to report by Oninla et al., (19) among infected and uninfected primary school pupils in Osun State, southwest Nigeria. Similar report was also documented from Calabar, south-east Nigeria where Meremikwu et al., (20) reported that greater proportion of underweight, stunted and wasted children had intestinal helminth infection compared to their well-nourished counterparts. Okolo et al., (21) in Vom, Plateau State and Quihui-Cota et al., (22) in Mexico have also reported high prevalence of intestinal helminths among undernourished children.

In contrast to the findings of the current study, Ojurongbe et al., (23) in Ile-Ife and Ajayi et al., (24) in Lagos reported no significant difference in the nutritional status of infected and uninfected primary school children, although the mean weight and BMI of the infected children was lower than uninfected children. The sample size used in the study by Ojurongbe et al., (23) was small and the methodology adopted in arriving at the sample size was not stated. This may have affected the statistical power of their study resulting in false negative findings or type II error. It was difficult to give plausible explanation to the findings by Ajayi et al., (24) as stated by the authors themselves. This was because the findings of the study by Ajayi et al., (24) contrasted many studies and contradicted the theory that proved the known relationship between intestinal helminth and nutrition.

The prevalence of both undernutrition and helminthic infections were significantly higher in pupils from public schools. This is because majority of the pupils were from low socioeconomic families and all the public schools had poor sanitary/toilet facilities, which could lead to contamination of the environment and therefore increasing the risk of helminthic infection. This is similar to the reports by Ogwurike et al., (25) and Obiukwu et al., (26). Undernutrition has been shown to increase susceptibility to helminthic infections, which in turn impair the nutritional status of the host (27). Geographical clustering of helminthic infections, malnutrition and poverty has also been demonstrated similar to the finding of current study (28).

Conclusion:

The prevalence of intestinal helminthic infection among primary school children aged 5-14 years in Gombe LGA, Gombe State, Nigeria in our study was 23.7%, and majority of the infections were in children from public schools who belonged to low socioeconomic class. Under nutrition was significantly associated with intestinal helminthic infection in the pupils especially those in public schools. Therefore, provision of toilet facilities and clean water with regular provision of free antihelminth medications especially in public schools are recommended.

Acknowledgements:

The authors acknowledge the contributions of Baba Iliya, and Auwal Muhammad in keeping all the equipment used in this study clean and safe.

Contributions of authors:

HBB conceived the study idea and design, led the data collection, conducted analysis, drafted and critically reviewed and revised the manuscript; RA contributed to the study design, manuscript draft, critical review and revision of the manuscript; MMM contributed to the study design, critical review and revision of the manuscript; WSB and UAS contributed to analysis, critical review and revision of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest:

No conflict of interest is declared

Funding:

No funding was received for the study

References:

 World Health Organization. Soil-transmitted helminth infections. Fact sheet N 366. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs366/en

(Accessed February 16, 2017) Savioli, L., Stansfield, S., Bundy, D. A., et al.

- Savioli, L., Stansfield, S., Bundy, D. A., et al. Schistosomiasis and soil-transmitted helminth infections: forging control efforts. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2002; 96 (6): 577-579
- Hagel, I., Lynch, N. R., Di Prisco, M. C., et al. Helminthic infection and anthropometric indicators in children from a tropical slum: Ascaris reinfection after anthelmintic treatment. J Trop Pediatr. 1999; 45 (4): 215-220.

- Ogbe, M. G., Edet, E., and Isichel, M. N. Intestinal helminth infection in primary school children in areas of operation of Shell Petroleum Development Company of Nigeria (SPDC), Western Division in Delta State. Niger J Parasitol. 2002; 23(1): 3-10.
- Mbanugo, J. I., and Onyebuchi, C. J. Prevalence of intestinal parasites in Ezinifite community, Aguata Local Government Area of Anambra state. Niger J Parasitol. 2002; 23 (1): 27-34.
 Ozumba, U. C., and Ozumba, N. Patterns of
- Ozumba, U. C., and Ozumba, N. Patterns of helminth infection in the human gut at the University of Nigeria Teaching Hospital, Enugu, Nigeria. J Health Sci. 2002; 48 (3): 263-238.
- Liu, L., Johnson, H. L., Cousens, S., et al. Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality: an updated systematic analysis for 2010 with time trends since 2000. Lancet. 2012; 379 (9832): 2151-2161.
- Nokes, C., Grantham-McGregor, S. M., Sawyer, A. W., et al. Parasitic helminth infection and cognitive function in school children. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Bio Sci. 1992; 247 (1319): 77-81.
- 9. World Health Organization. Readings on diarrhoea: student manual. WHO, Geneva; 1992. <u>http://www.who.int/iris/handle/10665/40343</u> (Accessed December 20, 2016)
- World Health Organization. World Health Assembly endorses whose strategic priorities. In World Health Assembly endorses whose strategic priorities 2001; 22.
- UNICEF. National Nutrition and Health Survey (NNHS) 2018. Report on the Nutrition and Health Situation of Nigeria. United Nations International Children's Fund. 2018. <u>http://www.unicef.org</u> (Accessed July 9, 2019).
- 12. Nigerian Population Commission. 2013. Federal Republic of Nigeria. Demographic and Health Survey. <u>http://population.gov.ng/</u> (Accessed August 30, 2017)
- Araoye, M. O. Research methodology with statistics for health and social sciences. Ilorin: Nathadex Publisher. 2003; 115 (9): 102-110
- Onis, M. WHO Child Growth Standards based on length/height, weight and age. Acta Paed. 2014; 95(S450): 76-85.
- Allen, A. V., and Ridley, D. S. Further observations on the formol-ether concentration technique for faecal parasites. J Clin Path. 1970; 23 (6): 545.
- Stoll, N. R., and Hausheer, W. C. Concerning two options in dilution egg counting: small drop and displacement. Am J Epidemiol 1926; 6 (supp1 1):1 34-36.
- 17. Jalo, I., Ogala, W. N., Omotara, B. A., Ambe, J. P., and Shettima, R. D. Prevalence, Intensity and factors influencing intestinal helminthiasis in child-

ren in North eastern Nigeria. J life Env Sci. 2005; 7(1&2): 414-418

- Odikamnoro, O. O., and Ikeh, I. M. Prevalence of common intestinal nematode infection among primary School children in Kpirikpiri community of Abakaliki, Nigeria. Niger J Parasitol. 2004; 24: 71-79.
- Oninla, S. O., Onayade, A. A., and Owa, J. A. Impact of intestinal helminthiases on the nutritional status of primary-school children in Osun state, Southwestern Nigeria. Ann Trop Med Parasitol. 2010; 104 (7): 583-594.
- Meremikwu, M. M., Antia-Obong, O. E., Asindi, A. A., and Ejezie, G. C. Nutritional status of pre-school children in rural Nigeria: relationships with intestinal helminthiasis. J Med Investig Pract. 2000; 1 (1): 18-20.
- Okolo, S. N., and John, C. Nutritional status and intestinal parasitic infestation among rural Fulani children in Vom, Plateau State. Niger J Paed. 2006; 33 (2): 47-55.
- Quihui-Cota, L., Valencia, M. E., Crompton, D. W., Phillips, S., Hagan, P., and Diaz-Camacho, S. P Prevalence and intensity of intestinal parasitic infections in relation to nutritional status in Mexican schoolchildren. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2014; 98 (11): 653-659.
- Ojurongbe, O., Oyesiji, K. F., Ojo, J. A., et al. Soil transmitted helminth infections among primary school children in Ile-Ife Southwest, Nigeria: A cross-sectional study. Int Res J Med Sci. 2014; 2 (1): 6-10.
- Ajayi, E. O., Elechi, H. A., Alhaji, M. A., and Adeniyi, O. F. Prevalence and pattern of intestinal parasites among pupils of private and public primary schools in an urban centre, Nigeria. Niger J Paediatr. 2017; 44 (2): 56-62.
- Ogwurike, B. A., Ajayi, J. A., and Ajayi, O. O. A Comparative Study of Helminthiasis among Pupils of Private and Public Primary Schools in Jos North local Government Area of Plateau State, Nigeria. Niger Ann Natural Sci. 2010; 10 (1): 28 – 47
- Obiukwu, M. O., Umeanaeto, P. U., Eneanya, C. I., and Nwaorgu, G. O. Prevalence of gastro-intestinal helminths in school children in Mbaukwu, Anambra State Nigeria. Niger J Parasitol2008; 29 (1): 15 – 19.
- Gibson, R.S. Growth retardation. In Gibson RS Principles of Nutritional Assessment. 2nd Edition Oxford University Press, New York, 2007: 65-100
- Xu, L. Q., Yu, S. H., Jiang, Z. X., et al. Soiltransmitted helminthiases: nationwide survey in China. Bull World Health Organization. 1995; 73 (4): 507-510

Olalemi et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 88 - 101

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2221. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.11

Assessment of faecal contamination in selected concrete and earthen ponds stocked with African catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*

Olalemi, A., Oluyemi, M., and *Bayode, M

Department of Microbiology, School of Life Sciences, Federal University of Technology, Akure, Ondo State, Nigeria

*Correspondence to: <u>bayodemtmcb@futa.edu.ng</u>; +2348085854567; ORCiD: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9990-3805</u>

Abstract:

Background: Microorganisms constitute significant fraction of the aquatic ecosystem and have been reported to be the cause of emerging novel infectious diseases in aquacultural practices. The prevalence of infectious diseases has been observed to depend on the interaction between fish pathogens and the aquatic environment. This study was conducted to assess the levels of faecal pollution markers in catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) and their growing waters in selected earthen and concrete ponds in the teaching and research fish farm of the Federal University of Technology, Akure (FUTA), Nigeria in the dry (February-April) and wet seasons (May-July) of the year.

Methodology: Two earthen and 2 concrete ponds were randomly selected as sampling sites due to their frequent usage. A total of 120 grabs of catfishes from the earthen (n=60) and concrete (n=60) ponds, and 84 pond water samples from earthen (n=42) and concrete (n=42) ponds, were randomly collected over a 6-month period of study. Enteric bacteria count in the water and catfish samples were determined using membrane filtration and pour plate methods respectively. The physiochemical characteristics of the water samples were determined using standard methods. The rate of bioaccumulation of faecal indicator bacteria was obtained by dividing the log count of each organism in the catfish by the corresponding log count in the growing waters.

Results: Faecal coliforms count (\log_{10} CFU/100ml) in the catfish from concrete and earthen ponds ranged from 1.41 to 2.28 and 1.3 to 2.47, and in the growing waters; 1.43 to 2.41 and 1.50 to 2.80 respectively. There was positive correlation of faecal coliforms with alkalinity of water samples from the earthen (r=0.61) and concrete ponds (r=0.62). Salmonella and faecal coliforms had the highest and least bioaccumulation in catfish raised in earthen pond while Salmonella and enterococci had the highest and least bioaccumulation in catfish raised in concrete pond respectively. Faecal coliforms and *Escherichia coli* had the highest and least counts in water samples from the earthen pond during the dry and wet months while Salmonella and *E. coli* had the highest and least counts in water samples from the concrete pond during the dry and wet months.

Conclusion: High levels of bacterial faecal pollution markers in water samples and catfishes from the earthen and concrete ponds are reported in this study. Physicochemical characteristics and seasonality played major roles in the rate of bioaccumulation of the faecal pollution markers in catfishes raised in both earthen and concrete ponds.

Keywords: Bioaccumulation; Clarias gariepinus; earthen; concrete; pond; coliforms; seasonality

Received Sept 10, 2022; Revised Dec 10, 2022; Accepted Dec 11, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Évaluation de la contamination fécale dans des étangs en béton et en terre sélectionnés remplis de poisson-chat Africain, *Clarias gariepinus*

Olalemi, A., Oluyemi, M., et *Bayode, M.

Département de Microbiologie, École des Sciences de la vie, Université Fédérale de Technologie,

Akure, État d'Ondo, Nigéria

*Correspondance à: <u>bayodemtmcb@futa.edu.ng;</u> +2348085854567; ORCiD: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9990-3805</u>

Résumé:

Contexte: Les micro-organismes constituent une fraction importante de l'écosystème aquatique et ont été signalés comme étant la cause de nouvelles maladies infectieuses émergentes dans les pratiques aquacoles. Il a été observé

https://www.afrjcem.org

Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1

C.a.

que la prévalence des maladies infectieuses dépend de l'interaction entre les agents pathogènes des poissons et l'environnement aquatique. Cette étude a été menée pour évaluer les niveaux de marqueurs de pollution fécale chez le poisson-chat (*Clarias gariepinus*) et leurs eaux de croissance dans des étangs en terre et en béton sélectionnés dans la pisciculture d'enseignement et de recherche de l'Université fédérale de technologie d'Akure (FUTA), au Nigeria, dans le saisons sèches (Février - Avril) et humides (Mai - Juillet) de l'année.

Méthodologie: Deux étangs en terre et 2 en béton ont été choisis au hasard comme sites d'échantillonnage en raison de leur utilisation fréquente. Un total de 120 prises de poissons-chats des étangs en terre (n=60) et en béton (n=60), et 84 échantillons d'eau des étangs en terre (n=42) et en béton (n=42), ont été prélevés au hasard sur une période d'études de 6 mois. Le nombre de bactéries entériques dans les échantillons d'eau et de poissonchat a été déterminé en utilisant respectivement les méthodes de filtration sur membrane et de plaque de coulée. Les caractéristiques physicochimiques des échantillons d'eau ont été déterminées à l'aide de méthodes standard. Le taux de bioaccumulation des bactéries fécales indicatrices a été obtenu en divisant le nombre logarithmique de chaque organisme dans le poisson-chat par le nombre logarithmique correspondant dans les eaux de croissance. Résultats: Le nombre de coliformes fécaux (log10 UFC/100ml) chez le poisson-chat des étangs en béton et en terre variait de 1,41 à 2,28 et de 1,3 à 2,47, et dans les eaux de croissance; 1,43 à 2,41 et 1,50 à 2,80 respectivement. Il y avait une corrélation positive des coliformes fécaux avec l'alcalinité des échantillons d'eau des étangs en terr (r=0,61) et en béton (r=0,62). Les Salmonella et les coliformes fécaux présentaient la bioaccumulation la plus élevée et la plus faible chez les poissons-chats élevés dans des étangs en terre, tandis que les Salmonella et les entérocoques présentaient respectivement la bioaccumulation la plus élevée et la plus faible chez les poissons-chats élevés dans des étangs en béton. Les coliformes fécaux et *Escherichia coli* présentaient les taux les plus élevés et les moins élevés dans les échantillons d'eau de l'étang en terre pendant les mois secs et humides, tandis que Salmonella et E. coli avaient les taux les plus élevés et les moins élevés dans les échantillons d'eau de l'étang en béton pendant les mois secs et humides.

Conclusion: Des niveaux élevés de marqueurs de pollution fécale bactérienne dans les échantillons d'eau et les poissons-chats des étangs en terre et en béton sont rapportés dans cette étude. Les caractéristiques physicochimiques et la saisonnalité ont joué un rôle majeur dans le taux de bioaccumulation des marqueurs de pollution fécale chez les poissons-chats élevés dans des étangs en terre et en béton.

Mots clés: Bioaccumulation; Clarias gariepinus; en terre; béton; étang; coliformes; saisonnalité

Introduction:

Within the genus Clarias, *Clarias gariepinus* is one of the most researched tropical catfish (1). Aquaculture has received a lot of attention recently as a fast-growing sector of global food production and a source of animal protein. Microorganisms have a key role in the aquatic ecosystem, and have been identified as one of the variables that can lead to outbreaks of infectious diseases in aquaculture (2). The interplay between fish pathogens and the aquatic environment has been shown to influence the occurrence of infectious illnesses (2). As a result, there is a need to quantify and track the microbial population in this industry.

The African catfish has been imported into at least 37 African, European, Asian, and American countries, primarily for aquaculture with economic consequences on freshwater and brackish ecosystem (3). The species have been introduced to the Caribbean for aquaculture in Cuba (4). Clarias gariepinus has evolved important adaptations for surviving in unsuitable environments with low oxygen levels and long periods of desiccation (5,6). According to Omeji et al., (7), water polluted with bacteria (faecal coliforms, faecal streptococci, and Salmonella spp) could infect fish in ponds. Bacteria can be found on the surface of decomposing materials such as leaves, metallic objects, rocks, and wood in earthen ponds. The distribution of heterotrophic bacteria and total aquatic bacteria in the earthen pond varies according to the water layers. The circulation of bacteria in fish pond, which includes predatory protozoa present in the water, is influenced by a variety of circumstances (8).

Bacteriological study of fish pond water is critical in aquaculture because it might reveal potential risks to the fish, the farmers and customers (8). Allowing cattle to graze near water bodies, spreading manure as fertilizer on fields during wet periods, employing sewage sludge bio-solids, and allowing livestock to drink from streams have all been linked to faecal contamination of ponds (9). Because majority of faecal pollution comes from non-point and multiple extended sources, preventing excessive faecal contamination of ponds is difficult (10). Faeces from poultry fowl are directly released into some integrated ponds which permit the development of maggots that are then discharged into the ponds.

Microorganisms, particularly those of coliform category, have been found in fish and their aquatic habitats. Furthermore, pond water contaminated with faeces poses a major risk to human health when released into other bodies of water (11). The aim of this study is to track faecal pollution markers in catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) and their growing waters in varieties of earthen and concrete ponds. The objectives of the study are; (i) to determine the counts of faecal indicator bacteria (FIB) in catfish and their growing waters; (ii) assess the physicochemical characteristics of the growing waters and determine their relationship with FIB; (iii) determine the rates of FIB bioaccumulation in catfish; and (iv) investigate the effect of different seasons on FIB bioaccumulation in catfish.

Materials and method:

Study setting and selection of sampling sites:

The study setting is the Teaching and Research Fish Farm, Obakekere campus of the Federal University of Technology Akure (FUTA), Nigeria, located between latitude 7° and 8°N and longitude 5° and 18°E with elevation of approximately 30.5 metres (100 feet) above sea level (Fig 1). The area contains characteristic swamp, water ways, vast plains and rain forest. The farm combines fish production and livestock production, and also operates integrated fish production with different concrete and earthen ponds stocked with tilapia, catfish and other species of fish.

Two each of the earthen and concrete ponds were randomly selected as the sampling sites because of the frequent usage of these ponds. The ponds are also prone to faecal contamination from farm animals grazing around the ponds, and the landscape encourages direct flow of erosion waters into the earthen pond during wet season.

Study design:

This was a descriptive cross-sectional study of catfishes and their growing waters from earthen and concrete ponds in fish farms of Federal University of Technology Akure (FU TA), Nigeria, conducted over a period of 6 months (February to July 2019). The schematic flowchart of the study is as shown in Fig 2.



Fig 1: Map of Teaching and Research Fish Farm in Obakekere campus, FUTA, Nigeria



Fig 2: Schematic illustration for the assessment of faecal contamination in selected concrete and earthen ponds stocked with *Clarias gariepinus*

Collection of catfish and growing water samples from the ponds:

Water and catfish samples were collected weekly from February to July 2019. On each sampling occasion, water and catfish samples were collected from two earthen and two concrete ponds in a fish farm. The water samples were collected aseptically with sterile 800 ml screw-capped bottles labeled appropriately and the catfish samples were collected with conventional scoop net and thereafter placed in a sterile polythene bag with appropriate labeling. In total, 84 grabs of water and 120 catfish samples were collected over the study period through standard protocols. All samples were transported to the laboratory within 1 hour.

Enumeration of enteric bacteria in catfish and growing water samples:

The counts of *Escherichia coli*, faecal coliforms, *Salmonella*, *Shigella* and intestinal enterococci in the catfish and their growing waters were determined using standard microbiological methods as described by Maheux et al., (12). Preparation of the catfish samples was carried out by dissecting the intestinal tract of the fish using a sterile knife and measuring 1g into a sterile mortar. This was macerated with about 4ml of sterile distilled water and 1ml aliquot was taken into a sterile test tube containing 9ml of sterile distilled water resulting into 1:10 dilution. Serial dilution was carried out until the fifth dilution.

Using membrane filters $(0.45\mu m)$, the bacteria counts were determined by placing the filters on freshly prepared selective media; membrane lauryl sulphate agar (MLSA), eosin

methylene blue (EMB), membrane faecal coliform agar (m-FC), membrane intestinal enterococci agar (m-EA) and *Salmonella–Shigella* agar (SSA). Agar plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours (for MLSA, EMB and SSA), 44°C for 24 hours (for m-FC) and 37°C for 48 hours (for m-EA). Colonies were counted and expressed as colony forming unit (CFU) per 100ml of water or CFU per 100g of catfish using a colony counter (J-2 PEC MEDICAL, New Jersey, USA).

Determination of the physicochemical characteristics of growing waters in the ponds:

The temperature of the growing water was determined on-site during sample collection using the mercury-in-glass thermometer (ACCU-SAFE ThermoScientific, New Jersey, US). The pH, electrical conductivity, salinity, total dissolved solids, turbidity and dissolved oxygen of the water samples were determined using a multi-parameter analyzer (HI98194, PH/ORP/ EC/DO). The biological oxygen demand (BOD) was determined by the Winkler's method and the chemical oxygen demand (COD) of the water samples was determined by the method described by Kolb et al., (13).

Bioaccumulation of enteric bacteria in catfish samples from the ponds:

The rate of bioaccumulation of faecal indicator bacteria was obtained by dividing the log count of each organism in catfish by the corresponding log count in the growing waters at the same point in time.

Statistical analysis:

Data were transformed into log_{10} and examined using general descriptive statistics.

The normality and distribution pattern of the enteric bacteria in the catfish and their growing waters in concrete and earthen ponds were determined using Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk statistics. Further analyses were carried out using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with significance at p < 0.05 on Graph-Pad Prism version 5.0 for faecal indicator bacteria counts (mean ± standard error), and physicochemical characteristics (mean ± standard deviation) of growing water in the concrete and earthen ponds. The relationships between enteric bacteria counts and physicochemical properties of the growing waters from the earthen and concrete ponds were analyzed using the Pearson's correlation coefficient at p < 0.05 level of significance.

Results:

Enteric bacterial counts in catfish samples and their growing waters in the ponds:

The faecal coliform counts (\log_{10} CFU/ml) in catfish samples from the concrete and earthen ponds ranged from 1.41 to 2.28 and 1.3 to 2.47 respectively, while the counts ranged from 1.43 to 2.41 and 1.50 to 2.80 in

the growing water samples from the concrete and earthen ponds respectively (Fig 3). In catfish samples from concrete and earthen ponds, *Salmonella* counts (log_{10} CFU/ml ranged from 1.52 to 2.56 and 1.60 to 2.70 respectively, while in the growing water samples, the counts ranged from 1.51 to 2.56 and 1.60 to 2.70 respectively (Fig 4).

Escherichia coli counts (log10 CFU/100 ml) in catfish samples from the concrete and earthen ponds ranged from 1.23 to 2.44 and 1.30 to 2.30 respectively, while the counts in the growing water samples from the concrete and earthen ponds ranged from 1.30 to 2.1 and 1.20 to 1.53 respectively (Fig 5). Shigella counts (log₁₀ CFU/ml) in catfish samples from concrete and earthen ponds ranged from 1.0 to 1.2 and 1.40 to 1.50 respectively while the counts in growing water samples ranged from 1.46 to 1.60 and 1.40 to 1.50 respectively (Fig 6). Enterococci counts (log₁₀ CFU/ml) in catfish samples from concrete and earthen ponds ranged from 1.30 to 1.40 and 1.30 to 1.70 respectively, while the counts in growing water samples ranged from 1.40 to 1.50 and 1.32 to 1.82 respectively (Fig 7).



Fig 3: Mean concentration of faecal coliforms in catfish and their growing water samples in concrete and earthen ponds. Values are expressed as mean ± standard error of mean (SEM) of log₁₀ CFU/100 ml



Fig 4: Mean concentration of *Salmonella* in catfish and their growing water samples in concrete and earthen pond. Values are expressed as mean ± standard error of mean (SEM) of log₁₀ CFU/100 ml



Fig. 5: Mean concentration of *E. coli* in catfish and their growing water samples in concrete and earthen ponds. Values are expressed as mean ± standard error of mean (SEM) of log₁₀ CFU/100 ml

Concrete pond



Fig 6: Mean concentration of *Shigella* in catfish and their growing water samples in concrete and earthen ponds. Values are expressed as mean ± standard error of mean (SEM) of log₁₀ CFU/100 ml



Fig. 7: Mean concentration of intestinal enterococci in catfish and their growing water samples in concrete and earthen ponds. Values are expressed as mean ± standard error of mean (SEM) of log₁₀ CFU/100 ml

Distribution pattern of enteric bacteria in catfish and growing waters from the ponds:

The frequency distribution patterns of the enteric bacteria showed that faecal coliforms (Sig.=0.757) and *Salmonella* (Sig.= 0.843) in catfish samples from the earthen ponds were normally distributed while enterococci (Sig.= 0.001), *Shigella* (Sig.=0.029) and *E. coli* (Sig.= 0.028) were not normally distributed. Further-

more, *Salmonella* (Sig.=0.761) and *Shigella* (Sig.=0.761) counts in water samples from the earthen pond were normally distributed, while faecal coliforms (Sig.=0.000), enterococci (Sig.=0.038) and *E. coli* (Sig.=0.038) were not normally distributed (Table 1).

On the other hand, faecal coliforms (Sig.=0.527) and *Salmonella* (Sig.=0.643) in catfish samples from the concrete ponds were

normally distributed while enterococci (Sig.= 0.011), Shigella (Sig.=0.029) and E. coli (Sig. =0.018) significantly deviated from normal distribution. In addition, Salmonella (Sig.=0.461) and Shigella (Sig. =0.751) in water samples from the concrete ponds were normally distributed while faecal coliforms (Sig.=0.000), enterococci (Sig.=0.038) and E. coli (Sig.=0.028) significantly deviated from normal distribution (Table 2).

Table 1: Normality and distribution pattern of enteric bacteria in Clarias gariepinus and their growing water in earthen ponds

Test of Normality	Kolmo	gorov-Sn	nirnov ^a	Sh	apiro-Will	ĸ
-	Statistic	Df	Sig.	Statistic	Df	Sig.
Catfish samples			_			_
Faecal coliforms	0.130	20	0.200^{*}	0.970	20	0.757
Salmonella	0.120	20	0.200^{*}	0.974	20	0.843
Enterococci	0.258	20	0.001	0.795	20	0.001
Shigella	0.197	20	0.040	0.891	20	0.029
Escherichia coli	0.141	20	0.200^{*}	0.891	20	0.028
Water samples						
Faecal coliforms	0.345	20	0	0.717	20	0
Salmonella	0.096	20	0.200^{*}	0.970	20	0.761
Enterococci	0.208	20	0.024	0.898	20	0.038
Shigella	0.096	20	0.200^{*}	0.970	20	0.761
Escherichia coli	0.208	20	0.024	0.898	20	0.038

Df = Difference; Sig. = Significance

Table 2: Normality and distribution pattern of enteric bacteria in Clarias gariepinus and their growing water in concrete pond

Tests of Normality	Kolmog	gorov-Sn	nirnovª	Shapiro-Wilk		ĸ
	Statistic	Df	Sig.	Statistic	Df	Sig.
Catfish samples						
Faecal coliforms	0.130	20	0.200^{*}	0.970	20	0.757
Salmonella	0.120	20	0.200*	0.974	20	0.843
Enterococci	0.258	20	0.001	0.795	20	0.001
Shigella	0.197	20	0.040	0.891	20	0.029
Escherichia coli	0.141	20	0.200*	0.891	20	0.028
Water samples						
Faecal coliforms	0.345	20	0	0.717	20	0
Salmonella	0.096	20	0.200^{*}	0.970	20	0.761
Enterococci	0.208	20	0.024	0.898	20	0.038
Shigella	0.096	20	0.200*	0.970	20	0.761
Escherichia coli	0.208	20	0.024	0.898	20	0.038
Df - Difference: Sig - Significance						

Difference; Sig. = Significance

Table 3: Physicochemical characteristics of growing water samples in earthen and concrete ponds

Parameters	Earthen pond	Concrete pond
Temperature (°C)	26.7±0.28	29.3±0.35
pH	7.0±0.19	6.95±0.07
EC (µs/cm)	20.8±1.06	26.8±0.35
Salinity (PSU)	149.3±1.06	148.0 ± 0.71
Turbidity (NTU)	43.5±0.25	44.3±0.29
TDS (mg/L)	23.5±0.38	22.3±0.35
Alkalinity (meq/L)	109.8±2.89	107.8±3.89
DO (mg/L)	11.95±2.13	14.6±6.29
BOD (mg/L)	2.53±1.23	1.53 ± 0.03
COD (mg/L)	199.6±2.55	202.5±3.54

Values presented are expressed as mean values ± standard deviation (n=6). Temp = Temperature; EC = Electrical conductivity; TDS = Total dissolved solids; DO = Dissolved oxygen; BOD = Biological oxygen demand; COD = Chemical oxygen demand.

Physicochemical characteristics of the growing waters in the earthen and concrete ponds:

In the earthen and concrete ponds, the mean temperatures of the growing waters were 26.70 ± 0.28°C and 29.30 ± 35.5°C respectively (Table 3). In the earthen and concrete ponds, the mean salinity of the growing waters was 149.31.06 PSU (practical salinity unit) and 148.00.71 PSU (practical salinity unit), respectively. Furthermore, the mean values of turbidity of the growing waters in the earthen and concrete ponds were 43 and 44 (NTU) (Nephelometric turbidity unit), respectively, whereas the mean values of total dissolved solids of the growing waters in the earthen and concrete ponds were 23 and 22 mg/L. The alkalinity levels of the growing waters in the earthen and concrete ponds were respectively 109 and 107 meq/L.

Relationship between enteric bacteria in catfish and physicochemical characteristics of the growing waters in the ponds:

In the earthen pond, alkalinity correlated positively with enterococci (r=0.600, p< 0.05), faecal coliforms (r=0.610, p<0.05), and

E. coli counts (r=0.650, p<0.01). The total dissolved solids positively correlated with *E. coli* (r=0.51, p<0.05). Turbidity showed a positive correlation with faecal coliforms (r=0.54, p<0.05). Biological oxygen demand had positive correlation with enterococci (r=0.52, p<0.05) and *E. coli* (r=0.75, p<0.01). Chemical oxygen demand also positively correlated with enterococci (r=0.500, p<0.05), faecal coliforms (r=0.530, p<0.05), and *E. coli* (r=0.750, p<0.01) (Table 4).

In the concrete ponds, alkalinity had a positive correlation with faecal coliforms (r= 0.620, p<0.01) and *E. coli* (r=0.600, p<0.01). Total dissolved solids had a positive correlation with *E. coli* (r=0.650, p<0.05). Biological oxygen demand had a positive correlation with enterococci (r=0.580, p<0.05) and *E. coli* (r= 0.820, p<0.01). Chemical oxygen demand had positive correlation with enterococci (r=0.540, p<0.05) and faecal coliforms (r=0.580, p<0.05). Salinity had a positive correlation with enterococci (r=0.51, p<0.05) and *E. coli* (r= 0.50, p<0.05) (Table 5).

T I I I A A I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	<i>c</i>				
Ishio /l. Corrolatio	on of ontoric bactoria	and phycicochomical	charactorictics of	arowing waters in	arthon nond
				uluwinu waleis ii	
				j	

Physicochemical parameters	Enterococci	Faecal coliforms	Escherichia coli	Salmonella	Shigella
Temp (°C)	0.03	0.04	0.08	-0.10	-0.05
pН	-0.32	0.08	0.05	-0.28	-0.29
EC (µs/cm)	0.05	0.43	0.08	0.48	0.49
Turbidity (NTU)	0.10	0.54*	0.34	0.29	0.22
Alkalinity (meq/L)	0.60	0.61	0.65	-0.18	-0.08
DO (mg/l)	-0.10	-0.13	0.29	-0.02	-0.01
Salinity (PSU)	0.31	-0.03	0.30	0.16	0.16
TDS (mg/L)	0.34	0.11	0.51*	-0.14	-0.14
BOD (mg/L)	0.52*	0.44	0.75	-0.18	-0.18
COD (mg/L)	0.50*	0.53*	0.73	-0.14	-0.14
Correlation is significant at the	0.05 level (2-tailed) *:	Correlation is significant at t	he 0.01 level (2-tailed) **;]	emp = Temperature: E	EC=Electrical

Conductivity; DO=Dissolved oxygen; TDS= Total dissolved solids; BOD=Biological oxygen demand; COD=Chemical oxygen demand. Values in bold figures indicate significant correlation

T I I I O I II I I I I I I I		
Ispla by Correlation of ontoric bactoria and phycic	chomical charactorictics of	arowing waters in concrete pend
דמטופ ס. כטודפומנוטודטו פוונפרוכ המכופרומ מווט הוועצוכו		

Physicochemical parameters	Enterococci	Faecal coliforms	Escherichia coli	Salmonella	Shigella
Temp (°C)	-0.11	-0.20	-0.22	-0.11	-0.12
pН	-0.42	-0.08	-0.15	-0.25	-0.25
EC (µs/cm)	-0.05	0.33	0.04	0.29	0.29
Turbidity (NTU)	0.10	0.37	0.21	0.19	0.19
Alkalinity (meq/L)	0.45	0.62	0.60	-0.28	-0.28
DO (mg/l)	-0.16	-0.23	0.19	-0.04	-0.04
Salinity (PSU)	0.51*	0.03	0.50*	0.36	0.26
TDS (mg/l)	0.44	0.21	0.65	0.18	-0.10
BOD (mg/l)	0.58*	0.49	0.82	0.19	-0.12
COD (mg/l)	0.54*	0.53*	0.77	0.04	0.04

Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed) *; Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed) **; Temp=Temperature; EC=Electrical conductivity; DO=Dissolved oxygen; TDS=Total dissolved solids; BOD=Biological oxygen demand; COD=Chemical oxygen demand. Values in bold figures indicate significant correlation



FC- Faecal coliforms

Fig 8: The bioaccumulation of enteric bacteria in catfish from their growing waters in earthen and concrete ponds

Bioaccumulation of enteric bacteria in catfish samples from the ponds:

Enterococci bioaccumulation (log₁₀ CFU /ml) in catfish from their growing waters in earthen and concrete ponds ranged from 0.90 to 2.20 and 0.92 to 2.19 respectively. Faecal coliform bioaccumulation in catfish from earthen and concrete ponds ranged from 0.79 to 2.00 and 0.70 to 2.40 respectively. The bioaccumulation of enteric bacteria in catfish reared in concrete pond had a positive correlation with alkalinity, total dissolved solids, biological oxygen demand, chemical oxygen demand and salinity, and a negative correlation with temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen, and turbidity.

Escherichia coli bioaccumulation (log10 CFU/ml) in catfish from their growing waters in earthen and concrete ponds ranged from 0.94 to 2.65 and 0.00 to 1.89 respectively, while Salmonella bioaccumulation in catfish from their growing waters in earthen and concrete ponds ranged from 0.97 to 2.70 and 0.95 to 1.75 respectively. In earthen ponds, alkalinity, total dissolved solids, turbidity, biological oxygen demand, and chemical oxygen demand all had positive correlation with enteric bacteria in cat fish with the exception of Salmonella and Shigella, while salinity, temperature, pH, electrical conductivity, and dissolved oxygen had negative correlation. Furthermore, Shigella bioaccumulation (log10 CFU/ml) in catfish from their growing waters in earthen and concrete ponds was 0.97 to 1.89 and 0.95 to 1.86 respectively (Fig 8).

Effects of seasonality on bioaccumulation of enteric bacteria in catfish from their growing waters:

In the earthen ponds, the mean values of bioaccumulation (log₁₀ CFU/ml) of enterococci in catfish samples in dry and wet periods were 0.99 and 0.62 respectively, while the mean values of bioaccumulation of faecal coliforms in catfish samples in dry (February -April) and wet periods (May - July) were 0.50 and 0.51 respectively. The mean values of bioaccumulation (log₁₀ CFU/100ml) of *E. coli* in catfish samples in dry and wet periods were 1.02 and 0.89 respectively. The mean values of bioaccumulation (log10 CFU/100ml) of Salmo*nella* in catfish samples in dry and wet periods were 0.60 and 0.45 respectively while the mean values of bioaccumulation of Shigella in catfish samples in dry and wet periods were 0.55 and 0.54 respectively. Escherichia coli had the highest mean value of bioaccumulation during the dry period while Shigella had the highest mean value of bioaccumulation during the wet period (Fig 9).

In the concrete ponds, the mean values of bioaccumulation (\log_{10} CFU/100ml) of enterococci in catfish samples in dry and wet periods were 0.5 and 0.93 respectively while the mean values of bioaccumulation of faecal coli-

forms in catfish samples in dry and wet periods were 0.85 and 1.06 respectively. The mean values of bioaccumulation (\log_{10} CFU/100ml) of *E. coli* in catfish samples in dry and wet periods were 0.21 and 1.07 respectively. The mean values of bioaccumulation (\log_{10} CFU/100ml) of *Salmonella* in catfish samples in dry and wet periods were 0.52 and 0.80 respectively while

the mean values of bioaccumulation of *Shigella* in catfish samples in dry and wet periods were 1.77 and 1.07 respectively (Fig 10). The relationship of seasonality and bioaccumulation showed that seasonality played major roles in the rate of bioaccumulation of enteric bacteria in catfish samples from the earthen and concrete ponds.



Fig 9: The rate of bioaccumulation of enteric bacteria in the catfish samples from the earthen pond during wet and dry periods



Fig 10: The rate of bioaccumulation of enteric bacteria in the catfish samples from the concrete pond during wet and dry periods

Discussion:

The assessment of faecal contamination in selected concrete and earthen ponds stocked with Clarias gariepinus in a fish farm was investigated in this study. The load of enteric bacteria in water and the catfish samples were in agreement with Njoku (14) who observed that the load of heterotrophic bacteria in pond water fluctuated between 0.01 and 8.7×10⁵ CFU/ml, which was consistent with the load of enteric bacteria in water and catfish samples. The earthen pond had a higher repertoire of faecal contamination than the concrete pond, which could be due to faecal coliforms in generally consisting part of Enterobacteria*ceae* group that thrive well at temperature ranges of between 26°C and 29°C observed in earthen and concrete ponds respectively in this study.

Increased rainfall, as well as subsequent contamination from both direct and diffuse sources, may have contributed to the high amounts of faecal coliforms found in the earthen pond (15). This is consistent with the study of Ajayi and Okoh (16), who reported that microbial load is typically higher in earthen ponds as a result of natural nutrients in soils that promote microbial development. The load of faecal coliforms in catfish samples and their growing waters from the earthen and concrete ponds was found to be high, which could be due to increased temperature (26-30°C) of the developing water and increased dissolved nutrient in the growing water following catfish feeding. This is consistent with the findings of Wyatt et al., (17) in which the increased temperature and dissolved nutrients in catfish growing waters influenced the load of faecal coliforms in the catfish samples and their growing waters. Furthermore, the higher load of faecal coliforms in catfish samples and their growing waters in the earthen pond compared to the concrete pond could be attributed to the natural habitat of the earthen pond, which provides vital nutrients and minerals that may support microbial growth better than the concrete pond. This is consistent with the findings of Njoku et al., (14), who attributed the high load of faecal coliforms in the growing water samples of the earthen ponds to the natural propensity of the environment to foster development of microbes.

The load of *Salmonella* in the catfish samples and their growing waters from the earthen and concrete pond was also high in

our study. This is in line with the findings of Olalemi (15), who concluded that indigenous and non-indigenous bacterial infections could be linked to fresh fish or their environment. Salmonella is not a recognized typical bacterial flora of catfish, and its prevalence is usually associated to its breeding, poor hygiene measures and inappropriate handling as reported by Ajayi and Okoh (16), who also confirmed that Salmonella can survive transitorily in the gastrointestinal system of fish. The load of Shigella in catfish samples and their growing waters from the earthen and concrete pond was equally high in our study. According to Salome and Faith (17), the greater load is potentially sustained by amplified nutrient load as a result of flood and runoffs into the ponds. The load of intestinal enterococci in catfish samples in the earthen and concrete ponds that were high may be as a result of the bacteriological profile of C. gariepinus as reported by Omeji et al., (18) where water contaminated with faecal streptococci have the tendency to infect fish in ponds.

The distribution pattern of the faecal coliforms and Salmonella in catfish samples of earthen and concrete ponds may be the result of use of maggots from chicken dungs as feeds and these may serve as reservoir for these bacteria, while the deviation in the distribution pattern of enterococci, Shigella and E. coli in the catfish samples in earthen and concrete ponds may be as a result of change in varying environmental conditions. The distribution pattern of faecal indicator bacteria in earthen and concrete ponds in our study agrees with the study of Ganesh et al., (19), who reported that divergence in the distribution of heterotrophic and total aquatic bacteria within the water layers could be linked to various factors affecting the distribution pattern of bacteria in fish ponds.

In our study, the mean temperature values varied from 25°C to 30°C, which is remarkably comparable to the findings of Ntengwe and Edema (20). The water temperature reading could have been impacted by the weather conditions during the sam pling process (21). In the earthen and concrete ponds, the pH of the growing waters was 7.00.19 and 6.950.07, respectively. These pH levels are consistent with the findings of Ehiagbonare and Ogunrinde (22), who reported that pH 6 to 9 is a basic prerequisite for improved fish production. The ideal pH range for ponds was also reported

by Stone and Thomforde (23) to be 5.5 -10.0 in order to maintain good pond productivity and fish health. It is worth noting that the results of this study are consistent with those of Ntengwe and Edema (20), who studied the physicochemical and microbiological features of water for fish production in tiny ponds. The electrical conductivity of the pond water was influenced by climatic conditions such as rainfall that occurred during the sample period, since surface runoff that contained substantial nutrients during the wet season was probably one of the variables that raised the pond water conductivity (21). The electrical conductivity values, on the other hand, were still within the normal range for fish rearing $(10-1000\mu$ S/cm) (22). Dissolved oxygen condenses as a result of boost in water temperature, respiration and organic matter breakdown by aerobic aquatic organisms (23).

Within the allowed limit of 200 meg/ L, the mean alkalinity values of earthen and concrete ponds were 109 and 107 meq/L respectively (24). Alkalinity levels of 75 to 200 meg/L have been reported by Rana and Jain (25), but not less than 20 meg/L is optimum in an aquaculture pond. For catfish development and good pond productivity, Rana and Jain (25) advised total alkalinity values of at least 20 meg/L. The high mean alkalinity of pond water in our study implies that even a small amount of acid will not cause a pH change. In the growing waters of the earthen and concrete ponds, dissolved oxygen (DO) was 11.952.13 and 4.66. 29 mg/L respectively. Despite the fact that the minimum amount of dissolved oxygen for tropical fish should be 5mg/L (26), the high amounts of dissolved oxygen found in this study could be due to photosynthetic activities of primary producers that comprise an elevated bio-assortment of plants especially in the earthen pond. The mean total dissolved solids (TDS) in this study were below the standard permissible limit of 1000 mg/L (27).

The biological oxygen demand (BOD) of the growing waters in the earthen and concrete ponds respectively were 2.531. 23% and 1.530.03% mg/L. The high BOD depletes oxygen levels to dangerous levels, indicating that the water is polluted. According to Bhatnagar and Singh (28), only BOD values between 3.0-6.0 mg/L are most advantageous for normal activities of catfishes while level of 6.0-12.0 mg/L is toxic to catfishes and >12.0 mg/L could effectively cause their death through suffocation. The chemical oxygen demand (COD) was 199. 62.55 mg/L in one case and 202.53.54 mg/L in another. The average chemical oxygen demand in the ponds in the current study exceeded the standard allowable limit of 10 mg/L (29).

The negative correlation of *Salmo-nella* with physicochemical parameters in this study was similarly reported by Olalemi and Oluyemi (30) in their study of incidence and existence of faecal pollution markers in an earthen fish pond in Akure, Nigeria. The positive correlation between turbidity and faecal coliforms seen in this study agrees with the finding of Olalemi and Oluyemi (30). Previous studies have reported that the progressive bioaccumulation of microbes in marine animals like *C. gariepinus* is influenced by an array of ecological factors (31) as evident in our study.

Conclusion:

The findings of this study revealed high levels of faecal pollution in water and African catfish (*C. gariepinus*) from earthen and concrete ponds. Physicochemical characteristics of the pond water and seasonality influenced the rate of bioaccumulation of enteric bacteria in *C. gariepinus* raised in these earthen and concrete ponds.

Acknowledgements:

Authors appreciate the technical staff at Federal University of Technology Akure (FUTA) fish farm for their assistance during the course of sample collection.

Contributions of authors:

MB deduced and analyzed the study inference, wrote the original draft and edited the manuscript; OO conducted the study and collected the samples; AO conceived the study idea and reviewed the original draft. All authors agreed to the content of the final manuscript.

Source of funding:

Authors received no funding

Conflict of interest:

No conflict of interest is declared.

References:

- Okaeme, A. N. Fish diseases prevention and control. Paper presented at the VCN Professional Continuing Education Seminar, Akure. 2006: 117
- 2. Noga, E. J. Fish disease diagnosis and treatment. Iowa, USA: Iowa State University. 2000: 321
- Weyl, O. L. F., Daga, V. S., Ellender, B. R., and Vitule, J. R. S. A review of *Clarias gariepinus* invasions in Brazil and South Africa. J fish Biol. 2016; 89: 386-402 https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.12958
- Kubota, S., Yamamoto, Y., Consuegra A. M. H., et al. Uncontrolled propagation of a transplanted aquaculture catfish in Cuba and its utilization for human food. Kuroshio Sci. 2012; 6: 91-99.
- Lowe, S., Browne, M., Boudjelas, S., and De Poorter, M. 100 of the world's worst invasive alien species: a selection from the Global Invasive Species Database, 2004.
- Opasola, O. A., Adewoye, S. O., and Fawole, O. O. Growth Performance and Survival Rate of *Clarias* gariepinus Fed Lactobacillus acidophilus supplemented diets. J Agric Vet Sci. 2013; 6: 45-50. https://doi.org/10.9790/2380-0364550
- Omeji, S., Solomon, S. G., and Uloko, C. Comparative study on the Endo-parasitic infestation in *Clarias gariepinus* collected from earthen and concrete ponds in Makurdi Benue State Nigeria. J Agric Vet Sci. 2013; 2 (1): 45-49. https://doi.org/10.9790/2380-0214549
- Novotny, L., Dvorska, L., Lorencova, A., Beran, V., and Pavlik, I. Fish: a potential source of bacterial pathogens for human beings. Vet Med -Czech. 2004; 49(9): 343-358.
- https://doi.org/10.17221/5715-vetmed
- Ganesh, E. A., Das, S., Chandrasekar, K., Arun, G., and Balamurugan, S. Monitoring of total hetero trophic bacteria and *Vibrio* spp. in an aquaculture pond. Curr Res J Biol Sci. 2010; 2 (1): 48-52.
- Hinks, J., Han, E. J. Y., Wang, V. B., et al. Naphthoquinone glycosides for bioelectroanalytical enumeration of the faecal indicator *Escherichia coli*. Microb Biotechnol. 2016; 9: 746–757 https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12373
- Taiwo, A. M., Adeogun, A. O., Olatunde, K. A., and Adegbite, K. I. Analysis of groundwater quality of hand-dug wells in peri-urban area of Obantoko, Abeokuta, Nigeria for selected physico-chemical parameters. Pac J Sci Technol. 2011; 12: 527-534.
- Maheux, A. F., Picard, F. J., and Boissinot, M. Analytical limits of three glucosidase-based commercial culture methods used in environmental microbiology, to detect enterococci. Water Sci Technol. 2009; 60: 943–955 https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2009.428
- Kolb, M., BahadiR, M., and Teichgraber, B. Determination of chemical oxygen demand (COD) using an alternative wet chemical method free of mercury and dichromate. Wat Res. 2017; 122: 645-654.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.06.034
 Njoku, O. E., Agwa, O. K., and Ibiene, A. A. An investigation of the microbiological and physico-chemical profile of some fish pond water within the Niger Delta region of Nigeria. Afr J Food Sci. 2015; 9 (3): 155-162 https://doi.org/10.5897/ajfs2014.1208
- Wilkes, G., Brassard, J., Edge, T. A., et al. Bacteria, viruses, and parasites in an intermittent stream protected from and exposed to pasturing cattle: Prevalence, densities, and quantitative microbial risk assessment. Wat Res. 2013; 47: (16): 6244 - 6257 http://www.doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.07.041

- 16. Ajayi, A. O., and Okoh, A. I. Bacteriological study of pond water for aquaculture purposes. J Food Agric Environ. 2014; 12 (2): 33-54.
- Wyatt, L., Nickelson, R., and Vanderzant, C. Occurrence and control of Salmonella in freshwater catfish. J Food Sci. 2006; 44: 1067-1073 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1979.tb03448.x
- Olalemi, A Bioaccumulation of Bacterial Indicators of Faecal Contamination in African Catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) Raised in a Concrete Pond. Afr J Biomed Res. 2018; 21: 313- 318.
- 19. Fernandes, D. V. G. S., Castro, V. S., Neto, A. C., and Figueiredo, E. E. S. *Salmonella* spp. in the fish production chain: a review. Microbiol. 2018; 48 (8):e20180141.

https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20180141

- Salome, D. I., and Faith, S. N. Bacteriological Investigation of Pond Water Quality from Ogoniland, Nigeria. J Environ Sci, Toxicol Food Technol. 2015; 9 (2): 36-41.
- Ntengwe, F. N., and Edema, M. O. Physicochemical and microbiological characteristics of water for fish production using small ponds. Phys Chem Earth. 2008; 33: 701-707 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2008.06.032
- Ehiagbonare, J. E., and Ogunrinde, Y. O. Physicochemical analysis of fish pond in Okada and its environs. Afr J Biotechnol. 2010; 36: 5922-5928.
- Stone, N. M., and Thormforde, H. K. Understanding your fish pond water analysis report. University of Arkansas Co-operative Extension Printing Services. 2003: 1-4.
- Terra, B. D. F., Santos, A. B., and Araújo, F. G. Fish assemblage in a dammed tropical river: an analysis along the longitudinal and temporal gradients from river to reservoir. Neo-tropic Ichthyol. 2010; 8 (3): 599-606.
- Offem, B., Ayotunde, I., Ochang, S., and Ada, O. Influence of seasons on water quality, abundance of fish and plankton species of Ikwori Lake, Southeastern Nigeria. Fish Aquacul J. 2011:13.
- Eze, V. C., and Ogbaran, I. O. Microbiological and physicochemical characteristic of fish pond water in Ughelli, Delta State, Nigeria. Intl J Curr Res. 2010; 8: 082-087.
- Rana, N., and Jain, S. Assessment of physicochemical parameters of freshwater ponds of district Bijnor (U. P), India. J Entomol Zool Stud. 2017; 5 (4): 524-528
- Saloom, M. E., and Duncan, R. S. Low dissolved oxygen levels reduce anti-predatory behaviours of the fresh water Clam (*Corbicula fluminea*). Fresh Water. 2005; 50: 1233-1238 <u>http://www.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2005.</u> 01396.x
- Bhatnagar, A., and Singh, G. Culture fisheries in village ponds: a multi-location study in Haryana, India. Agric Biol J North America. 2010; 1 (5): 961-968.
 - https://doi.org/10.5251/abjna.2010.1.5.961.968
- Olalemi, A. O., and Oluyemi, B. M. Environmental assessment of bacterial faecal pollution markers in overlying waters from an earthen fish pond. J Microbiol Biotechnol Food Sci. 2018; 7 (6): 566-570.
- https://doi.org/10.15414/jmbfs.2018.7.6.566-570
 Rajiv, P., Hasna, A. S., Kamaraj, M., Rajeshwam, S., and Balgi, R. Comparative physicochemical and microbial analysis of various pond waters in Coimbatore District, Tamil Nadu, India. Anals Biol Res. 2012; 3 (7): 3533-3540.

Baba et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 102 - 109

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2210. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem

Copyright AJCEM 2023: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.12

Short Communication



Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1



Open Access

Antimicrobial susceptibility of urinary bacterial isolates of pregnant women attending antenatal clinics of selected hospitals in Ilorin, Nigeria

*¹Baba, R. T., ¹Adedayo, M. R., ¹Awe, S., and ²Bale, M. I.

¹Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Pure and Applied Sciences, Kwara State University, Malete, Kwara State, Nigeria ²Department of Microbiology, University of Ilorin Teaching Hospital, Ilorin, Nigeria *Correspondence to: <u>omotayo.rasheedat@gmail.com;</u> 07065391534: 09026144501

Abstract:

Background: Urinary tract infection (UTI) in pregnancy is associated with significant morbidity for both mother and baby. This study was aimed at determining the urinary bacterial isolates and their susceptibility to selected antibiotics among pregnant women attending antenatal clinics of selected Hospitals in Ilorin, Nigeria.

Methodology: A total of 300 pregnant women between the ages of 15 and 44 years were selected by random sampling technique from antenatal clinics of three randomly selected healthcare facilities in Ilorin, Nigeria; Civil Service Hospital, Sobi Specialist Hospital and Okelele Primary Health Center, between July and October 2021. Clean-catch mid-stream specimens of voided urine were collected from each participant, cultured on Cysteine-Lactose-Electrolyte Deficient (CLED) and Blood agar plates, and incubated aerobically at 37°C for 24 hours. The presence of significant bacteriuria ($\geq 10^5$ CFU/ml) was determined on the culture plate using the plate count method. Antibiotic susceptibility testing to selected antibiotics was done using Kirby-Bauer disk diffusion technique. Cefoxitin (30µg) was used as surrogate to determine phenotypic methicillin resistance in staphylococcus isolates, and the methicillin resistance (*mecA*) gene was detected by conventional PCR assay.

Results: Of the 300 pregnant participants, 49 (16.3%) were symptomatic for UTI while 251 (83.7%) were asymptomatic. Significant bacteria (monomicrobial) were isolated in 44 (14.7%) pregnant women; 28 (11.2%) of 251 asymptomatic and 16 (32.6%) of 49 symptomatic women, which showed that significant bacteriuria rate was higher with symptomatic than asymptomatic women (OR=3.861, 95% CI=1.889–7.893, p=0.0005), but significant bacteriuria rate did not differ with respect to age group of the women (x^2 =1.463, p=0.4811). The most common bacterial isolates were *Escherichia coli* (38.6%, 17/44) followed by coagulase negative staphylococci (CoNS) (22.5%, 9/44), *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (18.2%, 8/44), *Staphylococcus aureus* (15.9%, 7/44), *Enterococcus* sp (4.6%, 2/44) and *Pseudomonas* sp (2.3%, 1/44). Gram negative isolates showed high resistance rate of 73.1% to ampicillin and 65.4% to amoxicillin-clavulanic acid while Gram-positive isolates showed high resistant rate of 94.1% to penicillin. The Gram-positive isolates showed high susceptibility rate of 100% while the Gram-negative isolates showed moderate susceptibility of 69.2% to nitrofurantoin. Four of the 9 (44.4%) CoNS isolates were cefoxitin resistant and all the 4 (100%) carried *mec*A gene.

Conclusion: The isolation of bacterial pathogens resistant to the commonly prescribed antibiotics from pregnant women symptomatic and asymptomatic for UTI calls for early screening of all pregnant women for UTI during antenatal care service delivery.

Keywords: UTI; pregnancy; bacteria; antimicrobial susceptibility; antimicrobial resistance

Received Aug 2, 2022; Revised Dec 21, 2022; Accepted Dec 22, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Sensibilité aux antimicrobiens des isolats bactériens urinaires de femmes enceintes fréquentant des cliniques prénatales d'hôpitaux sélectionnés à Ilorin, au Nigeria

*¹Baba, R. T., ¹Adedayo, M. R., ¹Awe, S., et ²Bale, M. I.

¹Département de Microbiologie, Faculté des Sciences Pures et Appliquées, Université d'État de Kwara, Malete, État de Kwara, Nigéria

²Département de Microbiologie, Hôpital Universitaire de l'Université d'Ilorin, Ilorin, Nigeria *Correspondance à: <u>omotayo.rasheedat@gmail.com</u>; 07065391534; 09026144501

Résumé:

Contexte: L'infection des voies urinaires (IVU) pendant la grossesse est associée à une morbidité importante pour la mère et le bébé. Cette étude visait à déterminer les isolats bactériens urinaires et leur sensibilité aux antibiotiques sélectionnés chez les femmes enceintes fréquentant les cliniques prénatales des hôpitaux sélectionnés à Ilorin, au Nigeria.

Méthodologie: Un total de 300 femmes enceintes âgées de 15 à 44 ans ont été sélectionnées par une technique d'échantillonnage aléatoire dans les cliniques prénatales de trois établissements de santé sélectionnés au hasard à Ilorin, au Nigeria; Hôpital de la fonction publique, hôpital spécialisé de Sobi et centre de santé primaire d'Okelele, entre juillet et octobre 2021. Des échantillons d'urine mictionnelle à mi-parcours ont été prélevés sur chaque participant, cultivés sur des plaques de cystéine-lactose-électrolyte déficientes (CLED) et de gélose au sang, et incubé en aérobiose à 37°C pendant 24 heures. La présence d'une bactériurie significative (\geq 105 UFC/ml) a été déterminée sur la plaque de culture en utilisant la méthode de comptage sur plaque. Les tests de sensibilité aux antibiotiques sélectionnés ont été effectués à l'aide de la technique de diffusion sur disque de Kirby-Bauer. La céfoxitine (30μ g) a été utilisée comme substitut pour déterminer la résistance phénotypique à la méthicilline dans les isolats de staphylocoques, et le gène de résistance à la méthicilline (*mec*A) a été détecté par un test PCR conventionnel.

Résultats: Sur les 300 participantes enceintes, 49 (16,3%) étaient symptomatiques d'infections urinaires tandis que 251 (83,7%) étaient asymptomatiques. Des bactéries significatives (monomicrobiennes) ont été isolées chez 44 (14,7%) femmes enceintes; 28 (11,2%) des 251 femmes asymptomatiques et 16 (32,6%) des 49 femmes symptomatiques, ce qui a montré que le taux de bactériurie significative était plus élevé chez les femmes symptomatiques que chez les femmes asymptomatiques (OR=3,861, IC 95%=1,889-7,893, p=0,00050, mais le taux significatif de bactériurie ne différait pas selon le groupe d'âge des femmes (x^2 =1,463, p=0,4811). Les isolats bactériens les plus courants étaient *Escherichia coli* (38,6%, 17/44) suivi du staphylocoque coagulase négatif (CoNS) (22,5%, 9/44), *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (18,2%, 8/44), *Staphylococcus aureus* (15,9%, 7/44), *Enterococcus* sp (4,6%, 2/44) et *Pseudomonas* sp (2,3%, 1/44). Les isolats à Gram négatif ont montré un taux de résistance élevé de 73,1% à l'ampicilline et de 65,4% à l'amoxicilline-acide clavulanique, tandis que les isolats à Gram positif ont montré un taux de résistance élevé de 94,1% à la pénicilline. Les isolats à Gram positif ont montré un taux de résistance élevé de 100%, tandis que Les isolats à Gram négatif ont montré une sensibilité modérée de 69,2% à la nitrofurantoïne. Quatre des 9 (44,4%) isolats de CoNS étaient cefoxitin résistants et tous les 4 (100%) portaient le aène *mec*A.

Conclusion: L'isolement des pathogènes bactériens résistants aux antibiotiques couramment prescrits chez les femmes enceintes symptomatiques et asymptomatiques pour les infections urinaires nécessite un dépistage précoce des infections urinaires chez toutes les femmes enceintes lors de la prestation des services de soins prénatals.

Mots clés: UTI; grossesse; bactéries; sensibilité aux antimicrobiens; résistance antimicrobienne

Introduction:

Urinary tract infection (UTI) is an infection caused by the growth and multiplication of microorganisms in the urinary tract. It is usually due to bacteria from the gastrointestinal tracts which ascend the urethra and multiply to cause infection (1). In contrast to men, women are more susceptible to UTI, and this is mainly due to the short urethra, absence of prostatic secretion, pregnancy and easy contamination of the urinary tract with faecal flora (2,3). Urinary tract infection in pregnancy is associated with significant morbidity for both mother and baby. The combination of mechanical, hormonal and physiologic changes during pregnancy contributes to significant changes in the urinary tract, which has a profound impact on the acquisition and natural history of bacteriuria during pregnancy (4).

In women, UTI account for about 25% of all infections thus being one of the most fre-

quent clinical bacterial infections (5). Its occurrence usually starts in 6 weeks and becomes most frequent during the 22 weeks of pregnancy. Untreated UTI in pregnant women may have serious consequences like intrauterine growth restriction, preeclampsia, caesarean delivery and preterm deliveries (6,7). UTI can be either symptomatic or asymptomatic. Patients with significant bacteriuria who have symptoms referable to the urinary tract are said to have symptomatic bacteriuria (8,9). Asymptomatic bacteriuria (ASB) is a condition characterized by the presence of bacteria in two consecutive clear-voided urine specimens both yielding positive cultures ($\geq 10^5$ CFU/mI) of the same uropathogen in a patient without classical symptoms (10).

Escherichia coli is the major etiological agent causing UTI, which accounts for up to 90% of cases. *Proteus mirabilis, Klebsiella* sp. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Enterobacter* sp. are less frequent offenders (11,12) and less co-

mmonly, Enterococci, *Gardnerella vaginalis* and *Ureaplasma urealyticum* are also known agents in UTI. Gram-positive organisms are even less common in which Group B *Streptococcus*, *Sta-phylococcus aureus*, coagulase negative staphy lococci and *Staphylococcus haemolyticus* are recognized organisms (13).

The current management of UTI is usually empirical without the use of urine culture or susceptibility testing to guide therapy. However, as with many community-acquired infections, antimicrobial resistance among the pathogens that cause UTI is increasing and is a major health challenge in the treatment of UTI (14). There is growing concern regarding antimicrobial resistance worldwide (15). Proper investigation and prompt treatment are needed to prevent serious life-threatening conditions and morbidity due to UTI that can occur in pregnant women (16). In most developing countries including Nigeria, screening for UTI in preanancy is not considered as an essential part of antenatal care. Therefore, this study was designed to determine the urinary bacterial profile and antibiotic susceptibility of bacterial uropathogens among pregnant women attending antenatal clinics of selected hospitals in Ilorin, Kwara State, Nigeria.

Materials and method:

Study setting and selection:

The study was conducted at three different hospitals in Ilorin, Kwara State, Nigeria. These were Civil Service Clinic, Sobi Specialist Hospital and Okelele Primary Health Center.

Ethical approval

Ethical clearance was obtained from the Ministry of Health and informed consent was obtained from eligible pregnant women.

Study population, sample size and selection:

The study population were pregnant women attending the antenatal clinics of the three selected healthcare facilities. The sample size of 300 pregnant women for the study was calculated using the Cochran formula, $n = Z^2 P$ (1-P)/d² (17). Pregnant women within the age range of 15-44 years were selected using random sampling method between July and October 2021 until the sample size of 300 was attained.

The inclusion criteria were pregnant women symptomatic and asymptomatic for UTI at the study sites who were not on antibiotics treatment during sample collection and who also gave informed consent to participate in the study. Pregnant women who did not give informed consent and who were on antibiotic treatment during sample collection were excluded.

Data and sample collection:

A structured questionnaire was used to collect socio-demographic and clinical data from the participants. All the pregnant women were trained on the standard procedure of collecting clean catch mid-stream voided urine into sterile universal bottle. The urine samples were then transported in an ice-pack to the microbiology laboratory of the University of Ilorin Teaching Hospital for analysis.

Culture isolation and bacterial identification:

A calibrated wire loop (0.001ml) was used to inoculate urine sample on CLED and Blood agar plate and the plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 hrs. Colony counts were carried out on culture plates and those with colony count of $\geq 10^5$ CFU/ml were considered significant. The method employed in the identification and characterization of isolated bacteria included examination of morphological features of the colonies on the agar plates and convectional biochemical tests (18).

Antibiotic susceptibility test:

The Kirby–Bauer disk diffusion method was used to determine the antibiotic susceptibility of the isolates using selected antibiotic discs (Oxoid, UK). A colony each was inoculated into normal saline and the inoculum was standardized by comparing with 0.5 McFarland turbidity standard that gives bacterial concentration of approximately 1.5x10⁸ colony forming units per ml (CFU/ml). About 0.1ml of the inoculum was dropped and spread on Mueller-Hinton agar plate using sterile swab stick. Six antibiotic discs per plate were placed 60⁰ apart on the plate. After 24 hours incubation at 37°C, the diameter of the inhibitory zone surrounding the discs was measured.

The interpretation of isolate as susceptible or resistant was done using the interpretative standards of the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (19). Antibiotics discs used were penicillin (5µg), ampicillin (10µg), amoxicillin-clavulanic acid (30µg), cefuroxime (30 μg), ceftazidime (30μg), ceftriaxone (30μg), nitrofurantoin (300µg) and clindamycin (5µg). Staphylococcus aureus (ATCC 25923) and Escherichia coli (ATCC 25922) were used as control strains. Methicillin resistance in coagulase negative staphylococcus (CoNS) isolates was determined using cefoxitin disc (as surrogate) on Mueller-Hinton agar plate and those resistant to cefoxitin were screened for mecA gene by conventional polymerase chain reaction.

Data were presented as simple frequency distribution tables and analysed using the GraphPad software (San Diego 92130, USA). Association between categorical variables was determined using Chi-squared test with Odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (95% CI). P value less than 0.05 was considered as statistical significance.

Results:

In this study, a total of 300 pregnant women, 49 (16.3%) with symptoms and 251 (83.7%) without symptoms of UTI were investigated. The age range of the participants was 15-44 years (mean age 26.7±4.7 years). Majority 175 (58.3%) of the study participants were in the age range of 25-34 years. Among the participants, 188 (62.6%) were self-employed (Table 1). The distribution of bacteriuria based on age group of participants showed that 13 (12.7%) of 102 women in age group 15-24 years were positive for bacteriuria, 29 of 175 women (16.6%) in age group 25-34 and 2 of 23 (8.7%) in age group 35-44 years were positive for significant bacteriuria ($X^2=1.463$, p=0.4811) (Table 2).

Six bacteria species were isolated from the urine samples of 44 (14.7%) of the 300 pregnant women who had significant growth (>10⁵ CFU/ml) of bacteria in their urine with 28 (11.2%) isolates from 251 asymptomatic and 16 (32.7%) isolates from 49 symptomatic women (OR = 3.861, 95% CI 1.889 - 7.893, p =0.0005). The predominantly isolated bacteria were *Escherichia coli* 17 (5.7%) followed by coagulase negative staphylococcus 9 (3.0%), *Klebsiella pneumoniae* 8 (2.7%), *Staphylococcus aureus* 7 (2.3%), *Enterococcus* species 2 (0.7%) and *Pseudomonas* species 1 (0.3%) (Table 3).

The majority of isolated Gram-negative uropathogens showed resistance rate of 73.1% (19/26) to ampicillin and 65.4% (17/26) to amoxicillin-clavulanic acid, and resistance rate

to ceftriaxone, cefotaxime and cefuroxime ranged from 30.8% (8/26) to 46.2% (12/26). However, all Gram-negative bacteria isolates showed a relatively low rates of resistance to nitrofurantoin 15.4% (4/26) and ceftazidime 26.9% (7/26) (Table 4).

Table 1: Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the study participants

Socio-demographic variables	Frequency (%)
Age group (years)	
15-24	102 (34.0)
25- 34	175 (58.3)
35- 44	23 (7.7)
Educational level	
Not educated	17 (5.7)
Primary	32 (10.7)
Secondary	145 (48.3)
Post-secondary	106 (35.3)
Occupational status	
Housewives	23 (7.7)
Self employed	188 (62,6)
Student	14 (4.7)
Employed	75 (25.0)
Symptoms of UTI	
Symptomatic	49 (16.3)
Asymptomatic	251 (83.7)
	=== (0017)

The Gram-positive uropathogens showed a high level of resistance of 94.1% (16/18) to penicillin. The resistance rate to ceftriaxone and amoxicillin-clavulanic acid ranged from 29.4% (5/18) to 47.1% (8/18). On the other hand, all Gram-positive isolates showed full susceptibility (100.0%) to nitrofurantoin. Moreover, 76.5% (13/18) and 58.8% (10/18) of the Gram-positive isolates were susceptible to clindamycin and amoxicillin-clavulanic acid respectively (Table 5).

Of the 9 CoNS isolates phenotypically screened for methicillin resistance by cefoxitin disc, 4 (44.4%) were resistant and all the 4 isolates (100%) carried *mec*A gene on PCR assay (Fig 1)

	No of participanto	No with significant bastoriusia	·-2	n valua
Age group (years)	No or participants	No with significant bacteriuria	x -	p value
15 – 24	102	13 (12.7)	1.463	0.4811
25 - 34	175	29 (16.6)		
35 - 44	23	2 (8.7)		
Total	300	44 (14.7)		

Table 2: Prevalence of significant bacteriuria in relation to age group of participants
Bacterial isolates	Symptomatic (%) (n=49)	Asymptomatic (%) (n=251)	COR (95% CI)	p value
Gram negative (n=26)	9 (18.4)	17 (6.7)	3.097 (1.291 -7.429)	0.0215*
Escherichia coli	6 (12.2)	11 (4.4)		
Klebsiella pneumoniae	2 (4.1)	6 (2.4)		
Pseudomonas sp	1 (2.0)	0		
Gram-positive (n=18)	7 (14.3)	11 (4.4)	3.636 (1.334 - 9.914)	0.0154*
Staphylococcus aureus	3 (6.1)	4 (1.6)		
CoNS	2 (4.1)	7 (2.8)		
Enterococcus sp	2 (4.1)	0		
Total (n=44)	16 (32.7)	28 (11.2)	3.861 (1.889 - 7.893)	0.0005*

Table 3: Bacterial uropathogens of urinary tract infection in pregnancy with respect to symptomatology

CoNS=coagulase negative staphylococcus; COR=crude ood ratio; CI=confidence interval n=number

Table 4: Invitro antibiotic susceptibility of Gram-negative urinary bacterial isolates from pregnant women to selected antibiotics

Isolate/Antibiotic		AMP	AUG	СХМ	CRO	СТХ	CAZ	NF
Escherichia coli (n=17)	S	1 (5.9)	3 (17.6)	3 (17.6)	9 (52.9)	6 (35.3)	8 (47.1)	13 (76.5)
	Ι	1 (5.9)	2 (11.8)	4 (23.5)	2 (11.8)	4 (23.5)	4 (23.5)	1 (5.9)
	R	15 (88.2)	12 (70.6)	10 (58.8)	6 (35.3)	7 (41.2)	5 (29.4)	3 (17.6)
Klebsiella pneumoniae	S	3 (37.5)	1 (12.5)	4 (50.0)	5 (62.5)	3 (37.5)	5 (62.5)	5 (62.5)
(n=8)	Ι	2 (25.0)	3 (37.5)	3 (37.5)	2 (25.0)	2 (25.0)	1 (12.5)	3 (37.5)
	R	3 (37.5)	4 (50.0)	1 (12.5)	1 (12.5)	3 (37.5)	2 (25.0)	0
Pseudomonas spp (n=1)	S	0	0	0	0	1 (100)	1 (100)	0
	R	1 (100)	1 (100)	1 (100)	1 (100)	0	0	1 (100)
Total (n=26)	S	4 (15.4)	4 (15.4)	7 (26.9)	14 (53.8)	10 (38.5)	14 (53.8)	18 (69.2)
	Ι	5 (19.2)	5 (19.2)	7 (26.9)	4 (15.4)	6 (23.1)	5 (19.2)	4 (15.4)
	R	19 (73.1)	17 (65.4)	12 (46.2)	8 (30.8)	10 (38.5)	7 (26.9)	4 (15.4)

AMP= Ampicillin; AUG= Amoxicillin-clavulanic acid; CXM = Cefuroxime; CRO = Ceftriaxone; CTX= Cefotaxime; CAZ= Ceftazidime; NF= Nitrofurantoin, R= Resistant; I= Intermediate; S= Sensitive.

Table 4: Invitro antibiotic susceptibility of Gram-positive urinary bacterial isolates from pregnant women to selected antibiotics

Isolate/Antibiotic		PEN	AUG	CRO	CL	NF
Staphylococcus aureus (n=7)	S	0	4 (66.7)	1 (16.7)	4 (66.7)	6 (100)
	Ι	0	0	0	1	0
	R	6 (100)	2 (33.3)	5 (83.3)	1 (16.7)	0
Coagulase negative staphylococcus (n=8)	S	0	4 (44.4)	4 (44.4)	7 (77.8)	9 (100)
	I	0	2 (22.2)	2 (22.2)	1 (11.1)	0
	R	9 (100)	3 (33.3)	3 (33.3)	1 (11.1)	0
Enterococcus spp (n=2)	S	1 (50.0)	2 (100)	2 (100)	2 (100)	2 (100)
	R	1 (50.0)	0	0	0	0
Total (n=17)	S	1 (5.9)	10 (58.8)	7 (41.1)	13 (76.5)	17 (100)
	I	0	2 (11.8)	2 (11.8)	2 (11.8)	0
	R	16 (94.1)	5 (29.4)	8 (47.1)	2 (11.8)	0

CoNS=coagulase negative staphylococcus; PEN=penicillin; AUG=amoxicillin-clavulanic acid; CRO= ceftriaxone; CL=clindamycin; NF=nitrofurantoin; R= resistant, I= intermediate, S=sensitive.



Fig 1: Gel electrophoresis showing amplified mecA gene product (533bp) in four CoNS isolates

Discussion:

The prevalence of UTI in this study was 14.5%, which is lower compared to previous studies in Nigeria such as 27.9% reported in Ilorin (20), 43.3% in Abuja (21), 26% in Kaduna (22), 61.5% in Aba (23) and 15.8% in Kano (24). However, the prevalence is higher than 10.3% reported in Plateau State (25) and 10.6% in Enugu (26). Prevalent rates of 6.1% to 10.9% have been reported in Iran (27) while Obirikorang et al., (28) reported 7.3% prevalence in Ghana. These wide differences in prevalence rates may be due to differences in the study population and geographic locations. The highest prevalence of the bacteriuria was seen among the pregnant women in age group 25-34 years (16.6%), which is similar to the finding of Banda et al., (29) who reported highest rate of significant bacteriuria in the age group of 24-28 years, but contrast the studies of Turpin et al., (30) and Amadi et al., (31), who reported higher prevalence rate in pregnant women aged 35 to 39 years. In our study, age group 25-34 years with the highest prevalence of significant bacteriuria is sexually active age group and therefore are at higher risk of developing urinary tract infection.

In this study, a total of 44 isolates were obtained from the 44 pregnant women with significant bacteriuria, with only one bacterial specie isolated from each woman indicating the mono-microbial nature of significant bacteriuria and UTI in the study population. The most frequent urinary bacterial isolate in symptomatic and asymptomatic pregnant women was E. coli, responsible for 38.6% (17/44) of the isolates and 5.7% (17/300) of the women. This was followed by CoNS (22.7%), K. pneumoniae (18.2%), S. aureus (13.6%) and P. aeruginosa (2.3%). This finding is similar to other studies which reported that Gram-negative bacteria, particularly E. coli, as the commonest pathogens isolated in patients with UTI

(32). In a similar study by Kelkewa et al., (33), the commonest isolates were also *E. coli* followed by *S. aureus*. Similar pattern was also reported by Beleta et al., (34) but this was contrary to this present study in which CoNS was the next frequently isolated pathogen (22.7%). The frequency of 18.2% for *K. pneumoniae* in our study shows that *Klebsiella* species are gaining more prominence as aetiological agents of bacteriuria and UTI than previously reported (7).

The majority of isolated Gram-negative uropathogens in this study showed high resistance to ampicillin and amoxicillin-clavulanic acid (augmentin) and moderate resistance to ceftriaxone, cefotaxime and cefuroxime. This is similar to the study of Balakrishnan et al., (35) who reported that Gram-negative isolates were highly resistant to augmentin and ceftriaxone. However, all Gram-negative bacteria isolate were highly susceptible to nitrofurantoin, consistent with the study of Yeva et al., (36) where most of the isolates were sensitive to nitrofurantoin. Also, the Gram-positive isolates were fully susceptible (100.0%) to nitrofurantoin, similar to the study of Mona et al., (37), which reported that Gram-positive bacteria were highly susceptible to nitrofurantoin. However, the Gram-positive uropathogens showed a high level of resistance for penicillin, as similarly reported by Rosana et al., (38). Indiscriminate use of antibiotics, irrational prescribing and unregulated use of antibiotics in animal husbandry may be responsible for this increasing antibiotic resistance (39).

The CoNS isolates were the most frequent Gram-positive bacteria in this study which formed 9 (20.5%) out of the total 44 bacterial isolates, 4 (44.4%) of which were resistant to cefoxitin, a surrogate marker of methicillin resistance. This rate is lower than the study of May et al., (40) who reported 66.7% of their 12 CoNS to be resistant to cefoxitin. All the 4 (100) cefoxitin resistant CoNS carried *mec*A gene on PCR assay, similar to the study of Manon et al., (41) in which 93% of cefoxitinresistant CoNS carried *mec*A gene, but contrast the findings of Bale et al., (42) in which only 75% of cefoxitin resistant CoNS carried *mec*A gene. This variation could be as a result of differences in the species and strains of CoNS as well as sample size of isolates tested in the different studies.

Conclusion:

This study confirmed that after *E. coli*, CoNS were the most common bacterial isolates involved in urinary tract infection in pregnant women in the study population. The isolation of bacterial pathogens from both symptomatic and asymptomatic pregnant women that are resistant to the commonly prescribed antibiotics and the high presence of *mec*A genes in the CoNS isolates calls for early screening of all pregnant women for UTI. Early diagnosis and treatment of UTI during pregnancy can ensure the safety of the mother and fetus and also prevent complications during delivery.

Acknowledgements:

The authors acknowledged the participation of all pregnant women who enrolled in this study and all the staff of University of Ilorin Teaching Hospital Medical Microbiology department for their support.

Contribution of authors:

RT carried out the research; MR and AS supervised the microbiological analysis; and MI supervised the molecular analysis.

Source of funding:

Authors received no external funding

Conflict of interest:

No conflict of interest is declared.

References:

- Al Mijalli, S. H. Bacterial uropathogens in urinary tract infection and antibiotic susceptibility pattern in Riyadh Hospital, Saudi Arabia. Cell Mol Med J. 2017; 1 (5): 1–6.
- Ajayi, A. B., Nwabuisi, C., Aboyeji, A. P., Ajayi, N. S., Fowotade, A., and Fakeye, O. O. Asymptomatic bacteriuria in antenatal patients in Ilorin, Nigeria. Oman Med J. 2012; 1: 31-34.
- Willy Fred, N., Gichuhi, J. W., and Mugo, N. W. Prevalence of urinary tract infection, microbial aetiology, and antibiotic sensitivity pattern among

antenatal women presenting with lower abdominal pains at Kenyatta National Hospital, Nairobi, Kenya. Sci Technol J. 2015; 3: 6.

- Ailes, E. C., Summer, A. D., and Delman, D. Association between antibiotics uses among pregnant women with urinary tract infections in the first trimester and birth defects. Antibiot Chemother J. 2016; 34: 112-119.
- Ifeanyichukwu, I., Emmanuel, N., and Chika, E. Frequency and antibiogram of uropathogens isolated from urine samples of HIV infected patients on antiretroviral therapy. Am J Biosci. 2013; 1(3): 50–53.
- Emiru, T., Beyene, G., Tsegaye, W., and Melaku, S. Associated risk factors of urinary tract infection among pregnant women at Felege Hiwot Referral Hospital, Bahir Dar, North West Ethiopia. *Biomed Res J.* 2013; 6: 292.
- Derese, B., Kedir, H., Teklemariam, Z., Weldegebreal, F., and Balakrishnan, S. Bacterial profile of urinary tract infection and antimicrobial susceptibility pattern among pregnant women attending antenatal Clinic in Dil Chora Referral Hospital, Dire Dawa, Eastern Ethiopia. Int Med J. 2016; 12: 251–260.
- Koffi, K. A., Aka, E. K., Apollinaire, H., Mlan-Britoh, A., and Konan, J. M. Epidemiological bacteriological profile and bacterial resistance of urinary tract infections at pregnant woman in prenatal consultation in African setting. Int J Reprod Contraceptive Obstetr Gynacol. 2020; 9: 461–470.
- Gopalakrishnan, R., and Murthy, B. V. Bacteriological profile and antibiogram of uropathogens among antenatal cases in a Tertiary Care Hospital. Indian Microbiol Res J. 2017; 4 (3): 1–7.
- Jayachandran, A., Gnanasambandam, U., Sangeetha, A.V., and Vijayalakshmi, T. S. Asymptomatic bacteriuria among antenatal women attending a tertiary care hospital in Kanchipuram: evaluation of screening tests and antibiotic susceptibility pattern. Int Res Med Sci J. 2016; 4 (2): 540–544.
- Abdikhaliq, H. A., Dawit, Y. R., and Moges, D. O. Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility pattern of urinary tract infection among pregnant women attending Hargeisa group Hospital, Hargeisa, Somaliland. Sci Rep J. 2022; 12: 14-19.
- Onuoha, S. C., and Fatokun, K. Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility pattern of urinary tract infection (UTI) among pregnant women in Afikpo, Ebonyi State, Nigeria. Am J Life Sci. 2014; 2 (2): 46–52.
- Uddin, M., and Khan, T. Prevalence of urinary tract infection among pregnant women at Ibrahim Iqbal memorial hospital, Chandanaish, Bangladesh. Am J Clin Med Res. 2016; 4 (3): 47–51.
- Kolawole, A. S., Kolawole, O. M., Kandaki-Olukemi, Y. T., Babatunde, S. K., Durowade, K. A., and Kolawole, C. F. Prevalence of UTI among patients attending Dalhatu Araf Specialist Hospital, Lafia, Nasarawa State, Nigeria. Int J Med Sci. 2009; 1: 163–167.
- Balachandran, L. K., Jacob, L. N., Al Awadhi, R. M. Urinary tract infection in pregnancy and its effects on maternal and perinatal outcome. National Center for Biotechnol Information J. 2022; 1: 135-141.
- Ali, M. A., Majed, S. A., and Saad, A. A. Prevalence of urinary tract infection and antibiotic resistance pattern in pregnant women, Najran region, Saudi Arabia. Microbiol Res J. 2019; 13 (26): 407–413.
- Conchran, W. G. Sampling Techniques, 2nd Ed., New York: John Wiley and Sons. Inc, 1963.
- Cheesbrough, M. District laboratory practice in tropical countries. Second edition. Cambridge University Press. 2006; 62–143.

- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing. 27th edition. CLSI supplement M100 Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. 2017.
- Rosana, Y. Comparison of microbial pattern causing urinary tract infection in female out and hospitalized patients in Jakarta. Microbiol Indonesia J. 2016; 10 (1): 30–37.
- Yunusa, K. S. and Hadijat, O. S. Urinary tract infections in symptomatic pregnant women attending University of Abuja teaching Hospital, Gwagwalada, Nigeria. J Med. 2021; 9: 6 – 10.
- Muhammed, M. Urinary Tract Infections amongst pregnant women attending a medical Centre in Kaduna, Nigeria. Afr J Microbiol. 2014; 16 (1): 7-11.
- Ezeigbo1, O. R., Nnadozie, R. I., Asuoha, N. S., Ojiako, V. U., Awurum, I. N., and M. G. Ugochukwu. Incidence of Urinary Tract Infection (UTI) among Pregnant Women attending antenatal clinics at some selected Hospitals in Aba, Southeastern Nigeria. Int J Curr Microbiol. 2016; 5: 193-195.
- Muhammad, A., Muhammad, S. A., and Ezugwu, I. A. Prevalence of Urinary Tract Infection among Pregnant Women in Kano, Northern Nigeria. Archives of Reproductive Medicine and Sexual Health. J Biosci Med. 2019; 2: 23-29.
- Oko, J. O., Abriba, C., Umar, M., Asitok, A. D., Audu, J. A., Jakheng, S. P., and Ojeleye, F. S. Antibiotics Susceptibility Study of Uropathogens Isolated from Asymptomatic Pregnant Women Attending a Tertiary Maternity Clinic in Northern Nigeria. J Med Sci. 2017; 2: 34-35.
- Ojide, C. K., Wagbatsoma, V. A., Kalu, E. I., and Nwadike, V. U. Asymptomatic bacteriuria among antenatal care women in a tertiary hospital in Benin, Nigeria. Nig J Clin Biosci. 2014; 2: 79-85.
- Emiru, T., Beyene, G., Tsegaye, W., and Melaku, S. Associated risk factors of urinary tract infection among pregnant women at Felege Hiwot Referral Hospital, Bahir Dar, North West Ethiopia. Bio Res J. 2013; 6: 292.
- Obirikorang, C., Quaye, L., Bio, F. Y., Amidu, N., Acheampong, I., and Addo, K. Asymptomatic bacteriuria among pregnant women attending antenatal clinic at the university Hospital, Kumasi, Ghana. J Med Biomed Sci. 2012; 1 (1): 38–44.
- Banda, J. M., Cletus, D., Zakka, S. A., John, B., Mohammed, S. S., and Damen, J. G. Prevalence of asymptomatic bacteriuria among pregnant women attending antenatal clinic at plateau state specialist Hospital Jos, Nigeria. Microbiol Immunol J. 2020; 4 (3): 121–130.
- Turpin, C. A., Minkah, B., Danso, K. A., and Frimpong, E. H. Asymptomatic Bacteriuria in pregnant women attending antenatal clinic at Komfo

Anokye teaching hospital, Kumasi, Ghana. Ghana Med J. 2007; 41: 26–29.

- Amadi E. S., Enemuo O. B., and Uneke C. J. Asymptomatic bacteriuria among pregnant women in Abakaliki, Ebonyi State, Nigeria. J Med Sci. 2007; 7: 698-700.
- Flores-Meireles, A., Walker, J., Caparon, M., and Hultgren, S. Urinary tract infections epidemiology, mechanisms of infection and treatment options. Int Microbiol J. 2015; 13: 269–284.
- Kekelwa, I. Y., Charles, M. H., and Choolwe, J. Antimicrobial Resistance among Pregnant Women with Urinary Tract Infections attending Antenatal Clinic at Levy Mwanase University Teaching Hospital, Lasaka, Zambia. Int J Microbiol. 2021; 1: 9.
- Belete, M. A. Bacterial profile and ESBL screening of urinary tract infection among asymptomatic and symptomatic pregnant women attending antenatal care of northeastern Ethiopia region. Infec Drug Res J. 2020; 13: 257.
- Balakrishnan, J. P. Bacterial profile of urinary tract infection and antimicrobial susceptibility pattern among pregnant women attending Antenatal Clinic in Dil Chora Referral Hospital, Dire Dawa, Eastern Ethiopia. Therap Clin Risk Manag J. 2016; 12: 251–260.
- Yeva, R. O., Dwiana, O. C., Melissa, H., et al. Urinary tract infections among Indonesian pregnant women and its Susceptibility patterns. Int Med J. 2020; 4: 10-12.
- Mona, A. D., Mahmoud, Amel, D., Safaa, A. H., Azza, A.A., and El Hamed. Urinary tract infection among pregnant women. Egyptian Nursing J. 2020; 10: 7-20.
- Rosana, Y. Comparison of microbial pattern causing urinary tract infection in female out and hospitalized patients in Jakarta. Microbiol Indonesia J. 2016; 10 (1): 30–37.
- Vasudevan, R. Urinary tract infection: an overview of the infection and the associated risk factors. Microbiol J. 2014; 1 (2): 42–54.
- May. L., Klein. E. Y., Rothman, R. E., and Laxminarayan, R. Trends in Antibiotic resistance in coagulase negative *staphylococci* in the United States, 1999 to 2012. Antimicrob Agents Chemother J. 2014; 58 (3): 1404-1409.
- Manon, C. W., Samuel, R. D., and Sarah, K. P. Reliability of *mecA* in predicting phenotypic and susceptibility of Coagulase negative Staphylococcus and *Staphylococcus aureus*. Open Forum Infect Dis J. 2020; 5: 193-199.
- Bale, M. I., Babatunde, S. K., and Awe, S. Prevalence of Methicillin Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteriuria among pregnant women attending secondary health Hospital in Ilorin, Nigeria. J Adv Microbiol. 2021; 21 (9): 50-57.

Adegboro & Imran et al. Afr. J. Clin. Exper. Microbiol. 2023; 24 (1): 110 - 111

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology. ISSN 1595-689X AJCEM/2219. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem

Copyright AJCEM 2022: https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajcem.v24i1.13

Letter to the Editor



Open Access

https://www.afrjcem.org

Jan 2023; Vol.24 No.1

African Traditional Medicine (ATM) Day 2022

*Adegboro, B., and Imran, J.

Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, Nile University of Nigeria, Abuja, Nigeria *Correspondence to: <u>boaz.adegboro@nileuniversity.edu.ng</u>; <u>boazadegboro@gmail.com</u>

Received Aug 30, 2022; Revised Dec 02, 2022; Accepted Dec 06, 2022

Copyright 2023 AJCEM Open Access. This article is licensed and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <a rel="license" href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/", which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided credit is given to the original author(s) and the source. Editor-in-Chief: Prof. S. S. Taiwo

Journée de la Médecine Traditionnelle Africaine (ATM) 2022

*Adegboro, B., et Imran, J.

Département de Microbiologie Médicale et d'Immunologie, Université du Nil du Nigéria, Abuja, Nigéria *Correspondance à: <u>boaz.adeqboro@nileuniversity.edu.ng</u>; <u>boazadeqboro@qmail.com</u>

Dear Editor,

Since the year 2000, 31st of August of every year has been set aside by the World Health Organization (WHO) to celebrate the contributions of African Traditional Medicine (ATM). The 2022 commemoration highlights the challenges against the development of ATM in Nigeria and how they can be overcome; how the country can maximize it to boost foreign exchange earnings and health care; and what role ATM can play in addressing the rise in viral and infectious diseases such as monkeypox, COVID-19, Marburg virus, Langya Henipavirus, Polio and others. This letter addresses the above issues raised by Nigerian Office of the WHO.

According to the WHO, Traditional Medicine refers to the knowledge, skills, and practices based on the theories, beliefs, and experiences indigenous to different cultures, used in the maintenance of health and in the diagnosis, improvement or treatment, and prevention of physical and mental illness (1). Up to 80% of the population depends on ATM either primarily or as an adjunct to orthodox medicine for their health needs. The main issues with ATM practice in Nigeria are enumerated as follows;

What have been the challenges towards the development of traditional medicine?

The followings highlight some of the challenges of ATM; (i) many traditional medicine practitioners use both incantations and herbal medicines for treatment of patients. This practice makes traditional medicine appears mysterious, unscientific and therefore unacceptable to a large proportion of the populations (2); (ii) many herbal drugs are prepared with hot alcoholic drinks that can damage the kidneys and the liver, especially in children (3); (iii) inadequate knowledge of the mode of action, excretion and dosages of the herbal drugs; (iv) unhygienic environments of the herbal medical practices; (v) lack of approval by health regulatory bodies; (vi) inadequate training of the herbal practitioners; and (vii) lack of publications of herbal drugs in high impact peer-reviewed journals.

How can Nigeria overcome these challenges?

The following suggestions are enumerated; (i) demystifying the use of native medicines, with separation of incantations from the use of medicines; (ii) extraction of active components of the leaves, fruits, seeds, backs or roots of the herbal plants; (iii) conducting pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetic studies on the extracts; and attaining appropriate dosing of these medicines; (iv) conducting toxicological tests of the drugs on laboratory animals. In early August 2022, the National Agency for Food Drug Administration and Control (NAFDAC) withdrew approval for five previously approved alcoholic bitters because they cause kidney damage; (v) conducting clinical trials for efficacy and safety of the drugs; (vi) publications of the research outcomes in peer-reviewed scientific journals; (vii) inclusion of ATM in national health policies and national health strategic plans; (viii) encou-

raging healthy collaboration between ATM and orthodox medicine practitioners; (ix) increase funding for researches on medicinal herbs; (x) establishment of regulatory body for ATM and its practitioners, code of ethics for ATM practitioners, setting up national research institutes dedicated to ATM, registration and local production of traditional medicine products; (xi) cultivation and growth of medicinal plants; (xii) institutionalised training and re-training programmes for practitioners of ATM; (xiii) national plan for integrating ATM into the country's Primary Health Care (PHC) system; (xiv) incorporating Traditional Birth Attendance(TBA), as currently being done in Lagos State health care system through collaboration with orthodox medicine, training and re-training of TBA practitioners on when to refer a woman in labour to the near-by hospital. This is yielding positive results and should be emulated by other States of the Federation (4). This form of collaboration should also be extended to other units of medical care, for instance, the Traditional Bone Setter (TBS) practitioners should be seen by the Orthopaedic surgeons as partners in progress and not as antagonists or nonentities.

How can the country maximize ATM to boost foreign exchange earnings and health care?

The Government of Nigeria is making deliberate efforts towards maximizing traditional medicine to boost healthcare and foreign earnings; (i) The Government, through the Ministry of Health, recently held a conference of Traditional, Complementary and Alternative Medicine (TCAM) in June 2022. The Minister of Health, Dr Osagie Ehanire, stated at the conference that plans were in the pipeline to ensure that traditional medicine practice is legally absorbed into the PHC of the country (5). The main objective of the conference was to encourage the growth and utilization of the over 10,000 species of medicinal plants that Nigeria is endowed with as potential sources of raw materials for the Pharmaceutical, Food and Cosmetic industries within and outside the country. This will create direct and indirect job opportunities for Nigerians. This can be used to boost foreign exchange earnings through short, medium, and long-term value chain and by attracting agricultural business loans and Bank of Industries (BOI) manufacturing loans. This will increase Nigerian benefit from the global herbal medicine market largely dominated by China, United States, Germany, India, and Thailand, and is projected to reach seven trillion USD by 2050 (5).

What role can ATM play in addressing the rise in viral and infectious diseases such as Monkeypox, COVID-19, Marburg virus, Langya Henipavirus,

Poliovirus, and others?

The following are some of the promising plants; (i) Securidaca lonipedunculata (violet tree), also called Sanya (Hausa) or Ipeta (Yoruba) is an anecdotal plant that is believed to treat all ailments. It is a well-respected plant among the Hausa tribe that they refer to it as Umar magunguna meaning, "mother of medicines, the yellow roots of which is normally chewed in the mouth; (ii) Enantia chlorantia, also called Awopa, Osopupa, Dokita Iqbo in Yoruba is another legendary plant. Others are wild grapes (for asthma), neem tree (for malaria), and guava leaves tea (as an immune booster) (6,7). In a recent study by Abubakar et al., (8), a number of diseases such as hepatitis, poliomyelitis, monkeypox, smallpox, yellow fever, Lassa fever, meningitis, and COVID-19 were reported to have been treated with some selected medicinal plants in some northern Nigerian States (Katsina, Kebbi, Kwara and Sokoto), with moderate success.

Conclusion:

The future of traditional medicine in Nigeria is very bright if all stakeholders play their due roles for the growth and development of the sector.

Contributions of authors:

BA designed the project, searched the literature and reviewed the manuscript. JI also searched online literature and wrote the first draft. All authors agreed on the final manuscript.

Conflicts of interest:

Authors declared no conflict of interest

References:

- 1. World Health Organization (WHO). WHO Traditional Medicine Strategy 2014-2023. World Health Organization. 2013; 1-76. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/ 55/1/9/978241506090_eng.pdf?ua=1 (Accessed 08/2022)
- 2. Ezekwesili-Ofili, J. O., and Okaka, A. N. C. Herbal Medicines in African Traditional Medicine. IntechOpen. 2019; 191-214 http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.80348%0A
- 3. Mohammad, A. A brief study of toxic effects of some medicinal herbs on kidney. Adv Biomed Res. 2012; 1 (3): 1–5. <u>doi: 10.4103/2277-9175.100144</u> Olufemi Omotayo, A. U. How Lagos State is tackling the challenge of alternative birth methods. Nigeria
- 4. Health Watch. 2020.
- 5. Federal Government urges National Assembly to expedite action on Traditional Medicine Bill Nigerian Tribune, 2022: 05/06. tribuneonlineng.com
- Musa-Booth, T. O., Adegboro, B., Babazhitsu, M., et al. World Malaria Day 2022: Harness Innovation To Reduce 6. the Malaria Disease Burden and Save Lives. Afr J Clin Exper Microbiol. 2022; 23 (4): 446-449 doi:10.4314/ajcem.v23i4.14
- 7. Odugbemi, T. O., Akinsulire, O. R., Aibinu, I. E., and Fabeku P. O. Medicinal plants useful for malaria therapy in Okeigbo, Ondo State, Southwest Nigeria. Afr J Tradit Complement Altern Med. 20064 (2): 191-198. doi: 10.4314/ajtcam.v4i2.31207
- 8. Abubakar, I. B., Kankara, S. S., Malami, I., et al. Traditional medicinal plants used for treating emerging and re-emerging viral diseases in northern Nigeria. Eur J Integr Med. 2022; 49:102094. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eujim.2021.102094



AFRICAN JOURNAL OF CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL MICROBIOLOGY (AJCEM) ISSN 1595-689X

https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem_and https://www.afrjcem.org

GENERAL INFORMATION

Aims and scope

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology (AJCEM) is the official Journal of the Association of African Clinical Microbiologists. It publishes original research, review papers, case reports/series, short communications and letters to the editors, in all aspects of Medical Microbiology including Bacteriology, Virology, Rickettsiology and Chlamydiology, Mycology, Mycobacteriology and Actinomycetes, Parasitology, Molecular Genetics in relation to microorganisms and humans, Clinical Microbiology, Clinical Veterinary Microbiology, and Public Health Microbiology.

Subscription information

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology is an OPEN ACCESS JOURNAL published under the Creative Commons Attrition 4.0 International License <arel="license"href= "http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/"; and from 2016, has been publishing four times a year: January, April, July and October.

Free downloads can be made from the website of the world's largest online library of peer reviewed, Africa-published scholarly journals, African Journals OnLine (AJOL): <u>https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem</u> OR from the Journal website <u>https://www.africem.org</u>. Subscription is however still open to individuals, libraries, University Departments, Research Institutes and other Multi-reader institutions who may want to have hard copies of the Journal. For each volume (4 issues), subscription rate is £400 (United Kingdom), US \$800 (USA/Canada), US \$600 (African Countries), US \$800 (Other Countries), N28,000 (Nigeria). Additional charges will be made for postage and packaging. A copyright for these is with African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology.

Subscription enquiries and all other matters relating to the Journal including manuscripts, adverts booking and sponsorship should be addressed to:

Prof Samuel S. Taiwo (MD; FMCPath) Editor-in-Chief, African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology, Department of Medical Microbiology, LAUTECH Teaching Hospital, PMB 4007, Ogbomoso, Nigeria Mobile Phone: +234 (0) 8033436344 Email: africem@gmail.com

Indexing

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology is indexed at the following bodies; (i) African Journals Online (AJOL) <u>https://www.ajol.info/</u> with ONE STAR rating (out of a possible three) in the Journal Publishing Practices and Standards (JPPS) Framework assessment <u>https://www.journalquality.info</u> (March 2019); (ii) Index Copernicus International (ICI) Journal Master List <u>www.indexcopernicus.com</u> (ID 35531) with Index Copernicus Value (ICV) for 2019 of 93.10, and for 2020 of 71.43; (iii) SCOPUS with SCImago Journal Rank value of 0.19 (SJR 2017, 0.19) and H index of 2 <u>https://www.scimagojr.com/ journalsearch.php?q=21100333807&tip=sid&clean=0;</u> (iv) Society of African Journal Editors (SAJE) Library <u>https://africaneditors.org;</u> with 2020 Journal Ranking of `A', Impact Score of 1.092, h5 Index of 6, Citation of 119; and 2021 Journal Ranking of `A', Impact Score of 1.143, h5 Index of 6, and Citation of 154; (v) African Researchers (AR) Index (https://www.africanresearchers.org/arindex/african-journal-folinical-and-experimental-microbiology/)

Guidelines to authors/contributors

It is a condition of publication that manuscripts submitted to this Journal have not been published and will not be simultaneously submitted to be published elsewhere except as conference abstracts, for which authors must disclose at the point of manuscript submission. Authors should be aware that electronic journals issues/articles can be accessed free (Open Access) online at the AJOL website: https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem OR at the Journal website: https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcem OR at the Journal website:

Responsibility for accuracy of manuscripts lies entirely with the authors. All submissions must conform to the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) uniform recommendations for manuscripts submitted to biomedical journals (http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/) and follow the guidelines of Committee on Publication Ethics https://publicationethics.org/guidance/Guidelines.

Manuscripts should be typewritten with double line spacing and wide margins, following the conventional form: Title, Authors' names in agreed order of arrangement, full address of the corresponding author including e-mail, phone number and ORCiD number (if available), Abstract (Structured), Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussion, Acknowledgment(s), References, Tables, Figures and Legends to Figures. Short Communications and Letters to The Editor are also entertained, but need not follow the above format.

French abstracts:

The Journal has, since May 2014, be including French translations of abstracts. Authors should therefore include French translations of their titles, their addresses and abstracts of their manuscripts. If they are not included, it will be done by the Journal at a nominal fee to be paid as part of handling charges.

If the research involves the use of human subjects, including collection of human blood or other human specimens, an institutional ethical clearance document should be submitted with the manuscripts. Alternatively, a statement should be made in the "Materials and Methods" section that informed consent of the experimental subjects and the approval of the appropriate ethical committee had been obtained.

All necessary illustrations should accompany the manuscripts, but should not be in the text. The illustrations should be numbered consecutively in the order in which they are referred to in the text. The top of illustration should also be indicated if this is not clear. All x-ray films must be clear and should be in photographic prints. Legends to figures should give sufficient information to make the illustration comprehensive without reference to the text.

References should be listed in their order of appearance in the text; and be indicated in the text by Arabic numbers in brackets e.g. (1), (2, 3, 4), etc (Modified Vancouver style). Accuracy of the references is the responsibility of the authors. The authors' names and initials should be followed by the title of the paper, abbreviated name of the journal, which should conform to those used in Index Medicus, year of publication, volume, and the first and last page numbers. **The digital object identifier (DOI) number of each cited article should be included if available**. Note the following examples.

For Journals:

1. Nsanze, H. Recommendation for management of gonorrhoea and genital ulcers in Africa. Afr J Sex Transm Dis. 1984; 1:5-7

2. Odugbemi, T. O., Akinsulire, O. R., Aibinu, I. E., and Fabeku, P. O. Medicinal plants useful for malaria therapy in Okeigbo, Ondo State, Southwest Nigeria. Afr J Tradit Complement Altern Med. 2006; 13; 4 (2): 191-198. doi: 10.4314/ajtcam.v4i2.31207

3. Bakare, R. A., Oni, A. A., Okesola, A. A., et al. Efficacy of pefloxacin on acute uncomplicated gonococcal urethritis. Nig Qt J Hosp Med. 1996; 6: 335

For books:

1. Arya, O. P., Osoba, A. O., and Bennett, P. Tropical Venereology, Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, 1980

When referring to a chapter in a book and where the names of authors are also given, the reference should be;

2. Easmon, C. S. F. Host-Parasite relationship in experimental staphylococcal infections. In: Macdonald, A., and Smith, G. (eds). The Staphylococci. University Press, Aberdeen 1981: 63-72

Copyright Notice

Authors who publish with AJCEM must agree to the following terms;

1. Authors transfer the copyright to AJCEM who publishes under CC BY license that allows authors and others to share the work with an acknowledgement of the works' authorship and initial publication in AJCEM

2. Authors are able to enter into separate, additional contractual arrangements for the non-exclusive and non-commercial distribution of AJCEM published version of the work (e.g. posting it on institutional repository or publishing it in a book), with acknowledgement of its initial publication in AJCEM

3. Authors are permitted and encouraged to post their work online (e.g. institutional repositories or on their websites) prior to or during the submission process as it can lead to productive exchanges as well as earlier and greater citation of published work

4. Authors must agree to the terms of this Copyright Notice, which will apply to the submitted manuscript if and when it is accepted and published by AJCEM. This agreement should be stated within the text of the manuscript at the time of submission.

Plagiarism Prevention Policy

The rights of all authors who publishes with AJCEM are protected and the integrity of the Journal is upheld in the highest possible form. Issues of copyright infringement, plagiarism and other breaches of publication best practices are carefully handled and investigated. All submitted manuscripts are checked with plagiarism software. Where there are errors in the published articles or where issues of plagiarism or copyright infringement are detected by the Journal or allegation of impropriety or authorship of a manuscript is contested, the Journal reserve the right to take actions which may include but not limited to; publishing an erratum (for publication errors) or corrigendum (for authors errors); retraction of the article; reporting cases of malpractices to heads of authors institutions and/or relevant academic bodies or societies; or instituting appropriate legal action.

Manuscript submission

All manuscripts should preferably be submitted through the Journal's website at "Submit Your Manuscript" page (<u>https://afrjcem.org/submit/</u>) but alternatively, manuscripts could be submitted through the e-mail of the Journal (<u>afrjcem@gmail.com</u>)

Peer Review Process

The peer review process of the Journal can be accessed on the Journal's website at https://africem.org/ajcem/. All manuscripts submitted to the Journal are first scrutinized by the Editorial Board for suitability of publication within the scope of the Journal and for manuscript preparation in line with the Journal guideline. Successful manuscripts are then sent to a minimum of two independent assessors for peer review in a "double blind" manner. Two assessors' reports must agree for the Board to make a decision concerning acceptance or rejection of a manuscript, however the final decision on any manuscript is the responsibility of the Editor-in-Chief. The review process takes between 4 to 6 weeks for completion but there is room for expedited review of any perceived ground-breaking manuscript.

Article Processing Charge

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology is open access; therefore, authors are charged based on number of print pages (double column) of their published articles (not number of pages of their submitted manuscripts). The charge per print page is ± 10 (UK), ± 12 (Europe), ± 15 (US/Canada) and ± 5000 (Nigeria). An estimation of page charges will be mailed to the author(s) after acceptance of article for publication.

Waiver on Article Processing Charge

Authors based in some countries may enjoy some percentage waiver on article processing charge for their accepted manuscripts. Waivers are not automatic but given at the discretion of the Editorial Board and according to the World Bank Atlas classification of countries based on Gross National Income (GNI) per capita (<u>https://data.worldbank.org/country</u>). The following percentage waiver may be given; High-Income-Countries – 0% waiver; Upper-Middle-Income-Countries – 0% waiver; Lower-Middle-Income-Countries – up to 25% waiver; Low-Income-Countries – up to 40% waiver. Authors from countries entitled to waiver should request for this at the time of manuscript submission, and not after manuscript acceptance.



AFRICAN JOURNAL OF CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL MICROBIOLOGY

Aims and scope

African Journal of Clinical and Experimental Microbiology publishes original research, review papers, case reports/series, short communications and letters to the editors, in all aspects of Medical Microbiology Including Bacteriology, Virology, Rickettsiology and Chlamydiology, Mycology, Mycobacteriology and Actinomycetes, Parasitology, Molecular Genetics in relation to microorganisms and humans, Clinical Microbiology, Clinical Veterinary Microbiology, and Public Health Microbiology